
 

CITY OF LAKE WORTH 
1900 2nd Ave N · Lake Worth, Florida 33461 · Phone: 561-586-1687 

 
 
 

Agenda 

Regular Meeting 

City of Lake Worth 

Historic Resources Preservation Board 

City Hall Commission Room  

7 North Dixie Hwy; Lake Worth, FL 

 

 

WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 14, 2016 6:00 PM 
 

1. Roll Call and Recording of Absences 
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 

3. Additions/Deletions/Reordering and Approval of the Agenda  
 

4. Approval of Minutes 
 
A. August 10, 2016 Regular Meeting Minutes 
 

5. Cases 
 
A. Swearing in of Staff and Applicants 
 
B. Proof of Publication 
 
C. Withdrawals/Postponements 
 
D. Consent 
 
E. Public Hearings 
 

1. Board Disclosure 
 

2. Cases 
 

a. HRPB Project # 15-00100137: Consideration of a REVISION to an approved 
Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for construction of a new single-family 
residence at the subject property located at 230 North O Street; PCN# 38-43-44-
21-15-040-0080. The subject property is a vacant lot located within the Old Lucerne 
Local Historic District in the Single Family Residential zoning district (SFR). 

 



September 14, 2016 Regular Meeting 

 

 

 

b. HRPB Project # 15-00100022: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for new construction of an addition to the existing structure at 812 South 
Lakeside Drive: PCN# 38-43-44-27-01-024-0050.  The subject property was 
constructed in 1942 and is a contributing resource within the South Palm Park Local 
Historic District in the Single Family Residential zoning district (SFR). 

 
c. HRPB Project # 16-01400012, 16-00500013, 16-00100114 301 S Federal Highway 

PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-109-0090. Requests for consideration of a  Major Site Plan, 
Conditional Use, Certificate of Appropriateness, respectively, and participation in 
the Sustainable Bonus Incentive Program to allow a +/- 6,281 square foot 2-story 
3-unit townhome structure on the vacant lot at said location. The subject property is 
located in the South Palm Park Historic District in the Mixed Use-Federal Highway 
zoning district (MU-FH).   

 
d. HRPB Project # 16-00100171 Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 

(COA) for New Construction to allow a +/- 712 square foot accessory structure 
and a +/- 531 square foot addition to the main structure located at 314 Columbia 
Drive: PCN# 38-43-44-15-06-001-0170. The subject property is a contributing 
structure located in the College Park Historic District in the Single Family 
Residential zoning district (SFR). 

 
F. Unfinished Business 
 
G. New Business 
 

1. HRPB Project # 16-00100104 Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) 
for new construction of an addition to the structure located at 1002 S Lakeside Drive: 
PCN# 38-43-44-27-01-042-0050. The subject property is a non-contributing resource 
within the South Palm Park Historic District. 

 
2. HRPB Project # 16-00100193 Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) 

for window replacement for the structure located at 1111 N Lakeside Drive: PCN# 38-
43-44-21-15-358-0140. The subject property is a contributing resource within the North 
East Lucerne Historic District. 

 
3. HRPB Project # 16-00100198 Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) 

for exterior alterations to the structure located at 421 N K Street: PCN# 38-43-44-21-
15-114-0210. The subject property is a non-contributing resource within the North East 
Lucerne Historic District. 

 
4. HRPB Project # 16-00100199 Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) 

for exterior alterations for the structure located at 303 S J Street: PCN# 38-43-44-21-
15-117-0170. The subject property is a contributing resource within the South East 
Lucerne Historic District. 

 
6. Planning Issues 

 
7. Public Comments (3 minute limit) 

 



September 14, 2016 Regular Meeting 

 

 

 

8. Departmental Reports 
 

9. Board Member Comments 
 

10. Adjournment 
 

11. If a person decides to appeal any decision made by the board, agency or commission with 
respect to any matter considered at such meeting or hearing, he or she will need a record of the 
proceedings, and that, for such purpose, he or she may need to ensure that a verbatim record of 
the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the 
appeal is to be based. (F.S. 286.0105) 
 
NOTE: ALL CITY BOARDS ARE AUTHORIZED TO CONVERT ANY PUBLICLY 
NOTICED MEETING INTO A WORKSHOP SESSION WHEN A QUORUM IS NOT 
REACHED. THE DECISION TO CONVERT THE MEETING INTO A WORKSHOP 
SESSION SHALL BE DETERMINED BY THE CHAIR OR THE CHAIR'S DESIGNEE, 
WHO IS PRESENT AT THE MEETING. NO OFFICIAL ACTION SHALL BE TAKEN 
AT THE WORKSHOP SESSION, AND THE MEMBERS PRESENT SHOULD LIMIT 
THEIR DISCUSSION TO THE ITEMS ON THE AGENDA FOR THE PUBLICLY 
NOTICED MEETING. (Sec. 2-12 Lake Worth Code of Ordinances) 
 
Note:   One or more members of any Board, Authority or Commission may attend and speak at 
any meeting of another City Board, Authority or Commission.    
 
All project-related back-up materials, including full plan sets, are available for review by the 
public in the Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division located at 1900 2nd Avenue 
North. 
 



 

CITY OF LAKE WORTH 
1900 2nd Ave N · Lake Worth, Florida 33461 · Phone: 561-586-1687 

 
 
 

Agenda 

Regular Meeting 

City of Lake Worth 

Historic Resources Preservation Board 

City Hall Commission Room  

7 North Dixie Hwy; Lake Worth, FL 

 

 

WEDNESDAY, AUGUST 10, 2016 6:00 PM 
 

1. Roll Call and Recording of Absences:  Meeting called to order at 6:12 PM 
Present were: Herman Robinson, Chairman; Judith Just; Tom Norris; Darrin Engel, Vice Chair; 
Erin Fitzhugh Sita arrived at 6:16 pm.. Absent: Madeleine Burnside. 
Also present were: Aimee Sunny, Senior Preservation Planner; Maxime Ducoste, Assistant 
Director for Planning & Preservation; Brian Shutt, Board Attorney; Sherie Coale, Board 
Secretary. 
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 

3. Additions/Deletions/Reordering and Approval of the Agenda  
Motion: T. Norris motioned to accept the agenda D. Engel 2nd  
Vote: Ayes all unanimous  

4. Approval of Minutes 
  
A. July 13, 2016 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Motion: J. Just moved to accept the minutes, 2nd by T. Norris 
Vote: Ayes all, unanimous 
 

5. Cases 
 
A. Swearing in of Staff and Applicants 

Board Secretary swore in all persons giving testimony. 
B. Proof of Publication 

Provided in meeting packet 
C. Withdrawals/Postponements 

None 
D. Consent 

None 
 
E. Public Hearings 
 

1. Board Disclosure- D. Engel drives by the sites many times on a regular basis; T. Norris 
visited all the sites but did not speak to anyone.  



August 10, 2016 Regular Meeting 

 

 

 

  
 

2. HRPB Project Number 16-00100167: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for construction of a new single-family residence at the subject property located 
at 331 North M Street; PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-092-0170. The subject property is a 
vacant lot located within the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District. 
Staff: A. Sunny presented details and findings of proposal. The site is currently vacant. 
Two (2) off street parking spaces are required per LDR’s and landscape regulations for 
new construction must meet the minimum requirement, the proposal is currently 
deficient on both counts. Height, massing, scale and design is compatible with the 
neighborhood. The arte modern style is not prevalent in the immediate neighborhood 
but exists in Lake Worth. Concerns are lack of windows on length of wall, the unbroken 
façade along (4th Avenue North). Entry door similar to a Charleston side porch entry. 
Staff recommends approval with 8 conditions and wishes to enter all the case 
documents into the record. 
Architect: Jeffrey Silberstein- addressed the architectural banding. Added the projection 
to break up the length of wall. Discusses the eyebrow features over the windows and 
the dislike of adding any windows. The elevation is exposed to a busy street with no 
appreciable view. Prefer not to have a window in the laundry. 
Board: Discussion of the front door, architect has planned a plain white door. E. 
Fitzhugh Sita suggests a gate at entrance rather than a door. D. Engel would like more 
elements relating to the street. E. Fitzhugh Sita and D. Engel concur the door should be 
a gate. J. Just doesn’t believe more windows make it feel any more street friendly. J. Just 
believes the solid white door goes with the art moderne style. 
E. Fitzhugh Sita would like to leave an option for a current or future owner to change 
out the windows with opening windows. Architect states a window that is seven (7) feet 
over grade is difficult to reach to open. T. Norris finds the side expanse to be a little 
blank.   
Architect: States the door is a control point, once you are behind the door, in the 
garden, you are home. 
Board: T. Norris would not tamper with the front door design. Landscaping, walkway, 
house numbers and lighting denote that as the “front” door. J. Just finds the door 
acceptable. E. Fitzhugh Sita imagines in the future a dented, cheap door. Architect 
states it is a fiberglass door. 
Staff: Because the NOA for the front door was generic, it would be good to condition 
the type of door the Board would like to see installed. 
H. Robinson asks about parking, architect states they will be adding a parking space 
adjacent to the carport area. 
Public Comment: None 
Motion: E. Fitzhugh Sita motions to approve subject to the following conditions: 
Amend #1, strike Condition #2, amend #5 (now #4) amend #8 (now #7) to read “all 
other required codes”:  
 

1) The north elevation shall avoid long expanses of blank façade.  A minimum of one 
additional window, with or without an eyebrow feature, shall be added on the northeast 
portion of the blank wall, which will allow light in to the hallway.  This window may be 
horizontal clerestory-type window to replicate the windows on the north façade, or vertical 
casement window to replicate the window on the east façade, subject to staff review at 
permitting. 



August 10, 2016 Regular Meeting 

 

 

 

2) A second off-street parking space shall be added in compliance with the Land Development 
Regulations.  This space may be accessed from 4th Avenue North, or the alley, and shall be 
subject to Staff review at permitting. 

3) The carport may be extended to accommodate a second parking space if desired, subject to 
Staff review at permitting. 

4) The exact design and configuration of the front door and the entry door in the site wall, 
shall be subject to Staff review at permitting. The flush entry door in the site wall shall be at 
a minimum quality a fiberglass door with aluminum frame, 

5) The windows and doors shall not have reflective glass. 
6) All proposed landscaping, fencing, and hardscape shall be subject to Staff review at 

permitting. 
7) The proposal shall comply with the Land Development Regulations and all other required 

Codes. 
 
D. Engel 2nd.  
Vote: Ayes all unanimous. 

 
3. HRPB Project Number 15-00100022: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 

(COA) for new construction of an addition to the existing structure at 812 South 
Lakeside Drive; PCN# 38-43-44-27-01-024-0050.  The subject property was 
constructed in 1942 and is a contributing resource within the South Palm Park Local 
Historic District.  Staff is requesting a continuance for this case. 
Motion: E. Fitzhugh Sita J. Just 2nd to continue to September 14, 2016 HRPB meeting. 
Vote: Ayes all, unanimous. 

F. Unfinished Business 
 

1. HRPB Project Number 16-00100145: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for installation of a double driveway in the front yard, for the property located at 
529 South L Street; PCN# 38434421151690310. The subject property was 
constructed c.1926 and is a contributing resource within the Southeast Lucerne Local 
Historic District. 
Staff presented details and findings of proposal. Brief recap and requests that all 
documents and testimony from the previous meeting as well as this meeting be entered 
into the record. Confirmed with Public Services the applicant will not be allowed to 
curb cut onto 6th Ave S. would allow a curb cut at corner of lot by alley.       
Applicant: Michael Francis shows the difficulties of parking in the rear, would like to 
close the fence on the alley completely. Despite the suggestion of a rolling gate. 
Board: D. Engel asks whether code enforcement has been called regarding neighbor 
parking in alley. J. Just inquires as to what is driving the request. The desire to secure the 
backyard? E. Fitzhugh Sita can agree with a single car parking. Not comfortable with a 
huge swath of concrete on a 20’s era home. 
M. Ducoste points out the irrelevance of the conversation regarding traffic patterns, 
graffiti, the house existed in this location prior to his purchase, the purpose is to discuss 
the driveway. T. Norris states the house is a contributing structure. 
Public Comment: None 
Motion: E. Fitzhugh Sita motions to approve a two-car tandem driveway,a maximum 
nine (9) foot wide and thirty-six (36) feet in length, subject to approval by Public 
Services. In the event it does not meet the criteria then parking shall be in the rear of 
the property. J. Just 2nd. 



August 10, 2016 Regular Meeting 

 

 

 

Vote: Ayes all, unanimous. 
 
G. New Business 
 

1. PZB/HRPB Project # 16-03100001 a City initiated request to consider proposed 
changes to Chapter 23, Land Development Regulations of the Lake Worth Code of 
Ordinances. 
Staff presents details and findings of proposed changes to the Land Development 
Regulations.       
Staff: Previously approved by PZB Assistant Director M. Ducoste provides a synopsis 
of the proposed ordinance. Compliance action required for condition of approval 
violation. 
Board: None 
Public Comment: None 
Motion: D. Engel moves to recommend proposed amendments to Chapter 23 Land 
Development Regulations of the Lake Worth Code of Ordinances to the City 
Commission. E. Fitzhugh Sita 2nd. 
Vote: Ayes all, unanimous. 
Board questions what would happen if HRPB did not make a recommendation. Board 
Attorney advises Commission would hear that PZB Board made a recommendation 
however no action by HRPB. 

6. Planning Issues 
 
A. Conceptual Review of a two-story addition and new construction accessory structure for 

314 Columbia Drive. 
There is a two (2) story addition and 1-story rear porch proposed. The south elevation is 
facing the street, the addition would be visible from the street. E. Fitzhugh Sita asks about if 
any differentiation is required to show between original and addition. Staff responds the 
trained eye could see the difference.  ½ bath and laundry. 1 bath   Tile mosaic proposed 
inside  
Applicant: Danielle McCarroll: Parking side by side, has Chicago brick they would like to 
utilize. Garage in back was torn down. Accessory structure is a bedroom, bathroom and 
storage, no kitchen. Staff suggests windows be added to some of the walls, not the closet. 
The lot coverage threshold may trigger the landscape code becoming applicable and the 
possibility of a shade tree being required. Applicant is in agreement with more windows.  
Parapet roof with tile on sloped roof on porch of house should be mimicked on the 
accessory structure. 

 
B. Conceptual Review for new construction of an addition to the existing structure at 812 

South Lakeside Drive.     
Staff recaps the structure is contributing. Proposed elevations are shown. E. Fitzhugh Sita 
asks about the size of the addition and the contributing structure becoming secondary to 
the new construction. A. Sunny states the removal of the kitchen from the original structure 
to the new construction will warrant a waiver to have accessory structure in front of main 
structure.  Two frontages one being the Intracoastal and treated equally. Does not relate to 
the height new construction will be at 10 feet above sea level, the original structure is at 7.5 
feet.  
Applicant: Art Marino - the kitchen in the contributing structure was never permitted, the 
structure will become a 2 car garage. On the adjacent lot, the house is 11 feet higher than 



August 10, 2016 Regular Meeting 

 

 

 

the new construction on this project. Asks Board what they want to see.  H. Robinson 
would like the work on the contributing structure to be one permit. Wall is for FEMA 
requirement. The distance from the wall to the water’s edge is 15 feet. This is not a flip of 
ownership. 
Board: E. Fitzhugh Sita, D. Engel and T. Norris states it has evolved nicely, continue to 
work on final details. H. Robinson points out the windows are matching.  
Staff: Enters the drawings into the record, site plan needs to be dimensioned and tabular 
data showing proposed and required by code, recalculate the exterior dimensions.  Deadline 
for submitting finalized plans is August 19, 2016. A. Sunny asks for proposed and required 
data to be shown on site plan. There is a meeting with staff on August 11, 2016. 

 
7. Public Comments (3 minute limit) 

None 
8. Departmental Reports 

There will not be a workshop next week regarding the feedback from the neighborhood 
associations. Staff member, Kathryn Jacob, has resigned for a better opportunity. H. Robinson 
asks about a workshop next month, September 21, 2016, regardless of a new person becoming 
available. M. Ducoste expresses an intent to move forward with the workshop in that month, 
also does not anticipate diminishing our selection process for a qualified replacement in the 
name of urgency. A. Sunny attended a preservation conference that was very informative. 828 
N Lakeside Dr and 801 Lake Ave storefronts going in. 
 
E. Fitzhugh Sita departs at 8:06 pm.. 
 

9. Board Member Comments 
H. Robinson inquires about demolition permitting. A. Sunny has not seen anything. Noticing 
was completed for Gulfstream buildings, time is expired and it was noticed in the paper. 
 
M. Ducoste mentions pre-application interest by a national brand and the plaza at the north end 
of city limits at Dixie Hwy.. Both have been in for a meeting. H. Robinson asks if it would tie in 
with the plaza development to the north side of the canal. M. Ducoste states our process is 
faster and more straightforward. It’s really a one stop shop. T. Norris asks about the site north 
of Publix by Hammon Park. M. Ducoste responds the permit for the site development is 
currently under review. 
  

10. Adjournment:   8:12 PM 
 
Attest:    ___________________________ 
     Herman Robinson, Chairman 
 
 
Submitted By:   ___________________________ 
     Sherie Coale, Board Secretary 
 
 
Minutes Approved:  ___________________________ 

     Date  
 











City Of Lake Worth 
Department for Community Sustainability 

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division 
1900 Second Avenue North· Lake Worth, Florida 33461 · Phone: 561-586-1687 

 

MEMORANDUM DATE:   September 7, 2016 
 
AGENDA DATE:  September 14, 2016 
 
TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
RE:   230 North O Street 
 
FROM:  Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
 Department for Community Sustainability 
 
TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 15-00100137: Consideration of a REVISION to an approved Certificate of 
Appropriateness (COA) for construction of a new single-family residence at the subject property located 
at 230 North O Street; PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-040-0080. The subject property is a vacant lot located 
within the Old Lucerne Local Historic District. 
 

AGENT/OWNER:   Giorgio Antoniazzi 
                                  Invetra Development 

                   340 W Flagler St, #1180 
                   Miami, FL 33130 

                     
                     
 

  

BACKGROUND:  

The Certificate of Appropriateness for New Construction of a single-family residence and accessory 
garage was approved with conditions by the HRPB on September 9, 2015.  

  

REQUEST:  

The Applicant has submitted a revision request to change the previously approved standing seam metal 
roof on the main residential structure and accessory garage to a dimensional asphalt shingle roof, per 
the plans and documentation provided.  The style of the proposed building is a contemporary cottage, 
with many elements reflecting the traditional architectural character often seen in this district. 

 

The proposed building has two primary street-facing elevations, on North O Street and 3rd Avenue North, 
with the front of the building facing North O Street.  The proposed new roof material will be visible from 
both public right-of-ways. 

   

The subject property is zoned Single Family Residential (SFR), and the approved new construction 
proposal complies with the requirements of this zoning district.  The revision request will not alter any 
zoning code requirements.  
 
ANALYSIS:   
Zoning and Comprehensive Plan Consistency  
The proposed new construction project is consistent with the development requirements in the City’s 
Zoning Code and Comprehensive Plan. The building as proposed would be conforming, and would not 
require any variances from the code. 



HRPB PR No. 15-00100137 - REVISION 
230 North O Street 

COA Application – New Construction 
Page 2 

 

 

2 

 

 

Historic Preservation 

New construction within a local historic district is also subject to specific criteria for visual compatibility 
as set forth in Section 23.5-4(k)3 of the City’s historic preservation regulations. These criteria are 
provided in Attachment 1 and include Staff’s response to each criterion. The criteria deal with massing, 
scale, materials, and design compatibility with the surrounding historic district. 

 
It is the analysis of Staff that the revision request as proposed is compatible with the regulations set forth 
in the historic preservation ordinance.  The proposed asphalt shingle roof is compatible with the 
contemporary cottage design, and responds to the character of the historic structures in the immediate 
vicinity. 
  
Public Comment 
At the time of publication of the agenda, Staff has not received any public comments regarding this 
project. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY: 

The project, as proposed, is consistent with the following Comprehensive Plan goals and objectives 
concerning future land use and housing: 

 

Goal 1.3 To preserve and enhance the City’s community character as a quality residential and business 
center within the Palm Beach County urban area. (Objective 1.3.4) 

 

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where 
appropriate restrict development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2) 
 

Goal 3.1 To achieve a supply of housing that offers a range of residential unit styles and prices for current 
and anticipated homeowners and renters in all household income levels by the creation and/or 
preservation of housing units. (Objective 3.1.1) 
 
CONSEQUENT ACTION:   
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date 
certain to request additional information; or deny the application. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends that the Board discuss the appropriateness of the revision request.  The dimensional 
asphalt shingle is compatible with the style of the structure and is consistent with other structures in the 
district.  The Board has previously expressed a preference for metal roofing over asphalt shingle, 
particularly due to increased energy efficiency.   
If the Board chooses to approve the revision request, Staff recommends the following conditions: 
 

1) The roof material may be dimensional asphalt shingle, standing seam metal, or 5V crimp metal.  
If asphalt shingle is installed, Staff recommends white or light gray for increased energy 
efficiency. 

2) All additional conditions that were approved at the September 9, 2015, HRPB meeting shall 
remain in effect, subject to staff review at permitting and inspection during construction.  



HRPB PR No. 15-00100137 - REVISION 
230 North O Street 

COA Application – New Construction 
Page 3 

 

 

3 

 

 

POTENTIAL MOTION:   
I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 15-00100137: Consideration of a REVISION to a Certificate of 
Appropriateness (COA) for new construction of a single-family residence at the subject property located 
at 230 North O Street, based upon the preponderance of competent substantial evidence, with the 
conditions as recommended by Staff. 
 
I MOVE TO HRPB 15-00100137: Consideration of a REVISION to a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) 
for new construction of a single-family residence at the subject property located at 230 North O Street, 
because the Applicant has not established by a preponderance of the evidence that the application is in 
compliance with the City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations, the Secretary of the interiors 
Standards for the Rehabilitation of Historic Properties, and the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Decision Criteria – New Construction 
2. Revision Renderings 
3. Proposed Product Brochures 
4. Approved Architectural Drawings 

 
LOCATION MAP 

 

 



 
MEMORANDUM 

 
DATE: September 7, 2016 
 
TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
 Department of Community Sustainability 
 
SUBJECT:  HRPB Project Number 15-00100137: Consideration of a REVISION to an approved 

Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for construction of a new single-family 
residence at the subject property located at 230 North O Street; PCN# 38-43-44-
21-15-040-0080. The subject property is a vacant lot located within the Old 
Lucerne Local Historic District. 

 
HRPB Meeting Date: September 14, 2016 
  
 
Section 23.5-4k(3) Additional guidelines for new construction; visual compatibility   
 
All improvements to buildings, structures and appurtenances within a designated historic district shall 
be visually compatible. New buildings should take their design cues from the surrounding existing 
structures, using traditional or contemporary design standards and elements that relate to existing 
structures that surround them and within the historic district as a whole. Building design styles, 
whether contemporary or traditional, should be visually compatible with the existing structures in the 
district.   
 
A.   In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for new construction, the 
City shall also, at a minimum, consider the following additional guidelines which help to define visual 
compatibility: 
 

(1) The height of proposed buildings shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the 
height of existing buildings located within the historic district. 
Response: Not applicable to this revision request. 
 

(2) The relationship of the width of the building to the height of the front elevation shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the width and height of the front elevation of 
existing buildings located within the district. 
Response: Not applicable to this revision request. 
 

(3) The openings of any building within a historic district should be visually compatible and 
in harmony with the openings in buildings of a similar architectural style located within 
the historic district. The relationship of the width of the windows and doors to the height 
of the windows and doors in a building shall be visually compatible with buildings within 
the district. 
Response: Not applicable to this revision request. 
 



2 

 

(4) The relationship of solids to voids in the front facade of a building or structure shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the front facades of historic buildings or 
structures located within the historic district. A long, unbroken facade in a setting of 
existing narrow structures can be divided into smaller bays which will complement the 
visual setting and the streetscape. 
Response: Not applicable to this revision request. 
 

(5) The relationship of a building to open space between it and adjoining buildings shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the relationship between buildings elsewhere 
within the district. 
Response: Not applicable to this revision request. 
 

(6) The relationship of entrance and porch projections to sidewalks of a building shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the prevalent architectural styles of entrances 
and porch projections on buildings and structures within the district. 
Response: Not applicable to this revision request. 
 

(7) The relationship of the materials, texture and color of the facade of a building shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the predominant materials used in the buildings 
and structures of a similar style located within the historic district. 
Response: The proposed roof material revision from metal standing seam to dimensional 
asphalt shingle is compatible with the contemporary cottage style of the structure, and 
the Old Lucerne historic district in general. 
 

(8) The roof shape of a building or structure shall be visually compatible and in harmony with 
the roof shape of buildings or structures of a similar architectural style located within the 
historic district. 
Response: Although this exact roof shape is not found in the immediate vicinity of the 
structure, it is appropriate within the district, and is visually compatible with the 
neighboring properties as well as the district.  The standing seam metal and dimensional 
asphalt shingle roof types are both compatible with this style of roof. 
 

(9) Appurtenances of a building, such as walls, wrought iron, fences, evergreen, landscape 
masses and building facades, shall, if necessary, form cohesive walls of enclosures along 
a street to insure visual compatibility of the building to the buildings and places to which 
it is visually related. 
Response: Not applicable to this revision request. 
 

(10) The size and mass of a building in relation to open spaces, the windows, door openings, 
porches and balconies shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the buildings and 
places to which it is visually related. 
Response: Not applicable to this revision request. 
 

(11) A building shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the buildings and places to 
which it is visually related in its directional character: vertical, horizontal or non-
directional. 



3 

 

Response: The building’s height and massing are compatible with other single-family 
residential buildings on the block, and the roof revision request does not alter this visual 
compatibility and harmony. 
 

(12) The architectural style of a building shall be visually compatible with other buildings to 
which it is related in the historic district, but does not necessarily have to be in the same 
style of buildings in the district. New construction or additions to a building are 
encouraged to be appropriate to the style of the period in which it is created and not 
attempt to create a false sense of history.  
Response: The building is a contemporary cottage design that employs elements of 
traditional frame vernacular architecture.  The building is visually compatible with the 
district, but does not attempt to replicate any historic structures.  The revision request 
does not alter this visual compatibility.  
 

(13) Landscaping shall be compatible with the architectural character and appearance of the 
structure and of other buildings located within the historic district. 
Response: Not applicable to this revision request. 
 

(14) In considering applications for certificates of appropriateness to install mechanical 
systems which affect the exterior of a building or structure visible from a public right-of-
way, the following criteria shall be considered: 

 
(a) Retain and repair, where possible, historic mechanical systems in their original 

location, where possible. 
Response: Not applicable to this revision request. 
 

(b) New mechanical systems shall be placed on secondary facades only and shall not 
be placed on, nor be visible from, primary facades. 
Response: Not applicable to this revision request. 
 

(c) New mechanical systems shall not damage, destroy or compromise the physical 
integrity of the structure and shall be installed so as to cause the least damage, 
invasion or visual obstruction to the structure's building materials, or to its 
significant historic, cultural or architectural features. 
Response: Not applicable to this revision request. 
 

(15) The site should take into account the compatibility of landscaping, parking facilities, utility 
and service areas, walkways and appurtenances. These should be designated with the 
overall environment in mind and should be in keeping visually with related buildings and 
structures. 
Response: The roof material revision request applies to the accessory garage structure as 
well as the main residential structure, and the two structures are visually compatible. 
 

B.   In considering certificates of appropriateness for new buildings or structures which will have more 
than one primary facade, such as those on corner lots facing more than one street, the HRPB shall 
apply the visual compatibility standards to each primary facade.   
Response: The above criteria and responses apply to both primary façades. 

 



AZZI DESIGN

OWNER:

Type in info

340 W Flagler St
#1108
Miami Fl, 33130

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER:
Type in info

MEP ENGINEER:
Type in info

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:
Type in info

SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE DRAWINGS ARE THE
PROPERTY OF AZZI DESIGN LLC. NO COPIES,

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR ELECTRONIC
MANIPULATION OF ANY PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN

WHOLE OR IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE
EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF AZZI DESIGN LLC.

Office Registration #

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

A

B

C

D

DATE:

C
:\U

se
rs

\G
io

rg
io

\D
oc

um
en

ts
\ P

ro
je

ct
s\

15
02

 N
o r

th
 O

 S
t\ N

-O
-S

t.r
vt

230 North O St.

A-0.00

COVER - INDEX

1501

Lucerne House

INVETRA
DEVELOPMENT LLC.

07-29-15

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE

LUCERNE HOUSE
230 NORTH  O  ST.

PLANNING & ZONING SET







2

1 2 43

1

PV
282 sf

PB
8

AO
3

TD
109

AO
3

AO
5

AO
2

AO
2

NE
114

TD
44

TD
35

AO
2

PB
13

NE
64

PV
106 sf

MF
16

AO
2

EF
13

NE
52

PV
188 sf

NE
55

TD
135

AO
2

PV
32 sf

PB
12

AO
2

TD
81

TD
26

TD
22

AO
1

AO
1

TD
22

PB
10

AO
1

NE
26

NE
31

PV
36 sf

AO
1

PV
23 sf

PB
10

PB
29

PB
9

CF
4

BS
1

BS
2

CF
3

SP
3

SYMBOL
GRAVEL

LIMESTONE FLAGSTONE

LIMESTONE FLOORING

VEHICULAR PAVERS

CODE
DESCRIPTION QTY

1 320 sf

2 550 sf

3 217 sf

4 544 sf

PLANT SCHEDULE
2015-08-11 00:23

SHRUBS CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME HEIGHT SPREAD GAL NATIVE
AO 27 Alcantarea odorata Giant Silver Bromeliad 36" 36" 15G No

EF 13 Eugenia foetida Spanish Stopper 4` 24" 15G Yes

MF 16 Myrcianthes
fragrans

Simpson`s Stopper 4` 24" 15G Yes

PB 91 Psychotria
ligustrifolia

Bahama Coffee 24" 24" 3G Yes

GROUND COVERS CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME HEIGHT SPREAD NATIVE NATIVE SPACING
NE 342 Nephrolepis exaltata Boston Fern 12" 12" 1G Yes 12" o.c.

TD 474 Tripsacum
floridanum

Florida Gamagrass 12" 12" 1G Yes 12" o.c.

SOD/SEED CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME HEIGHT SPREAD NATIVE NATIVE SPACING
PV 666 sf Paspalum

vaginatum
Seashore Paspalum flat Yes

TREE SCHEDULE
2015-08-11 00:24

TREES CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME HEIGHT SPREAD CALIPER
BS 3 Bursera simaruba Gumbo Limbo 20` OA 15` 8" min

PALMS CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME HEIGHT SPREAD CALIPER
CF 9 Coccothrinax

argentata
Florida Silver Palm 6` CT 6`

SP 3 Sabal palmetto Cabbage Palmetto 10`-12` CT

A-3.01

1

A-3.01 2

MAIN STRUCTURE

DETACHED GARAGE

POOL

50
' -

 0
"

50
' -

 0
"

REQ. SETBACK

20' - 0" 115' - 0"

20' - 0" 56' - 0"

20' - 0" 56' - 0" 34' - 0" 20' - 0" 5' - 0"

20
' -

 0
"

24
' -

 1
1"

N O R T H     3 R D     A V E N U E

N
 O
 R
 T
 H
   
 O
   
S 
T 
R 
E 
E 
T

135' - 0"

6' TALL SHADOW BOX WOOD FENCE

34'-2".
10' - 0"

10
' -

 0
"

HARDSCAPE SCHEDULE

AZZI DESIGN

OWNER:

Type in info

340 W Flagler St
#1108
Miami Fl, 33130

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER:
Type in info

MEP ENGINEER:
Type in info

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:
Type in info

SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE DRAWINGS ARE THE
PROPERTY OF AZZI DESIGN LLC. NO COPIES,

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR ELECTRONIC
MANIPULATION OF ANY PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN

WHOLE OR IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE
EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF AZZI DESIGN LLC.

Office Registration #

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

A

B

C

D

DATE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

C
:\U

se
rs

\G
io

rg
io

\D
oc

um
en

ts
\ P

ro
je

ct
s\

15
02

 N
o r

th
 O

 S
t\ N

-O
-S

t.r
vt

230 North O St.

L-0.01

LANDSCAPE PLAN

1501

Lucerne House

INVETRA
DEVELOPMENT LLC.

07-29-15

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE 1/8" = 1'-0"1 Landscape Plan



2

1 2 43

MAIN STRUCTURE

DETACHED GARAGE

POOL
12' X 22'

50
' -

 0
"

SE
TB

AC
K

5'
 - 

0"
40

' -
 0

"

SE
TB

AC
K

5'
 - 

0"

REQ. SETBACK

20' - 0" 101' - 6"

REQ. SETBACK

13' - 6"

20' - 0" 56' - 0"

20' - 0" 56' - 0" 34' - 0" 20' - 0" 5' - 0"

20
' -

 0
"

24
' -

 1
1"

N O R T H     3 R D     A V E N U E

N
 O
 R
 T
 H
   
 O
   
S 
T 
R 
E 
E 
T

135' - 0"

A-3.01

1

A-3.01 2

6' TALL SHADOW BOX WOOD FENCE

34'-2".
10' - 0"

10
' -

 0
"

2'
-6

".

AZZI DESIGN

OWNER:

Type in info

340 W Flagler St
#1108
Miami Fl, 33130

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER:
Type in info

MEP ENGINEER:
Type in info

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:
Type in info

SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE DRAWINGS ARE THE
PROPERTY OF AZZI DESIGN LLC. NO COPIES,

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR ELECTRONIC
MANIPULATION OF ANY PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN

WHOLE OR IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE
EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF AZZI DESIGN LLC.

Office Registration #

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

A

B

C

D

DATE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

C
:\U

se
rs

\G
io

rg
io

\D
oc

um
en

ts
\ P

ro
je

ct
s\

15
02

 N
o r

th
 O

 S
t\ N

-O
-S

t.r
vt

230 North O St.

A-0.01

ZONING LEGEND & SITE
PLAN

1501

Lucerne House

INVETRA
DEVELOPMENT LLC.

07-29-15

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE

 1/8" = 1'-0"1 Site plan

ZONING LEGEND
I. SITE INFORMATION

ADDRESS: 230 NORTH O   ST
LAKE WORTH, FL 33460

PARCEL ID: 38434421150400080

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  LOT 8, BLOCK 40, THE PALM BEACH FARMS CO., PLAT NO. 2 TOWNSITE OF LUCERNE 
(NOW KNOWN AS LAKE WORTH), ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF ON FILE IN 
THE OFFICE OF THE CLERK OF THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PALM BEACH 
COUNTY, FLORIDA, RECORDED IN PLAY BOOK 2, PAGE 29. SAID LANDS SITUATE, 
LYING AND BEING IN PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA.

LOT SIZE:  6,750 SF  ( .1549 acres)

MAX FAR: .50  =  3375 SF     TOTAL GROSS PROPOSED: 3292 SF

II. BUILDING DISPOSITION

SETBACKS:
PRINCIPLE STRUCTURE:  REQUIRED  PROVIDED
FRONT  (WEST) 20'‐0" 20'‐0"
SIDE (NORTH ‐ SOUTH)                      (10% x 50'‐0") 5'‐0" 5'‐0"
REAR (EAST)          (10% x 135'‐0")  13'‐6" 59'‐0"

GARAGE (ACCESSORY:  REQUIRED  PROVIDED
FRONT  (WEST) 20'‐0" 110'‐0"
SIDE (NORTH ‐ SOUTH)                     5'‐0" 5'‐0"
REAR (EAST)    5'‐0" 5'‐0"

POOL:  REQUIRED  PROVIDED
SIDE (NORTH)                     5'‐0" 12'‐10"
SIDE (SOUTH)    5'‐0" 13'‐4"
REAR (EAST)    5'‐0" 33'‐5"

BUILDING HEIGHT: (AVG CROWN OF ROAD  8.50 NGVD) MAX.  PROVIDED

PRINCIPLE STRUCTURE:  30'‐0" (2 STORIES) 25'‐3" (2 STORIES)
GARAGE (ACCESSORY): 24'‐0" (2 STORIES) 13'‐9" (1 STORY)

AREA

AC (MAIN STRUCTURE): 2,378 SF
COVERED: 514 SF
GARAGE (ACCESSORY): 400 SF  (16% OF PRINCIPLE STRUCTURE)
TOTAL (GROSS): 3292 SF

IMPERMEABLE SURFACE MAXIMUM:  MEDIUM LOT (B) 55% = 3,712 SF

BUILDING COVERAGE: (PRINCIPLE & ACCESSORY) 2,131 SF (31%) MAX 35%
HARDSCAPE: 1311 SF
TOTAL: 3,442 SF (51%)

PEDESTRIAN GATE



AZZI DESIGN

OWNER:

Type in info

340 W Flagler St
#1108
Miami Fl, 33130

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER:
Type in info

MEP ENGINEER:
Type in info

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:
Type in info

SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE DRAWINGS ARE THE
PROPERTY OF AZZI DESIGN LLC. NO COPIES,

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR ELECTRONIC
MANIPULATION OF ANY PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN

WHOLE OR IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE
EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF AZZI DESIGN LLC.

Office Registration #

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

A

B

C

D

DATE:

C
:\U

se
rs

\G
io

rg
io

\D
oc

um
en

ts
\ P

ro
je

ct
s\

15
02

 N
o r

th
 O

 S
t\ N

-O
-S

t.r
vt

230 North O St.

A-0.02

SITE IMAGES

1501

Lucerne House

INVETRA
DEVELOPMENT LLC.

07-29-15

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE

NORTH PANORAMA

NORTH ‐ WEST  PANORAMA

NORTH PANORAMA



UP

UP
UP

A-3.003

A-3.00

A-3.00

A-3.00

2

1

4

F

D

W

DW

GREAT ROOM

100

KITCHEN

DEN ‐ DINING

102

FOYER

103

46 SF

LAUNDRY

104

BEDROOM 01

105

BEDROOM 02

106

FRONT PORCH

REAR PORCH

48' - 0" 8' - 0"

16
' -

 0
"

24
' -

 1
"

8' - 0" 40' - 0" 8' - 0"

23' x 22'

14'‐8" x 14'‐9"

15'‐1" x 11'‐0"

14'‐2" x 11'‐0"

40
' -

 1
"

A-3.01

1

A-3.01 2

20
' -

 0
"

20' - 0"

13
' -

 6
"

6'
 - 

6"

10' - 0" 10' - 0"

2' - 0" 16' - 0" 2' - 0"

AZZI DESIGN

OWNER:

Type in info

340 W Flagler St
#1108
Miami Fl, 33130

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER:
Type in info

MEP ENGINEER:
Type in info

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:
Type in info

SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE DRAWINGS ARE THE
PROPERTY OF AZZI DESIGN LLC. NO COPIES,

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR ELECTRONIC
MANIPULATION OF ANY PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN

WHOLE OR IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE
EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF AZZI DESIGN LLC.

Office Registration #

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

A

B

C

D

DATE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

C
:\U

se
rs

\G
io

rg
io

\D
oc

um
en

ts
\ P

ro
je

ct
s\

15
02

 N
o r

th
 O

 S
t\ N

-O
-S

t.r
vt

230 North O St.

A-1.01

LEVEL 1 FLOORPLAN

1501

Lucerne House

INVETRA
DEVELOPMENT LLC.

07-29-15

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE

 1/4" = 1'-0"1 Level 1

0" 2' 4' 8'

 1/4" = 1'-0"2 DETACHED GARAGE PLAN



UP

A-3.003

A-3.00

A-3.00

A-3.00

2

1

4

M. CLOSET

MASTER BATHROOM
M. BEDROOM

107

AC

BALCONY

40' - 0"

13'‐5" x 16'‐0" 16
' -

 1
0 

5/
8"

18
' -

 8
 1

1/
16

"

59' - 0"

43
' -

 0
"

9' - 6" 40' - 0" 9' - 6"

A-3.01

1

A-3.01 2

AZZI DESIGN

OWNER:

Type in info

340 W Flagler St
#1108
Miami Fl, 33130

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER:
Type in info

MEP ENGINEER:
Type in info

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:
Type in info

SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE DRAWINGS ARE THE
PROPERTY OF AZZI DESIGN LLC. NO COPIES,

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR ELECTRONIC
MANIPULATION OF ANY PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN

WHOLE OR IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE
EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF AZZI DESIGN LLC.

Office Registration #

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

A

B

C

D

DATE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

C
:\U

se
rs

\G
io

rg
io

\D
oc

um
en

ts
\ P

ro
je

ct
s\

15
02

 N
o r

th
 O

 S
t\ N

-O
-S

t.r
vt

230 North O St.

A-1.02

LEVEL 2 FLOORPLAN

1501

Lucerne House

INVETRA
DEVELOPMENT LLC.

07-29-15

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE

 1/4" = 1'-0"1 Level 2

0" 2' 4' 8'



A-3.003

A-3.00

A-3.00

A-3.00

2

1

4

SLOPE: 9"/12"

SLOPE: 9"/12"

8'
 - 

0"
13

' -
 6

"
13

' -
 6

"
8'

 - 
0"

SLOPE: 4"/12"

SLOPE: 4"/12"

SLOPE: 4"/12"

SLOPE: 4"/12"

SLOPE: 4"/12"

SLOPE: 4"/12"

SLOPE: 4"/12"

BALCONY

A-3.01

1

A-3.01 2

AZZI DESIGN

OWNER:

Type in info

340 W Flagler St
#1108
Miami Fl, 33130

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER:
Type in info

MEP ENGINEER:
Type in info

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:
Type in info

SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE DRAWINGS ARE THE
PROPERTY OF AZZI DESIGN LLC. NO COPIES,

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR ELECTRONIC
MANIPULATION OF ANY PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN

WHOLE OR IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE
EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF AZZI DESIGN LLC.

Office Registration #

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

A

B

C

D

DATE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

C
:\U

se
rs

\G
io

rg
io

\D
oc

um
en

ts
\ P

ro
je

ct
s\

15
02

 N
o r

th
 O

 S
t\ N

-O
-S

t.r
vt

230 North O St.

A-1.03

ROOF PLAN

1501

Lucerne House

INVETRA
DEVELOPMENT LLC.

07-29-15

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE

 1/4" = 1'-0"1 ROOF

0" 2' 4' 8'



Level 1
0' - 0"

Level 2
10' - 6"

ROOF
20' - 6"

Grade
-1' - 6"

36" WOOD RAILING

ALUM.  LOUVERED
SHUTTER

8"x8" WOOD COLUMN
(typ)

WHITE  ALUM. SINGLE
HUNG WINDOWS

WHITE  ALUM. SINGLE
HUNG WINDOWS

10
' -

 6
"

1'
 - 

6"

HARDIE  SHINGLE
STAGGERED EDGE PANEL

Level 1
0' - 0"

Level 2
10' - 6"

ROOF
20' - 6"

Grade
-1' - 6"

24" STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF

4" STUCCO SIDING

1'
 - 

2"
3'

 - 
0"

LOUVERED WOOD SCREEN

42" WOOD RAILING

25
' -

 3
 2

7/
32

"

Level 1
0' - 0"

Level 2
10' - 6"

ROOF
20' - 6"

Grade
-1' - 6"

42" WOOD RAILING

WHITE ALUM.  FRENCH
DOOR

STANDING SEAM METAL
ROOF

8"x 8" PT WOOD
COLUMN. (typ)

HARDIE SHINGLE SIDING.
STAGGERED EDGE PANEL

Level 1
0' - 0"

Level 2
10' - 6"

ROOF
20' - 6"

Grade
-1' - 6"

25
' -

 3
 2

7/
32

"

13
' -

 3
 1

3/
16

"
10

' -
 6

"
1'

 - 
6"

4" STUCCO SIDING
4" STUCCO SIDING

42" WOOD RAILING

STANDING SEAM
METAL ROOF

AZZI DESIGN

OWNER:

Type in info

340 W Flagler St
#1108
Miami Fl, 33130

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER:
Type in info

MEP ENGINEER:
Type in info

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:
Type in info

SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE DRAWINGS ARE THE
PROPERTY OF AZZI DESIGN LLC. NO COPIES,

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR ELECTRONIC
MANIPULATION OF ANY PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN

WHOLE OR IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE
EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF AZZI DESIGN LLC.

Office Registration #

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

A

B

C

D

DATE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

C
:\U

se
rs

\G
io

rg
io

\D
oc

um
en

ts
\ P

ro
je

ct
s\

15
02

 N
o r

th
 O

 S
t\ N

-O
-S

t.r
vt

230 North O St.

A-3.00

ELEVATIONS

1501

Lucerne House

INVETRA
DEVELOPMENT LLC.

07-29-15

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE

 1/4" = 1'-0"1 West
 1/4" = 1'-0"2 North

 1/4" = 1'-0"3 East
 1/4" = 1'-0"4 South



Level 1
0' - 0"

Level 2
10' - 6"

ROOF
20' - 6"

Grade
-1' - 6"

24" STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF

4" STUCCO SIDING

1'
 - 

2"3'
 - 

0"

LOUVERED WOOD SCREEN

42" WOOD RAILING

25
' -

 3
 2

7/
32

"

ALLEY NORTH  "O"  ST

PEDESTRIAN GATE

DETACHED GARAGE

PR
O
PE
RT

Y 
LI
N
E

PR
O
PE
RT

Y 
LI
N
E

Level 1
0' - 0"

Level 2
10' - 6"

ROOF
20' - 6"

Grade
-1' - 6"

PR
O
PE
RT

Y 
LI
N
E

PR
O
PE
RT

Y 
LI
N
E

3RD AVENUE  N.

AZZI DESIGN

OWNER:

Type in info

340 W Flagler St
#1108
Miami Fl, 33130

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER:
Type in info

MEP ENGINEER:
Type in info

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:
Type in info

SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE DRAWINGS ARE THE
PROPERTY OF AZZI DESIGN LLC. NO COPIES,

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR ELECTRONIC
MANIPULATION OF ANY PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN

WHOLE OR IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE
EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF AZZI DESIGN LLC.

Office Registration #

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

A

B

C

D

DATE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

C
:\U

se
rs

\G
io

rg
io

\D
oc

um
en

ts
\ P

ro
je

ct
s\

15
02

 N
o r

th
 O

 S
t\ N

-O
-S

t.r
vt

230 North O St.

A-3.01

ELEVATIONS

1501

Lucerne House

INVETRA
DEVELOPMENT LLC.

07-29-15

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE

 1/8" = 1'-0"1 North Street Elevation

 1/8" = 1'-0"2 West Street Elevation

0" 4' 8' 16'

0" 4' 8' 16'



AZZI DESIGN

OWNER:

Type in info

340 W Flagler St
#1108
Miami Fl, 33130

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER:
Type in info

MEP ENGINEER:
Type in info

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:
Type in info

SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE DRAWINGS ARE THE
PROPERTY OF AZZI DESIGN LLC. NO COPIES,

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR ELECTRONIC
MANIPULATION OF ANY PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN

WHOLE OR IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE
EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF AZZI DESIGN LLC.

Office Registration #

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

A

B

C

D

DATE:

C
:\U

se
rs

\G
io

rg
io

\D
oc

um
en

ts
\ P

ro
je

ct
s\

15
02

 N
o r

th
 O

 S
t\ N

-O
-S

t.r
vt

230 North O St.

A-8.00

RENDERINGS

1501

Lucerne House

INVETRA
DEVELOPMENT LLC.

07-29-15

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE

VIEW FROM:   3RD & "O" ST.



AZZI DESIGN

OWNER:

Type in info

340 W Flagler St
#1108
Miami Fl, 33130

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER:
Type in info

MEP ENGINEER:
Type in info

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:
Type in info

SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE DRAWINGS ARE THE
PROPERTY OF AZZI DESIGN LLC. NO COPIES,

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR ELECTRONIC
MANIPULATION OF ANY PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN

WHOLE OR IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE
EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF AZZI DESIGN LLC.

Office Registration #

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

A

B

C

D

DATE:

C
:\U

se
rs

\G
io

rg
io

\D
oc

um
en

ts
\ P

ro
je

ct
s\

15
02

 N
o r

th
 O

 S
t\ N

-O
-S

t.r
vt

230 North O St.

A-8.01

RENDERINGS

1501

Lucerne House

INVETRA
DEVELOPMENT LLC.

07-29-15

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE

VIEW FROM:   BACK COURT



Timberline® Natural Shadow® Brochure  
(RESTL100NS)

  

Updated: 7/16



Color Shown:
Weathered 
Wood

gaf.com

LIFETIME SHINGLES

LIFETIME SHINGLES

Protect your home with Timberline® Shingles — North America’s #1–selling shingles!

“ Value & Performance In A  
Natural Wood-Shake Look”



LIFETIME SHINGLES

LIFETIME SHINGLES

Color Shown:
Slate

Professional installers have 
long preferred the rugged, 
dependable performance  
that only a Timberline®  
roof can offer. That’s why  
Timberline® Shingles with 
Advanced Protection® Shingle 
Technology are the #1-selling 
shingles in all of North America.  

But performance is only half 
the story. Since your roof can 
represent up to 40% of your 
home’s “curb appeal,” you  
can improve its resale value 
with Timberline® Natural 
Shadow® Shingles from GAF. 
They’ll give you the upscale, 
architectural look you want,  
at a price you can afford!

There’s Nothing 
Quite Like  
A Genuine 
Timberline® Roof!

GAF Shingles are the

Timberline® Shingles— 
North America’s  

#1-Selling 
Shingles!

Note: It is difficult to reproduce the color clarity and 
actual color blends of these products. Before selecting 
your color, please ask to see several full-size shingles.



Color Shown: 
Pewter Gray
(not available in all areas)

LIFETIME SHINGLES

LIFETIME SHINGLES

Color Shown: 
Barkwood
(not available in all areas)

•  Great Value... 
Architecturally stylish  
but practically  
priced—with a  
Lifetime ltd. warranty.*

•  Attractive Appearance...  
Features a classic shadow effect. 
Lends any home a subtle, even-toned 
look with the warmth of wood.

•  Highest Roofing Fire Rating...  
UL Class A, Listed to ANSI/UL 790

•    High Performance...         
Designed with 
Advanced Protection® 
Shingle Technology, 
which reduces the use 
of natural resources 
while providing  
excellent protection for your home  
(visit gaf.com/APS/ to learn more).

•    Stays In Place... Dura Grip™ 
Adhesive seals each shingle tightly 
and reduces the risk of shingle  
blow-off. Shingles warranted to 
withstand winds up to 130 mph!†

•       Peace Of Mind... Lifetime ltd. 
transferable warranty with Smart 
Choice® Protection (non-prorated 
material and installation labor 
coverage) for the first ten years.*

•    Perfect Finishing Touch...  
Use Timbertex® Premium Ridge  
Cap Shingles or Ridglass®  
Premium Ridge Cap Shingles.**

TECHNOLOGYTECHNOLOGY

™

Benefits

Note: It is difficult to reproduce the color clarity and 
actual color blends of these products. Before selecting 
your color, please ask to see several full-size shingles.

 *  See GAF Shingle & Accessory Ltd. Warranty 
for complete coverage and restrictions. The 
word “Lifetime” refers to the length of coverage 
provided by the GAF Shingle & Accessory Ltd. 
Warranty and means as long as the original 
individual owner(s) of a single-family detached 
residence [or the second owner(s) in certain 
circumstances] owns the property where the 
shingles are installed. For owners/structures not 
meeting the above criteria, Lifetime coverage is 
not applicable. 

**  These products are not available in all areas. 
See www.gaf.com/ridgecapavailability  
for details.

 †  This wind speed coverage requires special 
installation; see GAF Shingle & Accessory Ltd. 
Warranty for details.



Color Shown: 
Shakewood

LIFETIME SHINGLES

LIFETIME SHINGLES

Color Shown:
Charcoal

 * See GAF Shingle & Accessory Ltd. Warranty for complete 
coverage and restrictions. The word “Lifetime” refers to the length of 
coverage provided by the GAF Shingle & Accessory Ltd. Warranty 
and means as long as the original individual owner(s) of a 
single-family detached residence [or the second owner(s) in certain 
circumstances] owns the property where the shingles are installed. 
For owners/structures not meeting the above criteria, Lifetime 
coverage is not applicable. 

** GAF Shingles have earned the prestigious Good Housekeeping 
Seal, which means that Good Housekeeping stands behind these 
products. (Refer to Good Housekeeping Magazine for its consumer 
protection policy. Applicable in U.S. only.)

When you install GAF  
Timberline® Natural Shadow® 
Shingles with Advanced  
Protection® Shingle  
Technology, you’re getting  
the very best combination  
of weight and performance  
that modern manufacturing  
technology can deliver.  
In fact, you won’t find  
a shingle that surpasses  
Timberline® on:

4 Toughness
4 Wind uplift resistance
4 Flexibility
4 Fire resistance

That’s why every Timberline® 
Shingle comes with GAF’s  
transferable Lifetime ltd.  
Warranty*—for your peace of 
mind! —plus the backing of the 
Good Housekeeping Seal**.

Install Peace  
Of Mind... 
Install To Protect!

Note: It is difficult to reproduce the color clarity and 
actual color blends of these products. Before selecting 
your color, please ask to see several full-size shingles.



Color Shown: 
Hickory

Color Shown: 
Hunter Green
(not available in all areas)

LIFETIME SHINGLES

LIFETIME SHINGLES

• Fiberglass asphalt shingle
• Lifetime ltd. transferable warranty1 
•  Smart Choice® Protection for the first 10 years1

• 130 mph ltd. wind coverage2

•  StainGuard® Protection3

• UL Listed to ANSI/UL 790 Class A
• ASTM D7158, Class H
• ASTM D3161 Type 1, Class F 
• ASTM D3018 Type 1
• ASTM D34624

• Classified in accordance with ICC-ES AC438
• Miami-Dade County Product Control approved5

• Florida Building Code approved
•  Texas Department of Insurance approved5

• ICC approved5

• ENERGY STAR® certified (U.S. only)6

• Approx. 64 Pieces/Square 
• Approx. 3 Bundles/Square
• Approx. 256 Nails/Square 
•  Exposure: 55/8" 

Guard
Stain

ALGAE DISCOLORATION 

®

LIMITED WARRANTY

 1   See GAF Shingle & Accessory Ltd. Warranty for complete 
coverage and restrictions. The word “Lifetime” refers to the length of 
coverage provided by the GAF Shingle & Accessory Ltd. Warranty 
and means as long as the original individual owner(s) of a single-
family detached residence [or the second owner(s) in certain 
circumstances] owns the property where the shingles are installed. 
For owners/structures not meeting the above criteria, Lifetime 
coverage is not applicable.  

  2  This wind speed coverage requires special installation. See GAF 
Shingle & Accessory Ltd. Warranty for details. 

 3   StainGuard® protection applies only to shingles with StainGuard®-
labeled packaging. See GAF Shingle & Accessory Ltd. Warranty 
for complete coverage and restrictions.

 4   Periodically tested by independent and internal labs to ensure 
compliance with ASTM D3462 at time of manufacture. 

  5  Applies to some plants. 
  6  Timberline® Natural Shadow® Arctic White is ENERGY STAR® 

certified (U.S. only) and rated by the Cool Roof Rating Council. 
See gaf.com for availability and details.

131⁄4"  x 39 3⁄8" Metric

SPECIFICATIONS

Timberline® 
Shingles  
Are Also The 
Favorite Of 
Professional 
Contractors...
•    More Referrals... People will  

know that you’re installing America’s  
#1-selling laminated shingles!

•    Less Chance Of Call-Backs... 
Durable, wind-resistant shingles carry  
130 mph ltd. wind coverage.†

  † This wind speed coverage requires special installation;  
see GAF Shingle & Accessory Ltd. Warranty for details. 

GAF Shingles are the

Note: It is difficult to reproduce the color clarity and 
actual color blends of these products. Before selecting 
your color, please ask to see several full-size shingles.

3



Color Availability  Chart*

We can help you choose the right shingle for your roof!
Try GAF’s Virtual Home Remodeler at gaf.com. Visualize GAF Shingles  
on a hous e like yours—or upload and decorate your own house.  
Try different siding, trim, and brick colors. It’s fun!

“ Timberline® Shingles not only protect your 
most valuable asset but also beautify your 
home for years to come.”

Note: It is difficult to reproduce the color clarity and actual color  
blends of these products. Before selecting your color, please ask  
to see several full-size shingles. 

Hickory

Shakewood Weathered  Wood

Pewter Gray*

Slate

Charcoal

Hunter Green*

BarkwoodArctic White*

Timbertex® and Ridglass®  
Premium Ridge Cap Shingles

Looking  
For A 
Designer 
Color Blend 
For Your 
Roof?  
Consider 
Timberline® 
American 
Harvest® 
Shingles...

“ Colors From The 
Heartland Of America”

•  Complements Timberline® Colors... Designed to  
complement the color of your Timberline® Shingles

•   Strong Protection For Hips & Ridges... Multi-layer design  
protects the most vulnerable areas of your roof

•  Perfect Finishing Touch... Extra-thick designs with massive 8" 
exposure are 2–3 times thicker (versus typical strip shingles) 
for a distinctive, upscale look

•  Stays In Place... Dura Grip™ Self-seal Adhesive seals each 
piece tightly and reduces the risk of shingle blow-off

•  Peace Of Mind... Up to a Lifetime ltd. warranty when 
installed on Lifetime Shingle roofs†

* These products are not available in all areas.  
See www.gaf.com/ridgecapavailability for details.

Important Warning:
Timbertex® and Ridglass® Premium Ridge Cap Shingles 
are designed to complement the color of your Timberline® 
Shingles. But some contractors cut costs by using the 
tabs from a 20-year or 25-year 3-tab shingle as your 
ridge cap. To ensure the closest color consistency for your 
roof, ask your contractor to use genuine Timbertex® or  
Ridglass® Premium Ridge Cap Shingles.*

Ridglass® 
Premium Ridge Cap Shingles

† See GAF Shingle & Accessory Ltd. Warranty for complete coverage and restrictions. The word “Lifetime” 
refers to the length of coverage provided by the GAF Shingle & Accessory Ltd. Warranty and means as long 
as the original individual owner(s) of a single-family detached residence [or the second owner(s) in certain 
circumstances] owns the property where the shingles and accessories are installed. For owners/structures 
not meeting the above criteria, Lifetime coverage is not applicable. Lifetime ltd. warranty on accessories 
requires the use of at least three qualifying GAF accessories and the use of Lifetime Shingles.

Before  
(with cut-up strip shingles)

After  
(with Timbertex® 
Premium Ridge Cap 
Shingles)

LIFETIME SHINGLES

LIFETIME SHINGLES

†

(U.S. only)

† Timberline® Natural Shadow® Arctic White is ENERGY STAR® certified in the U.S. only and rated by the Cool Roof Rating Council 
(CRRC). See gaf.com for availability and details. When installed properly, this product will help to reduce energy costs. Actual savings 
will vary based on geographic location and individual building characteristics. For more information, contact GAF Technical Services  
at 1-800-ROOF-411, visit gaf.com, or call 1-888-STAR-YES.

Note:   This product is not available in all areas. See gaf.com for availability and details.

*Notes:   
• Arctic White only available in the Shafter area.
•  Hunter Green only available in the Minneapolis  

and Michigan City areas.
•  Pewter Gray only available in the Baltimore/

Myerstown and Michigan City areas.
•  Timberline® Natural Shadow® Shingles are not 

available in the Tampa area.

 



   

Quality You Can 
Trust…From 
North America’s 
Largest Roofing 
Manufacturer!™

Leak 
Barrier
 Provides exceptional 
protection against 
leaks caused by 
roof settling and 
extreme weather. 
Ideal upgrade at 
all vulnerable areas 
(including at the 
eaves in the North†).

Roof Deck 
Protection
Provides an 
exceptionally strong 
layer of protection 
against wind-driven 
rain; some even 
allow moisture to 
escape from your attic. 
Also, lies flatter for a 
better-looking roof. 

Cobra® Attic 
Ventilation
Helps remove 
excess heat and 
moisture from your 
attic to promote 
energy efficiency 
in your home and 
help extend the 
life of your roof.

Starter Strip 
Shingles
Saves time, eliminates 
waste, and reduces the 
risk of blow-off...and 
may even help qualify 
for upgraded wind 
warranty coverage 
(see GAF Shingle 
& Accessory Ltd. 
Warranty for details).

SALES OFFICES:
NORTHEAST 
717-866-8392

CENTRAL
630-296-1980

SOUTHEAST 
813-829-8880

SOUTHWEST
972-851-0500

WEST 
800-445-9330

CANADA
855-492-8085 

WORLD HQ
973-628-3000

† In the North, 
most building 
codes require 
the use of 
Leak Barrier 
at the eaves.

gaf.com 

GAF offers you many great 
Lifetime Shingle choices, including 
Timberline® Shingles with 
Advanced Protection® Shingle 
Technology. They’re the #1-selling 
shingles in North America!
Advanced Protection® Shingle 
Technology provides excellent 
protection for your home while 
reducing the use of precious 
natural resources. That’s better 
for your home—and better for 
the environment!
To learn more about why 
Advanced Protection® 

Shingles are your best 
choice, visit gaf.com/APS/.

LIFETIME 
S H I N G L E S

Ridge Cap 
Shingles
Enhances the 
beauty of your 
home while 
guarding 
against leaks 
at the hips 
and ridges.

TECHNOLOGYTECHNOLOGY

™

Get Automatic Lifetime Protection 
On Your Entire GAF Roofing System!*

When you install any GAF Lifetime Shingle and at least 3 qualifying 
GAF accessories, you’ll automatically get: 
•  A Lifetime ltd. warranty on your shingles and all qualifying GAF accessories!*
•  Non-prorated coverage for the first 10 years!*

More Than Just Coverage On Your Shingles!

G
A

F 
IS

 10
0% AMERICAN OW

N
ED

C
R
EATING AMERICAN J

O
B
S!

M

ADE IN AMERICA

C
R
EATING AMERICAN J

O
B
S!

The GAF Lifetime Roofing System has earned the 
prestigious Good Housekeeping Seal, which means 
that Good Housekeeping stands behind the products in 
this system. (Refer to Good Housekeeping Magazine for 
its consumer protection policy. Applicable in U.S. only.)

* See GAF Shingle & Accessory Ltd. Warranty 
for complete coverage and restrictions. 
The word “Lifetime” refers to the length of 
coverage provided by the GAF Shingle & 
Accessory Ltd. Warranty and means as long 
as the original individual owner(s) of a single-
family detached residence [or the second 
owner(s) in certain circumstances] owns the 
property where the shingles and accessories 
are installed. For owners/structures not 
meeting the above criteria, Lifetime coverage 
is not applicable. Lifetime ltd. w arranty on 
accessories requires the use of at least three 
qualifying GAF accessories and the use of 
Lifetime Shingles.

-
©2016 GAF  7/16 • #027 1 Campus Drive, Parsippany, NJ 07054 RESTL100NS DG3CODE







 

 
City Of Lake Worth 

Department for Community Sustainability 

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division 

1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687  
  

 
MEMORANDUM DATE:   September 7, 2016 
 
AGENDA DATE:  September 14, 2016 
 
TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
RE:   812 South Lakeside Drive 
 
FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Preservation Planning Coordinator 
 Department for Community Sustainability 
 
TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 15-00100022: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for new 
construction of an addition to the existing structure at 812 South Lakeside Drive; PCN# 38-43-44-27-01-024-0050.  
The subject property was constructed in 1942 and is a contributing resource within the South Palm Park Local 
Historic District. 
 

OWNER/APPLICANT:  Arthur Marino 

                          812 South Lakeside Drive 

                          Lake Worth, FL 33460 

 

  

BACKGROUND:  

The two-story single-family structure at 812 South Lakeside Drive was designed by Edgar S. Wortman in 1942. 
The property has public frontage on South Lakeside Drive to the west and the Intracoastal Waterway to the east.  
The building was constructed in an Art Deco/Art Moderne architectural style, and still retains most of its 
character defining features.  These character defining features include the metal casement windows, glass block 
windows, blue depression glass window, projecting triangular window, flat roof with decorative parapet and 
eyebrow banding, and low-lying horizontal masonry construction with a smooth stucco finish. 

 

The original architectural plans for the building are available in the City’s property files.  Based on the information 
in the property file, few exterior alterations have occurred over time.  The property file does indicate that the 
original design for the structure was only one-story, however it appears that the structure was changed to two 
stories either just before or during construction.  Overall, the building retains a high degree of historic integrity of 
location, setting, materials, and design, and is an excellent example of the Art Moderne style of architecture. 

 

This case was reviewed by the HRPB as a Conceptual Review at the February 11, 2015, and March 11, 2015, 
regular meetings.  The Board made many comments regarding the massing and design of the addition, and its 
compatibility with the existing structure and the neighborhood.  This case was reviewed by the HRPB as a 
Conceptual Review at the August 10, 2016, regular meeting.  The Board commented that the proposal had been 
substantially revised, and was more compatible with the massing and appearance of the existing structure.  This 
case was originally advertised on April 28, 2016, and has been continued at the May, June, July, and August 2016 
HRPB regular meetings, in accordance with the advertising requirements.  

 

 



HRPB No. 15-00100022 
812 South Lakeside Drive 

COA Application – Addition 
Page 2 

 

2 

REQUEST:  

The Applicant is requesting to construct a +/- 4,451 square foot addition to the existing 1,428 square foot 
structure, per the plans and documentation provided.  The new addition will be set back approximately 45 feet 
from the existing structure, and will be connected by a covered, cantilevered, open breezeway with a permanent 
foundation.  The Applicant is also requesting exterior alterations and repairs to the existing historic structure.  
The Applicant has provided a Project Overview statement describing the project and the scope of work, which is 
included as Attachment 3.  Based on that statement, the full scope of work is described below. 

 

For the Addition: 

1) Construct a new +/-4,451 square foot, two-story addition to the existing structure.  The addition will be 
connected via an open-air breezeway with a permanent foundation. 

2) The addition is proposed to be constructed to Florida Green Building Code standards, and will include 
Energy Star appliances, LED lighting, and energy efficient HVAC. 

3) The proposal includes all related privacy walls, walks, drives, miscellaneous hardscape, porches, loggias, 
fences, security gate and cameras, and ancillary building equipment. 

4) Install a swimming pool, with decking and mechanical equipment. 

 

For the rehabilitation of the existing structure: 

1) Remove and replace waste/plumbing lines. 

2) Install a concrete and stucco site wall as needed for drainage and as needed based on the City’s Code. 

3) Repair the existing steel casement windows, Blue Depression Glass window, and glass block windows, 
including all sills and trim. 

4) Repair of all exterior wall cracks, and stucco patch as needed.  Prepare and paint the structure. 

5) Repair or replace the existing flat roof as needed. 

6) Demolish the existing carport and awning. 

7) Install Florida native and drought resistant landscape, pedestrian walkway, sidewalk, and driveway. 

8) Apply for a historic preservation ad valorem property tax exemption for the proposed improvements to 
the existing historic structure only.  This request will be heard at a subsequent meeting due to 
documentation and notice requirements. 

 

The subject property is zoned Single Family Residential (SFR) and is subject to the development standards for this 
district in the City of Lake Worth Zoning Code and in the City’s Comprehensive Plan. New construction of an 
addition to a single-family residence is permitted in the SFR district of the City of Lake Worth Zoning Code. The 
following table includes some of the basic specifications for the proposed construction: 
 

Dimension Required by Code Existing or Proposed 

Lot size 7,500 sq. ft. 13,150 sq. ft. 

Lot width 75’-0” 50’-0” (Legal non-conforming) 

Lot depth n/a +/- 262’-0” 

Front setback 50’-0” 45.1’ Existing 

Side setback 10% of lot width = 5’-0” each 
side 

14.9’ from North property line existing, 

6’-0” from North property line toproposed; 

5’-0” from South property line existing, 

6’-0” from South property line to proposed 



HRPB No. 15-00100022 
812 South Lakeside Drive 

COA Application – Addition 
Page 3 

 

3 

Rear setback Yard, water frontage1 requires 
50’-0” setback, equal to the 
required front yard setback 

44’-1” for primary building 

 

Height2 (Comp. Plan) 30’ for SFR land use 
designation 

Appx. 20’-0” A.F.F. to top of flat roof 

Height (SFR zoning) 30’ for primary structure, 24’ 
for accessory structure, 2 
stories 

Appx. 20’-0” A.F.F. to top of flat roof 

Wall Height 18’ wall height at 5’ side 
setback, up to a 23’ wall height 
at a 10’ setback 

19’ wall height A.F.F. at a 6’ setback; 

Appx. 23’ wall height as measured from the 
required measuring point of 12” above the 
crown of the road 

*Unable to verify exact crown of road height due 
to lack of information on survey 

F.A.R.3 0.45 (5,917.5 sq. ft.) 0.11 (1,428 sq.ft.) Existing; 

0.45 (5,879 sq.ft.) Proposed 

Max. Building Coverage4 
for a Large Lot 

30% max. = 3,945 sq. ft. 31.2% (4,108 sq. ft.) 

Impermeable surface 50% max. = 6,575 sq. ft. Appx. 40% (5,346 sq. ft.) 

*Unable to verify hardscape areas due to lack of 
detail and dimensions on site plan 

 
 
ANALYSIS:   

New Construction of an Addition: 
Zoning and Comprehensive Plan Consistency  
The proposed new construction project is not consistent with all development requirements in the City’s Zoning 
Code and Comprehensive Plan. The building as proposed is not in compliance with the Code and would require 
revision to attain compliance, a variance request, or a historic waiver from specific Code provisions. 

                                                           
1 Yard, water frontage: A yard required between the Intracoastal Waterway and the upland use. Such water yard shall 
always be equal to the front yards in the applicable zone and shall be measured from the seaward edge of the bulkhead to 
the face of the building. 
2 Building height:  The vertical distance measured from the minimum required floor or base flood elevation of twelve (12) 
inches above the crown of the road, whichever is less, to (a) the highest point of a flat roof; (b) the deck line of mansard roof, 
(c) the average height between eaves and ridge for gable, hip, and gambrel roofs, or (d) the average height between high and 
low points for a shed roof. The measurement of height shall not include decorative architectural elements, chimneys, 
mechanical equipment, church steeples and architecturally integrated signage, which may extend an additional ten (10) feet 
but cannot cover cumulatively more than ten (10) percent of the roof surface. 
3 Floor area ratio:  A regulatory technique which relates to total developable site area and the size (square feet) of 
development permitted on a specific site.  A numeric rating assigned to each land use category that determines the total 
gross square feet of all buildings as measured from each building’s exterior walls based upon the actual land area of the 
parcel upon which the buildings are to be located.  Total gross square feet calculated using the assigned floor area ratio shall 
not include such features as parking lots or the first three (3) levels of parking structures, aerial pedestrian crossovers, open 
or partially enclosed plazas, or exterior pedestrian and vehicular circulation areas. 
4 Building lot coverage: The area of a lot covered by the impervious surface associated with the footprint(s) of all buildings on 
a particular lot.  Structured parking garages are exempt from building lot coverage. 



HRPB No. 15-00100022 
812 South Lakeside Drive 

COA Application – Addition 
Page 4 

 

4 

Because the proposed addition will exceed 50% of the current value, compliance with the residentail landscape 
code will be required.  A landscape plan has not been submitted at this time showing compliance with the 
minimum requirements of Section 23.6-1, Landscape Regulations. The Applicant shall be required to provide this 
information prior to permitting, and Staff has recommended a condition of approval to address this.  Final review 
and approval will take place during the building permit process. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY: 

It is the analysis of Staff that the project, as proposed, is not consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals and 
objectives concerning historic preservation and housing due to the fact that the proposal in not in compliance 
with the zoning Code.  With Code compliant revisions to the proposal, the Applicant would be consistent with the 
following objectives: 

 
Objective 3.2.5:   To encourage the identification of historically significant housing, and to promote its 
preservation and rehabilitation as referenced by the Surveys of Historic Properties conducted for the City 
of Lake Worth. 
 
Policy 3.2.5.1:  Properties of special value for historic, architectural, cultural or aesthetic reasons will be 
restored and preserved through the enforcement of the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance to the 
extent feasible. 
 
ANALYSIS:   
Zoning 
The proposed addition is in conflict with the rear setback requirement for buildings, the building lot coverage, and 
the maximum wall height.   
 
In order to resolve the rear setback requirement, Staff recommends that the Applicant move the building west an 
additional 5’-11” in order to comply with the 50’-0” yard, water frontage, requirement.  This will shorten the 
breezeway connecting the addition and the existing structure, and will also help reduce the building lot coverage.  
Staff recommends that the Applicant further refine the proposal in order to fully comply with the building lot 
coverage requirement. 
 
In order to fully evaluate the proposed wall height for compliance with the Code, the land survey needs to be 
updated to include spot elevations of the crown of road adjacent to the property.  The wall height is measured 
from the minimum required finish floor elevation or base flood elevation of twelve (12) inches above the crown of 
the road, whichever is less, to the top plate of the wall.  Given the location of this property, the crown of the road 
is typically, approximately 5’ above sea level.  The measuring point would therefore start at approximately 6’ 
above sea level, and the addition is required to have a minimum finish floor elevation of 10’ above sea level, due 
to the FEMA National Flood Insurance Program requirements.  When the building wall height is measured in 
accordance with the Code, the wall height is approximately 23’ at a 6’ setback, however the Code requires no 
more than 19’ at a 6’ setback, making the wall approximately 4’ too tall.  In order to comply with the zoning 
requirements, the Applicant would need to alter the design and setbacks.  Alternately, if the Applicant does not 
believe that design alterations are feasible, the Applicant could apply for a historic waiver from the building wall 
height and setback requirements and would need to justify the waiver, in accordance with LDR Section 23.5-4(r). 
 
FEMA Requirements 

The property is located in an “A” flood zone and therefore requires compliance with all FEMA regulations, and 
compliance with the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) requirements.  According to this program, “If the 
cost of improvements or the cost to repair the damage exceeds 50 percent of the market value of the building, it 



HRPB No. 15-00100022 
812 South Lakeside Drive 

COA Application – Addition 
Page 5 

 

5 

must be brought up to current floodplain management standards.”  The proposed addition will exceed the 50% 
substantial improvement rule, and is therefore subject to compliance, including with the minimum required flood 
elevation.  For this property location, the required FEMA flood elevation is 9’ above sea level, and the City of Lake 
Worth requires an additional 1’, for a total requirement of 10’ above sea level.  This minimum finish floor 
elevation applies to both existing and proposed structures.  The current historic property sits at 7’ above sea 
level, and therefore does not comply with the minimum finish floor requirement.  The NFIP has an administration 
exception that can be granted if the structure meets the following criteria: 

1) The building must be a bona fide “historic structure.” The structure meets this requirement because it is 
a contributing resource to a local historic district. 

2) The project must maintain the historic status of the structure.  The HRPB approval of the Certificate of 
Appropriateness will certify that the proposal maintains the historic status of the structure. 

3) The project shall take all possible flood damage reduction measures.  The HRPB and Staff may make 
additional suggestions for flood damage reduction measures.  Examples include locating all mechanical 
and electrical equipment above the required flood elevation, using flood resistant materials, and using 
temporary flood shields to help prevent water infiltration. 

 

Based on the criteria of the exemption, it is the analysis of Staff that the structure does qualify and should be 
awarded the exemption.  Raising the structure 3’ would substantially alter the historic structure’s relation to the 
land, and the adjacent “twin” house and would not be in keeping with the low lying Art Moderne character of the 
property.  Staff recommends that the Applicant take all possible flood damage reduction measures, as described 
above.  The exemption shall require a Hold Harmless Agreement between the Applicant and the City, prior to 
commencing construction. 

 

Historic Preservation 

Staff has reviewed the documentation and materials provided in this application.  New construction within a local 
historic district is also subject to specific criteria for visual compatibility as set forth in Section 23.5-4(k)3 of the 
City’s historic preservation regulations. These criteria are provided in Attachment 1 and include Staff’s response 
to each criterion. The criteria deal with massing, scale, materials, and design compatibility with the surrounding 
historic district. 

 
It is the analysis of Staff that the project as proposed is minimally compatible with the regulations set forth in the 
historic preservation ordinance.  The proposed design responds to the character of the existing Art Moderne 
historic structure.  The addition has a larger bulk, mass, and building lot coverage than the original structures in 
the neighborhood and other new construction and additions on similar Intracoastal property in the immediate 
vicinity.  The design utilizes various character-defining design elements found in Art Moderne style architecture 
and applies these elements in a simplified, compatible design.  The use of a flat roof with eyebrows is compatible.  
The window and door sizes and locations are generally appropriate.  The north and south walls have been re-
designed to break up the long expanse of wall, and now have series of indentations.  The windows have been re-
designed to have more rhythm, balance, and symmetry, however the side elevations are void of any additional 
decoration or detail.  The east and west elevations have been redesigned to be more compatible with the existing 
Art Moderne structure.  These elevations are balanced and have more visual interest and design elements, 
compared to the side elevations. 
   
The schematic site plan does not specifically detail the types and design of hardscape surfaces or landscape.  Staff 
has recommended a condition of approval to address this. 
 
 



HRPB No. 15-00100022 
812 South Lakeside Drive 

COA Application – Addition 
Page 6 

 

6 

Public Comment 
At the time of publication of this report, Staff has not received any public comment regarding this project.  
 
CONSEQUENT ACTION:   
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain to 
request additional information; or deny the application. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends that the Board discuss the application as submitted, given that the current proposal is not in 
compliance with all requirements of the Land Development Regulations.  If the Board chooses to approve the 
request for new construction of an addition, Staff recommends the following conditions: 
 

1) Due to the schematic nature of the submittal drawings, the exact design and configuration of the front 
door, decorative window and door trim and sills, breezeway, pergola, and railings shall be subject to Staff 
review at permitting. 

2) The Applicant shall shift the proposed addition to the west in order to meet the 50’-0” setback from the 
property line abutting the Intracoastal Waterway. 

3) The Applicant shall revise the proposal to comply with the Land Development Regulations.  The revision 
shall be subject to Staff review and approval prior to permitting.  If the revision results in design 
alterations that substantially change the design and aesthetic character of the proposal, the case shall be 
reviewed by the Historic Resources Preservation Board. 

4) The Applicant shall add decorative detailing on the north side of the carport, consistent with the 
architectural style of the building.  The Applicant could use decorative blocks, bas relief, or other similar 
decorative elements commonly found in Art Moderne and Mid-Century architecture. 

5) The windows and doors shall not have reflective glass.  All muntins shall be created using exterior raised 
applied muntins.  No flat or internal muntins shall be permitted. 

6) All proposed landscaping, fencing, hardscape, mechanical equipment, and the pool shall be subject to 
Staff review at permitting, and shall be in compliance with all Land Development Regulations. 

7) The Applicant shall be required to provide an updated survey, with crown of road spot elevations, prior to 
permitting.  All height measurements in the permit drawings shall be updated to incorporate the correct 
measurement of height, as defined in the Land Development Regulations. 

8) The Applicant shall sign a Hold Harmless Agreement regarding the historic structure exemption from the 
National Flood Insurance Program Requirements.  

 
POTENTIAL MOTION:   
I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 15-00100022: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for new 
construction of an addition to the single-family residence located at 812 S Lakeside Dr, based upon the 
preponderance of competent substantial evidence, with the conditions as recommended by Staff. 
 
I MOVE TO DENY HRPB 15-00100022: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for new 
construction of an addition to the single-family residence located at 812 S Lakeside Dr, because the Applicant has 
not established by a preponderance of the evidence that the application is in compliance with the City of Lake 
Worth Land Development Regulations, the Secretary of the interiors Standards for the Rehabilitation of Historic 
Properties, and the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 

 
 
 
 



HRPB No. 15-00100022 
812 South Lakeside Drive 

COA Application – Addition 
Page 7 

 

7 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Decision Criteria  
2. Photographs 
3. Applicant’s Project Overview 
4. Proposed Architectural Drawings 
5. Proposed Renderings 
6. Original Architectural Drawings 
7. Proposed Hold Harmless Agreement 
8. FEMA NFIP Information 

 
 

LOCATION MAP 
 
 

 
 

 

 



 
MEMORANDUM 

 
DATE: September 7, 2016 
 
TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
 Department of Community Sustainability 
 
SUBJECT:  HRPB Project Number 15-00100022: Consideration of a Certificate of 

Appropriateness (COA) for new construction of an addition to the existing 
structure at 812 South Lakeside Drive; PCN# 38-43-44-27-01-024-0050.  The 
subject property was constructed in 1942 and is a contributing resource within the 
South Palm Park Local Historic District. 

 
HRPB Meeting Date: September 14, 2016 
  
 
Section 23.5-4k(3) Additional guidelines for new construction; visual compatibility   
 
All improvements to buildings, structures and appurtenances within a designated historic district shall 
be visually compatible. New buildings should take their design cues from the surrounding existing 
structures, using traditional or contemporary design standards and elements that relate to existing 
structures that surround them and within the historic district as a whole. Building design styles, 
whether contemporary or traditional, should be visually compatible with the existing structures in the 
district.   
 
A.   In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for new construction, the 
City shall also, at a minimum, consider the following additional guidelines which help to define visual 
compatibility: 
 

(1) The height of proposed buildings shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the 
height of existing buildings located within the historic district. 
Response: The proposed addition is consistent with the roof height of other 2-story 
buildings surrounding the property, however the proposed wall height exceeds that of 
surrounding properties and exceeds the Code requirement. 
 

(2) The relationship of the width of the building to the height of the front elevation shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the width and height of the front elevation of 
existing buildings located within the district. 
Response: The width and height of the front elevations of the proposed building is similar 
in scale to the surrounding properties, although the wall height is approximately 4 feet 
taller than the Code allowance. 
 

(3) The openings of any building within a historic district should be visually compatible and 
in harmony with the openings in buildings of a similar architectural style located within 
the historic district. The relationship of the width of the windows and doors to the height 



2 

 

of the windows and doors in a building shall be visually compatible with buildings within 
the district. 
Response: The proposed windows are compatible in height and width, although the 
detailing of the windows has not been clearly identified.  All detailing should also be 
consistent with the window design and the architectural style. 
 

(4) The relationship of solids to voids in the front facade of a building or structure shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the front facades of historic buildings or 
structures located within the historic district. A long, unbroken facade in a setting of 
existing narrow structures can be divided into smaller bays which will complement the 
visual setting and the streetscape. 
Response: The front façade is broken up with the front porch and breezeway, as well as 
windows and doors, and the solid to void relationship is compatible with the district. 
 

(5) The relationship of a building to open space between it and adjoining buildings shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the relationship between buildings elsewhere 
within the district. 
Response: The proposed building is not in compliance with the required rear, water 
frontage yard requirements, and it is not in compliance with the side setbacks, given the 
wall height.  The proposed addition and existing structure together will occupy the 
maximum allowed building lot coverage, which is not typical in the surrounding area. 
 

(6) The relationship of entrance and porch projections to sidewalks of a building shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the prevalent architectural styles of entrances 
and porch projections on buildings and structures within the district. 
Response: The proposed front porch is visually compatible and utilizes detailing that is 
consistent with historic designs. 
 

(7) The relationship of the materials, texture and color of the facade of a building shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the predominant materials used in the buildings 
and structures of a similar style located within the historic district. 
Response: The building will be concrete block finished with smooth stucco to replicate 
the texture of the stucco on the existing historic structure.  Stucco is a customary building 
material in the district.  The windows are proposed to be aluminum fixed and casement 
style, which is also customary in the district. 
 

(8) The roof shape of a building or structure shall be visually compatible and in harmony with 
the roof shape of buildings or structures of a similar architectural style located within the 
historic district. 
Response: The proposed flat roof with decorative eyebrows is visually compatible with 
the existing structure as well as the historic district. 
 

(9) Appurtenances of a building, such as walls, wrought iron, fences, evergreen, landscape 
masses and building facades, shall, if necessary, form cohesive walls of enclosures along 
a street to insure visual compatibility of the building to the buildings and places to which 
it is visually related. 



3 

 

Response: The plans provided by the Applicant are not sufficient to address the 
compatibility of these elements at this time.  Staff has recommended a condition of 
approval to require further review of these items prior to permitting. 
 

(10) The size and mass of a building in relation to open spaces, the windows, door openings, 
porches and balconies shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the buildings and 
places to which it is visually related. 
Response: As stated above, the building is generally compatible, however the wall height, 
setbacks, and building lot coverage are not in compliance with the Code requirements.  
Staff has recommended a condition of approval to address this deficiency. 
 

(11) A building shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the buildings and places to 
which it is visually related in its directional character: vertical, horizontal or non-
directional. 
Response: The Applicant has provided photos of neighboring structures along the 
streetscape, showing the building in relation to those to either side of it.  Overall, the 
building’s height and massing are mostly compatible with other single-family residential 
buildings on the block, however the wall height is too tall. 
 

(12) The architectural style of a building shall be visually compatible with other buildings to 
which it is related in the historic district, but does not necessarily have to be in the same 
style of buildings in the district. New construction or additions to a building are 
encouraged to be appropriate to the style of the period in which it is created and not 
attempt to create a false sense of history.  
Response: The building is a contemporary Art Moderne inspired design.  The building is 
visually compatible with the district, but does not attempt to replicate any historic 
structures.  
 

(13) Landscaping shall be compatible with the architectural character and appearance of the 
structure and of other buildings located within the historic district. 
Response: The plans provided by the Applicant are not sufficient to address the 
compatibility of the landscaping at this time.  Staff has recommended a condition of 
approval to require further review of these items prior to permitting. 
 

(14) In considering applications for certificates of appropriateness to install mechanical 
systems which affect the exterior of a building or structure visible from a public right-of-
way, the following criteria shall be considered: 

 
(a) Retain and repair, where possible, historic mechanical systems in their original 

location, where possible. 
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 

(b) New mechanical systems shall be placed on secondary facades only and shall not 
be placed on, nor be visible from, primary facades. 
Response: Staff will ensure that any mechanical systems for the new building 
meet this criterion. 
 



4 

 

(c) New mechanical systems shall not damage, destroy or compromise the physical 
integrity of the structure and shall be installed so as to cause the least damage, 
invasion or visual obstruction to the structure's building materials, or to its 
significant historic, cultural or architectural features. 
Response: Staff will ensure that any mechanical systems for the new building 
meet this criterion. 
 

(15) The site should take into account the compatibility of landscaping, parking facilities, utility 
and service areas, walkways and appurtenances. These should be designated with the 
overall environment in mind and should be in keeping visually with related buildings and 
structures. 
Response: The plans provided by the Applicant are not sufficient to address the 
compatibility of these elements at this time.  Staff has recommended a condition of 
approval to require further review of these items prior to permitting. 
 

B.   In considering certificates of appropriateness for new buildings or structures which will have more 
than one primary facade, such as those on corner lots facing more than one street, the HRPB shall 
apply the visual compatibility standards to each primary facade.   
Response: The above criteria and responses apply to both primary façades, facing South Lakeside 
Drive and the Intracoastal Waterway. 

 
 

















                   M A R I N O  R E S I D E N C EM A R I N O  R E S I D E N C E   

1 

[[Appendix	   1Appendix	   1AA]] 	  	  

Date:	   08/12Date:	   08/12/16/16 	  	  

	  

Project:Project: 	  	  

Marino	   ResidenceMarino	   Residence 	  	  

812	   S. 	   Lakeside	   Drive812	   S. 	   Lakeside	   Drive 	  	  

Lake	   Worth	  Lake	   Worth	   Florida,	   33460Florida,	   33460 	  	  

	  	  

Site	   Plan	   Approval, 	   CeSite	   Plan	   Approval, 	   Ce rtif icate	   of	   Appropriateness,rtif icate	   of	   Appropriateness, 	  	   Rehabil itation,	  Rehabil itation,	  

Demolit ionDemolit ion ,	  , 	   AdditionAddition 	   Construction	   Construction ,, 	  	   Property	   Tax	   Exemption,	  Property	   Tax	   Exemption,	   	   Permits	   Permits 	  	  

	  

	   	   	   	   	   	   Arthur	   Marino	   Jr.	   (“Marino”),	   seeks	   approval	   at	   September	   2016	   HRPB	  

meeting	   for	   Site	   Plan,	   Certificate	   of	   Appropriateness,	   Demolition,	   Historic	   Tax	  

Exemption	   for	   contributing	   residence	   rehabilitation	   and	   for	   future	   Building	  

Permits	   pursuant	   to	   prior	   filings,	   information	   and	   all	   recited	   herein,	   and	   in	  

regard	   to	   the	   property	   located	   at	   812	   South	   Lakeside	   Drive,	   Lake	   Worth,	  

Florida	   33460.	   Said	   property	   is	   located	   within	   the	   South	   Palm	   Park	   Historic	  

District,	   the	   property	   is	   designated	   residential.	   This	   document	   is	   an	   addition	   to	  

previous	   documents	   filed	   by	   Marino	   and	   accepted	   by	   the	   City	   relative	   to	   all	  

project	   consideration	   and	   scope	   in	   file	   submitted	   previously	   as	   titled	   COA	  

Approval	   and	   Exhibits.	  	  

	  

Project	  Project	   Summary	  Summary	   ProposalProposal :	  

	  

In	  accordance	  with	  of	  the	  Secretary	  of	  the	  Interior’s	  Standards,	  City’s	  

Regulation	  and	  Qualitative	  Standards,	  the	  project	  is	  designed	  to	  promote	  preservation	  

of	  Contributing	  Residence	  and	  natural	  surrounding	  conditions,	  harmonious,	  visually	  

compatible	  and	  efficient	  organization,	  privacy,	  screening	  and	  buffering	  while	  also	  

providing	  increasing	  value	  and	  other	  enhancement	  of	  the	  residential	  neighborhood	  of	  

South	  Palm	  Park.	   	  

	  

To	  develop	  the	  proposed	  project	  Marino	  has	  previously	  submitted	  to	  the	  City	  

and	  now	  again	  respectfully	  requests	  all	  consideration	  and	  approvals	  in	  an	  expeditious	  

manner	  as	  required	  fulfilling	  the	  previous	  requests	  and	  the	  following:	  

	  

	  

	  



                   M A R I N O  R E S I D E N C EM A R I N O  R E S I D E N C E   

2 

Existing	  Historical 	  ResidenceExisting	  Historical 	  Residence 	  Improvements	  Improvements:	  [Rehabil itation][Rehabil itation]	  

1. Remove	  and	  replace	  broken,	  clogged	  and	  decayed	  exterior	  main	  house	  

waste	  plumbing	  lines.	  

2. Install	  concrete	  wall	  pursuant	  to	  guide	  lines	  of	  the	  City	  and	  FEMA,	  install	  

“East”	  (rear	  property),	  “North”	  (side	  property),	  concrete	  stucco	  walls.	  

“South”	  (side	  property)	  wall	  is	  existing,	  execute	  reasonable	  FEMA	  protocols	  

(if	  requested	  by	  City	  and	  demanded	  by	  FEMA).	  

3. Make	  repair	  to	  setting	  materials,	  coating	  (not	  replace),	  existing	  windows,	  

glass	  block	  and	  doors,	  as	  required.	  Preserve	  existing	  Depression	  Blue	  Glass	  

and	  preserve	  existing	  interior	  sills.	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	  

4. Repair	  of	  exterior	  existing	  cosmetic	  residence	  wall	  cracks.	  

5. Make	  preparation	  and	  paint	  exterior	  of	  existing	  residence,	  as	  required.	   	  

6. Repair	  as	  required,	  old	  leaking	  built	  up	  flat	  roof.	  

7. Demolish	  non-‐contributing	  termite	  ridden	  and	  structurally	  decayed	  carport	  

and	  awning.	  

8. Install	  (open	  roof,	  not	  covered)	  free-‐standing	  breezeway,	  to	  proposed	  

addition	  as	  required	  by	  code.	  

9. Plant	  Florida	  Native	  and	  drought	  resistant	  Landscape,	  the	  whole	  of	  the	  

property,	  (brief	  overview	  recited	  below	  on	  page	  7	  herein).	  

10. Install,	  front	  pedestrian	  side-‐walk,	  walk	  way	  and	  drive	  as	  required.	  
11. Secure	  tax	  exemption,	  (contributing	  residence	  only),	  for	  the	  proposed	  

improvements;	  said	  approval	  for	  Historic	  Preservation	  Property	  Tax	  

Exemption	  in	  accordance	  with	  relevant	  Florida	  Law	  and	  Statutes,	  

applicable	  Statutes	  and	  Sections,	  inclusive	  but	  not	  limited	  to	  Florida	  

Statute	  Section	  196.1997	  (11)	  (a).	   	  

	  

New	  NonNew	  Non -‐-‐Contributing	  Addition:Contributing	  Addition: 	  	  

Site	  Plan,	  Plan	  &	  COA	  Approval	  to	  allow	  a	  +/-‐	  4,281	  square	  foot	  non-‐contributing	  

addition	  to	  the	  historic	  Contributing	  Residence,	  pursuant	  to	  design	  and	  plan	  attached.	  

Non-‐contributing	  addition	  will	  be	  bridged	  and	  otherwise	  connected	  to	  the	  Contributing	  

Residence	  pursuant	  to	  Standard	  and	  Code,	  by	  an	  open	  (no	  covered	  roof)	  breezeway.	  

HRPB	  Approval	  to	  be	  based	  upon	  the	  plans,	  3d	  drawings,	  calculations	  and	  other	  

information	  as	  submitted	  previously	  and	  at	  present	  herein:	  

1. New	  non-‐contributing	  addition	  to	  be	  built	  in	  an	  energy	  efficient	  manner	  

and	  in	  line	  with	  the	  Florida	  Green	  building	  Standard	  Guidelines,	  

Including	  but	  not	  limited	  to:	  “Energy	  Star”,	  LED	  lighting,	  HVAC;	   	   	   	   	   	   	   	  

[see	  page	  5,6	  herein	  and	  information	  previously	  submitted	  to	  the	  City].	  



                   M A R I N O  R E S I D E N C EM A R I N O  R E S I D E N C E   

3 

2. Certificate	  of	  Appropriateness	  for	  construction	  of	  new	  non-‐contributing	  

addition,	  inclusive	  but	  not	  limited	  to;	  privacy	  walls,	  walks,	  drives,	  open	  (no	  

covered	  roof)	  rear	  porch	  loggia’s,	  (open	  roof)	  breezeway,	  fences,	  pads	  and	  

other	  ancillary	  building	  requirements	  as	  required	  by	  code,	  permit	  able	  and	  

in	  scope,	  relative	  to	  certifications	  and	  approvals.	   	  

3. Install	  Pervious	  Concrete,	  Hard	  scape,	  Pavers	  or	  equal,	  in	  walk,	  rear	  porch	  

and	  pool	  patio	  and	  deck.	  

4. Install	  a	  swimming	  pool,	  equipment	  as	  required.	  

5. Install	  fence,	  security	  gate,	  cameras	  as	  required,	  (plans	  for	  permit	  will	  

specify	  design,	  brand	  and	  location).	  

6. No	  Tax	  Exemption	  or	  Historical	  Waiver	  is	  being	  sought	  for	  the	  new	  

Addition.	  

	  

CalculationsCalculations  &  & Zoning Information:Zoning Information:  [Plans and Information dated 07/27/2016] [Plans and Information dated 07/27/2016]   

  

Site InformationSite Information ::   [[ South Palm Park DistrictSouth Palm Park District ]]   

                                  Address:  812 S. Lakeside DriveAddress:  812 S. Lakeside Drive   

                      Lake Worth Fl.  33460Lake Worth Fl.  33460   

                      Parcel Control Number: 38Parcel Control Number: 38 -- 4343 -- 4444 -- 2727 -- 0101 -- 024024 -- 00500050   

Legal DescriptionLegal Description : Lot 5,  Block 24, Addition NO. ONE TO THE CITY OF :  Lot 5,  Block 24, Addition NO. ONE TO THE CITY OF 

LAKE WORTH, FLORIDA, accLAKE WORTH, FLORIDA, acc ording to the PALM BEACH FARMS ording to the PALM BEACH FARMS 

COMPANY PLAT NO. FOUR, recorded in Plat  Book 5,  Pages 6 to 9,  of COMPANY PLAT NO. FOUR, recorded in Plat  Book 5,  Pages 6 to 9,  of 

the Public Records of PALM BEACH County,  Florida.the Public Records of PALM BEACH County,  Florida.   

  

Site AreaSite Area : 13,150 S.F.:  (0.30 ACRES): 13,150 S.F.:  (0.30 ACRES)   

Proposed Addition/Pool Property Line Set Backs:Proposed Addition/Pool Property Line Set Backs:     
(( measured to the measured to the next next even foot)even foot)   
West ViewWest View  (Front):  Al (Front):  Al lowed: [50’lowed: [50’ -- 0’’] ,  proposed: [146’0’’] ,  proposed: [146’ -- 0’’0’’ ]]   

East  ViewEast View  (Rear):  Allowed: [15’ (Rear):  Allowed: [15’ -- 0’0’ ’] ,  proposed Pool Wall:  [16’’] ,  proposed Pool Wall:  [16’ -- 0’’0’’ ]]   

North ViewNorth View  (Side):  Allo (Side):  Allo wed: [5’wed: [5’ -- 0’’] ,  proposed: [6’0’’] ,  proposed: [6’ -- 0’’0’’ ]]   

South ViewSouth View  (Side):  Allowed: [5’ (Side):  Allowed: [5’ -- 0’’] .  proposed0’’] .  proposed : [6’:  [6’ -- 0’’0’’ ]]   

  

Building Elevation and Height:Building Elevation and Height:   

Existing Contributing Residence at  top of f loor slab:Existing Contributing Residence at  top of f loor slab:     

[7’[7’ -- 0’’0’’  above mean sea level above mean sea level ]]  (Concrete foundation below) (Concrete foundation below)   

Existing Proposed New AdditionExisting Proposed New Addition  at  top of f loor slab: at  top of f loor slab:   

[10’[10’ -- 0’’0’’  above mean sea level] above mean sea level]  (Concrete foundation below) (Concrete foundation below)   



                   M A R I N O  R E S I D E N C EM A R I N O  R E S I D E N C E   

4 

Existing Contributing Residence from top of f loor slab to Existing Contributing Residence from top of f loor slab to under side of under side of 

roofroof   (Total  Exterior Wall(Total  Exterior Wall  Height Height :  :  [19’[19’ -- 0’’]0’’]   

New New Proposed Addition from top of Proposed Addition from top of f loor f loor slab slab to under side of to under side of roofroof   

(Total  Exterior Wall(Total  Exterior Wall  Height Height :  [19’:  [19’ -- 0’’]0’’]   

  

EXISTING RESIDENCE AREA (INCLUDINEXISTING RESIDENCE AREA (INCLUDIN G EXT. WALLSG EXT. WALLS ))   
FIRST FLOOR AREA: 1,020 SFFIRST FLOOR AREA: 1,020 SF   

SECOND FLOOR AREA: 408 SFSECOND FLOOR AREA: 408 SF   

TOTAL AREA:TOTAL AREA:  [1,428 SF] [1,428 SF]   

PROPOSED ADDITION AREAPROPOSED ADDITION AREA  (INCLUDING EXT. WALLS) (INCLUDING EXT. WALLS)   

FIRST FLOOR AREA: 2,152 SFFIRST FLOOR AREA: 2,152 SF   

SECOND FLOOR AREA: 2,129 SFSECOND FLOOR AREA: 2,129 SF   

TOTAL AREATOTAL AREA : [4,281 SF]:  [4,281 SF]   

  

F.A.R. CALCULATIONS AREAF.A.R. CALCULATIONS AREA  (LARGE LOT 45%) [5,917.5 SF] (LARGE LOT 45%) [5,917.5 SF]   

AREA EXISTING RESIDENCE: 1,428 SFAREA EXISTING RESIDENCE: 1,428 SF   

AREA PROPOSED ADDITION: 4,281 SFAREA PROPOSED ADDITION: 4,281 SF   

TOTAL AREATOTAL AREA   (INC EXT WALLS): (43.4%) [5,709 SF](INC EXT WALLS): (43.4%) [5,709 SF]     

  

IMPERVIOUS AREAIMPERVIOUS AREA   (LARGE LOT 50%): [6,575 SF](LARGE LOT 50%): [6,575 SF]   

EXISTING RESIDENCE (INC EXT. WALLS): 1020 SFEXISTING RESIDENCE (INC EXT. WALLS): 1020 SF   

PROPOSED ADDITION (INPROPOSED ADDITION (IN C EXT. WALLS): 2,585 SFC EXT. WALLS): 2,585 SF   

CARPORT: INCLUDEDCARPORT: INCLUDED   

FRONT STAIRS, STOOP, ENTRY: INCLUDEDFRONT STAIRS, STOOP, ENTRY: INCLUDED   

DRIVEWAY @ (50%) PAVERS:  816 SFDRIVEWAY @ (50%) PAVERS:  816 SF   

POOL DECK @ (50%) PAVERS: 380 SFPOOL DECK @ (50%) PAVERS: 380 SF   

STEPS TO BEACH: 42 SFSTEPS TO BEACH: 42 SF   

SWIMMING POOL: 608 SFSWIMMING POOL: 608 SF   

TOTAL IMPERVIOUS AREATOTAL IMPERVIOUS AREA ::  (43.6%) [5,721 SF] (43.6%) [5,721 SF]     

  

MAXIMUM LOT COVERAGE, ALL BUILDINGS MAXIMUM LOT COVERAGE, ALL BUILDINGS   

(LARGE LOT 30%) [3,945 SF(LARGE LOT 30%) [3,945 SF ]]   

BUILDING COVERAGEBUILDING COVERAGE   (EXISTING & ADDITION)(EXISTING & ADDITION)   

(28.4%) [3,735 SF](28.4%) [3,735 SF]     

Calculations and information recited herein based upon proposed site plan Calculations and information recited herein based upon proposed site plan 

design and projections for the purpose of HRPB design and projections for the purpose of HRPB and Permitt ing and Permitt ing approvalapproval ..   



                   M A R I N O  R E S I D E N C EM A R I N O  R E S I D E N C E   

5 

Proposed Addition Room and Dimension: (rounded to next even foot)Proposed Addition Room and Dimension: (rounded to next even foot)   
First Floor Living: [Living Room: 18’x 29’], [Bedroom: 9’ x 11’],First Floor Living: [Living Room: 18’x 29’], [Bedroom: 9’ x 11’],   
[Den: 8’ x 11’], [Dining: 14’ x 11’], [Kitchen: 14’ x 21’],[Den: 8’ x 11’], [Dining: 14’ x 11’], [Kitchen: 14’ x 21’],   
[Formal Dining: 12’ x 12’], [Bedroom: [[Formal Dining: 12’ x 12’], [Bedroom: [14’ x 18’], [Foyer: 8’ x 8’].14’ x 18’], [Foyer: 8’ x 8’].   
Second Floor Living: [Master Suite: 15’ x 30’],  [Closet: 6’ x 10’],Second Floor Living: [Master Suite: 15’ x 30’],  [Closet: 6’ x 10’],   
[Bath: 6’ x 10’], [Master Bath:14’ x 14’], [Dressing Room:11’ x 10’][Bath: 6’ x 10’], [Master Bath:14’ x 14’], [Dressing Room:11’ x 10’]   
[Uti l ity	  Room:	  9’	  x	  6’][Uti l ity	  Room:	  9’	  x	  6’] , 	  [Guest	  Room:	  11’	  x	  16’], 	  [Hall : 	  22’	  x	  6’]., 	   [Guest	  Room:	  11’	  x	  16’], 	  [Hall : 	  22’	  x	  6’]. 	  	  

	  	  

Project Narrative:Project Narrative:   
  
The Marino non-contributing two-story addition project will be constructed with Florida Green 

Building guidelines in mind, utilizing sustainable energy efficient construction, conservation 

treatment methodology.  

 

General Building Energy Efficiency MeasureGeneral Building Energy Efficiency Measures Guideliness Guidelines: 

 

 1.  High Efficiency (Energy Star certified), LED Lighting, [Cleanlife, GE or equal]: 

Average lighting power density for the addition designed to comply or exceed the FGBC 

Standard Guidelines.  

 2. Insulation, (Prodex or equal): The U- value for mass walls designed pursuant to 

green industry building standard for energy efficiency.  

 3. High Efficiency Structural Glazing: Locally produced, [SAF-GLAS, LLC]    

Dade # 13-1105.10], [U-value for the fenestration from 0.42 to 0.52]. 

 4. Wall Construction: Concrete, Stucco and Insulation: [U-factor = 0.064] 

 5. Hurricane resistant Entry, Sliding and Solid Core Doors: [U-factor = 0.580], (CGI 

or equal). 

 7. Hurricane resistant flush type garage door, (Broten or equal). 

 6. Hurricane resistant Casement Windows: Locally produced, (PGT, CGI or equal) 

Insulated Glass hurricane [U-value = 0.42 to 0.52 SHGC = 0.40 to 0.44] 

 7. Fixed Hurricane Impact Windows: Locally produced, ( CGI, Survivalite or equal)  

  [U-value = 0.42 to 0.52 SHGC = 0.40 to 0.44] 

 8. Windows strategically placed and balanced for natural day lighting. 

 9. Roof: R-21 built-up roof, [U-factor = 0.043] 

    10.    HVAC: Energy Star (16+) SEER, [Trane, Carrier or equal] 

    11.    Thankless Water heater: Energy Star, [Rinnai, A.O. Smith or equal] 

    12.    Infrastructure installation for future, (30) thin film solar panels generating     

    enough electricity to serve (+/- 60%) of the needs of the home plus return power to the grid. 



                   M A R I N O  R E S I D E N C EM A R I N O  R E S I D E N C E   

6 

    13.    Air venting system, [Fantech or equal], designed to keep the indoor air healthy. 

    14. Smart irrigation system, [Rachio or equal] that senses environmental conditions and 

adjusts the amount of water output. 

    15. Florida native drought resistant landscape. 

    16. Zero Volatile Organic Paint, [Sherwin Williams or equal]. 

    17. Low VOC sealants and adhesives, [Swiftbond or equal]. 

    18. Minimum use of carpets. 

    19.    Pervious drive, Concrete and or Paver patio and walks. 

    20.    Water conserving Energy Star appliances, [Kohler, Whirlpool or equal]. 

• The Project will strive to equal or better sections of the City of Lake Worth 

Sustainable Bonus Incentive Program Section 23.2-33. [No Bonus is requested]. 

  

Waivers /  VarianceWaivers /  Variance ::   

No Historical Waiver or Variance is intended at this time to be sought for the proposed 

rehabilitation and new addition project. 

 

Site Plan ApprovalSite Plan Approval / Certificate of Acceptance/ Certificate of Acceptance ::   

 Petitioner, Marino requests Site Plan Approval and Certificate of Approval relative to 

all information herein recited and submitted to City in the past.  

       The proposed project is visually compatible, harmonious and efficiently        

 organized in relation to topography, the size and type of the property, the character of

 adjoining property’s and the type and size of surrounding properties and buildings.   

  
LandscapeLandscape   Brief Overview Brief Overview [812][812]   
 The Marino Project Landscape will include Florida native drought resistant and low 

maintenance landscape. Landscape will be integrated and balanced per Lake Worth Code and 

for natural adaptability in the front of Contributing Residence, Courtyard and rear of non-

contributing residence and surrounding property, Landscape to include but not be limited to: 

Perennials; [Whirling butterflies, Tampa verbena, Blue porterweed, Pennyroyal], Annuals & 

Bedding plants; [Indian blanke, Sunflower, Butter daisy, Moss rose],  Shrubs & Hedges; 

[Scarlet milkweed, Cosmos, Dwarf crown-of-thorns, Chinese juniper], Flowering & Shade 

Trees; [Satinleaf, Fern tree, Fried egg tree, Jacaranda], Palms, Cycads; [ Washingtonia, Silver 

palm, Pygmy date palm, Sierra Madre palm Cyad], Ornamental Grasses; [ Pink muhly grass, 

hairgrass, Blue muhly grass, Palm grass], Groundcovers; [Bromeliad, White begonia, 

Lemongrass, Guzmania].    

 

  



                   M A R I N O  R E S I D E N C EM A R I N O  R E S I D E N C E   

7 

ResourcesResources: (For this correspondence as stated herein and all previously submitted 

information to the City) 

• The Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation and Guidelines for 

Rehabilitating Historic Buildings.  

• Guiding Additions to Historic Properties: A Study of Design Guidelines for Additions 

in Sixty-Five American Cities, University of Pennsylvania 

• National Park Service, Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation (36 CFR 

Part 67, as amended through 2000). 

• City of Lake Worth Historical Preservation Ordinance, Section 23.5-4 

• City Of Lake Worth Department for Community Sustainability Planning, Zoning and 

Historic Preservation Division, Minutes, Memorandums, Correspondence 

• Guidelines for Rehabilitating Historic Buildings 

• Historic Preservation Tax Incentives Program; New Additions to Historic Buildings 

• Sustainability for Rehabilitation of Historic Buildings 

• Interpreting the Standards Bulletins and Preservation Brief 14: New Exterior Additions 

to Historic Buildings: Preservation Concerns 

• Delray Beach Historic Preservation Design Guidelines  

• SECTION IV. Prevalent Styles of Architecture, City of Delray 

• Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission 

• Repairs, Remodeling, Additions, and Retrofitting – FEMA 

• “The Real Deal”, 01/29/16, Article 

• Images of America, Art Deco of the Palm Beaches, Sharon Koskoff 

• Site and Elevations plans, 812 South Lakeside Drive 

• Antique Home; Moderne and Art Deco Architecture of the 20th Century 

• Recent past revealed, architectural style guide 













806                       810                                    812                                   818                              822





































 

Page 1 of 2 

 

 

HOLD HARMLESS AND INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT 

 

THIS HOLD HARMLESS AND INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT (“Agreement” 

hereafter) is made by ARTHUR MARINO, JR., as the fee simple owner of the property located 

at 812 S. Lakeside Drive, Lake Worth, Florida  33460 (“Owner”) for the benefit and protection of 

the CITY OF LAKE WORTH, FLORIDA (“City”). 

 

WHEREAS, the Owner seeks to make certain alterations to the property located at 812 S. 

Lakeside Drive, Lake Worth, Florida 33460 (PCN:  38-43-44-27-01-024-0050) (“Property” 

hereafter) which include, but are not limited to, renovation and addition to an existing structure 

(“Improvements” hereafter);  

 

WHEREAS, based upon the Improvements proposed, the Owner would otherwise be 

required to comply with current floodplain management guidelines excepting that the National 

Flood Insurance Program exempts historic structures in certain circumstances;  

 

WHEREAS, in lieu of completing the Improvements in compliance with the current 

floodplain management guidelines, the Owner seeks to obtain the exemption provided to historic 

structures;  

 

WHEREAS, the Owner understands and accepts the risks associated with the exemption 

and seeks to enter this Agreement to hold the City harmless and indemnify the City from liability 

related to the Improvements. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE IN CONSIDERATION of the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement, the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged by the Owner, the Owner agrees as 

follows: 

 

1. The above recitals are true and correct and incorporated into this Agreement by reference. 

 

2. The Owner agrees to hold harmless and indemnify the City, its elected and appointed 

officials, employees, and contractors harmless from any and all claims, losses, liabilities, costs, or 

expenses, or the threat or claim thereof, including reasonable attorney’s fees and costs at all trial 

and appellate levels (“losses” hereafter) that the City, its elected and appointed officials, employees 

and contractors, the Owner, and/or third parties may face or incur arising from or directly or 

indirectly related to construction of the Improvements not in accordance with the current 

floodplain management guidelines. 

 

3. The Owner also agrees that the City may rely on this Agreement in the event of any losses 

and the Owner will not challenge this Agreement, or its independent consideration, or dispute its 

duties hereunder, in any legal action or arbitration. 

 

4. The Owner further agrees that in the event of any losses, and in addition to the payment of 

any losses, the Owner shall provide a defense for the City, its elected and appointed officials, 

employees, contractors, and the City shall have the right to select the attorney who represents the 

City in any such action. 

 



 

Page 2 of 2 

 

5. This Agreement represents the entire understanding of the Owner and City concerning the 

issues herein, and the Owner shall not rely upon any prior, concurrent or future oral 

representations. Any modification of this Agreement shall be in writing and signed by the City. 

 

6. This Agreement shall not be construed more strongly against either the Owner or City 

regardless of who was more responsible for its preparation.  However, this Agreement shall be 

broadly construed in order to protect the City from any and all losses arising from or related to the 

Owner’s Property and Improvements. 

 

 7. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with Florida law and venue for any 

disputes shall be in Palm Beach County, Florida.   

 

8. This Agreement shall remain in effect until such time as all Improvements are removed 

from the Property.  The rights and obligations created by this Agreement shall run with the land 

and bind all of Owner’s successors and assigns. 

 

 IN WITNESS THEREOF, the Owner and the City of Lake Worth have duly executed 

this Agreement on the _____ day of ______________, 2016. 

 

 

WITNESSES:      ARTHUR MARINO, JR. 
 

_______________________     ______________________________ 

Print Name:____________________ 

 

_______________________     

Print Name:____________________    

       

    

        CITY OF LAKE WORTH 

 

 

 

        By: __________________________ 

                          Pam Triolo, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________ 

City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND 

LEGAL SUFFICIENCY: 

 

 

___________________________ 
Glen J. Torcivia, City Attorney 



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-1 
 
 

UNIT 8 
SUBSTANTIAL IMPROVEMENT AND   
SUBSTANTIAL DAMAGE 
 
In this unit  

This unit covers:  

• The substantial improvement rule – how to regulate major additions and other 
improvements to buildings in the floodplain. 

• The substantial damage rule – how to regulate reconstruction and repairs to buildings 
that have been severely damaged.  

• Exceptions to the basic rules for some special cases.  

 



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-2 
 
 

CONTENTS 

INTRODUCTION.........................................................................................................8-3 

A. SUBSTANTIAL IMPROVEMENT...........................................................................8-4 

Projects Affected....................................................................................................8-4 
Post-FIRM buildings.................................................................................................................... 8-5 

The Formula...........................................................................................................8-5 
Project cost.................................................................................................................................. 8-6 
Market value................................................................................................................................ 8-6 

Substantial Improvement Examples.....................................................................8-10 
Example 1. Minor rehabilitation................................................................................................. 8-10 
Example 2. Substantial rehabilitation........................................................................................ 8-11 
Example 3. Lateral addition—residential .................................................................................. 8-12 
Example 4. Lateral addition—nonresidential ............................................................................ 8-13 
Example 5. Vertical addition—residential ................................................................................. 8-14 
Example 6. Vertical addition—nonresidential ........................................................................... 8-15 
Example 7. Post-FIRM building—minor addition ...................................................................... 8-16 
Example 8. Post-FIRM building—substantial improvement...................................................... 8-17 

B. SUBSTANTIAL DAMAGE....................................................................................8-18 

Cost to Repair ......................................................................................................8-18 

Substantial Damage Examples ............................................................................8-20 
Example 1. Reconstruction of a destroyed building.................................................................. 8-20 
Example 2. Substantially damaged structure............................................................................ 8-21 

Substantial Damage Software..............................................................................8-22 

Increased Cost of Compliance .............................................................................8-22 

C. SPECIAL SITUATIONS .......................................................................................8-25 

Exempt Costs.......................................................................................................8-25 

Historic Structures................................................................................................8-25 

Corrections of Code Violations.............................................................................8-26 
Example .................................................................................................................................... 8-27 



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-3 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 

In previous units we focused on the rules and regulations that prevent or reduce damage from 
floods to new buildings.  But what happens when the owner wishes to make an improvement, 
such as an addition, to an existing building? What if a building is damaged by a fire, flood or 
other cause?   

Basic rule: If the cost of improvements or the cost to repair the damage exceeds 50 percent of the 
market value of the building, it must be brought up to current floodplain management standards.   

 

That means an existing building must meet the requirements for new construction.  

People who own existing buildings that are being substantially improved will be required to 
make a major investment in them in order to bring them into compliance with the law. They will 
not be happy. If the buildings have just been damaged, they will be financially strapped and your 
elected officials will want to help them, not make life harder for them.  

For these reasons, it is easy to see that this basic rule can be difficult to administer. It is also 
the one time when your regulatory program can reduce flood damage to existing buildings. 
That’s why this course devotes this unit to administering the substantial improvements and 
substantial damage regulations.  

In this reference guide, the term “building” is the same as the term “structure” in the NFIP 
regulations. Your ordinance may use either term. The terms are reviewed in more detail in Unit 5, 
Section E.  

 



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-4 
 
 

A. SUBSTANTIAL IMPROVEMENT  

44 CFR 59.1. Definitions: “Substantial improvement” means any reconstruction, rehabilitation, 
addition or other improvement to a structure, the total cost of which equals or exceeds 50 percent of 
the market value of the structure before the start of construction of the improvement.
 

This section provides information on determining whether a building has been substantially 
improved and on what NFIP requirements apply.  

PROJECTS AFFECTED 

All building improvement projects worthy of a permit must be considered. These include:  

• Remodeling projects. 

• Rehabilitation projects.  

• Building additions.  

• Repair and reconstruction projects (these are addressed in more detail in Section B on 
substantial damage)  

If your community does not require permits for, say, reroofing, minor maintenance or 
projects under a certain dollar amount, then such projects are not subject to the substantial 
improvement requirements. However, if you have a larger project that includes reroofing, etc., 
then it must include the entire cost of the project.  

One problem you may face is a builder trying to avoid the requirement by applying for a 
permit for only part of the job and then later applying for another permit to finish the work. If 
both applications are together worth more than 50% of the value of the building, the combined 
project should be considered a substantial improvement and subject to the rules.  

FEMA requires that the entire improvement project be counted as one. In order to help you 
enforce this, you may want to count all applications submitted over, say, one year as one project. 
Check with your attorney on whether your ordinance clearly gives you the authority to do this 
and be sure to spell it out in the permit papers given to the applicant.  

Some communities require that improvements be calculated cumulatively over several years. 
All improvement and repair projects undertaken over a period of five years, 10 years or the life 
of the structure are added up. When they total 50 percent, the building must be brought into 
compliance as if it were new construction.   



The Community Rating System credits keeping track of improvements 
to enforce a cumulative substantial improvement requirement. It also 
credits using a lower threshold than 50 percent. These credits are found 
under Activity 430, Section 431.c and d in the CRS Coordinator’s Manual 
and the CRS Application. See also CRS Credit for Higher Regulatory 

Standards for example regulatory language.  

Post-FIRM buildings   

The rules do not address only pre-FIRM buildings—they cover all buildings, post-FIRM 
ones included.   

In most cases, a post-FIRM building will be properly elevated or otherwise compliant with 
regulations for new construction. However, sometimes a map change results in a higher BFE or 
change in FIRM zone. A substantial improvement to a post-FIRM building may require that the 
building be elevated to protect it from the new, higher, regulatory BFE.   

It should be remembered that all additions to a post-FIRM building must be elevated at least 
as high as the BFE in effect when the building was built. (You can’t allow a compliant building 
to become noncompliant by allowing additions at grade.) If a new, higher BFE has been adopted 
since the building was built, additions that are substantial improvements must be elevated to the 
new BFE.   

THE FORMULA 

A project is a substantial improvement if:  

 Cost of improvement project   >  50 percent  
 Market value of the building  
 

For example, if a proposed improvement project will cost $30,000 and the value of the 
building is $50,000:  

$30,000 = 0.6 (60 percent)  
$50,000  
 

The cost of the project exceeds 50 percent of the building’s value, so it is a substantial 
improvement. The floodplain regulations for new construction apply and the building must meet 

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-5 
 
 



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-6 
 
 

the post-FIRM construction requirements. If the project is an addition, only the addition has to 
be elevated (see the examples later in this section).  

The formula is based on the cost of the project and the value of the building. These two 
numbers must be reviewed in detail.  

Project cost  

The cost of the project means all structural costs, including  

• all materials  

• labor  

• built-in appliances  

• overhead  

• profit  

• repairs made to damaged parts of the building worked on at the same time  

 
A more detailed list is included in Figure 8-1.  

To determine substantial improvement, you need a detailed cost estimate for the project, 
prepared by a licensed general contractor, professional construction estimator or your office.  

Your office must review the estimate submitted by the permit applicant. To verify it, you can 
use your professional judgment and knowledge of local and regional construction costs, or you 
can use building code valuation tables published by the major building code groups.  These 
tables can be used for determining estimates for particular replacement items if the type of 
structure in question is listed in the tables.  

There are two possible exemptions you should be aware of: 1) improvements to correct code 
violations do not have to be included in the cost of an improvement or repair project and 2) 
historic buildings can be exempted from substantial improvement requirements. These are 
explained in more detail later on.  

Market value  

In common parlance, market value is the price a willing buyer and seller agree upon. The 
market value of a structure reflects its original quality, subsequent improvements, physical age 
of building components and current condition.  



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-7 
 
 

However, market value for property can be different than that of the building itself.  Market 
value of developed property varies widely due to the desirability of its location.  For example, 
two houses of similar size, quality and condition will have far different prices if one is on the 
coast, or in the best school district, or closer to town than the other—but the value of the 
building materials and labor that went into both houses will be nearly the same.  

  For the purposes of determining substantial improvement, market value pertains only to the 
structure in question. It does not pertain to the land, landscaping or detached accessory structures 
on the property.  Any value resulting from the location of the property should be attributed to the 
value of the land, not the building. 

  



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-8 
 
 

Items to be included 

 

 — All structural elements, including:  
 — Spread or continuous foundation footings and pilings  
 — Monolithic or other types of concrete slabs  
 — Bearing walls, tie beams and trusses  
 — Floors and ceilings  
 — Attached decks and porches  
 — Interior partition walls  
 — Exterior wall finishes (brick, stucco, siding) including painting and moldings  
 — Windows and doors  
 — Reshingling or retiling a roof  
 — Hardware  
 — All interior finishing elements, including:  
 — Tiling, linoleum, stone, or carpet over subflooring  
 — Bathroom tiling and fixtures  
 — Wall finishes (drywall, painting, stucco, plaster, paneling, marble, etc.)  
 — Kitchen, utility and bathroom cabinets  
 — Built-in bookcases, cabinets, and furniture  
 — Hardware  
 — All utility and service equipment, including:  
 — HVAC equipment  
 — Plumbing and electrical services  
 — Light fixtures and ceiling fans  
 — Security systems  
 — Built-in kitchen appliances  
 — Central vacuum systems  
 — Water filtration, conditioning, or recirculation systems   
 — Cost to demolish storm-damaged building components  
 — --- Labor and other costs associated with moving or altering undamaged building 

components to accommodate improvements or additions  
 — --- Overhead and profits    
  

Items to be excluded 
 

 — Plans and specifications  
 — Survey costs  
 — Permit fees  
 — Post-storm debris removal and clean up  
 — Outside improvements, including:  
 — Landscaping  
 — Sidewalks  
 — Fences  
 — Yard lights  
 — Swimming pools  
 — Screened pool enclosures  
 — Detached structures (including garages, sheds and gazebos)  
 — Landscape irrigation systems  

 
Figure 8-1. Items included in calculating cost of the project  



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-9 
 
 

Acceptable estimates of market value can be obtained from these sources:  

• An independent appraisal by a professional appraiser. The appraisal must exclude the 
value of the land and not use the “income capitalization approach” which bases value 
on the use of the property, not the structure.  

• Detailed estimates of the structure’s actual cash value— the replacement cost for a 
building, minus a depreciation percentage based on age and condition.  For most 
situations, the building’s actual cash value should approximate its market value. Your 
community may prefer to use actual cash value as a substitute for market value, 
especially where there is not sufficient data or enough comparable sales.  

• Property values used for tax assessment purposes with an adjustment recommended 
by the tax appraiser to reflect current market conditions (adjusted assessed value).    

• The value of buildings taken from NFIP claims data (usually actual cash value).  

• Qualified estimates based on sound professional judgment made by the staff of the 
local building department or tax assessor’s office.  

Some market value estimates are often used only as screening tools (i.e., NFIP claims data 
and property appraisals for tax assessment purposes) to identify those structures where the 
substantial improvement ratios are obviously less than or greater than 50 percent (i.e., less than 
40 percent or greater than 60 percent).  For structures that fall in the 40 percent to 60 percent 
range, more precise market value estimates are sometimes necessary.  



SUBSTANTIAL IMPROVEMENT EXAMPLES  

Example 1. Minor rehabilitation  

A rehabilitation  is defined as an improvement made to an existing structure which does not 
affect the external dimensions of the structure.    

If the cost of the rehabilitation is less than 50 percent of the structure’s market value, the 
building does not have to be elevated or otherwise protected. However, it is advisable to 
incorporate methods to reduce flood damage, such as use of flood-resistant materials and 
installation of electrical, heating and air conditioning units above the BFE.   

Figure 8-2 shows a building that had a small rehabilitation project. Central air conditioning 
was installed and the electrical system was upgraded. The value of the building before the 
project was $60,000. The value of the project was $12,000:  

$12,000 = 0.2 (20 percent)  The project costs less than 50 percent of the   
$60,000    building, so this is not a substantial improvement.   

  

 
Figure 8-2. Minor rehabilitations use flood-resistant methods and materials  

Neither structure would benefit from post-FIRM flood insurance 
rates because they are not elevated.    

Note: To gauge what happens to flood insurance premiums if a substantially improved 
building is not brought up to post-FIRM standards, see Figures 7-7 through 7-12.  

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-10 
 
 



Example 2. Substantial rehabilitation  

If the rehab costs more than 50 percent of the value of the building, your ordinance requires 
that an existing structure be elevated and/or the basement filled to meet the elevation standard.  

Figure 8-3 shows a building that has been allowed to run down. It’s market value is $35,000. 
To rehab it will require gutting the interior and replacing all wallboard, built-in cabinets, 
bathroom fixtures and furnace. The interior doors and flooring will be repaired. The house will 
get new siding and a new roof. The cost of this rehab will be $25,000:  

$25,000 = 71.4 percent   Because total cost of the project is greater   
$35,000        than 50 %the rehab is a substantial improvement  

 

 
Figure 8-3. substantially rehabilitated building elevated above the BFE.   

 
In A Zones, elevation may be on fill, crawlspace, columns, etc. In V Zones, only pilings, columns or 

other open foundations are allowed.  The new structure would benefit from post-FIRM flood insurance 
rates.  

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-11 
 
 



Example 3. Lateral addition—residential  

Additions are improvements that increase the square footage of a structure.  Commonly, this 
includes the structural attachment of a bedroom, den, recreational room garage or other type of 
addition to an existing structure.   Note that if one building is attached to another through a 
covered breezeway or similar connection, it is a separate building and not an addition.  

When an addition is a substantial improvement, the addition must be elevated or 
floodproofed, providing that improvements to the existing structure are minimal.  Figures 8-4 
and 8-5 illustrate lateral additions that are compliant.    

Depending on the flood zone and details of the project, the existing building may not have to 
be elevated. The determining factors are the common wall and what improvements are made to 
the existing structure. If the common wall is demolished as part of the project, then the entire 
structure must be elevated. If only a doorway is knocked through it and only minimal finishing is 
done, then only the addition has to be elevated.  

In A Zones only, if significant improvements are made to the existing structure (such as a 
kitchen makeover), both it and the addition must be elevated and otherwise brought into 
compliance. Some states and many communities require that both the existing structure and 
lateral additions be elevated in all cases.  

In V Zones, the existing structure always has to be elevated, placed on an engineered 
foundation system, etc., when an addition is proposed that constitutes a substantial improvement.  
This is due to the “free-of obstruction” standard whereby the lower existing structure would 
obstruct the storm surge, causing damage to the addition.  

 
Figure 8-4. Lateral additions to a residential building in an A Zone.   

In V Zones, the entire building must be elevated on pilings, columns or other open foundations. The 

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-12 
 
 



structure on the left would not benefit from post-FIRM flood insurance rates because it was not elevated.  

Example 4. Lateral addition—nonresidential 

A substantial improvement addition to a nonresidential building may be either elevated or 
floodproofed. Otherwise, all the criteria for residential buildings reviewed in Example 3 must be 
met.  

If floodproofing is used, the builder must ensure that the wall between the addition and the 
original building is floodproofed. Floodproofing is not allowed as a construction measure in V 
Zones.  

 
Figure 8-5. Lateral addition to a nonresidential building in an A Zone.   

This approach is not allowed in V Zones. The structure would not benefit from post-FIRM flood 
insurance rates because the original building was not elevated or flood-proofed.  

  

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-13 
 
 



Example 5. Vertical addition—residential  

When the proposed substantial improvement is a full or partial second floor, the entire 
structure must be elevated (Figure 8-6). In this instance, the existing building provides the 
foundation for the addition. Failure of the existing building would result in failure of the 
addition, too.  

  

 
Figure 8-6. Vertical addition to a residential building in a V Zone.   

The new structure would benefit from post-FIRM flood insurance rates.  

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-14 
 
 



Example 6. Vertical addition—nonresidential  

When the proposed substantial improvement is a full or partial second floor, the entire 
structure must be elevated or floodproofed (Figure 8-7).   

The owner could obtain post-FIRM rates on the building if it is floodproofed to one foot 
above the BFE and he has a floodproofing certificate signed by a registered engineer. An 
optional approach is to elevate the entire building and obtain an elevation certificate.  

 
Figure 8-7. Vertical addition to a nonresidential building in an A Zone.  

 

The new floodproofed structure would benefit from post-FIRM flood insurance rates.  

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-15 
 
 



Example 7. Post-FIRM building—minor addition  

All additions to post-FIRM buildings are defined as new construction and must meet the 
requirements of your floodplain management ordinance regardless of the size or cost of the 
addition (Figure 8-8). A small addition to a residential structure that is not a substantial 
improvement must be elevated at least as high as the BFE in effect when the building was built.  
Minor additions to nonresidential structures can be floodproofed to the BFE.  

If a map revision has taken place and the BFE has increased, only additions that are 
substantial improvements have to be elevated to the new BFE or flood-proofed (nonresidential 
buildings only).  

 
Figure 8-8. Small additions to post-FIRM buildings must be elevated.  

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-16 
 
 



Example 8. Post-FIRM building—substantial improvement  

Substantial improvements made to a post-FIRM structure must meet the requirements of the 
current ordinance. Figure 8-9 shows a lateral addition made after a map revision took place and 
the BFE was increased.  

  

 
Figure 8-9. Substantial improvements to post-FIRM buildings must be elevated above the 

new BFE. Nonresidential buildings may be floodproofed   

  

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-17 
 
 



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-18 
 
 

B. SUBSTANTIAL DAMAGE  

44 CFR 59.1. Definitions: "Substantial damage" means damage of any origin sustained by a 
structure whereby the cost of restoring the structure to its before damaged condition would equal or 
exceed 50 percent of the market value of the structure before the damage occurred. 
 

Two key points:  

• The damage can be from any cause—flood, fire, earthquake, wind, rain, or other 
natural or human-induced hazard.   

• The substantial damage rule applies to all buildings in a flood hazard area, regardless 
of whether the building was covered by flood insurance.    

The formula is essentially the same as for substantial improvements:  

          Cost to repair                 >  50 percent  
Market value of the building  
 
Market value is calculated in the same way as for substantial improvements. Use the pre-

damage market value.  

COST TO REPAIR 

Notice that the formula uses “cost to repair,” not “cost of repairs.” The cost to repair the 
structure must be calculated for full repair to the building’s before-damage condition, even if the 
owner elects to do less. It must also include the cost of any improvements that the owner has 
opted to include during the repair project.  

The total cost to repair includes the same items listed in Figure 8-1. As shown in Example 2 
below, properly repairing a flooded building can be more expensive than people realize. The 
owner may opt not to pay for all of the items needed. The owner may:  

• Do some of the work, such as removing and discarding wallboard.  

• Obtain some of the materials free.  

• Have a volunteer organization, such as the Mennonites, do some of the work.  

• Decide not to do some repairs, such as choosing to nail down warped flooring rather 
than replace it.  

 



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-19 
 
 

 
Basic rule: Substantial damage is determined regardless of the actual cost to the owner. You must 
figure the true cost of bringing the building back to its pre-damage condition using qualified labor and 
materials obtained at market prices.  

 

The permit office and the owner may have serious disagreements over the total list of needed 
repairs and their cost, as the owner has a great incentive to show less damage than actually 
occurred in order to avoid the cost of bringing the building into compliance. Here are four things 
that can help you:  

• Get the cost to repair from an objective third-party or undebatable source, such as:  

- A licensed general contractor.   

- A professional construction estimator.   

- Insurance adjustment papers (exclude damage to contents).  

- Damage assessment field surveys conducted by building inspection, 
emergency management or tax assessment agencies after a disaster.  

- Your office.  

• Even if your office does not prepare the cost estimate, it needs to review the estimate 
submitted by the permit applicant. You can use your professional judgment and 
knowledge of local and regional construction costs. Or, you can use building code 
valuation tables published by the major building code groups.   

• Use an objective system that does not rely on varying estimates of market value or 
different opinions of what needs to be repaired. The Substantial Damage Estimator 
Program discussed later in this section will do this.  

• Publicize the need for the regulations and the benefits of protecting buildings from 
future flooding. A well-educated public won’t argue as much as one that sees no need 
for the requirement.  

• Help the owner find financial assistance to meet the extra cost of complying with the 
code. If there was a disaster declaration, there may be sources of financial assistance 
as discussed in the next unit. If the owner had flood insurance and the building was 
substantially damaged by a flood, the new Increased Cost of Compliance coverage 
will help (see next section).  

  
 



SUBSTANTIAL DAMAGE EXAMPLES  

Example 1. Reconstruction of a destroyed building  

Reconstructions  are cases where an entire structure is destroyed, damaged, purposefully 
demolished or razed, and a new structure is built on the old foundation or slab.  The term also 
applies when an existing structure is moved to a new site.    

Reconstructions are, quite simply, “new construction.” They must be treated as new 
buildings.  

  

 
     Razed or “totaled” building               Reconstruction on  

  with remaining foundation      existing foundation  

  
Figure 8-10. A reconstructed house is new construction.  

This example is for A Zones only. A new building in the V Zone must be elevated on piles or columns.  

  

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-20 
 
 



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-21 
 
 

Example 2. Substantially damaged structure  

To determine if a damaged structure meets the threshold for substantial damage, the cost of 
repairing the structure to its before-damaged condition is compared to the market value of the 
structure prior to the damage.  The estimated cost of the repairs must include all costs necessary 
to fully repair the structure to its before-damaged condition.    

If equal to or greater than 50 percent of that structure’s market value before damage, then the 
structure must be elevated (or floodproofed if it is nonresidential) to or above the level of the 
base flood, and meet other applicable local ordinance requirements. This is the basic requirement 
for substantial damage.   

Figure 8-11 graphically illustrates the amount of damage that can occur to a building flooded 
only four feet deep. Even though the structure appears sound and there are no cracks or breaks in 
the foundation, the total cost of repair can be significant.   

The cost of repair after a flood that simply soaked the building will typically include the 
following structural items:  

 — Remove all wallboard and insulation.  
 — Install new wallboard and insulation.  
 — Tape and paint.  
 — Remove carpeting and vinyl flooring.  
 — Dry floor, replace warped flooring.  
 — Replace cabinets in the kitchen and bathroom.  
 — Replace built-in appliances.  
 — Replace hollow-core interior doors.  
 — Replace furnace and water heater.  
 — Clean and disinfect duct work.  
 — Repair porch flooring and front steps.  
 — Clean and test plumbing (licensed plumber may be required).  
 — Replace outlets and switches, clean and test wiring (licensed electrician may be 

required).   
 

Note: See also Figures 7-7 through 7-12 for what happens to flood insurance premiums if a 
substantially damaged building is granted a variance and is not brought up to post-FIRM 
standards.  

 



  
Figure 8-11. Even slow moving floodwater can cause substantial damage.   

  

SUBSTANTIAL DAMAGE SOFTWARE 

FEMA has developed a software program to help local officials make substantial damage 
determinations.  The software is based on Microsoft Access, but is self-contained and does not 
require any software in addition to a Windows operating system.   

The software comes with a manual, Guide on Estimating Substantial Damage Using the 
NFIP Residential Substantial Damage Estimator, FEMA 311. This includes a user’s manual and 
worksheets that allow the calculations to be done manually.  

Contact your FEMA Regional Office for a copy of the software package and help in using it. 
Following a major disaster declaration, training sessions and technical assistance may be 
available.  

INCREASED COST OF COMPLIANCE  

On June 1, 1997, the NFIP began offering additional coverage to all holders of structural 
flood insurance policies.  This coverage is called Increased Cost of Compliance  or ICC.   

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-22 
 
 

The name refers to cases where the local floodplain management ordinance requires 
elevation or retrofitting of a substantially damaged building. Under ICC, the flood insurance 
policy will not only pay for repairs to the flooded building, it will pay up to $30,000 to help 
cover the additional cost of complying with the ordinance. This is available for any flood 



insurance claim and, therefore, is not dependent on the community receiving a disaster 
declaration.  

There are some limitations to ICC:    

• It’s only available if there was a flood insurance policy on the building before the 
flood.  

• It covers only damage caused by a flood.  

• Claims are limited to $30,000 per structure.  

• Claims must be accompanied by a substantial damage determination by the 
floodplain ordinance administrator.   

It should also be mentioned that a portion of the rest of the claim payment may help meet the 
cost of bringing the building up to code. For example, if there was foundation damage, the 
regular claim will pay for the cost of repairing or replacing the foundation. The ICC funds would 
only be needed for the extra costs of raising the foundation higher than it was before.  

An ICC claim cannot be paid unless the community has determined the building to be 
substantially damaged and requires that the building comply with local ordinance requirements.  
For further information on how ICC coverage works and how you can help policyholders in your 
community qualify for the coverage, refer to National Flood Insurance Program’s Increased 
Cost of Compliance Coverage: Guidance for State and Local Officials, FEMA 301.  

In certain cases, an ICC claim can be filed if the building is repetitively flooded, and has had 
two or more claims averaging 25% or more of building value within a ten-year period, provided 
the community has language in the flood damage ordinance that implements the substantial 
damage rule in these cases.   

Figure 8-12 has example ordinance language. This language exceeds the minimum NFIP 
requirements, but would be needed if you wanted to trigger the ICC provision for repetitively 
damaged buildings.  

The Community Rating System credits keeping track of improvements 
to enforce a cumulative substantial improvement requirement. The 1999 
CRS Coordinator’s Manual credits the ordinance language in Figure 8-12. 
These credits are found under Activity 430, Section 431.c in the CRS 
Coordinator’s Manual and the CRS Application.  

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-23 
 
 

 



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-24 
 
 

Option 1  
 
A. Adopt the Following Definition:  
 
“Repetitive Loss” means flood-related damage sustained by a structure on two separate 
occasions during a 10-year period for which the cost of repairs at the time of each such flood 
event, on the average, equals or exceeds 25 percent of the market value of the structure before 
the damage occurred.  
 
B. And modify the “substantial improvement” definition as follows:  
 
“Substantial Improvement” means any reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition, or other 
improvement of a structure, the cost of which equals or exceeds 50 percent of the market value 
of the structure before the “start of construction” of the improvement. This term includes 
structures which have incurred “repetitive loss” or “substantial damage”, regardless of the actual 
repair work performed.  
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------  
Option 2  
 
Modify the substantial damage definition as follows:  
 
“Substantial Damage” means damage of any origin sustained by a structure whereby the cost of 
restoring the structure to its before damaged condition would equal or exceed 50 percent of the 
market value of the structure before the dam-age occurred. Substantial damage also means 
flood-related damage sustained by a structure on two separate occasions during a 10-year 
period for which the cost of repairs at the time of each such flood event, on the average, equals 
or exceeds 25 percent of the market value of the structure before the damage occurred.  
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------  
 
NOTE 1: Communities need to make sure that these definitions are tied to the floodplain 
management requirements for new construction and substantial improvements and to any other 
requirements of the ordinance, such as the permit requirements, in order to enforce this 
provision.  
 
NOTE 2: An ICC Claim Payment is ONLY made for flood-related damage. The substantial 
damage part of the definition must still include “damage of any origin” to be compliant with the 
minimum NFIP Floodplain Management Regulations.  

 
Figure 8-12. Sample ordinance language for ICC repetitive loss definitions  

Source: --  Increased Cost of Compliance Coverage: Guidance for State and Local 
Officials, FEMA-301, September 2003. This language is only needed to trigger an ICC 
payment for a repetitive loss. No ordinance changes are needed for the ICC coverage 

for substantial damage.  



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-25 
 
 

C. SPECIAL SITUATIONS 

As explained in previous sections, the substantial improvement and substantial damage 
requirements affect all buildings regardless of the reason for the improvement or the cause of the 
damage. There are three special situations you should be aware of: exempt costs, historic 
buildings and corrections of code violations.  

EXEMPT COSTS 

Certain costs related to making improvements or repairing damaged buildings do not have to 
be counted toward the cost of the improvement or repairs. These include:  

• Plans and specifications.  

• Surveying costs.  

• Permit fees.   

• Demolition or emergency repairs made for health or safety reasons or to prevent 
further damage to the building.  

• Improvements or repairs to items outside the building, such as the driveway, fencing, 
landscaping and detached structures.  

HISTORIC STRUCTURES 

Historic structures are exempted from the substantial improvement requirements subject to 
the criteria listed below.  The exemption can be granted administratively if the current NFIP 
definitions of substantial improvement and historic structure are included in your ordinance, or 
they can be granted through a variance procedure.    

In either case, they are usually granted subject to conditions.     

If the improvements to a historic structure meet the following three criteria and are approved 
by the community, the building will not have to be elevated or floodproofed. It can also retain its 
pre-FIRM flood insurance rating status.  

1. The building must be a bona fide “historic structure.” Figure 7-13 has the definition 
that must be followed.   



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-26 
 
 

2. The project must maintain the historic status of the structure.  If the proposed 
improvements to the structure will result in it being removed from or ineligible for the National 
Register or federally-certified state or local inventory, then the proposal cannot be granted an 
exemption from the substantial improvement rule.    

The best way to make such determinations is to seek written review and approval of 
proposed plans by the local historic preservation board, if it is federally-certified, or by the state 
historic preservation office.  If the plans are approved, you can grant the exemption.  If not, no 
exemption can be permitted.  

3. Take all possible flood damage reduction measures.  Even though the exemption to the 
substantial improvement rule means the building does not have to be elevated to or above BFE, 
or be renovated with flood-resistant materials that are not historically sensitive, many things can 
and should be done to reduce the flood damage potential. Examples include:  

• Locating mechanical and electrical equipment above the BFE or flood-proofing it.  

• Elevating the lowest floor of an addition to or above the BFE with the change in floor 
elevation disguised externally.  

CORRECTIONS OF CODE VIOLATIONS 

The NFIP definition of substantial improvement includes another exemption:  

44 CFR 59.1 Definitions: "Substantial improvement" means …. The term does not, however, 
include … Any project for improvement of a structure to correct existing violations of state or local 
health, sanitary, or safety code specifications which have been identified by the local code 
enforcement official and which are the minimum necessary to assure safe living conditions  

Note the key words in this exemption:  correct existing violations, identified by the local 
official, and minimum necessary to assure safe conditions.  This language was included in order 
to avoid penalizing property owners who had no choice but to make improvements to their 
buildings or face condemnation or revocation of a business license.    

This exemption was intended for involuntary improvements or violations that existed before 
the improvement permit was applied for or before the damage occurred—for example, a 
restaurant owner who must  upgrade the wiring in his  kitchen in order to meet current local and 
state health and safety codes.  

You can only exempt the items specifically required by code. For example, if a single stair 
tread was defective and had to be replaced, do not exempt the cost of rebuilding the entire 
stairway. Similarly, count only replacement in like kind and what is minimally necessary. If the 



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-27 
 
 

owner chooses to upgrade the quality of a code-required item, the extra cost is not exempt from 
the formula—it’s added to the true cost of the improvement or repairs.  

Unfortunately, many property owners and builders pressure local building official to exclude 
“code violation corrections” from their voluntary improvement proposals.  There are “code 
violations” in all structures built before the current code was enacted. In many cases, those 
elements must be brought up to code as part of an improvement project.    

This is very different from a code violation citation that forces a property owner to correct 
those violations and make improvements that were otherwise not planned. The building official 
must know about and document the violations before or at the time the permit is issued.  

Example  

A small business in a 40-year old building was damaged by a fire. The building’s pre-fire 
market value was $100,000. The insurance adjuster and the permit office concluded that the total 
cost to repair would be $45,000.   

However, the community’s building code states that whenever an applicant applies for a 
permit to modify or improve a building, the building must be brought up to code. This building 
would need the following additional work:  

• Replace unsafe electrical wiring.  

• Install missing fire exit signs, smoke detectors and emergency lighting.  

• Widen the front door and install a ramp to make the business accessible to 
handicapped and mobility-impaired people.  

The total cost of these code requirements would be $8,000. However, since these were 
required by the code before the fire occurred, they would not have to be counted toward the cost 
to repair. Based on the basic formula:  

 
 $45,000  = 0.45 or 45%  The building is not declared 
$100,000           substantially damaged  
 

In this example, the building can be repaired without elevating or floodproofing. However, 
the permit office should strongly recommend incorporating flood protection measures and flood 
resistant materials in the repair project (as in the example in Figure 8-2). 

  



 

 
City Of Lake Worth 

Department for Community Sustainability 
Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division 

1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461  
Phone: 561-586-1687  

  
MEMORANDUM DATE:   September 2, 2016 
 
AGENDA DATE:  September 14, 2016 
 
TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
RE:   301 South Federal Highway, Bermuda Cay 
 
FROM: Curt Thompson, Senior Community Planner 
 Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
 Maxime Ducoste, Assistant Director for Planning and Preservation 
 Department for Community Sustainability 
 
TITLE: HRPB# 16-01400012, 16-00500013, and 16-00100114: A request by Bradley Miller of Miller Land 

Planning Inc., Agent, representing Daniel F. Ryan, for consideration of a Major Site Plan, Conditional Use 

Permit, and Certificate of Appropriateness for New Construction, and participation in the Sustainable 

Bonus Incentive Program to allow a +/- 6,281 square foot, two-story, three-unit townhome structure on 

the southwest corner of S. Federal Highway and 3rd Avenue South, 301 South Federal Highway.  The 

0.15 acre site is currently undeveloped and is located in the Mixed Use-Federal Highway (MU-FH) zoning 

district and the Southeast Lucerne Local Historic District.  PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-109-0090.  

Land Use/Zoning 

The site is located at 301 S. Federal Highway in the MU-FH zoning district and has a Mixed Use-East (MU-

E) Future Land Use designation.  No change to the current zoning or land use is proposed for this 

application.   The proposed townhome use is permitted as a Conditional Use in the MU-FH district. No 

prior approval currently exists for this site.  

 

SYNOPSIS: 

Applicant DANIEL F. RYAN, REPRESENTED BY MILLER LAND PLANNING  

General Location 301 South Federal Highway  

Zoning  Mixed Use-Federal Highway (MU-FH) 

Existing Land Use Mixed Use – East (MU-E). The subject site is vacant.  



HRPB 16-01400012, 16-00500013, and 16-00100114 
Bermuda Cay Townhouse Development 

Major Site Plan, Conditional Use Permit, COA & Sustainable Bonus Request  
Page 2 

Future Land Use 
Designation 

Mixed Use – E (MU-E) 

Applicable Municipal 
Code Sections 

  23.2-29; 23.2-30; 23.2-31; 23.2-32; 23.2-33; 23.4-13; 23.5-4 

 Required Proposed/Existing 

Lot Area 6,500 square feet 6,750 square feet 

Lot Width 50 feet 50 lineal feet 

Building Height 

Comprehensive 
Plan: Maximum 
30’ (not to exceed 
two stories) plus 5 
feet (max 3 
stories) with 
Sustainable Bonus 
Incentive Program 

Zoning Code: 
Maximum 30’ (not 
to exceed two 
stories) plus 5 feet 
(max 2 stories) 
with Sustainable 
Bonus Incentive 
Program   

+/- 30 feet, (Two Story)  

Setbacks Required Provided 

Front (east) 10 feet, not to exceed 22 feet 10 feet 

Side (north)  10% lot width, 5 feet 5 feet  

Side (South)  5 feet 8.1 feet 

Rear (west) 13.5 feet (10% of lot depth)  13.5 feet  

Bonus Height and 
Stories 

5 feet Applicant did not request 

Living Area 900 Square Feet (SF) for 3 bedroom 
Unit A, 2,074 sf; unit B 2,133 sf 
and Unit C 2,074 sf, all 3 
bedroom units 

Accessory Structure 
Limitations 

Not Applicable 
There are no accessory 
structures. 

Impermeable Surface 
Total 

60% 55% 

Maximum Building 
Coverage 

50% 48% 

Floor Area Ratio .65   
.93 (.65 + .28 for sustainable 
bonus) 



HRPB 16-01400012, 16-00500013, and 16-00100114 
Bermuda Cay Townhouse Development 

Major Site Plan, Conditional Use Permit, COA & Sustainable Bonus Request  
Page 3 

Parking 2 spaces per unit 6 spaces (2 per unit) 

Board Action Required 
Approve, Approve With Conditions, Deny the Request, Continue the 
request for additional information 

Staff Recommendation 
Staff recommends approval of the requested Major Site Plan, Conditional 
Use Permit, Certificate of Appropriateness and Sustainable Bonus 
Incentive Program applications, with conditions as recommended.  

 Name and Title Initials 

Project Planner 
Curt Thompson, Senior Community Planner 

Aimee Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator 

CT 

ANS 

Approved by 
Maxime Ducoste, Assistant Director for Planning and 
Preservation 

MD 

  
Project/Property Description: 
The proposed site is a 50’ x 135’ parcel and is currently undeveloped.  The proposed development 
consists of one 2-story multi-family building containing three townhome units. The 30’ tall building is 
6,281 square feet with units ranging from 2,160 sf. to 2,378 sf. and each unit will have a private 
backyard/patio area and separate, covered entrances. Each unit will also have a one car garage, and 
one tandem driveway parking space, for a total of 6 off-street parking spaces for the development. 
The site will be landscaped in accordance with buffer standards and will include a decorative 4’ 
high fence around approximately half of the perimeter. Vehicular access is provided from 3rd Avenue 
South and pedestrian access is provided by the existing sidewalks along S. Federal Highway and 3rd 
Avenue South. The proposed vehicular and pedestrian paths will be constructed of semi-pervious 
pavers in order to reduce the amount of impermeable surface on the site.   
 
ANALYSIS:  
The proposed development will include 3 townhome units. At the present time, the proposed unit 
breakdown is as follows: 

 1 - three (3) unit building; 

 Living/Dining area & Kitchen for the first floor (ground level) 

 One master bedroom and two additional bedrooms on the second floor 

 Tandem vehicular parking area- one for the garage and one in the driveway  
 
Access: 
The site will have access from 3rd Avenue South. 
 
Parking: 
Requirements for townhome parcels, pursuant to Section 23.4-10.i, are as follows: 
Multi-Family (> 2 bedroom): 2 parking spaces per unit x 3 townhome units = 6 required parking spaces. 
 
 



HRPB 16-01400012, 16-00500013, and 16-00100114 
Bermuda Cay Townhouse Development 

Major Site Plan, Conditional Use Permit, COA & Sustainable Bonus Request  
Page 4 

Landscape: 
Adequate landscape and buffering will be provided where required. A 5’ wide landscape strip has been 
provided along the north, south, east and west sides of the property. The buffer areas shall consist of 
palms (Alexandra, Pygmy Date and Sabal), shrubbery, groundcover planting (Golden Trumpet, Small Leaf 
Clusia, Fire Bush, Jasmine Vine, cocoplum to name a few) and shade trees (Southern Live Oak, Dahoon 
Holly). Additionally, the applicant is proposing a 4 foot high decorative fence along the west, south and 
east sides of the subject site.  
 
Pedestrian Circulation:  
Pedestrian circulation will be provided along 3rd Avenue South and South federal Highway.  
 
Public Support/Opposition: 
Staff did not receive letters of support or opposition for this project. 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY: 

The project, as proposed, is consistent with the following Comprehensive Plan goals and objectives 

concerning future land use and housing: 

Goal 1.3 To preserve and enhance the City’s community character as a quality residential and business 

center within the Palm Beach County urban area. (Objective 1.3.4) 

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where 

appropriate restrict development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2) 

Land Use Classification 1.1.3.4 – Mixed Use East 
 
The Mixed Use East land use category is intended to provide for a mixture of residential, office, service 
and commercial retail uses within specific areas east of I-95, near or adjacent to the central commercial 
core and major thoroughfares of the City. The implementing zoning districts are MU-E, MU-FH, and MU-
DH. 
 

Section 23.2-29(d): General findings relating to harmony with LDRs and protection of public interest 
 
The project is in compliance with the general findings relating to harmony with the LDRs and protection 
of public interest, as follows: 
 
1. The conditional use exactly as proposed at the location where proposed will be in harmony with the 
uses which, under these LDRs and the future land use element, are most likely to occur in the immediate 
area where located.  
 
Staff Response: The subject site is the ideal location in which to locate a townhome development. The 
site is located within an urban area in the City of Lake Worth, which promotes more compact and dense 
styles of development. Meets Criterion. 

 
2. The conditional use exactly as proposed at the location where proposed will be in harmony with 
existing uses in the immediate area where located. 
 



HRPB 16-01400012, 16-00500013, and 16-00100114 
Bermuda Cay Townhouse Development 

Major Site Plan, Conditional Use Permit, COA & Sustainable Bonus Request  
Page 5 

Staff Response: The existing uses in the surrounding area are as follows: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning District 
Current Use/            

Name of Development 

North Mixed Use East Mixed Use East Commercial Offices 

South Mixed Use East 
Mixed Use Federal 

Highway 
Commercial Offices 

East Mixed Use East 
Mixed Use Federal 

Highway 
Single Family 
Residential 

West 
Medium Density 

Residential  
Single Family 
Residential 

Multi-Family Residential 

 
The proposed site is 50’ x 135’ and currently undeveloped.  To the north of the proposed site is an 
existing one story commercial office development.  An existing two story multi-family development is 
located to west across the platted alley way.  An existing single family home is located across Federal 
Highway to the east and an existing one story commercial office is located to the south.   
 
As outlined above, the proposed Conditional Use is compatible with the surrounding area. The subject 
site is currently undeveloped. The proposed townhome development is in harmony with the urban 
nature of the surrounding area. The development of this site as a townhome project will further 
enhance the areas, by continuing to promoting a mix of urban uses with minimal impacts on adjacent 
properties. Adequate screening and buffering will be provided where necessary, which, combined with 
the architectural style of the buildings, will provide aesthetic enhancements to the area. Meets 
Criterion. 
 
3. The conditional use exactly as proposed will not result in substantially less public benefit or greater 
harm than would result from use of the Property for some use permitted by right or some other 
conditional use permitted on the Property. 
 
Staff Response: The Conditional Use request to allow townhomes at this location will not negatively 
impact the public benefit or cause harm. The area surrounding the subject site is urban in nature. The 
proposed use as a residential, townhome development is the ideal location in which to develop this use, 
as the urban nature of the development furthers the City’s objectives for the area. The uses and 
subsequent development of the site will enhance the area, and are compatible with the existing 
developments surrounding the site. Meets Criterion. 
 
4. The conditional use exactly as proposed will not result in more intensive development in advance of 
when such development is approved by the future land use element of the comprehensive plan. 
 
Staff Response: The Conditional Use request to allow townhomes on this site will not result in a more 
intensive development in advance of the Future Land Use Element of the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 
The development of this site will enhance the area and further the objectives of the City. Meets 
Criterion. 
 
  



HRPB 16-01400012, 16-00500013, and 16-00100114 
Bermuda Cay Townhouse Development 

Major Site Plan, Conditional Use Permit, COA & Sustainable Bonus Request  
Page 6 

Section 23.2-29(e): Specific standards for all conditional uses 

1. The proposed conditional use will not generate traffic volumes or movements which will result in a 
significant adverse impact or reduce the level of service provided on any street to a level lower than 
would result from a development permitted by right. 
 
Staff Response:  A Traffic Statement from JMD Engineering, Inc., (by John M. Donaldson, P.E.), was 
prepared for the subject site. Trip generation for the site was calculated based on generation rates 
published by Palm Beach County and the Institute of Transportation Engineers’ (ITE) publication were 
utilized to determine the daily and peak hour traffic for the site. The site is anticipated to have a net 
proposed trip generation potential of 20 daily trips, 3 morning peak hour trips (AM) and 3 
afternoon/evening peak hour trips (PM). Because the net external trip generation is less than 20 peak 
hour trips, the area of influence for the site will be Federal Highway.  According to JMD Engineering, 
their analysis indicates that the proposed Bermuda Cay Townhouse development of 3 units meets the 
requirements of Palm Beach County’s Traffic Performance Standards. The proposed development of 
the site will not generate any significant traffic impacts. Meets Criterion. 
 
2. The proposed conditional use will not result in a significantly greater amount of through traffic on 
local streets than would result from a development permitted by right and is appropriately located 
with respect to collector and arterial streets. 
 
Staff Response:  A Traffic Statement has been provided as part of this request. The proposed 
development of the site will not generate any significant traffic impacts. The site has access to 3rd 
Avenue South and South Federal Highway.  Meets criterion.     
 
3. The proposed conditional use will not produce significant air pollution emissions, to a level 
compatible with that which would result from a development permitted by right. 
 
Staff Response: The Conditional Use for townhomes on the site will not produce any significant air 
pollution emission. The proposed use is not of high intensity.  Meets Criterion. 
 
4. The proposed conditional use will be so located in relation to the thoroughfare system that neither 
extension nor enlargement nor any other alteration of that system in a manner resulting in higher net 
public cost or earlier incursion of public cost than would result from development permitted by right. 
 
Staff Response:  The townhomes will have access onto 3rd Avenue South and South Federal Highway. 
The applicant has submitted a Traffic Performance Statement (TPS) from JMD Engineering indicating 
compliance with the Palm Beach County traffic performance requirements. That statement is attached 
as part of this request.  Meets Criterion. 
 
5. The proposed conditional use will be so located in relation to water lines, sanitary sewers, storm 
sewers, surface drainage systems and other utility systems that neither extension nor enlargement nor 
any other alteration of such systems in a manner resulting in higher net public cost or earlier incursion 
of public cost than would result from development permitted by right. 
 



HRPB 16-01400012, 16-00500013, and 16-00100114 
Bermuda Cay Townhouse Development 

Major Site Plan, Conditional Use Permit, COA & Sustainable Bonus Request  
Page 7 

Staff Response:  The Applicant is proposing to utilize the existing infrastructure, and rehabilitate where 
necessary. No adverse impact to infrastructure or public utilities is anticipated to occur as a result of this 
request. Meets Criterion. 
 
6. The proposed conditional use will not place a demand on municipal police or fire protection service 
beyond the capacity of those services.  
 
Staff Response:  The request for a Conditional Use approval for a townhouse complex use will not place 
a demand on municipal police or fire protection services beyond capacity. The development of this site 
as a townhome development should be consistent with the development pattern of the area, and will 
not have any adverse impacts.  Meets Criterion. 
 
7. The proposed conditional use will not generate significant noise, or will appropriately mitigate 
anticipated noise to a level compatible with that which would result from a development permitted by 
right. Any proposed use must meet all the requirements and stipulations set forth in section 15.24, 
Noise control. 
 
Staff Response: The proposed development is not estimated to be high intensity in nature, and will not 
create undesirable noise. Meets Criterion.    
 
8. The proposed conditional use will not generate light or glare which encroaches onto any adjacent 
property in excess of that allowed in Section 23.4-3, Exterior lighting. 
 
Staff Response:  The subject site is surrounded by similar, urban type uses on all sides. The proposed use 
is not projected to create undesirable lighting that will impact surrounding areas. Meets Criterion. 
 
Section 23.2-31: Site Design Qualitative Standards 

1. Harmonious and efficient organization.  
 
Staff Response: The development proposal will be harmonious and efficiently organized in relation to 
the topography, size and type of lot and the character of the surrounding area. The subject site is in 
close proximity to a mixture of uses, which include both residential and commercial uses. Meets 
Criterion. 

2. Preservation of natural conditions. 
 

 Staff Response: The subject site is cleared with no development, as there would be no clearing of 
vegetation or structures required. Meets Criterion. 

3. Screening and buffering.  
 

Staff Response: Adequate screening and buffering will be provided where required and necessary. 
Meets Criterion. 

4. Enhancement of residential privacy.  
 

https://library.municode.com/HTML/10091/level3/PTIICOOR_CH23LADERE_ART4DEST.html#PTIICOOR_CH23LADERE_ART4DEST_S23.4-10OREPA


HRPB 16-01400012, 16-00500013, and 16-00100114 
Bermuda Cay Townhouse Development 

Major Site Plan, Conditional Use Permit, COA & Sustainable Bonus Request  
Page 8 

Staff Response:  The site has been designed to take into account the surrounding uses, and residential 
privacy will not be disturbed as a result of this development proposal.  Meets Criterion. 

5. Emergency access.   
 

Staff Response:  There will be adequate access to the site from 3rd Avenue North and South Federal 
Highway. Meets Criterion. 
 
6.  Access to public ways.  
 
Staff Response: Adequate access to public ways will be provided from 2nd Avenue North and North J 
Street. Meets Criterion. 
 
7. Pedestrian circulation. 
 
Staff Response:   Access will be provided for the site, where necessary. Likewise safe access from 
parking areas to the complex will be provided (each townhome unit will feature a two car garage). 
Meets Criterion. 

8. Design of ingress and egress drives: 
 
Staff Response: Safe and efficient means of ingress and egress drives will be provided. Access will be 
provided from 3rd Avenue South and South Federal Highway. Meets Criterion. 
 
9. Coordination of on-site circulation with off-site circulation:  

 
Staff Response: The subject site is currently undeveloped. Adequate on-site circulation will be provided, 
and will maintain coordination with the surrounding street network. Meets Criterion. 
 
10. Design of on-site public right-of-way:  

 
Staff Response: No on site public right-of-way is being proposed. Meets Criterion. 

11. Off-street parking, loading and vehicular circulation areas: 
 
Staff Response: The proposed parking has been designed to minimize the impact of noise, glare and 
odor on adjacent properties, as it is internal to the project (individual car garages). Meets Criterion.  

 
12. Refuse and service areas:  

 
Staff Response: Refuse will likely be stored internal to each individual unit. However, any refuse and 
service areas will be located and designed to minimize the impact of noise, glare and odor on adjacent 
properties.  No adverse impact is anticipated. Meets Criterion. 

13. Protection of property values:  
 

Staff Response: The development of the subject site as townhomes will not negatively impact property 
values. To the contrary, the development of the site will promote new, urban development in the City of 



HRPB 16-01400012, 16-00500013, and 16-00100114 
Bermuda Cay Townhouse Development 

Major Site Plan, Conditional Use Permit, COA & Sustainable Bonus Request  
Page 9 

Lake Worth’s South Federal Highway corridor, which will positively impact the properties in the 
surrounding area. Meets Criterion. 

 
14. Transitional development:  

 
Staff Response: The subject site is designated as MU-FH. Townhomes represent an excellent use for this 
property, as they are harmonious with the surrounding area. The proposed density is consistent with the 
South Federal Highway corridor, urban nature of the development, and with the development pattern of 
the area. Meets Criterion. 
 
15. Consideration of future development: 
 
Staff Response: This townhouse project represents a good redevelopment opportunity for the area, as 
this will further the future development objective of the area. The MU-FH Zoning District promotes the 
consideration of future mixed uses, including residential. Development of the subject site with 
townhomes is consistent and complimentary to the existing and surrounding uses of the area. Meets 
Criterion. 
 
d) Buildings, generally. 

 
1. Buildings or structures which are part of a present or future group or complex shall have a unity of 
character and design. The relationship of forms of the use, texture and color of material shall be such as 
to create one (1) harmonious whole. When the area involved forms an integral part of, is immediately 
adjacent to, or otherwise clearly affects the future of any established section of the city, the design, 
scale and location of the site shall enhance rather than detract from the character, value and 
attractiveness of the surroundings. Harmonious does not mean or require that the buildings be the 
same.  

Staff Response:  Meets criterion.  See additional Historic Preservation analysis. 
 

2. Buildings or structures located along strips of land or on a single site, and not a part of a unified multi-
building complex shall achieve as much visual harmony with the surroundings as is possible under the 
circumstances. If a building is built in an undeveloped area, three (3) primary requirements shall be met, 
including honest design construction, proper design concepts, and appropriateness to the city.  

Staff Response: Meets criterion. 
 

3. All façades visible to public or adjacent property shall be designed to create a harmonious whole. 
Materials shall express their function clearly and not appear foreign to the rest of the building.  

Staff Response: Meets criterion. 
 

4. The concept of harmony shall not infer that buildings must look alike or be of the same style. 
Harmony can be achieved through the proper consideration of scale, mass, bulk, proportion, height, 
orientation, site planning, landscaping, materials, rhythm of solids to voids and architectural 
components including but not limited to porches, roof types, fenestration, orientation and stylistic 
expression.  



HRPB 16-01400012, 16-00500013, and 16-00100114 
Bermuda Cay Townhouse Development 

Major Site Plan, Conditional Use Permit, COA & Sustainable Bonus Request  
Page 10 

Staff Response: Meets criterion. 
 

5. Look-alike buildings shall not be allowed unless, in the opinion of the board, there is sufficient 
separation to preserve the aesthetic character of the present or evolving neighborhood. This is not to be 
construed to prohibit the duplication of floor plans and exterior treatment in a planned development 
where, in the opinion of the board, the aesthetics or the development depend upon, or are enhanced by 
the look-alike buildings and their relationship to each other.  

Staff Response: Meets criterion. 
 

6. Buildings, which are of symbolic design for reasons of advertising, unless otherwise compatible with 
the criteria herein, will not be approved by the board. Symbols attached to the buildings will not be 
allowed unless they are secondary in appearance to the building and landscape and are an aesthetic 
asset to the building, project and neighborhood.  

Staff Response: Meets criterion. 
 

7. Exterior lighting may be used to illuminate a building and its grounds for safety purposes, but in an 
aesthetic manner. Lighting is not to be used as a form of advertising in a manner that is not compatible 
to the neighborhood or in a manner that draws considerably more attention to the building or grounds 
at night than in the day. Lighting following the form of the building or part of the building will not be 
allowed if, in the opinion of the board, the overall effect will be detrimental to the environment. All 
fixtures used in exterior lighting are to be selected for functional as well as aesthetic value.  

Staff Response: Meets criterion. 
 

8. Building surfaces, walls and roofs shall be compatible and in harmony with the neighborhood. 

Staff Response: Meets criterion. See additional Historic Preservation analysis. 
 

9. "Take-out" or "pick-up" windows of retail or wholesale establishments shall not be located on a 
building façade that faces a public right-of-way, unless they are designed in such a manner as to 
constitute an aesthetic asset to the building and neighborhood.  

Staff Response:  Criterion not applicable. 
 

10. All exterior forms, attached to buildings, shall be in conformity to and secondary to the building. 
They shall be an asset to the aesthetics of the site and to the neighborhood.  

Staff Response: Meets criterion. 
 

11. All telephones, vending machines, or any facility dispensing merchandise, or a service on private 
property, shall be confined to a space built into the building or buildings or enclosed in a separate 
structure compatible with the main building, and where appropriate and feasible, should not be readily 
visible from off-premises.  

Staff Response: Criterion not applicable. 
 



HRPB 16-01400012, 16-00500013, and 16-00100114 
Bermuda Cay Townhouse Development 

Major Site Plan, Conditional Use Permit, COA & Sustainable Bonus Request  
Page 11 

12. Buildings of a style or style-type foreign to south Florida or its climate will not be allowed. It is also to 
be understood that buildings which do not conform to the existing or to the evolving atmosphere of the 
city, even though possessing historical significance to south Florida, may not be approved.  

Staff Response: Meets criterion.  See additional Historic Preservation analysis. 
 

13. No advertising will be allowed on any exposed amenity or facility such as benches and trash 
containers.  

Staff Response: Meets criterion. 
 

15. Light spillage restriction. The applicant shall make adequate provision to ensure that light spillage 
onto adjacent residential properties is minimized. 

Staff Response: Meets criterion. 
 
Compliance with Community Appearance Criteria Section 23.2-31(l) 
 

1. The plan for the proposed structure or project is in conformity with good taste, good design, and in 
general contributes to the image of the City as a place of beauty, spaciousness, harmony, taste, fitness, 
broad vistas and high quality.  

 
Staff Response: The proposed project meets this criterion. 
 
2. The proposed structure or project is not, in its exterior design and appearance, of inferior quality such 
as to cause the nature of the local environment or evolving environment to materially depreciate in 
appearance and value.  

 
Staff Response: The proposed project meets this criterion.  

 
3. The proposed structure or project is in harmony with the proposed developments in the general area, 
with code requirements pertaining to site plan, signage and landscaping, and the comprehensive plan 
for the City, and with the criteria set forth herein.  

 
Staff Response: The Applicant meets this criterion.  

 
4. The proposed structure or project is in compliance with this section and 23.2-29, as applicable.  

 
Staff Response: The proposed project meets this criterion.  
 
 Section 23.4-13c (11) Townhouse Standards 
 
Townhouses shall comply with the following: 
 
(1) Front setback shall be ten (10) feet, with an open porch permitted in a minimum of five (5) feet of 
setback;  
 



HRPB 16-01400012, 16-00500013, and 16-00100114 
Bermuda Cay Townhouse Development 

Major Site Plan, Conditional Use Permit, COA & Sustainable Bonus Request  
Page 12 

Staff Response: The proposed front setback is 10 feet. 
 
(2) Distance between townhouse structures shall be twenty (20) feet; however, distance between 
double-stacked townhouse structures shall be thirty (30) feet;  
 
Staff Response: Criterion does not apply. 
 
(3) Rear setback shall be twenty (20) feet or ten percent of lot depth per the MU-FH rear yard setback 
standard; 
 
Staff Response: Meets Criterion. 
 
(4) Townhouse structures shall not exceed one hundred twenty (120) feet in overall length or six (6) 
units;  
 
Staff Response: Meets Criterion. 
 
(5) The maximum number of attached townhouse units within a townhouse building fronting on Federal 
Highway shall be four (4) units, unless a planned development district is approved;  
 
Staff Response: Meets Criterion. 
 
(6) No front door access from alleys. 
 
Staff Response: Meets Criterion. 
 
Sustainable Bonus Program 
The Major Site Plan application for Bermuda Cay proposes a total square footage of 6,281 sf. which 
equates to a 0.93 Floor Area Ratio (FAR). Pursuant to the Land Development Regulations Section 23.3-16 
for the Mixed Use – Federal Highway (MU-FH) district the maximum FAR allowed is 1.2. However, the 
proposed site is considered a medium size lot based on the property dimensions, and the MU-FH 
regulations stipulate that the FAR for medium sized lots shall be 0.65. 
  
LDR Section 23.3-16 allows an additional 0.5 increase in the FAR granted under the Sustainable Bonus 
Incentive Program.  This project is requesting an additional FAR of 0.28 which equates to 1,893.5 sf. of 
“Bonus Area”. Based on a value multiplier of $5.00 per square foot, the total value of required 
improvements is $9,467.50.  
 
Pursuant to the Sustainable Bonus Incentive Program Application Sec. C, this application proposes to 
provide $9,467.50 in on-site features and improvements through landscaping that goes above and 
beyond the minimum required by code. The proposed improvements will enhance the existing street 
scape and enhance the green space of the development by providing additional landscaping.  Please see 
the attached planting schedule which provides a description and valuation of the landscaping provided 
toward the required improvements. 
 
Total Value of Required Improvements: $9,467.50       Total Value of Proposed Improvements: $ 9,586.00 



HRPB 16-01400012, 16-00500013, and 16-00100114 
Bermuda Cay Townhouse Development 

Major Site Plan, Conditional Use Permit, COA & Sustainable Bonus Request  
Page 13 

Site Plan Review Team 
The project was reviewed by the Site Plan Review Team on June 13, 2016.  Many of the team member’s 
comments have been incorporated into the submittal drawings.  Those comments not incorporated 
have been included as recommended Conditions of Approval. 
 
Historic Preservation – COA 

New construction within a local historic district is also subject to specific criteria for visual compatibility 

as set forth in Section 23.5-4(k)3 of the City’s historic preservation regulations. These criteria are 

provided in Attachment 1 and include Staff’s response to each criterion. The criteria deal with massing, 

scale, materials, and design compatibility with the surrounding historic district.  

It is the analysis of Staff that the revised project as proposed is fundamentally compatible with the 
regulations set forth in the historic preservation ordinance.  Staff has some concerns over the 
architectural quality and detailing of the structure, and has recommended additional Conditions of 
Approval to address these concerns.  The proposal should utilize corner boards consistently at all 
corners of the structure.  Additional decorative shutters could be added to enhance the overall 
appearance and compatibility of the structure.  The water table should be raised to serve as an integral 
sill for the first floor windows, and should be a consistent height around the entire building.  The 
proposed tile roof should be white, rather than gray, in order to be compatible with the historic district 
and also to achieve the greatest energy efficiency.   
 
Conclusion: 

The analysis has shown that the required findings can be made with respect to the Conditional Land Use, 
Major Site Plan and Sustainable Bonus requests.  The use as proposed is in harmony with the underlying 
zoning district and surrounding areas, subject to compliance with staff proposed conditions of approval. 
 
CONSEQUENT ACTION:  
 
The Historic Resources Preservation Board’s decision will be final for the Conditional Land Use, Major 
Site Plan, Certificate of Appropriateness, and the Sustainable Bonus requests.  The Applicant may appeal 
the Board’s decision to the City Commission. 
  
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Based on the findings outlined in the analysis above, Staff recommends that the HRPB Approve the 
request by Bradley D. Miller, AICP, for consideration of a Major Site Plan, Conditional Land Use and 
Sustainable Bonus to allow for the construction of three (3) townhome units known as Bermuda Cay, 
with the Staff recommend Conditions of Approval included as Attachment 1. 
 
POTENTIAL MOTION: 

 
I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB #16-01400012, 16-00500013, and 16-00100114: A request for a Major Site 
Plan, Conditional Use Permit, Certificate of Appropriateness for New Construction, and Participation in 
the Sustainable Bonus Incentive Program at 301 South Federal Highway based upon the preponderance 
of competent substantial evidence and subject to the Conditions of Approval as recommended by Staff. 



HRPB 16-01400012, 16-00500013, and 16-00100114 
Bermuda Cay Townhouse Development 

Major Site Plan, Conditional Use Permit, COA & Sustainable Bonus Request  
Page 14 

 
I MOVE TO DENY HRPB #16-01400012, 16-00500013, and 16-00100114: A request for a Major Site Plan, 
Conditional Use Permit, Certificate of Appropriateness for New Construction, and Participation in the 
Sustainable Bonus Incentive Program at 301 South Federal Highway because the Applicant has not 
established by a preponderance of the evidence that the application is in compliance with the City of 
Lake Worth Land Development Regulations, the Secretary of the interiors Standards for the 
Rehabilitation of Historic Properties, and the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 
 
Attachments 

1. Conditions of Approval 
2. Historic Preservation Decision Criteria 
3. Justification Statement 
4. Sustainable Bonus Incentive Information 
5. Proposed Architectural Drawings 
6. Landscape Plans 
7. Civil Engineering Plans 
 

 
 

LOCATION MAP 
 

 
 

 



 

Y:\PZHP\HISTORIC PRESERVATION\HRPB STAFF REPORTS\2016\HRPB MTG FOR 9-14-2016\HRPB 16-00100200 301 
S FEDERAL HWY - BERMUDA CAY\ATTACHMENT 1 - CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL.DOCX  

 
Community Sustainability 

                 
                Planning Zoning Historic Preservation 
                   
           1900 2nd Avenue North 

Lake Worth, FL 33461 

561.586.1687 

 

 

DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
PLANNING, ZONING AND HISTORIC PRESERVATION DIVISION 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL AND DEVELOPMENT INFORMATION FOR 
HRPB CASE No. 16-01400012, 16-00500013, 16-00100114 

 
Date of Preparation:   September 7, 2016 
P&ZB Meeting Date:   September 14, 2016 
Applicant: Miller Land Planning, AGENT 
Location: 301 South Federal Highway 
 

 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

HRPB CASE No. 16-01400012 & 16-00500013 
 

Standard Conditions of Approval: 
 

1. The issuance of any permits shall comply with all provisions of the Lake Worth Municipal 
Code and all other applicable Codes including but not limited to the Florida Building Code.  

 
2. Unless construction has commenced pursuant to a building permit, or a time extension is 

granted in accordance with Code, this application shall expire one (1) year from Historic 
Resources Preservation Board Approval. 

 
3. No Certificate of Occupancy shall be granted until all conditions of approval have been 

satisfied. 
 
4. This approval is for a conditional land use pursuant to Sections 23.2-29, 23.2-30, 23.2-31, 

23.2-32, 23.2-33, 23.4-13(c)11 for a Three Unit Townhouse structure, within the Mixed Use 
Federal Highway (MU-FH) zoning district at 301 South Federal Highway. This use must 
operate in compliance with all state and local laws that govern this use.  

 
5. In the event of a legal challenge to this approval, the applicant shall be responsible for all 

costs to defend the action of the city in approving any and all permits related to this 
application. Should the applicant fail to enter into an agreement fund the costs of litigation, 
the city, at its discretion, may rescind this approval and revoke all permits issued. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Y:\PZHP\HISTORIC PRESERVATION\HRPB STAFF REPORTS\2016\HRPB MTG FOR 9-14-2016\HRPB 16-00100200 301 
S FEDERAL HWY - BERMUDA CAY\ATTACHMENT 1 - CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL.DOCX  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL – CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 
HRPB CASE No. 16-00500013 

 
Planning & Zoning 
 

1. Any activities associated with the operation of this mixed use shall emit no more than 65 (db.) 
decibels and at no time be audible above daytime ambient noise levels beyond the real 
property lines of the site. The system shall be designed to compensate for ambient noise 
levels in the immediate area. 
 

2. The subject site shall remain clear and clean of any trash or debris when retail businesses 
have closed for the day.  
 

3. Provide a photometric plan in compliance with the Land Development Regulations, subject 
to staff approval prior to issuance of a building permit. 

 
ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL – MAJOR SITE PLAN 

HRPB CASE No. 16-01400012 
 

Public Services 
 

1. The issuance of any permits shall comply with all provisions of the Lake Worth Municipal 
Code and all other applicable standards including but not limited to the Florida Department 
of Transportation (FDOT), Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD), and City 
of Lake Worth Public Services Construction Standards and Policy and Procedure Manual. 

 
2. No Certificate of Occupancy shall be granted until all conditions of approval have been 

satisfied under jurisdiction of the Department of Public Services. 
 

3. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall furnish to the City a copy of 
the FDOT permit for all work occurring in the FDOT right of way on Federal Highway. 

 
4. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall contact the Lake Worth 

Drainage (LWDD) District’s Engineering Department and obtain any required permit(s), if 
necessary, and furnish to the City.  Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant 
shall contact the South Florida Water Management District’s (SFWMD) Engineering 
Department and obtain any required permit(s), if necessary. 

 
5. Prior to issuance of a certificate of occupancy, the applicant shall install a new 5-foot wide 

sidewalk along the south side 3rd Ave South from the east property line to the west 
property line in compliance with the Public Services Department’s specifications and Policy 
and Procedure Manual.  The existing sidewalk is damaged in locations along the applicants’ 
property and will be damaged during construction activity. 

 



 

Y:\PZHP\HISTORIC PRESERVATION\HRPB STAFF REPORTS\2016\HRPB MTG FOR 9-14-2016\HRPB 16-00100200 301 
S FEDERAL HWY - BERMUDA CAY\ATTACHMENT 1 - CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL.DOCX  

6. Prior to the construction of any off-site improvements, the applicant shall apply for a "Right 
of Way/Utility Permit" application and receive issuance of the permit. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall ensure all new sidewalks are 
in compliance with ADA requirements.  Vehicles shall not encroach into the right of way 
blocking the sidewalk. 

 
8. Prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy, the Applicant shall ensure the entire 

surrounding off-site infrastructure inclusive of the roadway, sidewalk, curbing, stormwater 
system piping and structures, valve boxes, manholes, landscaping, striping, signage, and 
other improvements are in the same condition as prior to construction. 

 
9. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall submit an Erosion Control plan 

and indicate the BMP’s and NPDES compliance practices. 
 

10. Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the applicant shall fine grade and sod all 
disturbed areas with bahia sod. 

 
11. Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the applicant shall broom sweep all areas 

of the affected right of way and remove of all silt and debris collected as a result of 
construction activity. 

  
12. Pavers bricks are shown on the revised plan set.  A Variance Agreement shall be obtained 

prior to the construction of paver bricks in the right of way 
 
Water Utilities 
 
Paving, Grading & Drainage: 
 

1. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, provide a traffic statement from FDOT on 
access management.  At minimum letter from FDOT stating driveway clearance is 
acceptable as depicted. 
 

2. Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy , the Abandoned driveway tapers shall 
be removed and replaced with sidewalk of existing width and thickness  
 

3. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, Finished floor elevations shall be included on 
plans.  In addition, topography information shall be included. 
 

4. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, Remove details which are not relevant to the 
proposed design 
 

5. Drainage calculations and drainage statement shall be included in building plan set.  
 

6. Development shall be regulated to ensure adequate on‐site containment of stormwater 
based on the three‐year, one‐hour design storm event. 

 



 

Y:\PZHP\HISTORIC PRESERVATION\HRPB STAFF REPORTS\2016\HRPB MTG FOR 9-14-2016\HRPB 16-00100200 301 
S FEDERAL HWY - BERMUDA CAY\ATTACHMENT 1 - CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL.DOCX  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

7. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, Include a drainage structure table or structure 
details. 
 

8. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, Include drainage patterns and/or flow 
arrows. 
 

9. Since the excavation of the exfiltration trench will be in excess of 8’ deep adjacent to the 
right of way, a detail for the installation should be included in the building permit set. 
 

10. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, show downspout connections to storm drain 
system.  Include matching pipe sizes in the plans and details 
 

11. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, an Erosion Control Plan with BMP’s and 
NPDES compliance practices shall be provided. 
 

12. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, indicate the vertical datum on all plan 
drawings with grades.   

 
Water & Wastewater: 
 
Prior to the issuance of a building permit: 

1. Move location of proposed water main tap extension just east of proposed location on 
3rd Ave South and the alley.  Callout for a 12” x 6” tapping saddle east of existing cross, 
this shall be installed a minimum of 30” east of the existing cross or pipe joints.  Extend 
water south approx. 3’ and use 45 degree bends to return to the proposed water main 
location as shown on the site plan.  This will eliminate the need for the 6”x 4” reducer 
north of the existing cross.  
  

2. Depict sewer lateral from main as single service to the property line and install a single 
clean-out (c.o.) at property line.  Upstream of the property line c.o., spilt the lateral 3 
way to service townhomes and provide dedicated c.o.’s per the code. 
  

3. Water services are a minimum of 1” diameter and reduce to ¾” at curb stops (typical). 
 

4. Building plans to include existing fire hydrant gate valve box on plans.  Contractor to 
ensure the valve box remains accessible and at grade during sidewalk replacement. 
 

5. Show sewer laterals to building connections.   
 

6. Provide Fireflow calculations based on a recent hydrant test 
 



 

Y:\PZHP\HISTORIC PRESERVATION\HRPB STAFF REPORTS\2016\HRPB MTG FOR 9-14-2016\HRPB 16-00100200 301 
S FEDERAL HWY - BERMUDA CAY\ATTACHMENT 1 - CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL.DOCX  

7. Prior to building permit issuance, reserve capacity fees for water and sewer must be 
paid in accordance with the current city Ordinance.   
 

8. Add note: Contractor to protect and swab water mains prior to installation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Electric Utilities 

1. Prior to the issuance of the building permit, provide load calculation and voltage 
requirements. 
 

2. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, provide 10 foot clearance in front of the 
transformer and 4 foot on the remaining sides. 
 

3. Prior to issuance of a certificate of occupancy (CO), provide a ten (10) foot easement to 
bury the primary cable from the transformer to the nearest power pole. 

Landscaping 

1. Prior to the issuance of a CO, each unit must have at least 1 shade tree in the front yard. 
 

2. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the city’s minimum sizes for trees and shrubs 
must be on the plans. 

 
 

ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL – CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS 
HRPB CASE No. 16-00100114 

 

1) The proposal shall utilize corner boards consistently at all corners of the structure, subject to 
staff review at permitting. 
 

2) Additional decorative louvered shutters shall be added to the second floor windows facing 
the street to enhance the overall appearance and compatibility of the structure.  The shutters 
shall be equal in width to half the width of the window.  This design shall be subject to staff 
review at permitting. 

 
3) The water table shall be raised to serve as an integral sill for the first floor windows, and shall 

be a consistent height around the entire building.   
 

4) The proposed tile roof shall be white, rather than gray, in order to be compatible with the 
historic district and also to achieve the greatest energy efficiency. 

 
5) The first floor windows shall be adjusted to have a 1:2 proportion, similar to the second floor 

windows.  All windows may be made proportionally larger, if desired for greater 
compatibility and light in the units.  This design shall be subject to staff review at permitting. 

 
6) A window shall be added above the sliding glass door on the east elevation. 



 

Y:\PZHP\HISTORIC PRESERVATION\HRPB STAFF REPORTS\2016\HRPB MTG FOR 9-14-2016\HRPB 16-00100200 301 
S FEDERAL HWY - BERMUDA CAY\ATTACHMENT 1 - CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL.DOCX  

 
7) The windows on the second floor may be changed from a single window to a pair of windows 

in order to increase light in the units and visual appearance on the exterior, subject to staff 
review at permitting. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
8) The exact design and configuration of the front door and garage doors shall be subject to Staff 

review at permitting. 
 

9) The windows and doors shall not have reflective glass.  All muntins shall be created using 
exterior raised applied muntins.  No flat or internal muntins shall be permitted. 

 
10) The proposed window and door trim is not clearly defined on the drawings.  The exact design 

and detailing shall be subject to staff review at permitting. 
 

11) All proposed landscaping, fencing, and hardscape shall be subject to Staff review at 
permitting. 

 

 
 
 

 
 



 
MEMORANDUM 

 
DATE: September 7, 2016 
 
TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
 Department of Community Sustainability 
 
SUBJECT:  HRPB Project Number 15-00100114: Consideration of a Certificate of 

Appropriateness (COA) for new construction of a two-story three-unit townhome 
structure at the subject property located at 301 South Federal Highway;  

 PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-109-0090. The subject property is located within the 
Southeast Lucerne Local Historic District. 

 
HRPB Meeting Date: September 14, 2016 
  
 
Section 23.5-4k(3) Additional guidelines for new construction; visual compatibility   
 
All improvements to buildings, structures and appurtenances within a designated historic district shall 
be visually compatible. New buildings should take their design cues from the surrounding existing 
structures, using traditional or contemporary design standards and elements that relate to existing 
structures that surround them and within the historic district as a whole. Building design styles, 
whether contemporary or traditional, should be visually compatible with the existing structures in the 
district.   
 
A.   In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for new construction, the 
City shall also, at a minimum, consider the following additional guidelines which help to define visual 
compatibility: 
 

(1) The height of proposed buildings shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the 
height of existing buildings located within the historic district. 
Response: The main bulk of the proposed townhouse building is consistent with the 
height of other 2-story buildings surrounding the property, however the end “towers” 
extend higher than the neighboring structures.  The structure does comply with the  30’ 
maximum height allowed in the zoning Code. 
 

(2) The relationship of the width of the building to the height of the front elevation shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the width and height of the front elevation of 
existing buildings located within the district. 
Response: The width and height of the front elevations of the proposed building is in scale 
with the surrounding properties, however the height of the tower element is visually 
unbalanced on the front elevation. 
 

(3) The openings of any building within a historic district should be visually compatible and 
in harmony with the openings in buildings of a similar architectural style located within 



2 

 

the historic district. The relationship of the width of the windows and doors to the height 
of the windows and doors in a building shall be visually compatible with buildings within 
the district. 
Response: The proposed windows on the second floor are compatible in height and 
width.  The proposed windows on the first floor should be refined to have a 1:2 
proportion, similar to the second floor windows.  In general, the windows are smaller than 
typically seen in historic structures and they could be made larger. 
 

(4) The relationship of solids to voids in the front facade of a building or structure shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the front facades of historic buildings or 
structures located within the historic district. A long, unbroken facade in a setting of 
existing narrow structures can be divided into smaller bays which will complement the 
visual setting and the streetscape. 
Response: The front façade is broken up with the front porch, as well as windows and 
doors, and the solid to void relationship is compatible with the district. 
 

(5) The relationship of a building to open space between it and adjoining buildings shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the relationship between buildings elsewhere 
within the district. 
Response: The proposed building respects the customary front, side, and rear setbacks 
within the district, and also within the current zoning code. 
 

(6) The relationship of entrance and porch projections to sidewalks of a building shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the prevalent architectural styles of entrances 
and porch projections on buildings and structures within the district. 
Response: The proposed entrance is visually compatible, however the detailing could be 
enhanced to provide a better design aesthetic that is consistent with historic designs. 
 

(7) The relationship of the materials, texture and color of the facade of a building shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the predominant materials used in the buildings 
and structures of a similar style located within the historic district. 
Response: The building will be concrete block finished with stucco banding to replicate 
wood siding, which is one of the customary building materials in the district.  The building 
also utilizes porch columns and louvered shutters, which are compatible with the district. 
 

(8) The roof shape of a building or structure shall be visually compatible and in harmony with 
the roof shape of buildings or structures of a similar architectural style located within the 
historic district. 
Response: The proposed roof shape is appropriate within the district, and is visually 
compatible with the neighboring properties.  The proposed roof height on the tower 
elements is higher than the neighboring properties. 
 

(9) Appurtenances of a building, such as walls, wrought iron, fences, evergreen, landscape 
masses and building facades, shall, if necessary, form cohesive walls of enclosures along 
a street to insure visual compatibility of the building to the buildings and places to which 
it is visually related. 
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the plans provided are consistent with this 
requirement. 



3 

 

 
(10) The size and mass of a building in relation to open spaces, the windows, door openings, 

porches and balconies shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the buildings and 
places to which it is visually related. 
Response: The architectural style and design is minimal with regards to the windows, 
doors, porches, and balconies.  Staff has recommended conditions of approval to address 
this criteria. 
 

(11) A building shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the buildings and places to 
which it is visually related in its directional character: vertical, horizontal or non-
directional. 
Response: The Applicant has provided a streetscape showing the building in relation to 
those to either side of it, and across the street. The bulk of the building’s height and 
massing are compatible with other two-story neighboring structures, however the tower 
elements are taller than the surrounding structures. 
 

(12) The architectural style of a building shall be visually compatible with other buildings to 
which it is related in the historic district, but does not necessarily have to be in the same 
style of buildings in the district. New construction or additions to a building are 
encouraged to be appropriate to the style of the period in which it is created and not 
attempt to create a false sense of history.  
Response: The building is a contemporary Coastal Florida design that employs elements 
of traditional frame vernacular architecture.  The building is visually minimally compatible 
with the district, but does not attempt to replicate any historic structures.  
 

(13) Landscaping shall be compatible with the architectural character and appearance of the 
structure and of other buildings located within the historic district. 
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the plans provided at this point are consistent 
with this requirement.  The landscape plan will be reviewed by Staff at permitting. 
 

(14) In considering applications for certificates of appropriateness to install mechanical 
systems which affect the exterior of a building or structure visible from a public right-of-
way, the following criteria shall be considered: 

 
(a) Retain and repair, where possible, historic mechanical systems in their original 

location, where possible. 
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 

(b) New mechanical systems shall be placed on secondary facades only and shall not 
be placed on, nor be visible from, primary facades. 
Response: Staff will ensure that any mechanical systems for the new building 
meet this criterion. 
 

(c) New mechanical systems shall not damage, destroy or compromise the physical 
integrity of the structure and shall be installed so as to cause the least damage, 
invasion or visual obstruction to the structure's building materials, or to its 
significant historic, cultural or architectural features. 
Response: Not applicable to this project. 



4 

 

 
(15) The site should take into account the compatibility of landscaping, parking facilities, utility 

and service areas, walkways and appurtenances. These should be designated with the 
overall environment in mind and should be in keeping visually with related buildings and 
structures. 
Response: Parking for the three townhomes is provided in a 1-car garage and a 1-car 
tandem driveway, accessed from 3rd Avenue South.  It is not common in the Southeast 
Lucerne Historic District to access parking and garage spaces from a main right-of-way.  
Given the narrow 50’ width of the site, and the requirement for 6 off-street parking 
spaces, the only feasible location for the parking is accessed directly from 3rd Avenue 
South.  The Applicant has taken steps to minimize the impact of the parking, including 
eliminating the previous 2-car garages, recessing the garage door, and utilizing a 1-car 
wide driveway. 
 

B.   In considering certificates of appropriateness for new buildings or structures which will have more 
than one primary facade, such as those on corner lots facing more than one street, the HRPB shall 
apply the visual compatibility standards to each primary facade.   
Response: The above criteria and responses apply to both primary façades. 

 
 



 
 

 

BERMUDA CAY   
PCN: 38-43-44-21-15-109-0090      Original:   May 10, 2016 
         Revisions:   AUG. 2, 2016 

 

 

Application for a Major Site Plan, Conditional Use, Certificate of Appropriateness, and 

Sustainable Bonus Incentive Program 

 

Application Request 

 

On behalf of D.F. Ryan Management Services, Inc., this application requests approval 

of a Major Site Plan and associated Conditional Use, Certificate of Appropriateness, 

and Sustainable Bonus Incentive Program for a proposed development on the 

southwest corner of S. Federal Highway and 3rd Avenue South.  The 0.15 acre site is 

currently undeveloped and is located in the Mixed Use-Federal Highway (MU-FH) zoning 

district. 

 

Project Description – Proposed Development 

 

The proposed development consists of one 2-story multi-family building containing three 

townhome units.  The 30’ tall building is 6281, sf. with units ranging from 2,074 sf. to 2,133 

sf. and each unit will have a private backyard/patio area and separate entrances for 

each unit.  Each unit will also have a one car garage and one parking space in each 

unit driveway for a total of 6 parking spaces for the development.  The site will be 

landscaped in accordance with buffer standards and will include a decorative 4’ high 

fence around approximately half of the perimeter. 

 

Vehicular access is provided from 3rd Avenue South and pedestrian access is provided 

by the existing sidewalks along S. Federal Highway and 3rd Avenue South.  The 

proposed vehicular and pedestrian paths will be constructed of semi-pervious pavers in 

order to reduce the amount of impermeable surface on the site.  Each unit provides 

covered entry for pedestrians.   

 

Land Use and Zoning 

 

The site is located at 301 S. Federal Highway in the MU-FH zoning district and has a 

Mixed Use-East Future Land Use designation.  No change to the current zoning or land 

use is proposed for this application.  The proposed townhome use is permitted as a 

Conditional Use in the MU-FH district.  No prior approval currently exists for this site. 

 

Site Characteristics and Surrounding Properties 

 

MILLER 

LAND  

PLANNING, INC. 

508 E. Boynton Beach Boulevard 

Boynton Beach, FL  33435 

 

Phone ■  (561)736.8838 

Fax ■  (561)736.8079 

 



Bermuda Cay 

Page 2 of 6 

 
  

The proposed site is 50’ x 135’ and currently undeveloped.  To the north of the proposed 

site is an existing one story commercial office development.  An existing two story multi-

family development is located to west across the platted alley way.  An existing single 

family home is located across Federal Highway to the east and an existing one story 

commercial office is located to the south.  The architectural styles of the surrounding 

properties are similar in terms of massing, height, and pitched roofs, though the roofing 

material varies from tile to shingle.  The window treatment of the surrounding properties 

is minimal and the facades along street frontages are flat and monotonous with little to 

no undulation.  The rooflines of the surrounding properties are also mundane and 

without undulation.  Photographs of the site and surrounding properties are provided 

along with this application. 

 
Sustainable Bonus Incentive Program 

 

The maximum FAR for the MU-FH district is 1.2, however medium size lots exceeding .65 FAR 

require approval under the Sustainable Bonus Incentive Program.  The proposed FAR for this 

application is .93, which equates to 1,893.5 sf. of “Bonus Area”.  Using a Value Multiplier of $5.00 

per square foot, we are required to provide $9,467.50 of improvements for this application.  A 

detailed description of the proposed improvements is included with the Sustainable Bonus 

Incentive Program application. 

 

Compliance with Site Design Qualitative Standards in Section 23.2-31 

 

Harmonious and Efficient Organization 

 

The elements of the proposed Site Plan are harmoniously and efficiently organized in relation to 

the site and surrounding properties.  The building orientation and site layout conform to existing 

patterns of development in the area.  Furthermore, the building massing, design, and proposed 

access points are also in conformance with the surrounding area.  The proposed development 

will not impede the normal and orderly development or improvement of surrounding property. 

 

Preservation of Natural Conditions 

 

The existing vegetation on site is minimal and the small site contains mostly weeds, sand and two 

small bushes near the eastern end of the site.  There is one young growth tree in the middle of 

the site and another small tree in the extreme northwest corner of the site near the existing fire 

hydrant.  One mature growth tree exists on the south property line and is partially located on the 

subject site and the property immediately to the south.  Insofar as practical, the natural 

landscape will be preserved in its natural state.  Terrain and vegetation will not be disturbed in a 

manner likely to significantly increase either wind or water erosion within or adjacent to the site. 

 

Screening and Buffering 

 

Perimeter landscape buffers are provided in accordance with the LDRs and additional 

screening is being provided by the addition of a 4’ high decorative fence in appropriate areas.  

Please refer to the proposed site plan for further detail. 

 

Enhancement of Residential Privacy 

 

Enhancement of residential privacy will be achieved through the use of landscaping, fencing 

and building setbacks. 

 

Emergency Access 



Bermuda Cay 

Page 3 of 6 

 
  

 

Emergency vehicle access is provided by Federal Highway to the east, 3 rd Avenue to the north, 

and the platted alley way to the west.  Emergency access to the south of the building is 

provided by access gates in each of the privacy walls separating the outdoor area for each 

unit. 

 

Access to Public Ways 

 

The proposed building and associated units have safe and convenient access to public streets 

and walkways.  Please see the Site Plan included with this submittal for more detail. 

 

Pedestrian Circulation 

 

The pedestrian circulation is completely separated from the vehicular circulation on the site.  

Each unit has separate pedestrian access that connects to the public sidewalks. 

 

Design of Ingress and Egress Drives 

 

Ingress and egress drives typical to this type of development are provided along 3rd Avenue.   

 

Coordination of on-site Circulation with off-site Circulation 

 

The proposed paths for pedestrian and vehicular circulation are coordinated with the existing 

streets and pedestrian pathways as demonstrated on the proposed site plan. 

 

Design of On-site Public Right-of-way 

 

There are no on-site public right-of-ways proposed for this application. 

 

Off-street Parking, Loading, and Vehicular Circulation Areas 

 

The proposed off-street parking is accommodated by a private one car garage and one 

parking space in the driveway.  No loading area is required or proposed for this development.  

The proposed unit driveways are the only areas of vehicular circulation. 

 

Refuse and Service Areas 

 

There is no common refuse area proposed for this development.  Each unit will utilize roll-out 

trash receptacles similar to other residential properties in the area. 

 

Protection of Property Values 

 

The elements of the site plan are arranged so as to minimize negative impact on the property 

values of the adjoining property.  The setbacks have been increased beyond the minimum so as 

to increase separation from the adjoining property to the south. 

 

Transitional Development 

 

The proposed site is located on the boundary between the SFR district and MU-FH district.  The 

proposed development is similar in height, massing, scale, bulk, rhythm of openings, and 

character of the adjacent properties and does not accentuate the change of zoning districts.  

In addition, the proposed setbacks complement the existing developments in the area. 

 

Consideration of Future Development 



Bermuda Cay 

Page 4 of 6 

 
  

 

In regards to the standards described above, the proposed development is compatible with 

existing and future planned development in this area. 

 

Compliance with Community Appearance Criteria Section 23.2-31(I) 

 

1. The proposed development is in conformity with good taste, good design, and in 

general contributes to the image of the City.  Many of the properties in the area are in 

disrepair and the proposed development will contribute to the revitalization of the 

neighborhood. 

2. The proposed development is not of inferior quality and will not cause the nature of the 

local environment or evolving environment to materially depreciate in appearance and 

value. As mentioned above, the proposed development will contribute to the 

revitalization of the area. 

3. The proposed development is in harmony with the proposed developments in the 

general area and is in fact somewhat modeled after the recently approved townhomes 

to the north.  The site plan conforms to all applicable LDR code requirements and 

standards set forth by the Comprehensive Plan 

4. Compliance with Section 23.2-29 is outlined below. 

 

Compliance with Conditional Use Criteria in Section 23.2-29.d and Section 23.2-29.e 

 

General Findings Relating to Harmony with LDRs and Protection of Public Interest 

 

1. The proposed development will be in harmony with the uses which are most likely to 

occur in the immediate area.  The proposed residential development is compatible with 

the residential area to the west and the mixed use area to the north, east, and south.  

Furthermore, the most recent development in the immediate area is also townhomes, 

thus demonstrating the compatibility with likely development in the area. 

2. As the existing uses in the area are a mix of residential and commercial uses, the 

proposed residential use is in harmony with the surrounding neighborhood. 

3. The Future Land Use Element of the Comprehensive Plan allows for 30 DU/Ac. in the 

current Mixed Use East designation.  This application proposed a density of 20 DU/Ac.  

Thus, this application will not result in more intensive development in advance of when 

such development is approved by the Future Land Use Element of the Comprehensive 

Plan. 

 

Specific Findings for All Conditional Uses 

 

1. The proposed Conditional Use will not generate traffic volumes or movements which will 

result in a significant adverse impact or reduce the level of service provided on any 

street to a level lower than would result from a development permitted by right.  Please 

refer to the Traffic Statement submitted with application for further information regarding 

traffic impacts. 

2. The proposed conditional use will not result in a significantly greater amount of through 

traffic on local streets than would result from a development permitted by right and is 

appropriately located with respect to collector and arterial streets.  Please refer to the 

Traffic Statement submitted with application for further information regarding traffic 

impacts. 

3. The proposed conditional use will not produce significant air pollution emissions, or will 

appropriately mitigate anticipated emissions to a level compatible with that which 

would result from a development by right.   Community residences are permitted by right 

in the MU-FH district and there is no indication that the proposed 3 unit townhouse 

development will produce air pollution emissions beyond a community residence. 



Bermuda Cay 

Page 5 of 6 

 
  

4. The proposed conditional use will be so located in relation to the thoroughfare system 

that neither extension nor enlargement nor any other alteration of that system in a 

manner resulting in higher net public cost or earlier incursion of public cost than would 

result from development permitted by right. 

5. The proposed Conditional Use will be so located in relation to water lines, sanitary sewers, 

storm sewers, surface drainage systems and other utility systems that neither extension nor 

enlargement nor any other alteration of such systems in a manner resulting in higher net 

public cost than would result from development permitted by right.  Please refer to the 

civil plans submitted with application for further information. 

6. The proposed conditional use will not place a demand on municipal police or fire 

protection service beyond the capacity of those services, except that the proposed 

facility may place a demand on municipal police and fire protection services which 

does not exceed that likely to result from a development permitted by right. 

7. The conditional use will not generate significant noise, or will appropriately mitigate 

anticipated noise to a level compatible with that which would result from a 

development permitted by right.  The proposed development will comply with the 

requirements of Section 15.24 – Noise Control. 

8. The proposed conditional use will not generate light or glare which encroaches onto any 

residential property in excess of that allowed in Section 23.4-10-Exterior Lighting. 

 

Additional Requirements 

 

1. To the best of our knowledge, there are no outstanding code enforcement fees or fines 

related to the project site as the site is currently undeveloped. 

2. To the best of our knowledge no previous conditions of approval exist for this site. 

 

Criteria for Granting Certificates of Appropriateness (Section 23.5-4(k)1) 

 

A. The subject property is currently vacant and a blight on the appearance of the City.  The 

effect of this project on the property will be to add a 2 story building including 3 

townhome units and new landscaping. 

B. Currently, the surrounding properties in the area are in disrepair.  This project will add to 

the revitalization of the area by providing new development along the Federal Highway 

corridor. 

C. Currently, the site is undeveloped.  So there will be no change to the historic, 

architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural style, design, arrangement, 

texture, materials and color of the existing property, as none currently exists. 

D. Yes.  Denial of a certificate of appropriateness would deprive the property owner of 

reasonable beneficial use of his property.   

E. The plans for this development are technically feasible and are capable of being carried 

out within a reasonable timeframe.  The proposed project is small in scale and similar to 

other recently approved townhome projects in the area that are currently under 

construction. 

F. The plans for the proposed project satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria 

contained in the United States Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation as 

described below: 

1.  The site is currently vacant and has no historic purpose.  The new use that is 

proposed will have no negative impacts on the defining characteristics of the 

surrounding area. 

2. N/A 

3. The proposed development will include a completely new building that will not 

create a false sense of historical development.  The proposed building will reflect 

the current architectural style of buildings of this type in this time period. 

4. N/A 



Bermuda Cay 

Page 6 of 6 

 
  

5. N/A 

6. N/A 

7. N/A 

8. N/A 

9. N/A 

10. N/A 

G. This site has no historical significance, as it is currently vacant and undeveloped.  The 

proposed development will have no effect on the features which served as the basis for 

its designation in the South East Lucerne historic district. 

H.  No restoration or rehabilitation is proposed for this project 

 

Conclusion 

 

We respectfully request approval of this Major Site Plan application and accompanying 

Conditional Use, Certificate of Appropriateness and Sustainable Bonus Incentive Program 

applications as described above.  The applicable standards of the Land Development 

Regulations and Comprehensive Plan have all been satisfied and the proposed development 

conforms to the existing and planned development patterns for the MU-FH district.  





 
 

PLANNING & PRESERVATION DIVISION 
DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 

CITY OF LAKE WORTH 
1900 2ND AVENUE NORTH 
LAKE WORTH, FL 33461 

561.586.1687 
 

 

 
PROJECT DATA 

Name of Applicant  ____________________________________________________________________ 

Project Name    ____________________________________________________________________ 

Street address of project site ____________________________________________________________________ 

Total Site Area (Acres)   _________________________ (Square Feet) __________________ 

ADJACENT PROPERTIES: Complete the following table for the properties adjacent to the project site. 

Direction Future Land Use Designation Zoning Designation Type of Use/Name of 
Development 

North    

South    

East    

West    

 

SETBACKS: Complete the following table.  Include setbacks for existing buildings that will remain on site. 

 Front Rear Side (interior) Side (street) 
Required     
Proposed     

 

RESIDENTIAL PROJECT DATA: Complete the applicable sections below. 

General 
Gross acreage of property: Number of proposed units: Gross density per acre: 
Lot Size (square feet) – Minimum:                         Maximum:                                                Average: 

Building Data 
Number of units –          Single-family:                                                  Multi-family: 
Overall building height(s) as measured from crown of adjacent road or base flood elevation: 
Minimum floor elevation above crown of adjacent road or base flood elevation: 
Total building area for each type of residential structure proposed: 
Total building area for accessory structures: 
Lot Coverage ( in square feet and as a percentage) 

PROJECT FACT SHEET 



 Planning, Zoning & Historic Preservation Division | Department for Community Sustainability 
City of Lake Worth | 1900 2nd Avenue North | Lake Worth, FL 33461 

 

NON-RESIDENTIAL PROJECT DATA: Complete the applicable sections below. 

General 
Gross acreage of property: Total number of buildings: 
Total area of each existing building: 

Building Data 
Total area of each proposed building: 
Total building area of accessory structures: 
Lot coverage (total area and as a percentage): Floor Area Ratio: 
Overall building height(s) as measured from crown of adjacent road(s) or base flood elevation: 
Minimum floor elevation(s) above the crown of the adjacent road(s) or base flood elevation: 

 

LANDSCAPE PLAN DATA: if a landscape plan is required to be submitted, complete the following sections below. 

 Required Proposed 
Number of trees   
Number of shrubs   
Amount of groundcover   
Perimeter landscaped area (area and percentage)   
Interior landscaped area (area and percentage)   
Building perimeter planting (area and percentage)   
Vehicular use area (area and percentage)   
Total landscape area   
Green/open space   

 

MISCELLANEOUS SITE DATA: complete the following information as applicable. 

 Open space Impervious area Pervious area Proposed bodies of 
water 

Total area:     
Percent of Site     
Fences – overall height:                                   Construction material: 
Walls – overall height:                                     Construction material: 
Proposed right-of-way width(s): 
Proposed roadway paving width: 
Proposed sidewalk width: 
Type of paving surfaces on all sidewalks: 
Current flood plain designation: 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 

BERMUDA CAY   
PCN: 38-43-44-21-15-109-0090      Original:   May 10, 2016 
         Revisions:   AUG. 2, 216 
 

Sustainable Bonus Incentive Program – Attachment A - Description and Valuation of 

Proposed Improvement 

 

The Major Site Plan application for Bermuda Cay proposes a total square footage of 6,281 sf. 

which equates to a 0.93 Floor Area Ratio (FAR).  Pursuant to the Land Development Regulations 

Section 23.3-16 for the Mixed Use – Federal Highway (MU-FH) district the maximum FAR allowed is 

1.2.  However, the proposed site is considered a medium size lot based on the property 

dimensions, and the MU-FH regulations stipulate that the FAR for medium sized lots shall be 0.65.  

Section 23.3-16 allows an additional 0.5 increase in the FAR granted under the Sustainable Bonus 

Incentive Program.  This project is requesting an additional FAR of 0.28 which equates to 1,893.5 

sf. of “Bonus Area”.  Based on a value multiplier of $5.00 per square foot, the total value of 

required improvements is $9,467.50.  Pursuant to the Sustainable Bonus Incentive Program 

Application Sec. C, below is a Description and Valuation of the Proposed Improvements. 

 

This application proposes to provide $9,467.50 in on-site features and improvements through 

landscaping that goes above and beyond the minimum required by code.  The proposed 

improvements will enhance the existing street scape and enhance the green space of the 

development by providing additional landscaping.  The table below provides a description and 

valuation of the landscaping provided toward the required improvements (please see attached 

sheets for planting schedule). 

 

Total Value of Required Improvements $9,467.50 

Proposed landscaping above and beyond the 

minimum required by code (see attached 

valuation sheet and landscape plan prepared 

by STUDIOSprout-Landscape Architects)  

 

Total Value of Proposed Improvements $ 9,586.00 

 

MILLER 

LAND  

PLANNING, INC. 

508 E. Boynton Beach Boulevard 

Boynton Beach, FL  33435 

 

Phone ■  (561)736.8838 

Fax ■  (561)736.8079 

 



PLANNING & PRESERVATION DIVISION

DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY

CITY OF LAKE WORTH

1900 2
ND

 AVENUE NORTH

LAKE WORTH, FL 33461 

561.586.1687 

Planning, Zoning & Historic Preservation Division | Department for Community Sustainability 

City of Lake Worth | 1900 2
nd

Avenue North | Lake Worth, FL 33461 
 

Three (3) hard copies and one (1) electronic copy of the following materials are required in order for a 

Sustainable Bonus Incentive Program Application to be deemed complete and sufficient to present to 

the decision making board.   

All development proposals seeking increased height above two (2) stories, or additional FAR, as each 

may be allowed in a zoning district, shall submit this Sustainable Bonus Incentive Program Application.  

The application shall accompany the standard City of Lake Worth Universal Development Application for 

the development proposal. 

The Sustainable Bonus Incentive calculations are based on the gross square footage of the bonus height 

or intensity requested. The additional gross square footage amount is multiplied by $5/square foot 

(“Value Multiplier”) in order to determine the value of the additional improvements to be provided for 

the project. 

A. Please indicate whether the development proposal includes bonus height or bonus intensity: 

  Bonus Height 

No. of Additional Stories:      (“Bonus Height”) 

Additional Gross Floor Area: (“Bonus Area”)

  Bonus Intensity  

Additional Floor Area Ratio:      (“Bonus Intensity”) 

Additional Gross Floor Area:       (“Bonus Area”) 

B. Multiply the Bonus Area by the Value Multiplier to determine the value of required improvements. 

    SF x $5/SF of Bonus Area= $      

(Bonus Area)             (Value of Required Improvements) 

TOTAL VALUE OF REQUIRED IMRPROVEMENTS: $        

C. Indicate the type and value of the community benefit proposed to qualify for the Bonus Area: 

 On-Site Features and Improvements; Value: $     *   

 Off-Site Improvements; Value: $     * 

 Fee-In Lieu; Amount: $     

* PROVIDE A SEPARATE SHEET WITH A DETAILED DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENT 

AND THE VALUATION OF THE SAME. 

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY 

PZ Project No.  

Associated Project Nos.  

Submittal Date  Sufficiency Date  

Project Planner Assigned

SUSTAINABLE BONUS INCENTIVE PROGRAM APPLICATION 

AutoCADGuy
Typewritten Text
x

AutoCADGuy
Typewritten Text
0.28

AutoCADGuy
Typewritten Text
1,893.5 SF

AutoCADGuy
Typewritten Text
1,893.5

AutoCADGuy
Typewritten Text
9,467.50

AutoCADGuy
Typewritten Text
9,467.50

AutoCADGuy
Typewritten Text
x

AutoCADGuy
Typewritten Text
$ 9,586.00



TREES Botanical/Common Size Spacing Quantity Unit Cost Total Cost above min. code Explanation
AA3 Archontophoenix alexandrae / Alexandra Palm 12` O.A TRIPLE AS SHOWN 4 500 2000 2000
AA1 Archontophoenix alexandrae / Alexandra Palm 14` MATCHED AS SHOWN 8 300 2400 2400
IC Ilex cassine / Dahoon Holly 12‐14`x6` 2 350 700 700
PD Phoenix roebelenii `Double` / Pygmy Date Palm 3‐4` O.A 2 150 300 300

QV Quercus virginiana / Southern Live Oak 14‐16`x6` AS SHOWN 3 450 1350 750
1 extra tree @450, additional size cost 
150 per tree =300

SS Sabal palmetto Sabal Palm / Sabal Palm Booted 16` Matched 3 170 510 510
SHRUBS Botanical/Common Size Spacing Quantity Unit Cost Total
AC Allamanda cathartica / Golden Trumpet #7 24" o.c. 2 40 80 80
CS Clusia guttifera / Small‐Leaf Clusia #10 48" o.c. 5 70 350 350
DS Dracaena reflexa Song of Jamaica / Pleomele 15 gal FULL 36" o.c. 4 90 360 360
HF Hamelia patens / Fire Bush #7 42" o.c. 6 30 180 180
JI Jatropha integerrima / Peregrina #15 MULTISTEM 72" o.c. 2 90 180 180
TC Trachelospermum jasminoides `Confederate` / Confederate Jasmine Vine #15 2 100 200 200
SHRUB AREAS Botanical/Common Cont Spacing Quantity Unit Cost Total

CHI Chrysobalanus icaco / Cocoplum #3 30" o.c. 20 8 160 all 20 shrubs required for minimum code
IVS Ilex vomitoria `Stokes Dwarf` / Dwarf Yaupon #3 24" o.c. 24 10 240 240
MIS Microsorum scolopendrum / Wart Fern 1 gal 18" o.c. 108 5 540 540
MS Myrcianthes fragrans `Simpson`s Stopper` / Simpson`s Stopper #3 18" o.c. 21 9 189 189
NE Nephrolepis exaltata / Boston Fern #1 18" o.c. 112 4 448 448
SD Schefflera arboricola / Green Schefflera #3 24" o.c. 10 8 80 80

SV Schefflera arboricola `Variegata` / Variegated Schefflera #3 24" o.c. 37 8 296 56
30 shrubs required for minimum code ‐ 7 
extra

10,563 9563

CODE MINUMUM REQUIREMENTS
3 trees required 12‐14', 1 existing 20' + 2 @300 600
50 shrubs @ 8 400
TOTAL 1,000

AutoCADGuy
Rectangle

AutoCADGuy
Rectangle

AutoCADGuy
Rectangle



S
0
0
°
0
0
'
0
0
"
E

 
 
 
5
0
.
0
0
'

N90°00'00"E   135.00'

N
0
0
°
0
0
'
0
0
"
E

 
5
0
.
0
0
'

N90°00'00"W   135.00'

(
2
0
'
 
P

A
V

E
D

)

(
4
0
'
 
R

/
W

)

(39.9' PAVED)

2
0
.
0
0
'

20.00'

20.00'

10'

ALLEY

R/W

(PLAT)

2
0
.
0
0
'

(
7
'
 
S

H
E

L
L
R

O
C

K
)

S
0
0
°
0
0
'
0
0
"
E

 
 
(
B

.
R

.
)

S
O

U
T

H
 
F

E
D

E
R

A
L
 
H

I
G

H
W

A
Y

(
"
N

"
 
S

T
.
"
 
-
 
P

L
A

T
)

(40' R/W)

3RD AVENUE SOUTH

("9TH AVE." - PLAT)

FILE DESIGNATION

DRAWING TITLE

REVISIONS

DATE

JOB NUMBER

DRAWING NUMBER

DRAWN BY

FL. LIC. #AA 26000531

& Associates, Inc.

1808 Pierce Drive 

Lake Worth, Florida 33460

(561) 540-5240 voice

(954) 309-9776 cell

(561) 585-0534 fax

rfa_arch@bellsouth.net email

RFA Architect

Ryan A. Forney
AR 0017384

July, 2016

B
ER

M
U

D
A

 C
A

Y
3R

D
 A

V
E 

SO
U

TH
 &

 S
O

U
TH

 F
ED

ER
A

L 
H

IG
H

W
A

Y
,

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
LA

K
E 

W
O

R
TH

, F
LO

R
ID

A

1 Rendering, Inc.

SITE PLAN / LEVEL 1

A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CURB LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIVING/DINING

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIVING/DINING

AutoCAD SHX Text
KITCHEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
KITCHEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT C / 2,074 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIVING/DINING

AutoCAD SHX Text
KITCHEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT A / 2,074 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGHT TRIANGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MECHANICAL  EQUIPMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIMITS OF 2ND FLOOR (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAINTENANCE / EMERGENCY ACCESS GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLUMN (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRIVACY WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CURB LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTILITY HAND HOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT B / 2,133 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEV. +/- 0'-0" CROWN OF ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEV. +1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEV. +1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEV. +1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIS DOCUMENT IS THE PROPERTY OF RYAN FORNEY ARCHITECT & ASSOCIATES, INC.  ALL RIGHTS ARE RESERVED AND REPRODUCTION OR OTHER USE OF THIS DOCUMENT WITHOUT THE WRITTEN PERMISSION OF RYAN FORNEY ARCHITECT &  ASSOCIATES, INC. IS PROHIBITED.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:  1/8" = 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE PLAN / LEVEL 1



FILE DESIGNATION

DRAWING TITLE

REVISIONS

DATE

JOB NUMBER

DRAWING NUMBER

DRAWN BY

FL. LIC. #AA 26000531

& Associates, Inc.

1808 Pierce Drive 

Lake Worth, Florida 33460

(561) 540-5240 voice

(954) 309-9776 cell

(561) 585-0534 fax

rfa_arch@bellsouth.net email

RFA Architect

Ryan A. Forney
AR 0017384

July, 2016

B
ER

M
U

D
A

 C
A

Y
3R

D
 A

V
E 

SO
U

TH
 &

 S
O

U
TH

 F
ED

ER
A

L 
H

IG
H

W
A

Y
,

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
LA

K
E 

W
O

R
TH

, F
LO

R
ID

A

1 Rendering, Inc.

LEVELS
SECOND & ROOF

A-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEDROOM 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEDROOM 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MASTER BEDROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEDROOM 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEDROOM 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MASTER BEDROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
HER

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
HER

AutoCAD SHX Text
AC

AutoCAD SHX Text
AC

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT B

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT C

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEDROOM 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MASTER BEDROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
HER

AutoCAD SHX Text
AC

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT A

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEDROOM 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-0" MIN. OVERHANG

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 : 12

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 : 12

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 : 12

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 : 12

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 : 12

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 : 12

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 : 12

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 : 12

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 : 12

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 : 12

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIS DOCUMENT IS THE PROPERTY OF RYAN FORNEY ARCHITECT & ASSOCIATES, INC.  ALL RIGHTS ARE RESERVED AND REPRODUCTION OR OTHER USE OF THIS DOCUMENT WITHOUT THE WRITTEN PERMISSION OF RYAN FORNEY ARCHITECT &  ASSOCIATES, INC. IS PROHIBITED.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:  1/8" = 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECOND LEVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:  1/8" = 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROOF LEVEL





FILE DESIGNATION

DRAWING TITLE

REVISIONS

DATE

JOB NUMBER

DRAWING NUMBER

DRAWN BY

FL. LIC. #AA 26000531

& Associates, Inc.

1808 Pierce Drive 

Lake Worth, Florida 33460

(561) 540-5240 voice

(954) 309-9776 cell

(561) 585-0534 fax

rfa_arch@bellsouth.net email

RFA Architect

Ryan A. Forney
AR 0017384

July, 2016

B
ER

M
U

D
A

 C
A

Y
3R

D
 A

V
E 

SO
U

TH
 &

 S
O

U
TH

 F
ED

ER
A

L 
H

IG
H

W
A

Y
,

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
LA

K
E 

W
O

R
TH

, F
LO

R
ID

A

1 Rendering, Inc.

ELEVATIONS

A-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEV. +/- 0'-0" CROWN OF ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEV. +1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARRIAGE GARAGE DOOR, PAINTED SW CIDER MILL SEMI-TRANSPARENT STAIN COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMOOTH STUCCO, PAINTED SW REPOSE COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD DOOR EXTERIOR REVEAL, PAINTED CIDER MILL COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARDIE BOARD LOOK STUCCO, HORIZONTAL BAND, PAINTED SW BANANA CREAM COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARDIE BOARD LOOK STUCCO, HORIZONTAL BAND, PAINTED SW BANANA CREAM COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMOOTH STUCCO BAND, PAINTED SW OYSTER WHITE COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE TILE ROOF, PEWTER COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
RECESSED STUCCO REVEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAHAMAS SHUTTERS, PAINTED SW ROYCROFT PEWTER COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLASS/ALUMINUM WINDOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEV. +/- 0'-0" CROWN OF ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEV. +1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLASS/ALUMINUM WINDOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAHAMAS SHUTTERS, PAINTED SW ROYCROFT PEWTER COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLASS/ALUMINUM SLIDING DOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD DOOR EXT. REVEAL, PAINTED CIDER MILL COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEV. +/- 0'-0" CROWN OF ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEV. +1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMOOTH STUCCO PAINTED SW REPOSE GRAY COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD DOOR EXTERIOR REVEAL, PAINTED SW CIDER MILL COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMOOTH STUCCO PAINTED SW OYSTER WHITE COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARDIE BOARD LOOK STUCCO, HORIZONTAL BAND, PAINTED SW BANANA CREAM COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMOOTH STUCCO PAINTED, SW OYSTER WHITE COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEXTURED STUCCO BAND, PAINTED SW REPOSE GRAY COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE TILE ROOF, PEWTER COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
RECESSED STUCCO REVEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE TILE ROOF, PEWTER COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLASS/ALUMINUM WINDOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMOOTH STUCCO,  SW OYSTER WHITE COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEV. +/- 0'-0" CROWN OF ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEV. +1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMOOTH STUCCO, PAINTED SW REPOSE COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARDIE BOARD LOOK STUCCO, HORIZONTAL BAND, PAINTED SW BANANA CREAM COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMOOTH STUCCO BAND, PAINTED SW OYSTER WHITE COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE TILE ROOF, PEWTER COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIS DOCUMENT IS THE PROPERTY OF RYAN FORNEY ARCHITECT & ASSOCIATES, INC.  ALL RIGHTS ARE RESERVED AND REPRODUCTION OR OTHER USE OF THIS DOCUMENT WITHOUT THE WRITTEN PERMISSION OF RYAN FORNEY ARCHITECT &  ASSOCIATES, INC. IS PROHIBITED.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:  1/8" = 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:  1/8" = 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:  1/8" = 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:  1/8" = 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST ELEVATION





NOTE:

INDICATED UTILITIES ARE APPROXIMATE.

CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFICATION

OF ALL UTILITIES ON SITE PRIOR TO

COMMENCEMENT OF ANY WORK.

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT ASSUMES NO LIABILITY

FOR UTILITY DAMAGE.

prout



3

SS

6

HF

5

SD

1

AC

AC

1

SD

5

IVS

6

DS

2

6

IVS

AA3

1

1

PD

12

SV

MIS

26

AA3

1

DS

1

SV

9

MIS

21

MIS

21

CS

2

CS

2

IVS

6

1

AA3
MIS

21

PD

1

SV

16

MS

21

1

QV

6

IVS

CHI

3

1

TC

TC

1

NE

112

2

AA1

AA1

2

17

CHI

MIS

19

DS

1

IC

1

1

IC

QV

1

1

QV

TREES BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME SIZE SPACING QTY

AA3 Archontophoenix alexandrae / Alexandra Palm 12` O.A TRIPLE AS SHOWN 3

AA1 Archontophoenix alexandrae / Alexandra Palm 14` MATCHED AS SHOWN 4

IC Ilex cassine / Dahoon Holly 12-14`x6` 2

PD Phoenix roebelenii `Double` / Pygmy Date Palm 3-4` O.A 2

QV Quercus virginiana / Southern Live Oak 14-16`x6` AS SHOWN 3

SS Sabal palmetto Sabal Palm / Sabal Palm Booted 16` Matched 3

SHRUBS BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME SIZE SPACING QTY

AC Allamanda cathartica / Golden Trumpet #7 24" o.c. 2

CS Clusia guttifera / Small-Leaf Clusia #10 48" o.c. 5

DS Dracaena reflexa Song of Jamaica / Pleomele 15 gal FULL 36" o.c. 4

HF Hamelia patens / Fire Bush #7 42" o.c. 6

TC Trachelospermum jasminoides `Confederate` / Confederate Jasmine Vine #15 24" o.c. 2

SHRUB AREAS BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME CONT SPACING QTY

CHI Chrysobalanus icaco / Cocoplum #3 30" o.c. 20

IVS Ilex vomitoria `Stokes Dwarf` / Dwarf Yaupon #3 24" o.c. 24

MIS Microsorum scolopendrum / Wart Fern 1 gal 18" o.c. 108

MS Myrcianthes fragrans `Simpson`s Stopper` / Simpson`s Stopper #3 18" o.c. 21

NE Nephrolepis exaltata / Boston Fern #1 18" o.c. 112

SD Schefflera arboricola / Green Schefflera #3 24" o.c. 10

SV Schefflera arboricola `Variegata` / Variegated Schefflera #3 24" o.c. 37

GROUND COVERS BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME CONT SPACING QTY

STE Stenotaphrum secundatum `Floritam` / Floritam St. Augustine Sod 3 gal 576 sf

NOTE:

INDICATED UTILITIES ARE APPROXIMATE.

CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFICATION

OF ALL UTILITIES ON SITE PRIOR TO

COMMENCEMENT OF ANY WORK.

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT ASSUMES NO LIABILITY

FOR UTILITY DAMAGE.

prout



STAKING:

Landscape Contractor to suggest alternate means of staking for approval with Landscape

Architect if staking methods shown are not feasible due to site conditions.

FERTILIZER:

Manufacturer's Specification:  Submit manufacturer's specification sheet(s) for approval of

product.  Submit tags from bags of fertilizer used on site to the Architect.  Submit copies of

the manufacturer's specifications or analysis of all fertilizer for approval.

Composition and Quality:  All fertilizer shall be uniform in composition and dry.  Granular

fertilizer shall be free flowing and delivered in unopened bags. Tablet fertilizer shall be

delivered in unopened containers or boxes.  All bags, containers or boxes shall be fully

labeled with the manufacturer's analysis.

Fertilizer shall be slow release with ratio greater than 3 to 1 nitrogen to phosphorous

applied on top of backfill, per manufacturer's recommendations.

All shall comply with the State of Florida fertilizer laws.

CLEANUP:

Landscape Contractor shall at all times keep job site clean and free from accumulation of

waste material, debris and rubbish.

INSPECTION:

Upon written request from the Contractor, Owner and/or Landscape Architect shall perform

inspection to determine completion of Contract.

ACCEPTANCE:

Following inspection, Contractor will be notified, in writing, by Owner and/or Landscape

Architect of acceptance of completion with regards to plant material and workmanship

according to Contract.

JOB CONDITIONS:

Any building construction material or foreign material shall be removed from planting areas

and replaced with acceptable top soil.

Care shall be taken not to disturb or damage any underground construction or utilities. Any

damage to these facilities during the planting operations will be repaired at the expense of

the Landscape Contractor in a manner approved by the Owner. Where underground

obstructions will not permit the planting materials in accordance with the plans, new

locations shall be approved by the Landscape Architect.

Landscape work shall be coordinated with the landscape irrigation work. Landscape

Contractor shall ensure that no plantings will interfere with the proper coverage. Landscape

Contractor shall point out situations where minor adjustments or relocation or addition of

sprinklers heads may be most beneficial for the landscape work as a whole.

PLANT MATERIAL:

Plant species and size shall conform to those indicated on the drawings. Nomenclature

shall conform to STANDARDIZED PLANT NAMES, LATEST EDITION. All plant material

shall be in accordance with GRADES AND STANDARDS FOR NURSERY PLANTS, latest

edition published by the Florida Department Agriculture and Consumer Services. All plants

not otherwise specified as Florida Fancy, or Specimen, shall be Florida Grade Number 1 or

better as determined by the Florida Grade Plant Industry. Specimen means an

exceptionally heavy, symmetrical, tightly-knit plant, so trained or favored in its development

that its appearance is unquestionable and outstandingly superior in form, number of

branches, compactness and symmetry. All plants shall be sound, healthy, vigorous, well

branched and free of disease and insect eggs and larvae and shall have adequate root

systems. Trees and shrubs for planting rows shall be uniform in size and shape. All

materials shall be subject to approval by the Landscape Architect. Where any requirements

are omitted from the Plant List, the plants furnished shall be normal for the variety.

All container grown material shall be healthy, vigorous, well-rooted plants and established

in the container. The plants shall have tops which are good quality and are in a healthy

growing condition. An established container grown plant shall be transplanted into a

container and grown in that container long enough for the new fibrous roots to have

developed enough to hold the root mass together when removed from the container. Root

bound plants will not be accepted.

Site water shall be verified by Contractor prior to submission of bids.

The use of natural material is strongly encouraged for balled and burlapped plants. All

synthetic material shall be completely removed from root ball PRIOR to planting.

At time of bid, Contractor shall submit a written schedule of all sources for coconut palms

as well as seed sources for coconuts.  Coconuts shall be certified Malayan Green with a

certified seed source from Jamaica.

TREES:

The most critical factor for selecting a healthy Florida Number 1 tree is the structure. This

consists of one central main trunk and leader. Branches are considered competing if they

are 2/3 the diameter of the leader or greater. Competing branches may be acceptable if

they occur above 50% of the overall height of the tree. Caliper of tree should meet

specifications. Leader (center trunk) may have slight (<15 degree) bow (Tabebuia caraiba

excluded), but must be intact with apical (leading) bud.

Branches should be spread evenly (staggered, alternating) through the tree branches

spaced no closer than 4".

Canopy should be full to specifications with little or no openings or holes. A thinning canopy

will be taken into consideration with field dug plant material.

Trees should have no open wounds or damage, flush cuts, chlorosis, shorter or taller than

specified height, girdling roots, undersize loose root ball, crossing branches, smaller than

normal leaves.

10% of root ball shall be above grade after planting. Root ball tying ropes removed from

trunk and top of root ball.

MULTIPLE TRUNK TREES:

Trees having no distinct leader. Trunks on these trees should not be touching and free of

damage and similar in size. Canopy should be full and uniform.

RELOCATED TREES:

These trees may not conform to grades and standards, yet do have quality criteria which

effect the health, longevity and safety of the tree (and person which may contact tree). This

is NOT meant to be a guideline for transplanting trees, but rather the criteria by which

relocated trees will meet Town, County, State or governing agency guidelines. Trees which

require excessive pruning should NOT be used. Damaged or dead relocated trees will be

replaced with appropriate number of caliper inches and species equal to relocated or dead

tree, as approved by the Landscape Architect.

No more than 20% of the foliage should be removed for any reason (excluding Sabal

Palms). Trees should be corrected for any structural defects, touching branches, dead or

rotting wood, V-shaped branching or branching which may effect human safety issues post

relocation. Topping a relocated tree is not acceptable.

Damage to the trunk/branches will not exceed 10% of the trunk diameter and 2" in height.

Any major limb or canopy pruning will be qualified and performed by a Certified Arborist.

IRRIGATION

Provide bubblers on separate zones for all newly planted and transplanted trees unless

alternate approach to provide additional water is  approved by owner and Landscape

Architect.

MATERIALS LIST:

Landscape Contractor shall be responsible for verifying all quantities for material shown on

drawings prior to submitting a bid. Planting plan shall take precedence over the plant list.

Final quantity of sod and mulch shall be verified.

SUBSTITUTIONS:

No substitutions shall be made without the approval from the Landscape Architect and/or

the Owner. Intended substitutions shall be indicated on the bid.

MEASUREMENTS:

Canopy Trees- Height shall be measured from the ground to the average height of canopy.

Spread shall be measured to the end of branching equally around the crown from the

center of the trunk.  Caliper (d.b.h.) will be measured 4'-6" above grade.

Shrubs- Height shall be measured from the ground. Spread shall be measured to the end

of branching equally around the shrub mass.

Palms- Clear trunk (C.T.) shall be measured from the ground to the point where the mature

aged trunk joins the immature or green part of the trunk or head.

Overall height (O.A.) shall be measured from the ground to the tip of the unopened bud.

IRRIGATION:

100% irrigation coverage shall be provided. Provide bubblers on separate zones for all

newly planted and transplanted trees unless alternate approach to provide additional water

is approved by Owner and Landscape Architect.

GUARANTEE:

All new plant materials shall be guaranteed for one year from the time of acceptance and

shall be alive and in satisfactory growth for each specific kind of plant at the end of the

guarantee period. The Landscape Contractor shall not be responsible for damage caused

by vandalism, violent wind storms or other acts of God beyond control. Replacement shall

occur within two weeks of rejection and guaranteed six months from date of installation.

Landscape Contractor shall repair damage to other plants or lawns during plant

replacements at no additional cost.

MULCH:

Mulch shall not contain sticks 1/4" in diameter or stones.  Apply 3" of mulch except on top

of tree rootballs and against woody shrubs. Rootballs will receive less than 1" mulch with

no mulch touching trunk or root collar. Do not apply mulch against the trunks of woody

shrubs.

SOD:

All sod shall be installed in such a manner that there is an even surface, staggered pattern.

Sod will be green in color and in good health. NO overlap, gaps, damage, insects, disease

and less than 10% chlorosis will be permitted. All gaps will be filled with clean native soil.

NOTE:

INDICATED UTILITIES ARE APPROXIMATE.

CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFICATION

OF ALL UTILITIES ON SITE PRIOR TO

COMMENCEMENT OF ANY WORK.

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT ASSUMES NO LIABILITY

FOR UTILITY DAMAGE.

prout



TREES BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME SIZE SPACING QTY UNIT COST TOTAL

AA3 Archontophoenix alexandrae / Alexandra Palm 12` O.A TRIPLE AS SHOWN 3 $500 $1,500

AA1 Archontophoenix alexandrae / Alexandra Palm 14` MATCHED AS SHOWN 4 $300 $1,200

IC Ilex cassine / Dahoon Holly 12-14`x6` 2 $350 $700

PD Phoenix roebelenii `Double` / Pygmy Date Palm 3-4` O.A 2 $150 $300

QV Quercus virginiana / Southern Live Oak 14-16`x6` AS SHOWN 3 $450 $1,350

SS Sabal palmetto Sabal Palm / Sabal Palm Booted 16` Matched 3 $150 $450

SHRUBS BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME SIZE SPACING QTY UNIT COST TOTAL

AC Allamanda cathartica / Golden Trumpet #7 24" o.c. 2 $40 $80

CS Clusia guttifera / Small-Leaf Clusia #10 48" o.c. 5 $150 $750

DS Dracaena reflexa Song of Jamaica / Pleomele 15 gal FULL 36" o.c. 4 $90 $360

HF Hamelia patens / Fire Bush #7 42" o.c. 6 $30 $180

TC Trachelospermum jasminoides `Confederate` / Confederate Jasmine Vine #15 24" o.c. 2 $150 $300

SHRUB AREAS BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME CONT SPACING QTY UNIT COST TOTAL

CHI Chrysobalanus icaco / Cocoplum #3 30" o.c. 20 $8 $160

IVS Ilex vomitoria `Stokes Dwarf` / Dwarf Yaupon #3 24" o.c. 24 $8 $192

MIS Microsorum scolopendrum / Wart Fern 1 gal 18" o.c. 108 $5 $540

MS Myrcianthes fragrans `Simpson`s Stopper` / Simpson`s Stopper #3 18" o.c. 21 $9 $189

NE Nephrolepis exaltata / Boston Fern #1 18" o.c. 112 $4 $448

SD Schefflera arboricola / Green Schefflera #3 24" o.c. 10 $30 $300

SV Schefflera arboricola `Variegata` / Variegated Schefflera #3 24" o.c. 37 $8 $296

GROUND COVERS BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME CONT SPACING QTY UNIT COST TOTAL

STE Stenotaphrum secundatum `Floritam` / Floritam St. Augustine Sod 3 gal 576 sf $0.50 $288.03

TOTAL: $9,583

PLANT SCHEDULE



3

SS

6

HF

5

SD

1

AC

AC

1

SD

5

IVS

6

DS

2

6

IVS

AA3

1

1

PD

12

SV

MIS

26

AA3

1

DS

1

SV

9

MIS

21

MIS

21

CS

2

CS

2

IVS

6

1

AA3
MIS

21

PD

1

SV

16

MS

21

1

QV

6

IVS

CHI

3

1

TC

TC

1

NE

112

17

CHI

MIS

19

DS

1

IC

1

1

IC

QV

1

1

QV

JI

1

JI

1

AA3

1

4

AA1

AA1

4

TREES BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME SIZE SPACING QTY

AA3 Archontophoenix alexandrae / Alexandra Palm 12` O.A TRIPLE AS SHOWN 4

AA1 Archontophoenix alexandrae / Alexandra Palm 14` MATCHED AS SHOWN 8

IC Ilex cassine / Dahoon Holly 12-14`x6` 2

PD Phoenix roebelenii `Double` / Pygmy Date Palm 3-4` O.A 2

QV Quercus virginiana / Southern Live Oak 14-16`x6` AS SHOWN 3

SS Sabal palmetto Sabal Palm / Sabal Palm Booted 16` Matched 3

SHRUBS BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME SIZE SPACING QTY

AC Allamanda cathartica / Golden Trumpet #7 24" o.c. 2

CS Clusia guttifera / Small-Leaf Clusia #10 48" o.c. 5

DS Dracaena reflexa Song of Jamaica / Pleomele 15 gal FULL 36" o.c. 4

HF Hamelia patens / Fire Bush #7 42" o.c. 6

JI Jatropha integerrima / Peregrina #15 MULTISTEM 72" o.c. 2

TC Trachelospermum jasminoides `Confederate` / Confederate Jasmine Vine #15 24" o.c. 2

SHRUB AREAS BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME CONT SPACING QTY

CHI Chrysobalanus icaco / Cocoplum #3 30" o.c. 20

IVS Ilex vomitoria `Stokes Dwarf` / Dwarf Yaupon #3 24" o.c. 24

MIS Microsorum scolopendrum / Wart Fern 1 gal 18" o.c. 108

MS Myrcianthes fragrans `Simpson`s Stopper` / Simpson`s Stopper #3 18" o.c. 21

NE Nephrolepis exaltata / Boston Fern #1 18" o.c. 112

SD Schefflera arboricola / Green Schefflera #3 24" o.c. 10

SV Schefflera arboricola `Variegata` / Variegated Schefflera #3 24" o.c. 37

GROUND COVERS BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME CONT SPACING QTY

STE Stenotaphrum secundatum `Floritam` / Floritam St. Augustine Sod sod 576 sf

NOTE:

INDICATED UTILITIES ARE APPROXIMATE.

CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFICATION

OF ALL UTILITIES ON SITE PRIOR TO

COMMENCEMENT OF ANY WORK.

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT ASSUMES NO LIABILITY

FOR UTILITY DAMAGE.

prout



STAKING:

Landscape Contractor to suggest alternate means of staking for approval with Landscape

Architect if staking methods shown are not feasible due to site conditions.

FERTILIZER:

Manufacturer's Specification:  Submit manufacturer's specification sheet(s) for approval of

product.  Submit tags from bags of fertilizer used on site to the Architect.  Submit copies of

the manufacturer's specifications or analysis of all fertilizer for approval.

Composition and Quality:  All fertilizer shall be uniform in composition and dry.  Granular

fertilizer shall be free flowing and delivered in unopened bags. Tablet fertilizer shall be

delivered in unopened containers or boxes.  All bags, containers or boxes shall be fully

labeled with the manufacturer's analysis.

Fertilizer shall be slow release with ratio greater than 3 to 1 nitrogen to phosphorous

applied on top of backfill, per manufacturer's recommendations.

All shall comply with the State of Florida fertilizer laws.

CLEANUP:

Landscape Contractor shall at all times keep job site clean and free from accumulation of

waste material, debris and rubbish.

INSPECTION:

Upon written request from the Contractor, Owner and/or Landscape Architect shall perform

inspection to determine completion of Contract.

ACCEPTANCE:

Following inspection, Contractor will be notified, in writing, by Owner and/or Landscape

Architect of acceptance of completion with regards to plant material and workmanship

according to Contract.

JOB CONDITIONS:

Any building construction material or foreign material shall be removed from planting areas

and replaced with acceptable top soil.

Care shall be taken not to disturb or damage any underground construction or utilities. Any

damage to these facilities during the planting operations will be repaired at the expense of

the Landscape Contractor in a manner approved by the Owner. Where underground

obstructions will not permit the planting materials in accordance with the plans, new

locations shall be approved by the Landscape Architect.

Landscape work shall be coordinated with the landscape irrigation work. Landscape

Contractor shall ensure that no plantings will interfere with the proper coverage. Landscape

Contractor shall point out situations where minor adjustments or relocation or addition of

sprinklers heads may be most beneficial for the landscape work as a whole.

PLANT MATERIAL:

Plant species and size shall conform to those indicated on the drawings. Nomenclature

shall conform to STANDARDIZED PLANT NAMES, LATEST EDITION. All plant material

shall be in accordance with GRADES AND STANDARDS FOR NURSERY PLANTS, latest

edition published by the Florida Department Agriculture and Consumer Services. All plants

not otherwise specified as Florida Fancy, or Specimen, shall be Florida Grade Number 1 or

better as determined by the Florida Grade Plant Industry. Specimen means an

exceptionally heavy, symmetrical, tightly-knit plant, so trained or favored in its development

that its appearance is unquestionable and outstandingly superior in form, number of

branches, compactness and symmetry. All plants shall be sound, healthy, vigorous, well

branched and free of disease and insect eggs and larvae and shall have adequate root

systems. Trees and shrubs for planting rows shall be uniform in size and shape. All

materials shall be subject to approval by the Landscape Architect. Where any requirements

are omitted from the Plant List, the plants furnished shall be normal for the variety.

All container grown material shall be healthy, vigorous, well-rooted plants and established

in the container. The plants shall have tops which are good quality and are in a healthy

growing condition. An established container grown plant shall be transplanted into a

container and grown in that container long enough for the new fibrous roots to have

developed enough to hold the root mass together when removed from the container. Root

bound plants will not be accepted.

Site water shall be verified by Contractor prior to submission of bids.

The use of natural material is strongly encouraged for balled and burlapped plants. All

synthetic material shall be completely removed from root ball PRIOR to planting.

At time of bid, Contractor shall submit a written schedule of all sources for coconut palms

as well as seed sources for coconuts.  Coconuts shall be certified Malayan Green with a

certified seed source from Jamaica.

TREES:

The most critical factor for selecting a healthy Florida Number 1 tree is the structure. This

consists of one central main trunk and leader. Branches are considered competing if they

are 2/3 the diameter of the leader or greater. Competing branches may be acceptable if

they occur above 50% of the overall height of the tree. Caliper of tree should meet

specifications. Leader (center trunk) may have slight (<15 degree) bow (Tabebuia caraiba

excluded), but must be intact with apical (leading) bud.

Branches should be spread evenly (staggered, alternating) through the tree branches

spaced no closer than 4".

Canopy should be full to specifications with little or no openings or holes. A thinning canopy

will be taken into consideration with field dug plant material.

Trees should have no open wounds or damage, flush cuts, chlorosis, shorter or taller than

specified height, girdling roots, undersize loose root ball, crossing branches, smaller than

normal leaves.

10% of root ball shall be above grade after planting. Root ball tying ropes removed from

trunk and top of root ball.

MULTIPLE TRUNK TREES:

Trees having no distinct leader. Trunks on these trees should not be touching and free of

damage and similar in size. Canopy should be full and uniform.

RELOCATED TREES:

These trees may not conform to grades and standards, yet do have quality criteria which

effect the health, longevity and safety of the tree (and person which may contact tree). This

is NOT meant to be a guideline for transplanting trees, but rather the criteria by which

relocated trees will meet Town, County, State or governing agency guidelines. Trees which

require excessive pruning should NOT be used. Damaged or dead relocated trees will be

replaced with appropriate number of caliper inches and species equal to relocated or dead

tree, as approved by the Landscape Architect.

No more than 20% of the foliage should be removed for any reason (excluding Sabal

Palms). Trees should be corrected for any structural defects, touching branches, dead or

rotting wood, V-shaped branching or branching which may effect human safety issues post

relocation. Topping a relocated tree is not acceptable.

Damage to the trunk/branches will not exceed 10% of the trunk diameter and 2" in height.

Any major limb or canopy pruning will be qualified and performed by a Certified Arborist.

IRRIGATION

Provide bubblers on separate zones for all newly planted and transplanted trees unless

alternate approach to provide additional water is  approved by owner and Landscape

Architect.

MATERIALS LIST:

Landscape Contractor shall be responsible for verifying all quantities for material shown on

drawings prior to submitting a bid. Planting plan shall take precedence over the plant list.

Final quantity of sod and mulch shall be verified.

SUBSTITUTIONS:

No substitutions shall be made without the approval from the Landscape Architect and/or

the Owner. Intended substitutions shall be indicated on the bid.

MEASUREMENTS:

Canopy Trees- Height shall be measured from the ground to the average height of canopy.

Spread shall be measured to the end of branching equally around the crown from the

center of the trunk.  Caliper (d.b.h.) will be measured 4'-6" above grade.

Shrubs- Height shall be measured from the ground. Spread shall be measured to the end

of branching equally around the shrub mass.

Palms- Clear trunk (C.T.) shall be measured from the ground to the point where the mature

aged trunk joins the immature or green part of the trunk or head.

Overall height (O.A.) shall be measured from the ground to the tip of the unopened bud.

IRRIGATION:

100% irrigation coverage shall be provided. Provide bubblers on separate zones for all

newly planted and transplanted trees unless alternate approach to provide additional water

is approved by Owner and Landscape Architect.

GUARANTEE:

All new plant materials shall be guaranteed for one year from the time of acceptance and

shall be alive and in satisfactory growth for each specific kind of plant at the end of the

guarantee period. The Landscape Contractor shall not be responsible for damage caused

by vandalism, violent wind storms or other acts of God beyond control. Replacement shall

occur within two weeks of rejection and guaranteed six months from date of installation.

Landscape Contractor shall repair damage to other plants or lawns during plant

replacements at no additional cost.

MULCH:

Mulch shall not contain sticks 1/4" in diameter or stones.  Apply 3" of mulch except on top

of tree rootballs and against woody shrubs. Rootballs will receive less than 1" mulch with

no mulch touching trunk or root collar. Do not apply mulch against the trunks of woody

shrubs.

SOD:

All sod shall be installed in such a manner that there is an even surface, staggered pattern.

Sod will be green in color and in good health. NO overlap, gaps, damage, insects, disease

and less than 10% chlorosis will be permitted. All gaps will be filled with clean native soil.

NOTE:

INDICATED UTILITIES ARE APPROXIMATE.

CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFICATION

OF ALL UTILITIES ON SITE PRIOR TO

COMMENCEMENT OF ANY WORK.

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT ASSUMES NO LIABILITY

FOR UTILITY DAMAGE.

prout



















 

 

 
City Of Lake Worth 

Department for Community Sustainability 

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division 

1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687  
  

 

 
MEMORANDUM DATE:   September 7, 2016 
 
AGENDA DATE:  September 14, 2016 
 
TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
RE:   314 Columbia Drive 
 
FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
 Department for Community Sustainability 
 
TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100171: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for New 
Construction to allow a +/- 712 square foot accessory structure and a +/- 531 square foot addition to the main 
single-family structure located at 314 Columbia Drive; PCN# 38-43-44-15-06-001-0170.  The subject property was 
constructed c.1925 and is a contributing resource within the College Park Local Historic District. 
 

OWNER/APPLICANT:  Patrick and Danielle McCarroll 

                          314 Columbia Drive 

                          Lake Worth, FL 33460 

 

  

BACKGROUND:  

The property at 314 Columbia Drive has a two-story Mission/Mediterranean Revival style single-family residence 
constructed c.1925.  The property has frontage on Columbia Drive to the South. Character defining features of the 
building include the carport with decorative buttresses, 4/4 and 6/6 windows, recessed entryway, flat roof with 
parapet, decorative tile scuppers, and frame construction with textured stucco. 

 

Based on the information in the City’s property file, the structure has undergone some changes over time including 
enclosing the screen and glass front porch, window and door replacement with compatible materials, stucco 
repairs, and flat roof placement.  Overall, the building retains a high degree of historic integrity of location, setting, 
materials, and design.  The property originally had a 1-story frame and stucco detached garage in the rear of the 
property, however due to deterioration and unsafe conditions, the HRPB approved the demolition of this structure 
in 2012. 

 

REQUEST:  

The Applicant has submitted plans for new construction of a +/- 712 square foot one-story accessory structure and 
a +/- 531 square foot two-story addition on the east elevation of the existing single-family structure.  The Applicant 
has provided architectural plans for the building, including a site plan, floor plan, and elevations. 



HRPB PR No. 16-00100171 
314 Columbia Drive 

COA Application – New Construction and Addition 
Page 2 

 

 

2 

 

The addition is moderately sized for the existing structure, and will be visible from the front, south elevation.  The 
new addition will be concrete masonry construction with a stucco finish and will have a flat roof and aluminum 
windows and doors to match the existing house. 

 

The new construction accessory structure is also moderately sized for the lot, and will be partially visible from the 
front, south elevation.  The structure will also be concrete masonry construction with a stucco finish and will have 
a flat roof and aluminum windows and doors to match the existing house. 

 

The subject property is zoned Single-family Residential (SFR), and is subject to the development standards for this 
district in the City of Lake Worth Zoning Code and in the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  An addition to a single-family 
residence and new construction of an accessory structure is permitted, so long as it conforms to the required 
development criteria in §23.3-7 of the City of Lake Worth Zoning Code. The following table includes some of the 
basic specifications for the proposed construction: 

 

Dimension Required by Code Existing or Proposed 

Lot size 7,500 sq. feet for two family 6,905 sq. feet  

Lot width 75’-0” 50’-0” (existing non-conforming) 

Front (South) setback 20’-0” 18.59’  existing 

Side setback 10% of lot width = 5’-0” East = 3.12’ existing, 4.45’ proposed;   
West = 11.85’ existing and proposed 
main structure, 5.0’ proposed to 
accessory structure  

Rear (North) setback 5’-0” for accessory structure 5’-0” proposed to accessory structure 

F.A.R.1 0.50 0.22 existing, 0.35 proposed 

Max. Building Coverage2 35% max. 14% existing, 34.3% proposed 

Impervious surface 55% max.  Appx. 49% proposed 

Accessory Structure 
Limitation 

40% max. of the main structure 
or 1000 sf, whichever is less 

38% (2,281 sq. ft. Main structure 
including addition and porches, 872 sq. 
ft. accessory structure including porch) 

 
ANALYSIS:   
Zoning Code Consistency  
Overall, the proposed new construction project is consistent with the development requirements in the City’s 
Zoning Code and would not require any variances from the Code. 

 

                                                           
1 Floor area ratio:  A regulatory technique which relates to total developable site area and the size (square feet) of 
development permitted on a specific site.  A numeric rating assigned to each land use category  
that determines the total gross square feet of all buildings as measured from each building’s exterior walls based upon the 
actual land area of the parcel upon which the buildings are to be located.  Total gross square feet calculated using the 
assigned floor area ratio shall not include such features as parking lots or the first three (3) levels of parking structures, aerial 
pedestrian crossovers, open or partially enclosed plazas, or exterior pedestrian and vehicular circulation areas. 
2 Building lot coverage: The area of a lot covered by the impervious surface associated with the footprint(s) of all buildings on 
a particular lot.  Structured parking garages are exempt from building lot coverage. 



HRPB PR No. 16-00100171 
314 Columbia Drive 

COA Application – New Construction and Addition 
Page 3 

 

 

3 

 

Historic Preservation 

Staff has reviewed the documentation and materials provided in this application.  New construction and an 
addition within a local historic district are subject to specific criteria for visual compatibility as set forth in Section 
23.5-4(k) of the City’s historic preservation regulations.  These criteria are provided in Attachment 1 and include 
Staff’s response to each criterion. The criteria deal with massing, scale, materials, and design compatibility with 
the surrounding historic district. 

 
It is the analysis of Staff that both projects are fundamentally compatible with the review criteria set forth in the 
historic preservation regulations. Although the addition being proposed is visible from the street, the compatible 
design and detailing helps to minimize any negative visual impact on the historic structure.  The addition is in scale 
with the massing and height of the existing structure.  Similarly, the design and detailing of the proposed new 
construction accessory structure is in scale with the massing and height of the existing structure.  Staff does have 
a few concerns over the schematic quality of the drawings, and has recommend conditions of approval to address 
these concerns.  
 
Public Comment 
At the time of publication of the agenda, Staff has received (1) public comment in support of this project, included 
as Attachment 4. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY: 

The project, as proposed, is consistent with the following Comprehensive Plan goals and objectives concerning 
future land use and housing: 

 

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where appropriate 
restrict development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2) 

 
Objective 3.2.5:   To encourage the identification of historically significant housing, and to promote its 
preservation and rehabilitation as referenced by the Surveys of Historic Properties conducted for the City 
of Lake Worth. 
 
Policy 3.2.5.1:  Properties of special value for historic, architectural, cultural or aesthetic reasons will be 
restored and preserved through the enforcement of the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance to the 
extent feasible. 
 
CONSEQUENT ACTION:   
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain to 
request additional information; or deny the application. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of the request for an addition to the existing single-family structure with the following 
conditions: 

1) Engineering drawings shall be required to show the roof and wall connection between the existing frame 
structure and the concrete block addition.  An expansion joint shall be used if needed between the existing 
structure and the proposed addition as needed in order to avoid damage to the existing building and 



HRPB PR No. 16-00100171 
314 Columbia Drive 

COA Application – New Construction and Addition 
Page 4 

 

 

4 

 

unnecessary cracking of the stucco.  The proposal may be revised from a concrete block construction to 
frame construction if necessary, subject to Staff review at permitting. 

2) The existing structure shall be properly protected during construction so as not to incur damage from the 
addition.   

3) All windows and doors shall be aluminum and shall not use reflective glass.  The windows and doors shall 
match the existing windows and doors on the structure.  The header height of the new windows and doors 
should match that of the existing windows and doors if possible, subject to staff review at permitting.  
Additional windows may be added if desired, subject to staff review and approval. 

4) A decorative column and beam detail shall be provided showing the trim pieces and profiles, subject to 
staff review at permitting. 

5) The rear porch may have a partial hip roof as shown on the drawings, or a shed roof with gable ends, 
subject to staff review at permitting. 

6) The stucco texture on the proposed addition shall match the stucco texture on the existing structure. 
 
 
Staff recommends approval of the request for a New Construction accessory structure with the following 
conditions: 

1) All windows and doors shall be aluminum and shall not use reflective glass.  The windows and doors shall 
match the existing windows and doors on the structure.  All muntins shall be created using exterior raised 
applied muntins.  No flat or internal muntins shall be permitted.  Additional windows may be added if 
desired, subject to staff review and approval. 

2) A decorative column and beam detail shall be provided showing the trim pieces and profiles, subject to 
staff review at permitting. 

3) The porch may have a partial hip roof as shown on the drawings, or a shed roof with gable ends, subject to 
staff review at permitting. 

4) The stucco texture on the proposed accessory structure shall match the stucco texture on the existing 
structure. 

5) All mechanical systems shall comply with the Land Development Regulations, subject to Staff review at 
permitting. 

6) The Applicant shall comply with all Residential landscaping requirements, per the Land Development 
Regulations, subject to Staff review and approval at permitting. 

 
POTENTIAL MOTION:   
 
I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 16-00100171: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for New 
Construction of an accessory structure and an Addition to the existing historic structure located at 314 Columbia 
Drive, with conditions as recommended by Staff, based upon the preponderance of competent substantial 
evidence. 
 
I MOVE TO DENY HRPB 16-00100171: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for New Construction 
of an accessory structure and an Addition to the existing historic structure located at 314 Columbia Drive because 
the Applicant has not established by a preponderance of the evidence that the application is in compliance with 
the City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4, the Secretary of the interiors Standards for 
the Rehabilitation of Historic Properties, and the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 

 
 



HRPB PR No. 16-00100171 
314 Columbia Drive 

COA Application – New Construction and Addition 
Page 5 

 

 

5 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Decision Criteria  
2. Justification Statement 
3. Application Photographs 
4. Proposed Architectural Drawings 
5. Public Comment Letter 

 
LOCATION MAP 

 

 



 
MEMORANDUM 

 
DATE: September 7, 2016 
 
TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
 Department of Community Sustainability 
 
SUBJECT:          HRPB Project Number 16-00100171: Consideration of a Certificate of 

Appropriateness (COA) for New Construction to allow a +/- 588 square foot accessory 
structure and a +/- 531 square foot addition to the main single-family structure 
located at 314 Columbia Drive; PCN# 38-43-44-15-06-001-0170.  The subject 
property was constructed c.1925 and is a contributing resource within the College 
Park Local Historic District. 

 
HRPB Meeting Date: September 14, 2016 
  
 
Per Section 23.5-4k(1) of the historic preservation ordinance, the Board shall use the 
following criteria in making a determination: 
 
A.   What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such work 
is to be done?   

Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the proposed work on the property located at 314 Columbia 
Drive will have no adverse effect on the historic appearance or significance of the building. 

 
B.   What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or other 
property in the historic district?   
Response: The proposed work will have no direct physical effect on any surrounding properties within 
the surrounding College Park Local Historic District.  
 
C.   To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural style, 
design, arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be affected?    
Response: The Applicant is not proposing to replace any original materials on the building. It is the 
analysis of Staff that the proposed addition is compatible with the architectural style of the single-
family residence and will not adversely affect the historic integrity of the original structure.  Similarly, 
it is the analysis of Staff that the proposed accessory structure is compatible with the architectural 
style of the single-family residence and will not adversely affect the historic integrity of the property. 
 
D.   Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable 
beneficial use of his property?  
Response: No, the denial of this COA as submitted does not prevent the Applicant from potentially 
proposing other alterations to the home, nor would it make the building uninhabitable. 
 
E.   Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a reasonable 
time?  
Response: Yes. 
 



2 

 

F.   Do the plans satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria contained in the United States 
Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect or as they may be revised from 
time to time? The current version of the Secretary's Guidelines provides as follows: 
 
(1)   A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal 
change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.   

 Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed. 
 
(2)   This historic character of the property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic 
materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided.   
Response: The Applicant is not removing any historic materials from the property.  The proposed 
addition and new construction will not substantially alter the character defining features of the 
property. 

 
(3)   Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use. Changes that 
create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural 
elements from other buildings, shall not be undertaken.  
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the addition will be compatible with the original Mission 
structure, and given the difference in footprint as well as the location, the addition will also be easily 
distinguished from the main structure. 
 
(4) Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their 
own right shall be retained and preserved.    
Response: The historically significant features of the building are being retained. 
 
(5)   Distinctive features, finishes and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 
characterize a historic property shall be preserved.   
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that no distinctive features, finishes, or examples of craftsmanship 
that characterize the property are being adversely affected by the scope of work proposed.  
 
(6)   Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. In 
the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being replaced in 
composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities.  
 
Repair or replacement of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of 
features, substantiated by historical, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs 
or because the different architectural elements from other buildings or structures happen to be 
available for relocation.  
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 
(7)   Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials, 
shall not be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the 
gentlest means possible.  
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 
(8)   Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If such 
resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken.  
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 



3 

 

(9)   New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction shall not destroy historic 
materials that characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the old 
and shall be compatible with the massing, size, scale, and architectural features to protect the historic 
integrity of the property and its environment.   
Response: The proposed new addition meet this criterion.  The addition is compatible in size, massing, 
and scale.  The footprint, roof shape, and location will make the addition easily distinguished from the 
original structure. 
 
(10)   New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such a manner 
that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic building and its 
environment would be unimpaired.   
Response: The proposed addition could be removed at a later date, with some changes to the main 
structure.   
 
G.   What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure which 
served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least possible adverse 
effect on those elements or features?   
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the historic character of the property would not be adversely 
affected by the proposed project as submitted by the Applicant, as outlined above. 
 
Section 23.5-4k(2). Additional guidelines for alterations. 
 
In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for alterations, the HRPB shall 
also consider the following additional guidelines:  
 
A. Is every reasonable effort being made to provide a compatible use for a property that requires 
minimal alteration of the building, structure or site and its environment, or to use the property for its 
originally intended purpose?  
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed.  
 
B. Are the distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure or site and its 
environment being destroyed? The removal or alteration of any historic material or distinctive 
architectural features shall be avoided whenever possible.  
Response: No. 
 
C. When a certificate of appropriateness is requested to replace windows or doors, the HRPB shall 
permit the property owner's original design when the HRPB's alternative design would result in an 
increase in cost of thirty (30) percent above the owner's original cost. The owner shall be required to 
demonstrate to the HRPB that:  
(1) The work to be performed will conform to the original door and window openings of the structure; 
and 
Response: Not applicable to this project. 

 
(2) That the replacement windows or doors with less expensive materials will achieve a savings in 
excess of thirty (30) percent over historically compatible materials otherwise required by this code.  
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 
 
 



4 

 

Section 23.5-4k(3) Additional guidelines for new construction; visual compatibility   
 
All improvements to buildings, structures and appurtenances within a designated historic district shall 
be visually compatible. New buildings should take their design cues from the surrounding existing 
structures, using traditional or contemporary design standards and elements that relate to existing 
structures that surround them and within the historic district as a whole. Building design styles, 
whether contemporary or traditional, should be visually compatible with the existing structures in the 
district.   
 
A.   In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for new construction, the 
City shall also, at a minimum, consider the following additional guidelines which help to define visual 
compatibility: 
 

(1) The height of proposed buildings shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the 
height of existing buildings located within the historic district. 
Response: The proposed building is consistent with the height of other 1-story buildings 
surrounding the property, and is in harmony with the height of other historic properties 
in the district. 
 

(2) The relationship of the width of the building to the height of the front elevation shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the width and height of the front elevation of 
existing buildings located within the district. 
Response: The width and height of the front elevations of the proposed building is in scale 
with the surrounding properties. 
 

(3) The openings of any building within a historic district should be visually compatible and 
in harmony with the openings in buildings of a similar architectural style located within 
the historic district. The relationship of the width of the windows and doors to the height 
of the windows and doors in a building shall be visually compatible with buildings within 
the district. 
Response: The proposed windows are compatible in height and width. 
 

(4) The relationship of solids to voids in the front facade of a building or structure shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the front facades of historic buildings or 
structures located within the historic district. A long, unbroken facade in a setting of 
existing narrow structures can be divided into smaller bays which will complement the 
visual setting and the streetscape. 
Response: The front façade is broken up with the front porch, as well as windows and 
doors, and the solid to void relationship is compatible with the district. 
 

(5) The relationship of a building to open space between it and adjoining buildings shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the relationship between buildings elsewhere 
within the district. 
Response: The proposed building respects the setbacks within the district, and also within 
the current zoning code. 
 

(6) The relationship of entrance and porch projections to sidewalks of a building shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the prevalent architectural styles of entrances 
and porch projections on buildings and structures within the district. 



5 

 

Response: The proposed front porch is visually compatible and utilizes detailing that is 
consistent with historic designs. 
 

(7) The relationship of the materials, texture and color of the facade of a building shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the predominant materials used in the buildings 
and structures of a similar style located within the historic district. 
Response: The building will be concrete block finished with textured stucco to match the 
existing structure, which is one of the customary building materials in the district.  The 
building also utilizes wood porch columns and a barrel tile roof, which is compatible with 
the district. 
 

(8) The roof shape of a building or structure shall be visually compatible and in harmony with 
the roof shape of buildings or structures of a similar architectural style located within the 
historic district. 
Response: The proposed flat roof with parapet is visually compatible with the neighboring 
properties as well as the district. 
 

(9) Appurtenances of a building, such as walls, wrought iron, fences, evergreen, landscape 
masses and building facades, shall, if necessary, form cohesive walls of enclosures along 
a street to insure visual compatibility of the building to the buildings and places to which 
it is visually related. 
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the plans provided are consistent with this 
requirement. 
 

(10) The size and mass of a building in relation to open spaces, the windows, door openings, 
porches and balconies shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the buildings and 
places to which it is visually related. 
Response: The proposed building meets this criteria. 
 

(11) A building shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the buildings and places to 
which it is visually related in its directional character: vertical, horizontal or non-
directional. 
Response: The building’s height and massing are compatible with other single-family 
residential buildings on the block, and the existing structure on this property. 
 

(12) The architectural style of a building shall be visually compatible with other buildings to 
which it is related in the historic district, but does not necessarily have to be in the same 
style of buildings in the district. New construction or additions to a building are 
encouraged to be appropriate to the style of the period in which it is created and not 
attempt to create a false sense of history.  
Response: The proposed accessory structure is a Mission/Mediterranean Revival 
architectural style.  The building is visually compatible with the district, but does not 
attempt to replicate any historic structures.  
 

(13) Landscaping shall be compatible with the architectural character and appearance of the 
structure and of other buildings located within the historic district. 
Response: The landscape plan has been addressed as a condition of approval, and will be 
reviewed by Staff at permitting. 
 



6 

 

(14) In considering applications for certificates of appropriateness to install mechanical 
systems which affect the exterior of a building or structure visible from a public right-of-
way, the following criteria shall be considered: 

 
(a) Retain and repair, where possible, historic mechanical systems in their original 

location, where possible. 
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 

(b) New mechanical systems shall be placed on secondary facades only and shall not 
be placed on, nor be visible from, primary facades. 
Response: Staff will ensure that any mechanical systems for the new building 
meet this criterion. 
 

(c) New mechanical systems shall not damage, destroy or compromise the physical 
integrity of the structure and shall be installed so as to cause the least damage, 
invasion or visual obstruction to the structure's building materials, or to its 
significant historic, cultural or architectural features. 
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 

(15) The site should take into account the compatibility of landscaping, parking facilities, utility 
and service areas, walkways and appurtenances. These should be designated with the 
overall environment in mind and should be in keeping visually with related buildings and 
structures. 
Response: Based on the plans provided, the current parking configuration is not 
anticipated to change.  The landscape requirements will be addressed at permitting. 
 

B.   In considering certificates of appropriateness for new buildings or structures which will have more 
than one primary facade, such as those on corner lots facing more than one street, the HRPB shall 
apply the visual compatibility standards to each primary facade.   
Response: Not applicable. 

 
 



JUSTIFICATION STATEMENT 
314 Columbia Drive, Lake Worth, FL 33460 

 
Our home currently has 3 bedrooms and 1 bathroom and no storage or closest space.  With two 

small children we are quickly outgrowing it and we need more space. We love the character of 

the home, my husband was raised here and bought it from his parents in 2005 so it does hold lots 

of sentimental value to him as well.   

  

We would like to add a second bathroom downstairs, along with a laundry room and a back open 

porch. As it is now the French doors in the Dining Room open onto a 3-foot drop, and our 

laundry is in the kitchen, neither is functional nor aesthetically pleasing. We would really benefit 

from the second bathroom as well, especially when we have guests over. 

We also have no storage so all the bikes, skate boards, surf boards and scooters are right by the 

front door as you enter the home.  We would also like to add a separate detached structure to 

accommodate these things so I can have back my Florida Room. And finally, the car port is very 

narrow so no one can exit the vehicle on the passenger side.  We would like to leave the structure 

in place but remove the connecting wall so that passengers can freely enter and exit the vehicle.   

Thank you for taking our thoughts and concerns into consideration.  I look forward to making 

our home more functional for our family’s needs so they too can pass it on to the next 

generation. 

A. What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such 

work is to be done? It will increase the square footage and functionality of the landmark 

without compromising its historic architecture.  

 

B. What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or other 

property in the historic district? Many other historic homes in the neighborhood have a 

separate detached living space to provide additional room and storage.  We would also like 

to include this in our plans and have it built in the same likeness as the main structure. 

 

C. To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural 

style, design, arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be 

affected? There would be minimal change to these elements, other than helping to preserve 

an historic landmark and making it more functional.  

 

D. Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable 

beneficial use of his property? Yes 

 

E. Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a 

reasonable time? Yes  



F. Do the plans satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria contained in the United 

States Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect or as they may be 

revised from time to time? Yes 

The current version of the Secretary's Guidelines provides as follows:  

(1) A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires 

minimal change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.  

(2) This historic character of the property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of 

historic materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be 

avoided.  

(3) Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use. Changes 

that create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or 

architectural elements from other buildings, shall not be undertaken.  

(4) Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in 

their own right shall be retained and preserved.  

(5) Distinctive features, finishes and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 

characterize a historic property shall be preserved.  

(6) Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. 

In the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being replaced 

in composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities. Repair or replacement of 

missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of features, substantiated 

by historical, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs or because the 

different architectural elements from other buildings or structures happen to be available for 

relocation. 

(7) Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic 

materials, shall not be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be 

undertaken using the gentlest means least likely.  

(8) Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If 

such resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken.  

(9) New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction shall not destroy historic 

materials that characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the old 

and shall be compatible with the massing, size, scale and architectural features to protect the 

historic integrity of the property and its environment.  

(10) New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such manner 

that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic building and its 

environment would be unimpaired.  

 

G. What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure 

which served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least 

possible adverse effect on those elements or features?  The requested change would increase 

the size of the original kitchen as well as add a second bathroom and a laundry room with 

minimal effect on the original structure. 
 

H. Such other supplemental guidelines for restoration and rehabilitation of historic properties 

which the HRPB may from time to time adopt. 



































N 00°00'00" W 50.00'

N 00°00'00" E    50.00'

N
 0

0°
06

'3
0"

 E
   

   
   

13
8.

10
'

S 
00

°0
6'

30
" W

   
   

   
13

8.
10

'

EXIST.

TWO STORY

RESIDENCE

PROPOSED

ONE STORY

ACCESSORY

BUILDING

EXIST.

CONC.

COVERED

401 SQ. FT.

COLUMBIA DRIVECL

(COVERED PORCH)

(PHASE II)

(180 SQ. FT.)

(785 SQ. FT. FOOTPRINT)

5' COV.

PORCH

160 SQ. FT.

PROPOSED ADDITION

130 SQ. FT. (1ST. FLOOR)

PROPOSED ADDITION

712 SQ. FT.

BARREL TILE ROOFS

NEW TERRA COTA

130 SQ. FT. (2ND. FLOOR)

2ND. FLOOR ROOF PARAPET

WALL TO MATCH

SITE PLAN

ARCHITECT
FIRM LIC. #0009524

2831A EXCHANGE CT.
WEST PALM BEACH

FLORIDA  33409
(561) 346-4685

FAX (561) 686-5862

THIS DRAWING IS AN INSTRUMENT
OF SERVICE AND AS SUCH SHALL
REMAIN THE PROPERTY OF THE

USE OR REPRODUCTION WITHOUT
WRITTEN PERMISSION OF THE METRO

DRAWING IS FOR USE IN CONNECTION
WITH THIS PROJECT AND SHALL NOT

COPYRIGHT 2016 JAMES C. PAINE, AIA.

DESIGN GROUP IS PROHIBITED. THIS

BE USED FOR ANY OTHER LOCATIONS

METRO DESIGN GROUP. UNAUTHORIZED

Pr
op

os
ed

 A
dd

iti
on

s f
or

:
M

cC
A

R
R

O
LL

 R
ES

ID
EN

C
E

31
4 

C
O

LU
M

B
IA

 D
R

IV
E

LA
K

E 
W

O
R

TH
,  

FL
O

R
ID

A

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S:

8/
31

/2
01

6

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
: S

C
S

C
:/J

P/
M

C
C

A
R

R
O

LL

SHEET

1 of 3

JAMES C.
PAINE, JR.

VICINITY MAP

AERIAL VIEW

SITE DATA:

LOT COVERAGE BY BUILDING(S)

LOT AREA

ZONING DISTRICT

6,905 S.F.

2,368 S.F. 34.3%

SFR

35% MAX. ALLOWABLE

FLOOR PLAN

D
A

TE
:

EXISTING PROPOSED

GROUND FLOOR A/C
785 S.F. 11.3%

CARPORT

TOTAL

180 S.F.   2.6%

965 S.F. 14.0%

MAIN HOUSE REAR PORCH

MAIN HOUSE A/C ADDITION

ACCESSORY BUILDING PORCH

(LOT COVERAGE)

401 S.F. 5.8%

130 S.F. 1.9%

160 S.F.  2.3%

712 S.F. 10.3%

ACCESSORY BUILDING A/C

TOTAL LOT COVERAGE

MAX. ALLOWABLE

2,417 - 35%     

2ND. FLOOR PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
24.35'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.33'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.33'

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.6'

AutoCAD SHX Text
9.63'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10.55'

AutoCAD SHX Text
14.13'

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.95'

AutoCAD SHX Text
3.05'

AutoCAD SHX Text
15.95'

AutoCAD SHX Text
28.30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
PANTRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
36"

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVEN /

AutoCAD SHX Text
MICRO

AutoCAD SHX Text
42" REF.

AutoCAD SHX Text
32" FARMER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SINK

AutoCAD SHX Text
KITCHEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTILITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BATH

AutoCAD SHX Text
COVERED REAR PORCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARPORT

AutoCAD SHX Text
REOLCATE DOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
INFILL OPNG.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW FRENCH DOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
(MATCH EXIST.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTDOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DECORATIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEATURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
C OF CARPORT

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALIGN W/ EXIST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RELOCATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPENING

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEDROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
M. BEDROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEDROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLOSET

AutoCAD SHX Text
BATH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOVE WINDOW & WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
INSTALL NEW DOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
STAIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
M. BATH

AutoCAD SHX Text
TUB/SHWR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLOSET

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/8"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N.T.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
N.T.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. TO REMAIN U.O.N.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALIGN WITH EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4"=1'-0"



ARCHITECT
FIRM LIC. #0009524

2831A EXCHANGE CT.
WEST PALM BEACH

FLORIDA  33409
(561) 346-4685

FAX (561) 686-5862

THIS DRAWING IS AN INSTRUMENT
OF SERVICE AND AS SUCH SHALL
REMAIN THE PROPERTY OF THE

USE OR REPRODUCTION WITHOUT
WRITTEN PERMISSION OF THE METRO

DRAWING IS FOR USE IN CONNECTION
WITH THIS PROJECT AND SHALL NOT

COPYRIGHT 2016 JAMES C. PAINE, AIA.

DESIGN GROUP IS PROHIBITED. THIS

BE USED FOR ANY OTHER LOCATIONS

METRO DESIGN GROUP. UNAUTHORIZED

Pr
op

os
ed

 A
dd

iti
on

s f
or

:
M

cC
A

R
R

O
LL

 R
ES

ID
EN

C
E

31
4 

C
O

LU
M

B
IA

 D
R

IV
E

LA
K

E 
W

O
R

TH
,  

FL
O

R
ID

A

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S:

8/
31

/2
01

6

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
: S

C
S

C
:/J

P/
M

C
C

A
R

R
O

LL

SHEET

2 of 3

JAMES C.
PAINE, JR.

NORTH ELEVATION

D
A

TE
:EAST SIDE ELEVATION WEST SIDE ELEVATION

SOUTH ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIN. FL. 0'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND. FL. 9'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROOF EL. 18'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. BEYOND TO REMAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW DECORATIVE WOOD COL'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW FRENCH DOOR TO MATCH EXIST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW BARREL TILE ROOF

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIN. FL. 0'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND. FL. 9'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROOF EL. 18'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARPORT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DECORATIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEATURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(BEYOND)

AutoCAD SHX Text
C OF CARPORT

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
INFILL EXIST. DOOR -

AutoCAD SHX Text
PATCH TO MATCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
STUCCO OVER CMU

AutoCAD SHX Text
(MATCH EXIST.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
STUCCO OVER CMU

AutoCAD SHX Text
(MATCH EXIST.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW WINDOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
(MATCH EXIST.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIN. FL. 0'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND. FL. 9'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROOF EL. 18'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW DECORATIVE WOOD COL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STUCCO FINISH OVER CMU

AutoCAD SHX Text
(MATCH EXISTING)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW BARREL TILE ROOF

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW BARREL TILE ROOF

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW DECORATIVE WOOD COL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
V.I.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIN. FL. 0'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND. FL. 9'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROOF EL. 18'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOVE EXIST. HALF WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTDOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTDOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEC. WOOD BEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text
(TYP. AT PORCH)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEC. WOOD BEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text
(TYP. AT PORCH)

AutoCAD SHX Text
W/ WOOD CAPITAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
& BASE (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEYOND

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW WINDOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
(MATCH EXIST.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW WINDOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
(MATCH EXIST.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
(REAR)

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
(RIGHT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
(LEFT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
(FRONT)



COL. DETAIL

ARCHITECT
FIRM LIC. #0009524

2831A EXCHANGE CT.
WEST PALM BEACH

FLORIDA  33409
(561) 346-4685

FAX (561) 686-5862

THIS DRAWING IS AN INSTRUMENT
OF SERVICE AND AS SUCH SHALL
REMAIN THE PROPERTY OF THE

USE OR REPRODUCTION WITHOUT
WRITTEN PERMISSION OF THE METRO

DRAWING IS FOR USE IN CONNECTION
WITH THIS PROJECT AND SHALL NOT

COPYRIGHT 2016 JAMES C. PAINE, AIA.

DESIGN GROUP IS PROHIBITED. THIS

BE USED FOR ANY OTHER LOCATIONS

METRO DESIGN GROUP. UNAUTHORIZED

Pr
op

os
ed

 A
dd

iti
on

s f
or

:
M

cC
A

R
R

O
LL

 R
ES

ID
EN

C
E

31
4 

C
O

LU
M

B
IA

 D
R

IV
E

LA
K

E 
W

O
R

TH
,  

FL
O

R
ID

A

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S:

8/
31

/2
01

6

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
: S

C
S

C
:/J

P/
M

C
C

A
R

R
O

LL

SHEET

3 of 3

JAMES C.
PAINE, JR.

NORTH ELEVATION

D
A

TE
:

EAST SIDE ELEVATION

WEST SIDE ELEVATION

SOUTH ELEVATION

ACCESSORY BLDG. - FLOOR PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIN. FL. 0'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRG. EL. 9'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%P28" PARAPET WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
BARREL TILE ROOF

AutoCAD SHX Text
STUCCO FINISH OVER CMU

AutoCAD SHX Text
(MATCH EXISTING)

AutoCAD SHX Text
STUCCO FINISH OVER CMU

AutoCAD SHX Text
(MATCH EXISTING)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW IMPACT FRENCH DOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
(MATCH EXIST.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
IMPACT FLUSH DOORS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO BE SELCTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW IMPACT FRENCH DOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
(MATCH EXIST.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%P28" PARAPET WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARAPET BEYOND

AutoCAD SHX Text
DECORATIVE BRACKET

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIN. FL. 0'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRG. EL. 9'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
BARREL TILE ROOF

AutoCAD SHX Text
STUCCO FINISH OVER CMU

AutoCAD SHX Text
(MATCH EXISTING)

AutoCAD SHX Text
STUCCO FINISH OVER CMU

AutoCAD SHX Text
(MATCH EXISTING)

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW IMPACT FRENCH DOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
(MATCH EXIST.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%P28" PARAPET WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARAPET BEYOND

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%P28" PARAPET WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DECORATIVE BRACKET

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BATH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEDROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
COVERED

AutoCAD SHX Text
PORCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
C ROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
N.T.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREFAB. COMPOSITE BASE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1x P.T. NAILER

AutoCAD SHX Text
1x8 CYPRESS

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALUM. TUBE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(SEE FOUND. PLAN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4"=1'-0"



oN
:l
tr*
L)

G\)
\D

\soo
\)(
\)

N qooo' oo' r
l*7 ;/a'tR.c} LD )qD45' cfiurrl

6',

F
sI
\so
t)s
{'\

*(ao
- rb 

t

,a;,i*

oo
nl

_:1

OO;UMDIA DKIVr

?HTET ? OT ?
L tD WlTt-{O T THE 9I6NATURE Al\p THE ORI6IML RAI9ED SEAL OF A FLORIDA LI6EI{9ED gUzuEYOR

gTATTOF./FLOR IDA
7th NO. 467t

F.OUNE)ARY ?-JRVEY
GOI*LECE I=ARK

LOT'? 17, I O E NOKTH PAF-.,.ELF,LAT OOQK A J rA6E9 
'6PALM FEACH COUNTY, FI.-,OR IE)A

t ?-?_) -o4
9URVEY PATE:

UN I VEKAAL ?UKVEY I NG AYTTEI'I?, ING .

CERT lF ICATE OF AUTI'{OR IZAT ION NLir/DER LA ,q0-4
2621 LAKE PRIVE MRTH

DEACH, FLORIDA 
"4)5OFF ICE : V6l -716-0412 FAX: UU -7)6-OqOO

a -r 7-054





 

 
City Of Lake Worth 

Department for Community Sustainability 

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division 

1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687  
  

 
MEMORANDUM DATE:   September 7, 2016 
 
AGENDA DATE:  September 14, 2016 
 
TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
RE:   1002 South Lakeside Drive 
 
FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Preservation Planning Coordinator 
 Department for Community Sustainability 
 
TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100104: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for an 
addition to the existing structure at 1002 South Lakeside Drive; PCN# 38-43-44-27-01-024-0050.  The subject 
property was constructed in 1960 and is a non-contributing resource within the South Palm Park Local Historic 
District. 
 

OWNER/APPLICANT:  Lynn Caswell 

                          1002 South Lakeside Drive 

                          Lake Worth, FL 33460 

 

  

BACKGROUND:  

The one-story single-family structure at 1002 South Lakeside Drive was designed by architect William Rillon 
Upthegrove for owner Ethel Graham Weber. The property has public frontage on South Lakeside Drive to the 
west and the Intracoastal Waterway to the east.  The building was constructed in an Mid-Century Masonry 
Vernacular style and built of masonry construction with a smooth stucco finish.  The building has undergone 
various alterations over the years including removal of the original white concrete tile roof, window replacement, 
enclosure of the carport, and several additions.  Overall, the building retains a low degree of historic integrity of 
materials and design. 

 

REQUEST:  

The Applicant is requesting to construct a +/- 1,574 square foot two-story double-height addition to the existing 
3,285 square foot structure, per the plans and documentation provided.  The new addition will be set back from 
the front of the structure, and will be located in the same area as the existing screen porch on the north 
elevation. 

 

The subject property is zoned Single Family Residential (SFR) and is subject to the development standards for this 
district in the City of Lake Worth Zoning Code and in the City’s Comprehensive Plan. An addition to a single-family 
residence is permitted in the SFR district of the City of Lake Worth Zoning Code. The following table includes 
some of the basic specifications for the proposed construction: 

 

 

 
 



HRPB No. 16-00100104 
1002 South Lakeside Drive 

COA Application – Addition 
Page 2 

 

2 

Dimension Required by Code Existing or Proposed 

Lot size 7,500 sq. ft. 18,900 sq. ft. 

Lot width 75’-0” 70’-0” (Legal non-conforming) 

Lot depth n/a +/- 274’-0” 

Front setback 50’-0” 69’-2.25” Existing 

Side setback 10% of lot width = 5’-0” each 
side 

22.9’ from North property line existing and 
proposed, 

4.9’ from South property line existing and 
proposed 

Rear setback Yard, water frontage1 requires 
50’-0” setback, equal to the 
required front yard setback 

Appx. 85’ to survey line for primary building 

 

Height2 (Comp. Plan) 30’ for SFR land use 
designation 

Appx. 27’-5” from the crown of road to the mid 
point of the roof  

Height (SFR zoning) 30’ for primary structure, 24’ 
for accessory structure, 2 
stories 

Appx. 27’-5” from the crown of road to the mid 
point of the roof 

Wall Height 18’ wall height at 5’ side 
setback, up to a 23’ wall height 
at a 10’ setback 

Appx. 25’ wall height at a 22.9’ setback; 

 

F.A.R.3 0.45 (8,505 sq. ft.) 0.24 (4,153 sq.ft.) Proposed 

 

Max. Building Coverage4 
for a Large Lot 

30% max. (5,670 sq. ft.) Appx. 17.3% (3,285 sq. ft.) 

Impermeable surface 50% max. (9,450 sq. ft.) No proposed change in the existing impermeable 
surface 

 
 
 

                                                           
1 Yard, water frontage: A yard required between the Intracoastal Waterway and the upland use. Such water yard shall 
always be equal to the front yards in the applicable zone and shall be measured from the seaward edge of the bulkhead to 
the face of the building. 
2 Building height:  The vertical distance measured from the minimum required floor or base flood elevation of twelve (12) 
inches above the crown of the road, whichever is less, to (a) the highest point of a flat roof; (b) the deck line of mansard roof, 
(c) the average height between eaves and ridge for gable, hip, and gambrel roofs, or (d) the average height between high and 
low points for a shed roof. The measurement of height shall not include decorative architectural elements, chimneys, 
mechanical equipment, church steeples and architecturally integrated signage, which may extend an additional ten (10) feet 
but cannot cover cumulatively more than ten (10) percent of the roof surface. 
3 Floor area ratio:  A regulatory technique which relates to total developable site area and the size (square feet) of 
development permitted on a specific site.  A numeric rating assigned to each land use category that determines the total 
gross square feet of all buildings as measured from each building’s exterior walls based upon the actual land area of the 
parcel upon which the buildings are to be located.  Total gross square feet calculated using the assigned floor area ratio shall 
not include such features as parking lots or the first three (3) levels of parking structures, aerial pedestrian crossovers, open 
or partially enclosed plazas, or exterior pedestrian and vehicular circulation areas. 
4 Building lot coverage: The area of a lot covered by the impervious surface associated with the footprint(s) of all buildings on 
a particular lot.  Structured parking garages are exempt from building lot coverage. 



HRPB No. 16-00100104 
1002 South Lakeside Drive 

COA Application – Addition 
Page 3 

 

3 

ANALYSIS:   
Zoning Code Consistency  
Overall, the proposed project is consistent with the development requirements in the City’s Zoning Code and 
would not require any variances from the Code. 
 
Because the proposed addition will exceed 25% of the current value, compliance with the residentail landscape 
code will likely be required.  A landscape plan has not been submitted at this time showing compliance with the 
minimum requirements of Section 23.6-1, Landscape Regulations. The Applicant shall be required to provide this 
information prior to permitting, and Staff has recommended a condition of approval to address this.  Final review 
and approval will take place during the building permit process. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY: 

It is the analysis of Staff that the project, as proposed, is not consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals and 
objectives concerning historic preservation and housing due to the fact that the Applicant is proposing an 
addition that will have a negative effect on the historic district.  Specifically, the application is not in compliance 
with the following: 

 

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where appropriate 
restrict development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2) 

 
Objective 3.2.5:   To encourage the identification of historically significant housing, and to promote its 
preservation and rehabilitation as referenced by the Surveys of Historic Properties conducted for the City 
of Lake Worth. 
 
Policy 3.2.5.1:  Properties of special value for historic, architectural, cultural or aesthetic reasons will be 
restored and preserved through the enforcement of the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance to the 
extent feasible. 
 
ANALYSIS:   
FEMA Requirements 

The property is located in an “A” flood zone and therefore requires compliance with all FEMA regulations, and 
compliance with the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) requirements.  According to this program, “If the 
cost of improvements or the cost to repair the damage exceeds 50 percent of the market value of the building, it 
must be brought up to current floodplain management standards.”   

 

The Applicant has conducted an independent appraisal, and is not anticipating the construction cost to exceed 
50% of the appraised value of the structure.  If the addition does exceed 50% of the value of the structure, the 
entire structure would need to be raised to the new minimum required flood elevation.  Final review of this 
requirement will occur during the building permit process.  Because of the changes to the property and the non-
contributing status, this structure would not be eligible for a historic exemption. 

 

Historic Preservation 

Staff has reviewed the documentation and materials provided in this application.  An addition within a local 
historic district is also subject to specific criteria for visual compatibility as set forth in Section 23.5-4(k) of the 
City’s historic preservation regulations. These criteria are provided in Attachment 1 and include Staff’s response 
to each criterion. The criteria deal with massing, scale, materials, and design compatibility with the surrounding 
historic district. 



HRPB No. 16-00100104 
1002 South Lakeside Drive 

COA Application – Addition 
Page 4 

 

4 

It is the analysis of Staff that the project as proposed is not compatible with the regulations set forth in the 
historic preservation ordinance.  Although proposed to be a two-story addition, the double-height space on the 
second floor provides the exterior appearance of a three-story addition to the existing one-story structure.  The 
addition is visually unbalanced and out of scale with the existing property and the surrounding area.  Although the 
proposed height is in compliance with the zoning code, it is not compatible with the existing structure.  If the 
additional 10’ of double-height space was removed from the second floor, Staff would be in support of a two-
story addition to this structure. 
 
The design style utilizes elements of coastal Florida vernacular or “Key West” design.  Although the original 
structure was designed as a Mid-Century Masonry Vernacular building, the changes to the structure over time 
have made it’s present design style a mix of masonry vernacular and coastal Florida.   
 
The east and west elevations utilize a compatible rhythm of openings and design elements.  The window and door 
sizes and locations on the north and south elevations are not compatible with the historic district.  Large expanses 
of blank wall are present, and the windows are a variety of incompatible sizes and shapes. 
 
Public Comment 
At the time of publication of this report, Staff has not received any public comment regarding this project.  
 
CONSEQUENT ACTION:   
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain to 
request additional information; or deny the application. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends that the Board discuss the application as submitted, specifically the compatibility of the height 
of the proposed addition and the compatibility of the north and south elevations. 
 
If the Board chooses to approve the request for an addition, Staff recommends the following conditions: 
 

1) Due to the schematic nature of the submittal drawings, the exact design and configuration of the 
decorative window and door trim and sills, the porch columns, and the rafter tail shall be subject to Staff 
review at permitting. 

2) The Applicant shall add windows to the north and south elevations in order to eliminate the long 
expanses of blank wall, subject to Staff review at permitting.  The new windows shall be vertical in 
proportion, and could match size and shape of the proposed casement windows.  The thin horizontal 
ribbon windows shall not be used.  Frosted or privacy glass may be used as needed. 

3) The windows and doors shall not have reflective glass.  All muntins shall be created using exterior raised 
applied muntins.  No flat or internal muntins shall be permitted. 

4) All proposed landscaping, hardscape, and mechanical equipment shall be subject to Staff review at 
permitting, and shall be in compliance with all Land Development Regulations. 

5) The Applicant shall be required to meet all FEMA and National Flood Insurance Program requirements.  If 
meeting these requirements results in a substantially altered design, the redesign proposal shall be heard 
before the HRPB. 

6) The double-height space in the second floor shall be removed, and the addition shall read as a two-story 
structure.  Based on the drawings submitted, the mid-point of the roof would be lowered approximately 
8’-0” and the top of the tie beam would end at elevation 17’-3”, as described on the elevation drawing. 
 

 



HRPB No. 16-00100104 
1002 South Lakeside Drive 

COA Application – Addition 
Page 5 

 

5 

POTENTIAL MOTION:   
I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 16-00100104: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for an addition 
to the single-family residence located at 1002 S Lakeside Dr, based upon the preponderance of competent 
substantial evidence, with the conditions as recommended by Staff. 
 
I MOVE TO DENY HRPB 16-00100104: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for an addition to 
the single-family residence located at 1002 S Lakeside Dr, because the Applicant has not established by a 
preponderance of the evidence that the application is in compliance with the City of Lake Worth Land 
Development Regulations, the Secretary of the interiors Standards for the Rehabilitation of Historic Properties, 
and the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Decision Criteria  
2. Photographs 
3. Proposed Architectural Drawings 
4. Proposed Door Brochure 

 
LOCATION MAP 

 
 

 
 

 

 



 
MEMORANDUM 

 
DATE: September 7, 2016 
 
TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
 Department of Community Sustainability 
 
SUBJECT:          HRPB Project Number 16-00100104: Consideration of a Certificate of 

Appropriateness (COA) for an addition to the existing structure at 1002 South 
Lakeside Drive; PCN# 38-43-44-27-01-024-0050.  The subject property was 
constructed in 1960 and is a non-contributing resource within the South Palm Park 
Local Historic District. 

 
HRPB Meeting Date: September 14, 2016 
  
 
Per Section 23.5-4k(1) of the historic preservation ordinance, the Board shall use the 
following criteria in making a determination: 
 
A.   What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such work 
is to be done?   

Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the proposed work on the property located at 1002 South 
Lakeside Drive will have no adverse effect on the historic appearance or significance of the building. 

 
B.   What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or other 
property in the historic district?   
Response: The proposed work will have an indirect negative visual effect on the historic district and 
the neighboring properties along South Lakeside Drive. 
 
C.   To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural style, 
design, arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be affected?    
Response: The historic design and arrangement of the property will be affected by adding an overly 
tall two-story, double-height addition to the existing one-story structure. 
 
D.   Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable 
beneficial use of his property?  
Response: No, the denial of this COA as submitted does not prevent the Applicant from potentially 
proposing other alterations to the home, nor would it make the building uninhabitable. 
 
E.   Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a reasonable 
time?  
Response: Yes. 
 
F.   Do the plans satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria contained in the United States 
Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect or as they may be revised from 
time to time? The current version of the Secretary's Guidelines provides as follows: 
 



2 

 

(1)   A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal 
change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.   

 Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed. 
 
(2)   This historic character of the property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic 
materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided.   
Response: The Applicant is not removing any historic materials from the property, however the 
proposed addition will substantially alter the character and appearance of the structure. 

 
(3)   Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use. Changes that 
create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural 
elements from other buildings, shall not be undertaken.  
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the addition as proposed would not create a false sense of 
historical development. 
 
(4) Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their 
own right shall be retained and preserved.    
Response: The changes to this property have not acquired significance over time. 
 
(5)   Distinctive features, finishes and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 
characterize a historic property shall be preserved.   
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that no distinctive features, finishes, or examples of craftsmanship 
that characterize the property are being adversely affected by the scope of work proposed.  
 
(6)   Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. In 
the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being replaced in 
composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities.  
 
Repair or replacement of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of 
features, substantiated by historical, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs 
or because the different architectural elements from other buildings or structures happen to be 
available for relocation.  
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 
(7)   Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials, 
shall not be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the 
gentlest means possible.  
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 
(8)   Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If such 
resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken.  
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 
(9)   New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction shall not destroy historic 
materials that characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the old 
and shall be compatible with the massing, size, scale, and architectural features to protect the historic 
integrity of the property and its environment.   
Response: The proposed new addition does not meet this criterion.  The addition is not compatible in 
size, massing, and scale.  The proposed addition is too tall and appears unbalanced. 



3 

 

 
(10)   New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such a manner 
that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic building and its 
environment would be unimpaired.   
Response: The proposed addition could be removed at a later date, with some changes to the main 
structure.   
 
G.   What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure which 
served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least possible adverse 
effect on those elements or features?   
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the historic character of the property would be adversely 
affected by the proposed project as submitted by the Applicant, as outlined above. 
 
Section 23.5-4k(2). Additional guidelines for alterations. 
 
In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for alterations, the HRPB shall 
also consider the following additional guidelines:  
 
A. Is every reasonable effort being made to provide a compatible use for a property that requires 
minimal alteration of the building, structure or site and its environment, or to use the property for its 
originally intended purpose?  
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed.  
 
B. Are the distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure or site and its 
environment being destroyed? The removal or alteration of any historic material or distinctive 
architectural features shall be avoided whenever possible.  
Response: Yes, the low-lying one-story character of the structure would be greatly altered with an 
overly tall addition. 
 
C. When a certificate of appropriateness is requested to replace windows or doors, the HRPB shall 
permit the property owner's original design when the HRPB's alternative design would result in an 
increase in cost of thirty (30) percent above the owner's original cost. The owner shall be required to 
demonstrate to the HRPB that:  
(1) The work to be performed will conform to the original door and window openings of the structure; 
and 
Response: Not applicable to this project. 

 
(2) That the replacement windows or doors with less expensive materials will achieve a savings in 
excess of thirty (30) percent over historically compatible materials otherwise required by this code.  
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 
 



1002 South Lakeside Drive
Lake Worth, Florida 33460

WEST SIDE

EAST SIDE



NORTH SIDE

NORTH SIDE



SOUTH  SIDE

SOUTH  SIDE



NEIGHBORING PROPERTIES









Drawing Number

Scale / North Point

Drawing Title

Project No.

Drawing Status

Project Title

Client

REGISTERED ARCHITECT

General Notes

MR & MRS CASWELL

1002 S LAKESIDE DRIVE

LAKE WORTH, FL 33460

CASWELL RESIDENCE



SITE  PLAN

Drawing Number

Scale / North Point

Drawing Title

Project No.

Drawing Status

Project Title

Client

REGISTERED ARCHITECT

General Notes

MR & MRS CASWELL

1002 S LAKESIDE DRIVE

LAKE WORTH, FL 33460

CASWELL RESIDENCE



































18900.6 SF (0.4339 ACRE)

  

  



EXISTING FLOOR  PLAN

Drawing Number

Scale / North Point

Drawing Title

Project No.

Drawing Status

Project Title

Client

REGISTERED ARCHITECT

General Notes

MR & MRS CASWELL

1002 S LAKESIDE DRIVE

LAKE WORTH, FL 33460

CASWELL RESIDENCE



Drawing Number

Scale / North Point

Drawing Title

Project No.

Drawing Status

Project Title

Client

REGISTERED ARCHITECT

General Notes

MR & MRS CASWELL

1002 S LAKESIDE DRIVE

LAKE WORTH, FL 33460

CASWELL RESIDENCE

EXIST. SOUTH ELEVATION

EXIST. EAST ELEVATIONEXIST. WEST ELEVATION

EXIST. NORTH ELEVATION



LEVEL 1 FLOOR PLAN

Drawing Number

Scale / North Point

Drawing Title

Project No.

Drawing Status

Project Title

Client

REGISTERED ARCHITECT

General Notes

MR & MRS CASWELL

1002 S LAKESIDE DRIVE

LAKE WORTH, FL 33460

CASWELL RESIDENCE



LEVEL 2 FLOOR PLAN

Drawing Number

Scale / North Point

Drawing Title

Project No.

Drawing Status

Project Title

Client

REGISTERED ARCHITECT

General Notes

MR & MRS CASWELL

1002 S LAKESIDE DRIVE

LAKE WORTH, FL 33460

CASWELL RESIDENCE



Drawing Number

Scale / North Point

Drawing Title

Project No.

Drawing Status

Project Title

Client

REGISTERED ARCHITECT

General Notes

MR & MRS CASWELL

1002 S LAKESIDE DRIVE

LAKE WORTH, FL 33460

CASWELL RESIDENCE

SOUTH ELEVATION

 WEST ELEVATION



Drawing Number

Scale / North Point

Drawing Title

Project No.

Drawing Status

Project Title

Client

REGISTERED ARCHITECT

General Notes

MR & MRS CASWELL

1002 S LAKESIDE DRIVE

LAKE WORTH, FL 33460

CASWELL RESIDENCE

EAST ELEVATION

NORTH ELEVATION



LANAI DOORS
HURRICANE FOLDING DOOR & WINDOW SYSTEMS
DP-70 RATED FOR MIAMI-DADE, FLORIDA & ASTM



www.lanaidoors.com

C
O

N
TEN

TS

Bringing the outdoors in...

Making a difference  ......................................................................................................................................  1

Hurricane rated system  ................................................................................................................................  2

Bifold testing  .................................................................................................................................................  4

Widespread requirements  ............................................................................................................................  5

Designing your system  .................................................................................................................................  10

Bifold hardware  ............................................................................................................................................  12

Available confi gurations  ...............................................................................................................................  14

Header & Jamb - Outswing  ..........................................................................................................................  16

Threshold - Outswing  ...................................................................................................................................  17

Crating & Shipping  .......................................................................................................................................  19

Centor S1E Eco-Screen™  .............................................................................................................................  20



www.lanaidoors.com 1

AMERICAN MADE

Coastal Innovative Products, Inc., manufacturer of 

Lanai Doors™ (a California Corporation) is a leading 

United States manufacturer of aluminum, wood and 

clad bi-folding door and window systems.  Lanai has 

designed and constructed custom folding systems 

for a wide variety of customers including resorts, 

hotels, restaurants, schools, churches, country clubs, 

museums, zoos and most of all residential.  Lanai 

Doors™ systems are installed throughout the United 

States and in the countries of Canada, Mexico, 

Morocco, Costa Rica and numerous islands in the 

Caribbean and Hawaii.  With nearly 10-years of 

dedicated folding door and window manufacturing 

experience, Lanai works directly with architects, 

builders, contractors and homeowners to create the 

best custom bi-fold solutions.

Lanai folding door and window systems are available 

up to 56-foot wide by 12-foot tall, zero post corners, 

door/window combinations, and systems integrated 

with side lites.  For interior systems where a bottom 

guide is not desirable, Lanai can manufacture 

systems without a bottom guide track.  Lanai folding 

systems can be ordered with the Crystal Award 

Winning Centor S1 Screen which can cover up to a 

24-foot wide by 10-foot tall opening.  The S1 screen 

can be used on existing bi-folds, lift and slides, sliding 

glass doors, or to enclose patios.

In order to be more competitively priced and to 

better communicate with our end customers, Lanai 

Doors™ sells its systems directly.  Our trained and 

knowledgeable staff can assist you with all aspects 

of our products including design, manufacturing 

and installation.  In response to customer demands, 

Lanai hurricane tested its aluminum E3 folding 

system.  Lanai Doors™ is not only the fi rst company to 

hurricane test Centor E3 top-hung folding hardware, 

but Lanai Doors™ surpassed all expectations and 

achieved incredible results!

MAKING A DIFFERENCE



www.lanaidoors.com2

HURRICANE  RATED  SYSTEM
Highly Rated 
Lanai Doors™ hurricane aluminum bi-fold system is DP-70 

rated (165 mph winds) for Miami-Dade County HVHZ large 

and small missiles.  Lanai’s hurricane system also satisfi es 

other wind-borne debris region building codes from the 

East Coast to the Gulf of Mexico to all of the Caribbean and 

Hawaiian Islands.

Top-Hung Sleek Look 
Lanai’s hurricane systems are manufactured in the United 

States using the best component parts available.  One 

critical part is the Centor E3 top-hung folding hardware. 

Centor E3 hardware is so robust that the Lanai Doors™ 

hurricane system needs only three hinges between each 

panel.  The lack of multiple hinges complements Lanai’s 

sleek, clean look of their 1-3/4 inch thick panels which are 

made with 3-inch wide stiles and 3-5/8 inch top and bottom 

rails.  Lanai’s hurricane top-hung system opens and closes 

with ease, unlike bottom roller systems which can bind or 

clog with debris getting into the bottom roller system.  With 

the right design, your hurricane bi-fold glass wall system 

does not have to look or feel like a fortress.

On July 21, 2011, Lanai Doors™ received Notice of 

Acceptance (NOA) numbers 10-1019.01 and 10-

1019.02 for their outswing and inswing folding door 

and window systems, respectfully, from Miami-Dade 

County.  Both of these NOA’s expire on July 21, 2016.  

Additionally, Lanai received Certifi cate of Product 

Approval #FL14768 from the State of Florida.  Lanai 

Doors™ is pursuing product approvals from other 

states for ASTM E1886 and ASTM E1996 testing.



www.lanaidoors.com 3

Custom Flexibility
With up to 16 three-foot wide by eight-foot tall panels, Lanai 

Doors™ can fi ll a 48-foot wide opening while providing 

three different threshold options.  With 160 different layout 

confi gurations, Lanai can custom design applications that 

fold up to eight panels to each side of your opening while 

extending to either the outside or inside.  The extensive 

hurricane testing by Lanai Doors™ resulted in the largest 

and most fl exible top-hung aluminum folding system 

available today.

Air & Water Tight
Lanai Doors™ qualifi ed three thresholds (a raised water-

tight standard, an ADA compliant lowrise and a fl ush guide) 

for Miami-Dade HVHZ testing.  Lanai’s standard threshold 

achieved air infi ltration of 0.02 cfm/ft² for 1.57 psf (which 

is 15 times better than the allowable 0.30) and 0.05 cfm/ft² 

for 6.24 psf.  Lanai’s outswing standard threshold is water 

tight up to DP-55.  For water-tight applications with 100% 

overhang, all three thresholds are acceptable.

3"

36

35
8"

96

11

Optional 11” high rail

Maximum Hurricane Panel Size Optional Taller Rail

AIR & W
ATER TIG

HT



www.lanaidoors.com4

Successfully completed test methods

Miami-Dade & Florida

TAS 201-94, Impact Test Procedures

TAS 202-94, Criteria for Testing Impact and Non Impact Resistant Building Envelope Components Using Uniform Static Air Pressure Loading

TAS 203-94, Criteria for Testing Products Subject to Cyclic Wind Pressure Loading

Other Jurisdictions

ASTM E 283-04, Test Method for Determining Rate of Airfl ow Through Exterior Windows, Curtain Walls and Doors Under Specifi c Pressure 
Differences Across the Specimen

ASTM E 330-02, Test Method for Structural Performance of Exterior Windows, Curtain Walls and Doors by Uniform Static Air Pressure Difference

ASTM E 331-00, Test Method for Water Penetration of Exterior Windows, Curtain Walls and Doors by Uniform Static Air Pressure Difference

ASTM E 1886-05, Standard Test Method for Performance of Exterior Windows, Curtain Walls, Doors and Storm Shutters Impacted by Missile(s) 
and Exposed to Cyclic Pressure Differentials

ASTM E 1996-05, Standard Specifi cation for Performance of Exterior Windows, Glazed Curtain Walls, Doors and Storm Shutters Impacted by 
Wind Borne Debris in Hurricanes

ASTM F 842-04, Test Methods for Measurement of Forced Entry Resistance of Horizontal Sliding Door Assemblies

AAMA 1304-02, Voluntary Specifi cation for Forced Entry Resistance of Side-Hinged Door System

CAWM 300-96, Forced Entry Resistance Tests for Sliding Glass Doors

Test Results for Miami-Dade HVHZ & ASTM

Threshold Test Results - Outswing Results - Inswing

Standard Air Infi ltration 0.02 cfm/ft² (1.57 psf) 0.03 cfm/ft² (1.57 psf)

0.05 cfm/ft² (6.24 psf) 0.07 cfm/ft² (6.24 psf)

Water Infi ltration 8.25 psf (DP-55) N/A

Design Pressure DP-100 pos. (198 mph) DP-80 pos. (177 mph)

DP-80 neg. (177 mph) DP-100 neg. (198 mph)

Impact & Cycling DP-90 (188 mph) DP-90 (188 mph)

Lowrise & 

Flush Guide

Air Infi ltration 0.17 cfm/ft² (1.57 psf) 0.16 cfm/ft² (1.57 psf)

Water Infi ltration N/A N/A

Design Pressure DP-70 pos. (165 mph) DP-70 pos. (165 mph)

DP-70 neg. (165 mph) DP-70 neg. (165 mph)

Impact & Cycling DP-70 (165 mph) DP-70 (165 mph)

Forced Entry - 300 lb test Passed Passed

BI-FOLD TESTING



www.lanaidoors.com 5

State of Florida
Wind-Borne Debris Region

 C

       

FLORIDA

D
E
PA
R
TM

ENT OF COMMU
NI
TY

AF
FA
IR
S

Hurricane and wind-borne debris region building codes are a growing trend across the United States.  With the incredible 

devastation caused by hurricanes and cyclones, greater emphasis has been placed on products that better protect life and 

property.  Arguably, Miami-Dade County is the gold standard for hurricane product testing.

States up and down the East Coast, the Gulf of Mexico, and Hawaiian Islands have implemented building codes (i.e. Florida 

Building Code and International Building Code) requiring the use of hurricane certifi ed products.  The Florida Building Code 

High Velocity Hurricane Zone (HVHZ) provisions apply to both Miami-Dade and Broward Counties, Florida.  The non-HVHZ 

provisions apply to the rest of Florida.  Most other states have implemented the International Building Codes which require 

hurricane products for wind-borne debris regions. In addition, Caribbean Island builders are requiring stronger impact 

resistant products with Miami-Dade hurricane certifi cation.

Not all states and jurisdictions follow the same building code or the same version of the code.  It is the responsibility of 

architects, builders, contractors and homeowners to determine what is necessary for your project and pre-verify that Lanai 

Doors™ hurricane rated systems are allowable products for your jurisdiction.  States and counties have maps, similar to the 

State of Florida, depicting wind speeds for wind-borne debris regions.  Offi cial wind speeds are determined and periodically 

adjusted by the American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE).

WIDESPREAD REQUIREMENTS



www.lanaidoors.com6 www.lanaidoors.com



www.lanaidoors.com 7www.lanaidoors.com



www.lanaidoors.com8 www.lanaidoors.com



www.lanaidoors.com 9www.lanaidoors.com



www.lanaidoors.com10

Lanai Doors™ hurricane systems are custom built to the 

size of your rough opening.  The maximum size panel is 

36 inches wide by 96 inches tall.  With our narrow stiles 

and rails, a maximum sized panel has 77% visible glass.  

Lanai’s hurricane systems can be built with up to 16 panels 

(48 feet wide opening) with no more than eight panels 

folding to either direction.  In addition to the system size, 

customers have several options to customize the look and 

feel of their Lanai system.

Inswing or Outswing 
Lanai Doors™ qualifi ed both inswing and outswing 

confi gurations for their hurricane rated systems.  

Customers have the choice of 80 inswing or 80 outswing 

confi gurations.  Confi gurations are always determined by 

standing outside looking in.  See confi gurations on page 14 

for options.

DESIGNING  YOUR  SYSTEM
Three Thresholds
Lanai Doors™ qualifi ed three thresholds (Standard, Lowrise 

& Flush Guide) for their hurricane systems.  Lanai’s 

standard threshold is tested to DP-55 for water.  All three 

thresholds are considered water tight when the width 

of the overhang is equal to or greater than its height off 

the ground.

Lanai’s standard raised threshold obtained higher 

individual structural and cycling results.  Structurally, 

the standard threshold achieved a DP-80 negative (177 

mph winds) and DP-100 positive (198 mph winds) and 

successfully cycled at DP-90 (188 mph winds) for both 

outswing and inswing confi gurations.

All three thresholds come in Class I bronze or clear 

anodized fi nishes.  See threshold drawings on page 13

for details.

CREATIVE
Side Lite Side Lite

Above refl ects one creative Lanai Doors™ design fabricated 
for a restaurant that wanted stationary side lites integrated 
with our folding door system.



www.lanaidoors.com 11

C
USTO

M

Glazing 
Lanai Doors™ hurricane system includes one-inch thick 

hurricane-rated glass.  Lanai’s hurricane-rated glass is 

an insulated dual-glaze panel.  The interior impact glass 

is made with extra-tough DuPont™ SentryGlas® structural 

interlayer (.060 for small missile and .090 for large missile 

impact).  The external sheet of glass is fully-tempered 

(3/16” or 1/4” thick) clear, LowE, turtle or other tinted 

glass.  Other customer options include Argon gas and 

internal grids.

Paint/Finish
Lanai Doors™ has six standard paint colors (white, g brown, 

bronze, dark bronze, tan & sand) and two Class I anodized 

fi nishes of clear and dark bronze.  In addition, Lanai can 

color match fi nishes from all major door and window 

manufactures, including Kynar®.

Centor Hardware Finish
Centor E3 bi-fold hardware is manufactured from 304 

stainless steel.  Hinges, pivots, and carriers are available 

in stainless, PVD bronze or PVD brass fi nishes.  See bi-fold 

hardware on page 12 for more details.

Locking Mechanism Finish
Locking mechanisms, manufactured by an ASSA ABLOY 

company, are used by Lanai Doors™ to keep their folding 

panel systems securely locked and closed.   In addition 

to its’ Miami-Dade County HVHZ DP-70 rating, Lanai also 

passed 300 pound forced entry testing.  Two twin-bolt 

locks (TBL) are installed on hinged stiles and a 4-point 

lever compression lock (LCL) or a TBL is installed on odd 

numbered end panels.  The locks and matching-design 

handles are made from zinc alloy with aluminum shoot bolt 

rods and stainless steel tips.  Customers have the choice 

of four fi nishes (Brushed Chrome, Satin Chrome, White 

Powder Coat or Bronze Powder Coat) and a TBL with 

keyed access.

Flexible Rail Heights
For aesthetic or regulatory purposes, customers have the 

option between our standard 3-5/8” wide rail or our 7-1/4” 

and 11” extended rails.



www.lanaidoors.com12

Lanai Doors™ hurricane system is designed around 

the Centor E3 top hung bi-fold hardware.  The Centor 

hardware is a critical component to the Lanai hurricane 

system.  This durable solid stainless steel hardware 

requires only three hinges between each panel.

About Centor
Established in 1951, Centor is an Australian based 

manufacturing company operating internationally 

from headquarters in the Brisbane (AUS), Chicago 

(USA) and Birmingham (UK).  Centor creates 

innovative door and window hardware systems for 

residential and commercial applications.  Allowing 

for the extra weight of double glazing for large 

scale openings, Centor’s E3 folding door hardware 

promises unprecedented insulation against noise 

and temperature when the doors are closed.  The 

ability to utilize sturdy door construction and materials 

enhances security and resistance to the elements.

Tested for durability
Centor products are extensively tested to ensure 

years of trouble-free enjoyment.  Hardware is weather 

tested as both a complete door system and as 

individual components and cyclic tested to 50,000 

cycles.  E3 is backed by a 10-year limited warranty.

BIFOLD HARDWARE



www.lanaidoors.com 13

end carrierintermediate carriertop pivot

weatherseal

concealed bottom pivot concealed intermediate guide concealed end guide

hinge with handlewall pivot hinge

outside

Carriers
• four 1 1/2” x 7/16” carrier wheels 

with packed ball bearings

• two 7/8” x 11/32” stabilizing wheels

• hinges attached with Surelock™ 

patented carrier pin locking system 

allowing for easy vertical adjustment 

of 7/16”

 

Hinges
• substantial 4 1/8” x 1 1/8” .115 thick surface 

mounted hinges 

• manufactured from 304 grade Stainless Steel

• also available in bronze and bright gold

PVD fi nishes

Pivots
• top and bottom pivot housing allows 

for easy horizontal adjustment of 3/8”

• hinges attached to housing with 

stainless steel rod to Surelock™ 

allowing for easy vertical adjustment 

3/8”+_

3/8”+_



www.lanaidoors.com14

# of Panels

1 1L 1R

2 1L1R 2L 2R

3 1L2R 2L1R 3L 3R

4 1L3R 3L1R 2L2R 4L 4R

5 1L4R 4L1R 2L3R 3L2R 5L 5R

6 1L5R 5R1L 2L4R 4R2L 3L3R 6L 6R

7 1L6R 6L1R 2L5R 5L2R 3L4R 4R3L 7L 7R

8 1L7R 7L1R 2L6R 6L2R 3L5R 5L3R 4L4R 8L 8R

9 1L8R 8L1R 2L7R 7L2R 3L6R 6R3L 4L5R 5L4R

10 2L8R 8L2R 3L7R 7L3R 4L6R 6L4R 5L5R

11 3L8R 8L3R 4L7R 7L4R 5L6R 6L5R

12 4L8R 8L4R 5L7R 7L5R 6L6R

13 5L8R 8L5R 6L7R 7L6R

14 6L8R 8L6R 7L7R

15 7L8R 8L7R

16 8L8R

80 Outswing and 80 Inswing

AVAILABLE  CONFIGURATIONS



www.lanaidoors.com 15

1L 1R

2L 2R

3L 3R

4L 4R

5L 5R

6L 6R

7L 7R

8L 8R

Combine a left and a right confi guration or just one from either side to design over 80 
possible confi gurations. For example, a four-panel system with a man door could be:

1L 3R

Inside

Outside

OUTSWING CONFIGURATIONS

1L 1R

2L 2R

3L 3R

4L 4R

5L 5R

6L 6R

7L 7R

8L 8R

Combine a left and a right confi guration or just one from either side to design over 80 

possible confi gurations. For example, a four-panel system with a man door could be:

1L 3R

Inside

Outside

INSWING CONFIGURATIONS



www.lanaidoors.com16

43 8"

2116"
213 16"

Header

Outside Inside

HEADER & JAMB – OUTSWING

43
8"

1"

21
8"

15
16"

43
8"

1"

21
8"

15
16"

Jamb Jamb

Outside

Inside

Note: See Installation Instructions for proper attachment.



www.lanaidoors.com 17

THRESHOLDS – OUTSWING

7
8"

Finished
Floor

218"

43 8"

Outside Inside

Standard Threshold

13 32"

7
16"

Lowrise Threshold

Outside Inside

Note: See Installation Instructions for proper attachment.



www.lanaidoors.com18

THRESHOLDS – OUTSWING  cont’d

13 32"

23 4"

15
16"

Flush Lowrise Threshold

InsideOutside

Finished Floor Line

Note: See Installation Instructions for proper attachment.



www.lanaidoors.com 19

CRATING  &  SHIPPING
Lanai Doors™ takes pride in packaging its products.  To 

avoid damage in transit, Lanai packages all systems in 

custom made wood crates.  Each panel is individually 

packaged to allow for factory installed hardware.  This 

method also assists installers who are not familiar with our 

product or its component parts.

Each shipment will include a frame, panels and installation 

instructions.  The bi-fold system frames are shipped broken 

down.  A parts box will include installation instructions and 

assembly screws so that you can easily assemble the frame.  

The frame header will already include the top pivot and 

carriers.  The threshold will already include the bottom pivots.

The panels are completely glazed and prepped for 

installation.  The locking mechanisms (twin-bolts and 

door handles) will already be installed on the appropriate 

panels.  The hinges have a four-hole side and a three-hole 

side.  Hinges will already be attached to the panels using 

the four-hole side.  All door and frame insulation will be 

attached or included.  Each panel is pre-numbered for easy 

installation.  When installed, maximum sized panels weigh 

approximately 70 pounds per linear foot.



20

The S1E Eco-Screen™ from Centor is a world-fi rst product 

providing retractable insect screening and solar control system

with fi ngertip operation. Used with Lanai Doors™ folding range, 

there is greater freedom to enjoy outdoor living space.

S1E allows homeowners to have complete control of their living 

environment. Used singly or paired together S1E is ready for use 

whatever the season or time of day. S1E retracts horizontally and 

discreetly into its frame when not in use – a revolutionary solution 

for those who refuse to compromise on style.

The S1E Eco-Screen™ promotes an eco-friendly lifestyle by 

offering chemical-free insect protection, a tighter Noseeum bug 

mesh, solar control and thermal insulation; converting a single-

glaze opening to double-glaze performance.

* Note: The S1E Eco-Screen™ is not a hurricane certifi ed product.

Double System

option 1 – screen from right and left
option 2 – blind from right and left

Single Function System

option 1 – screen from right or left
option 2 – blind from right or left

Multi-function System

option 1 – screen from right, blind from left
option 2 – screen from left, blind from right

10’

12’

S1E Eco-Screen™ max daylight inside opening

Single Function System

      insect screen

      blind

12’ (W) x 10’ (H)

12’ (W) x 8’ (H)

Double System

      insect screen

      blind

24’ (W) x 10’ (H)

24’ (W) x 8’ (H)

Multi-function System 12’ (W) x 8’ (H)

8’

12’

8’

12’

8’

12’

24”

10’

8’

24”

CENTOR  S1E  ECO-SCREEN

www.lanaidoors.com



www.lanaidoors.com

IN
TERG

RATED
 D

ESIG
N

21

BIFOLD & SCREEN SECTION

13
32"

317
32"

729
32"

43
8"

3 7
16"

123
32"

227
32"

2 1
32"

7
8"

21
8"

13
32" Blocking Below Screen Threshold To Make
Level With Folding Door Threshold by Others

Sill Pan, Silicone &
Calking by Others

Outside Inside

Standard
Threshold

Header

Finished Floor

93"

97-1/16"
Screen
Frame
HeightLanai

Frame
Height

94-9/32"

1
2"

Rough
Opening
Height

Notch Foundation
1 916" Deep by
7 29

32" Wide

1 9
16"

19
32"

90-9/16" Panel
Height



941 North Elm Street, Suite C
Orange, CA  92867  USA
telephone (866) 907-DOOR
facsimile (714) 744-6030
email info@lanaidoors.com
www.lanaidoors.com

Coastal Innovative Products, Inc.
aka Lanai Doors™

Miami-Dade HVHZ
NOA 10-1019.01 & 10-1019.02
(Expires 7/21/16)

State of Florida
FL14768.1 & FL14768.2





Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-1 
 
 

UNIT 8 
SUBSTANTIAL IMPROVEMENT AND   
SUBSTANTIAL DAMAGE 
 
In this unit  

This unit covers:  

• The substantial improvement rule – how to regulate major additions and other 
improvements to buildings in the floodplain. 

• The substantial damage rule – how to regulate reconstruction and repairs to buildings 
that have been severely damaged.  

• Exceptions to the basic rules for some special cases.  

 



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-2 
 
 

CONTENTS 

INTRODUCTION.........................................................................................................8-3 

A. SUBSTANTIAL IMPROVEMENT...........................................................................8-4 

Projects Affected....................................................................................................8-4 
Post-FIRM buildings.................................................................................................................... 8-5 

The Formula...........................................................................................................8-5 
Project cost.................................................................................................................................. 8-6 
Market value................................................................................................................................ 8-6 

Substantial Improvement Examples.....................................................................8-10 
Example 1. Minor rehabilitation................................................................................................. 8-10 
Example 2. Substantial rehabilitation........................................................................................ 8-11 
Example 3. Lateral addition—residential .................................................................................. 8-12 
Example 4. Lateral addition—nonresidential ............................................................................ 8-13 
Example 5. Vertical addition—residential ................................................................................. 8-14 
Example 6. Vertical addition—nonresidential ........................................................................... 8-15 
Example 7. Post-FIRM building—minor addition ...................................................................... 8-16 
Example 8. Post-FIRM building—substantial improvement...................................................... 8-17 

B. SUBSTANTIAL DAMAGE....................................................................................8-18 

Cost to Repair ......................................................................................................8-18 

Substantial Damage Examples ............................................................................8-20 
Example 1. Reconstruction of a destroyed building.................................................................. 8-20 
Example 2. Substantially damaged structure............................................................................ 8-21 

Substantial Damage Software..............................................................................8-22 

Increased Cost of Compliance .............................................................................8-22 

C. SPECIAL SITUATIONS .......................................................................................8-25 

Exempt Costs.......................................................................................................8-25 

Historic Structures................................................................................................8-25 

Corrections of Code Violations.............................................................................8-26 
Example .................................................................................................................................... 8-27 



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-3 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 

In previous units we focused on the rules and regulations that prevent or reduce damage from 
floods to new buildings.  But what happens when the owner wishes to make an improvement, 
such as an addition, to an existing building? What if a building is damaged by a fire, flood or 
other cause?   

Basic rule: If the cost of improvements or the cost to repair the damage exceeds 50 percent of the 
market value of the building, it must be brought up to current floodplain management standards.   

 

That means an existing building must meet the requirements for new construction.  

People who own existing buildings that are being substantially improved will be required to 
make a major investment in them in order to bring them into compliance with the law. They will 
not be happy. If the buildings have just been damaged, they will be financially strapped and your 
elected officials will want to help them, not make life harder for them.  

For these reasons, it is easy to see that this basic rule can be difficult to administer. It is also 
the one time when your regulatory program can reduce flood damage to existing buildings. 
That’s why this course devotes this unit to administering the substantial improvements and 
substantial damage regulations.  

In this reference guide, the term “building” is the same as the term “structure” in the NFIP 
regulations. Your ordinance may use either term. The terms are reviewed in more detail in Unit 5, 
Section E.  

 



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-4 
 
 

A. SUBSTANTIAL IMPROVEMENT  

44 CFR 59.1. Definitions: “Substantial improvement” means any reconstruction, rehabilitation, 
addition or other improvement to a structure, the total cost of which equals or exceeds 50 percent of 
the market value of the structure before the start of construction of the improvement.
 

This section provides information on determining whether a building has been substantially 
improved and on what NFIP requirements apply.  

PROJECTS AFFECTED 

All building improvement projects worthy of a permit must be considered. These include:  

• Remodeling projects. 

• Rehabilitation projects.  

• Building additions.  

• Repair and reconstruction projects (these are addressed in more detail in Section B on 
substantial damage)  

If your community does not require permits for, say, reroofing, minor maintenance or 
projects under a certain dollar amount, then such projects are not subject to the substantial 
improvement requirements. However, if you have a larger project that includes reroofing, etc., 
then it must include the entire cost of the project.  

One problem you may face is a builder trying to avoid the requirement by applying for a 
permit for only part of the job and then later applying for another permit to finish the work. If 
both applications are together worth more than 50% of the value of the building, the combined 
project should be considered a substantial improvement and subject to the rules.  

FEMA requires that the entire improvement project be counted as one. In order to help you 
enforce this, you may want to count all applications submitted over, say, one year as one project. 
Check with your attorney on whether your ordinance clearly gives you the authority to do this 
and be sure to spell it out in the permit papers given to the applicant.  

Some communities require that improvements be calculated cumulatively over several years. 
All improvement and repair projects undertaken over a period of five years, 10 years or the life 
of the structure are added up. When they total 50 percent, the building must be brought into 
compliance as if it were new construction.   



The Community Rating System credits keeping track of improvements 
to enforce a cumulative substantial improvement requirement. It also 
credits using a lower threshold than 50 percent. These credits are found 
under Activity 430, Section 431.c and d in the CRS Coordinator’s Manual 
and the CRS Application. See also CRS Credit for Higher Regulatory 

Standards for example regulatory language.  

Post-FIRM buildings   

The rules do not address only pre-FIRM buildings—they cover all buildings, post-FIRM 
ones included.   

In most cases, a post-FIRM building will be properly elevated or otherwise compliant with 
regulations for new construction. However, sometimes a map change results in a higher BFE or 
change in FIRM zone. A substantial improvement to a post-FIRM building may require that the 
building be elevated to protect it from the new, higher, regulatory BFE.   

It should be remembered that all additions to a post-FIRM building must be elevated at least 
as high as the BFE in effect when the building was built. (You can’t allow a compliant building 
to become noncompliant by allowing additions at grade.) If a new, higher BFE has been adopted 
since the building was built, additions that are substantial improvements must be elevated to the 
new BFE.   

THE FORMULA 

A project is a substantial improvement if:  

 Cost of improvement project   >  50 percent  
 Market value of the building  
 

For example, if a proposed improvement project will cost $30,000 and the value of the 
building is $50,000:  

$30,000 = 0.6 (60 percent)  
$50,000  
 

The cost of the project exceeds 50 percent of the building’s value, so it is a substantial 
improvement. The floodplain regulations for new construction apply and the building must meet 

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-5 
 
 



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-6 
 
 

the post-FIRM construction requirements. If the project is an addition, only the addition has to 
be elevated (see the examples later in this section).  

The formula is based on the cost of the project and the value of the building. These two 
numbers must be reviewed in detail.  

Project cost  

The cost of the project means all structural costs, including  

• all materials  

• labor  

• built-in appliances  

• overhead  

• profit  

• repairs made to damaged parts of the building worked on at the same time  

 
A more detailed list is included in Figure 8-1.  

To determine substantial improvement, you need a detailed cost estimate for the project, 
prepared by a licensed general contractor, professional construction estimator or your office.  

Your office must review the estimate submitted by the permit applicant. To verify it, you can 
use your professional judgment and knowledge of local and regional construction costs, or you 
can use building code valuation tables published by the major building code groups.  These 
tables can be used for determining estimates for particular replacement items if the type of 
structure in question is listed in the tables.  

There are two possible exemptions you should be aware of: 1) improvements to correct code 
violations do not have to be included in the cost of an improvement or repair project and 2) 
historic buildings can be exempted from substantial improvement requirements. These are 
explained in more detail later on.  

Market value  

In common parlance, market value is the price a willing buyer and seller agree upon. The 
market value of a structure reflects its original quality, subsequent improvements, physical age 
of building components and current condition.  



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-7 
 
 

However, market value for property can be different than that of the building itself.  Market 
value of developed property varies widely due to the desirability of its location.  For example, 
two houses of similar size, quality and condition will have far different prices if one is on the 
coast, or in the best school district, or closer to town than the other—but the value of the 
building materials and labor that went into both houses will be nearly the same.  

  For the purposes of determining substantial improvement, market value pertains only to the 
structure in question. It does not pertain to the land, landscaping or detached accessory structures 
on the property.  Any value resulting from the location of the property should be attributed to the 
value of the land, not the building. 

  



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-8 
 
 

Items to be included 

 

 — All structural elements, including:  
 — Spread or continuous foundation footings and pilings  
 — Monolithic or other types of concrete slabs  
 — Bearing walls, tie beams and trusses  
 — Floors and ceilings  
 — Attached decks and porches  
 — Interior partition walls  
 — Exterior wall finishes (brick, stucco, siding) including painting and moldings  
 — Windows and doors  
 — Reshingling or retiling a roof  
 — Hardware  
 — All interior finishing elements, including:  
 — Tiling, linoleum, stone, or carpet over subflooring  
 — Bathroom tiling and fixtures  
 — Wall finishes (drywall, painting, stucco, plaster, paneling, marble, etc.)  
 — Kitchen, utility and bathroom cabinets  
 — Built-in bookcases, cabinets, and furniture  
 — Hardware  
 — All utility and service equipment, including:  
 — HVAC equipment  
 — Plumbing and electrical services  
 — Light fixtures and ceiling fans  
 — Security systems  
 — Built-in kitchen appliances  
 — Central vacuum systems  
 — Water filtration, conditioning, or recirculation systems   
 — Cost to demolish storm-damaged building components  
 — --- Labor and other costs associated with moving or altering undamaged building 

components to accommodate improvements or additions  
 — --- Overhead and profits    
  

Items to be excluded 
 

 — Plans and specifications  
 — Survey costs  
 — Permit fees  
 — Post-storm debris removal and clean up  
 — Outside improvements, including:  
 — Landscaping  
 — Sidewalks  
 — Fences  
 — Yard lights  
 — Swimming pools  
 — Screened pool enclosures  
 — Detached structures (including garages, sheds and gazebos)  
 — Landscape irrigation systems  

 
Figure 8-1. Items included in calculating cost of the project  



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-9 
 
 

Acceptable estimates of market value can be obtained from these sources:  

• An independent appraisal by a professional appraiser. The appraisal must exclude the 
value of the land and not use the “income capitalization approach” which bases value 
on the use of the property, not the structure.  

• Detailed estimates of the structure’s actual cash value— the replacement cost for a 
building, minus a depreciation percentage based on age and condition.  For most 
situations, the building’s actual cash value should approximate its market value. Your 
community may prefer to use actual cash value as a substitute for market value, 
especially where there is not sufficient data or enough comparable sales.  

• Property values used for tax assessment purposes with an adjustment recommended 
by the tax appraiser to reflect current market conditions (adjusted assessed value).    

• The value of buildings taken from NFIP claims data (usually actual cash value).  

• Qualified estimates based on sound professional judgment made by the staff of the 
local building department or tax assessor’s office.  

Some market value estimates are often used only as screening tools (i.e., NFIP claims data 
and property appraisals for tax assessment purposes) to identify those structures where the 
substantial improvement ratios are obviously less than or greater than 50 percent (i.e., less than 
40 percent or greater than 60 percent).  For structures that fall in the 40 percent to 60 percent 
range, more precise market value estimates are sometimes necessary.  



SUBSTANTIAL IMPROVEMENT EXAMPLES  

Example 1. Minor rehabilitation  

A rehabilitation  is defined as an improvement made to an existing structure which does not 
affect the external dimensions of the structure.    

If the cost of the rehabilitation is less than 50 percent of the structure’s market value, the 
building does not have to be elevated or otherwise protected. However, it is advisable to 
incorporate methods to reduce flood damage, such as use of flood-resistant materials and 
installation of electrical, heating and air conditioning units above the BFE.   

Figure 8-2 shows a building that had a small rehabilitation project. Central air conditioning 
was installed and the electrical system was upgraded. The value of the building before the 
project was $60,000. The value of the project was $12,000:  

$12,000 = 0.2 (20 percent)  The project costs less than 50 percent of the   
$60,000    building, so this is not a substantial improvement.   

  

 
Figure 8-2. Minor rehabilitations use flood-resistant methods and materials  

Neither structure would benefit from post-FIRM flood insurance 
rates because they are not elevated.    

Note: To gauge what happens to flood insurance premiums if a substantially improved 
building is not brought up to post-FIRM standards, see Figures 7-7 through 7-12.  

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-10 
 
 



Example 2. Substantial rehabilitation  

If the rehab costs more than 50 percent of the value of the building, your ordinance requires 
that an existing structure be elevated and/or the basement filled to meet the elevation standard.  

Figure 8-3 shows a building that has been allowed to run down. It’s market value is $35,000. 
To rehab it will require gutting the interior and replacing all wallboard, built-in cabinets, 
bathroom fixtures and furnace. The interior doors and flooring will be repaired. The house will 
get new siding and a new roof. The cost of this rehab will be $25,000:  

$25,000 = 71.4 percent   Because total cost of the project is greater   
$35,000        than 50 %the rehab is a substantial improvement  

 

 
Figure 8-3. substantially rehabilitated building elevated above the BFE.   

 
In A Zones, elevation may be on fill, crawlspace, columns, etc. In V Zones, only pilings, columns or 

other open foundations are allowed.  The new structure would benefit from post-FIRM flood insurance 
rates.  

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-11 
 
 



Example 3. Lateral addition—residential  

Additions are improvements that increase the square footage of a structure.  Commonly, this 
includes the structural attachment of a bedroom, den, recreational room garage or other type of 
addition to an existing structure.   Note that if one building is attached to another through a 
covered breezeway or similar connection, it is a separate building and not an addition.  

When an addition is a substantial improvement, the addition must be elevated or 
floodproofed, providing that improvements to the existing structure are minimal.  Figures 8-4 
and 8-5 illustrate lateral additions that are compliant.    

Depending on the flood zone and details of the project, the existing building may not have to 
be elevated. The determining factors are the common wall and what improvements are made to 
the existing structure. If the common wall is demolished as part of the project, then the entire 
structure must be elevated. If only a doorway is knocked through it and only minimal finishing is 
done, then only the addition has to be elevated.  

In A Zones only, if significant improvements are made to the existing structure (such as a 
kitchen makeover), both it and the addition must be elevated and otherwise brought into 
compliance. Some states and many communities require that both the existing structure and 
lateral additions be elevated in all cases.  

In V Zones, the existing structure always has to be elevated, placed on an engineered 
foundation system, etc., when an addition is proposed that constitutes a substantial improvement.  
This is due to the “free-of obstruction” standard whereby the lower existing structure would 
obstruct the storm surge, causing damage to the addition.  

 
Figure 8-4. Lateral additions to a residential building in an A Zone.   

In V Zones, the entire building must be elevated on pilings, columns or other open foundations. The 

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-12 
 
 



structure on the left would not benefit from post-FIRM flood insurance rates because it was not elevated.  

Example 4. Lateral addition—nonresidential 

A substantial improvement addition to a nonresidential building may be either elevated or 
floodproofed. Otherwise, all the criteria for residential buildings reviewed in Example 3 must be 
met.  

If floodproofing is used, the builder must ensure that the wall between the addition and the 
original building is floodproofed. Floodproofing is not allowed as a construction measure in V 
Zones.  

 
Figure 8-5. Lateral addition to a nonresidential building in an A Zone.   

This approach is not allowed in V Zones. The structure would not benefit from post-FIRM flood 
insurance rates because the original building was not elevated or flood-proofed.  

  

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-13 
 
 



Example 5. Vertical addition—residential  

When the proposed substantial improvement is a full or partial second floor, the entire 
structure must be elevated (Figure 8-6). In this instance, the existing building provides the 
foundation for the addition. Failure of the existing building would result in failure of the 
addition, too.  

  

 
Figure 8-6. Vertical addition to a residential building in a V Zone.   

The new structure would benefit from post-FIRM flood insurance rates.  

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-14 
 
 



Example 6. Vertical addition—nonresidential  

When the proposed substantial improvement is a full or partial second floor, the entire 
structure must be elevated or floodproofed (Figure 8-7).   

The owner could obtain post-FIRM rates on the building if it is floodproofed to one foot 
above the BFE and he has a floodproofing certificate signed by a registered engineer. An 
optional approach is to elevate the entire building and obtain an elevation certificate.  

 
Figure 8-7. Vertical addition to a nonresidential building in an A Zone.  

 

The new floodproofed structure would benefit from post-FIRM flood insurance rates.  

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-15 
 
 



Example 7. Post-FIRM building—minor addition  

All additions to post-FIRM buildings are defined as new construction and must meet the 
requirements of your floodplain management ordinance regardless of the size or cost of the 
addition (Figure 8-8). A small addition to a residential structure that is not a substantial 
improvement must be elevated at least as high as the BFE in effect when the building was built.  
Minor additions to nonresidential structures can be floodproofed to the BFE.  

If a map revision has taken place and the BFE has increased, only additions that are 
substantial improvements have to be elevated to the new BFE or flood-proofed (nonresidential 
buildings only).  

 
Figure 8-8. Small additions to post-FIRM buildings must be elevated.  

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-16 
 
 



Example 8. Post-FIRM building—substantial improvement  

Substantial improvements made to a post-FIRM structure must meet the requirements of the 
current ordinance. Figure 8-9 shows a lateral addition made after a map revision took place and 
the BFE was increased.  

  

 
Figure 8-9. Substantial improvements to post-FIRM buildings must be elevated above the 

new BFE. Nonresidential buildings may be floodproofed   

  

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-17 
 
 



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-18 
 
 

B. SUBSTANTIAL DAMAGE  

44 CFR 59.1. Definitions: "Substantial damage" means damage of any origin sustained by a 
structure whereby the cost of restoring the structure to its before damaged condition would equal or 
exceed 50 percent of the market value of the structure before the damage occurred. 
 

Two key points:  

• The damage can be from any cause—flood, fire, earthquake, wind, rain, or other 
natural or human-induced hazard.   

• The substantial damage rule applies to all buildings in a flood hazard area, regardless 
of whether the building was covered by flood insurance.    

The formula is essentially the same as for substantial improvements:  

          Cost to repair                 >  50 percent  
Market value of the building  
 
Market value is calculated in the same way as for substantial improvements. Use the pre-

damage market value.  

COST TO REPAIR 

Notice that the formula uses “cost to repair,” not “cost of repairs.” The cost to repair the 
structure must be calculated for full repair to the building’s before-damage condition, even if the 
owner elects to do less. It must also include the cost of any improvements that the owner has 
opted to include during the repair project.  

The total cost to repair includes the same items listed in Figure 8-1. As shown in Example 2 
below, properly repairing a flooded building can be more expensive than people realize. The 
owner may opt not to pay for all of the items needed. The owner may:  

• Do some of the work, such as removing and discarding wallboard.  

• Obtain some of the materials free.  

• Have a volunteer organization, such as the Mennonites, do some of the work.  

• Decide not to do some repairs, such as choosing to nail down warped flooring rather 
than replace it.  

 



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-19 
 
 

 
Basic rule: Substantial damage is determined regardless of the actual cost to the owner. You must 
figure the true cost of bringing the building back to its pre-damage condition using qualified labor and 
materials obtained at market prices.  

 

The permit office and the owner may have serious disagreements over the total list of needed 
repairs and their cost, as the owner has a great incentive to show less damage than actually 
occurred in order to avoid the cost of bringing the building into compliance. Here are four things 
that can help you:  

• Get the cost to repair from an objective third-party or undebatable source, such as:  

- A licensed general contractor.   

- A professional construction estimator.   

- Insurance adjustment papers (exclude damage to contents).  

- Damage assessment field surveys conducted by building inspection, 
emergency management or tax assessment agencies after a disaster.  

- Your office.  

• Even if your office does not prepare the cost estimate, it needs to review the estimate 
submitted by the permit applicant. You can use your professional judgment and 
knowledge of local and regional construction costs. Or, you can use building code 
valuation tables published by the major building code groups.   

• Use an objective system that does not rely on varying estimates of market value or 
different opinions of what needs to be repaired. The Substantial Damage Estimator 
Program discussed later in this section will do this.  

• Publicize the need for the regulations and the benefits of protecting buildings from 
future flooding. A well-educated public won’t argue as much as one that sees no need 
for the requirement.  

• Help the owner find financial assistance to meet the extra cost of complying with the 
code. If there was a disaster declaration, there may be sources of financial assistance 
as discussed in the next unit. If the owner had flood insurance and the building was 
substantially damaged by a flood, the new Increased Cost of Compliance coverage 
will help (see next section).  

  
 



SUBSTANTIAL DAMAGE EXAMPLES  

Example 1. Reconstruction of a destroyed building  

Reconstructions  are cases where an entire structure is destroyed, damaged, purposefully 
demolished or razed, and a new structure is built on the old foundation or slab.  The term also 
applies when an existing structure is moved to a new site.    

Reconstructions are, quite simply, “new construction.” They must be treated as new 
buildings.  

  

 
     Razed or “totaled” building               Reconstruction on  

  with remaining foundation      existing foundation  

  
Figure 8-10. A reconstructed house is new construction.  

This example is for A Zones only. A new building in the V Zone must be elevated on piles or columns.  

  

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-20 
 
 



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-21 
 
 

Example 2. Substantially damaged structure  

To determine if a damaged structure meets the threshold for substantial damage, the cost of 
repairing the structure to its before-damaged condition is compared to the market value of the 
structure prior to the damage.  The estimated cost of the repairs must include all costs necessary 
to fully repair the structure to its before-damaged condition.    

If equal to or greater than 50 percent of that structure’s market value before damage, then the 
structure must be elevated (or floodproofed if it is nonresidential) to or above the level of the 
base flood, and meet other applicable local ordinance requirements. This is the basic requirement 
for substantial damage.   

Figure 8-11 graphically illustrates the amount of damage that can occur to a building flooded 
only four feet deep. Even though the structure appears sound and there are no cracks or breaks in 
the foundation, the total cost of repair can be significant.   

The cost of repair after a flood that simply soaked the building will typically include the 
following structural items:  

 — Remove all wallboard and insulation.  
 — Install new wallboard and insulation.  
 — Tape and paint.  
 — Remove carpeting and vinyl flooring.  
 — Dry floor, replace warped flooring.  
 — Replace cabinets in the kitchen and bathroom.  
 — Replace built-in appliances.  
 — Replace hollow-core interior doors.  
 — Replace furnace and water heater.  
 — Clean and disinfect duct work.  
 — Repair porch flooring and front steps.  
 — Clean and test plumbing (licensed plumber may be required).  
 — Replace outlets and switches, clean and test wiring (licensed electrician may be 

required).   
 

Note: See also Figures 7-7 through 7-12 for what happens to flood insurance premiums if a 
substantially damaged building is granted a variance and is not brought up to post-FIRM 
standards.  

 



  
Figure 8-11. Even slow moving floodwater can cause substantial damage.   

  

SUBSTANTIAL DAMAGE SOFTWARE 

FEMA has developed a software program to help local officials make substantial damage 
determinations.  The software is based on Microsoft Access, but is self-contained and does not 
require any software in addition to a Windows operating system.   

The software comes with a manual, Guide on Estimating Substantial Damage Using the 
NFIP Residential Substantial Damage Estimator, FEMA 311. This includes a user’s manual and 
worksheets that allow the calculations to be done manually.  

Contact your FEMA Regional Office for a copy of the software package and help in using it. 
Following a major disaster declaration, training sessions and technical assistance may be 
available.  

INCREASED COST OF COMPLIANCE  

On June 1, 1997, the NFIP began offering additional coverage to all holders of structural 
flood insurance policies.  This coverage is called Increased Cost of Compliance  or ICC.   

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-22 
 
 

The name refers to cases where the local floodplain management ordinance requires 
elevation or retrofitting of a substantially damaged building. Under ICC, the flood insurance 
policy will not only pay for repairs to the flooded building, it will pay up to $30,000 to help 
cover the additional cost of complying with the ordinance. This is available for any flood 



insurance claim and, therefore, is not dependent on the community receiving a disaster 
declaration.  

There are some limitations to ICC:    

• It’s only available if there was a flood insurance policy on the building before the 
flood.  

• It covers only damage caused by a flood.  

• Claims are limited to $30,000 per structure.  

• Claims must be accompanied by a substantial damage determination by the 
floodplain ordinance administrator.   

It should also be mentioned that a portion of the rest of the claim payment may help meet the 
cost of bringing the building up to code. For example, if there was foundation damage, the 
regular claim will pay for the cost of repairing or replacing the foundation. The ICC funds would 
only be needed for the extra costs of raising the foundation higher than it was before.  

An ICC claim cannot be paid unless the community has determined the building to be 
substantially damaged and requires that the building comply with local ordinance requirements.  
For further information on how ICC coverage works and how you can help policyholders in your 
community qualify for the coverage, refer to National Flood Insurance Program’s Increased 
Cost of Compliance Coverage: Guidance for State and Local Officials, FEMA 301.  

In certain cases, an ICC claim can be filed if the building is repetitively flooded, and has had 
two or more claims averaging 25% or more of building value within a ten-year period, provided 
the community has language in the flood damage ordinance that implements the substantial 
damage rule in these cases.   

Figure 8-12 has example ordinance language. This language exceeds the minimum NFIP 
requirements, but would be needed if you wanted to trigger the ICC provision for repetitively 
damaged buildings.  

The Community Rating System credits keeping track of improvements 
to enforce a cumulative substantial improvement requirement. The 1999 
CRS Coordinator’s Manual credits the ordinance language in Figure 8-12. 
These credits are found under Activity 430, Section 431.c in the CRS 
Coordinator’s Manual and the CRS Application.  

Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-23 
 
 

 



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-24 
 
 

Option 1  
 
A. Adopt the Following Definition:  
 
“Repetitive Loss” means flood-related damage sustained by a structure on two separate 
occasions during a 10-year period for which the cost of repairs at the time of each such flood 
event, on the average, equals or exceeds 25 percent of the market value of the structure before 
the damage occurred.  
 
B. And modify the “substantial improvement” definition as follows:  
 
“Substantial Improvement” means any reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition, or other 
improvement of a structure, the cost of which equals or exceeds 50 percent of the market value 
of the structure before the “start of construction” of the improvement. This term includes 
structures which have incurred “repetitive loss” or “substantial damage”, regardless of the actual 
repair work performed.  
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------  
Option 2  
 
Modify the substantial damage definition as follows:  
 
“Substantial Damage” means damage of any origin sustained by a structure whereby the cost of 
restoring the structure to its before damaged condition would equal or exceed 50 percent of the 
market value of the structure before the dam-age occurred. Substantial damage also means 
flood-related damage sustained by a structure on two separate occasions during a 10-year 
period for which the cost of repairs at the time of each such flood event, on the average, equals 
or exceeds 25 percent of the market value of the structure before the damage occurred.  
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------  
 
NOTE 1: Communities need to make sure that these definitions are tied to the floodplain 
management requirements for new construction and substantial improvements and to any other 
requirements of the ordinance, such as the permit requirements, in order to enforce this 
provision.  
 
NOTE 2: An ICC Claim Payment is ONLY made for flood-related damage. The substantial 
damage part of the definition must still include “damage of any origin” to be compliant with the 
minimum NFIP Floodplain Management Regulations.  

 
Figure 8-12. Sample ordinance language for ICC repetitive loss definitions  

Source: --  Increased Cost of Compliance Coverage: Guidance for State and Local 
Officials, FEMA-301, September 2003. This language is only needed to trigger an ICC 
payment for a repetitive loss. No ordinance changes are needed for the ICC coverage 

for substantial damage.  



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-25 
 
 

C. SPECIAL SITUATIONS 

As explained in previous sections, the substantial improvement and substantial damage 
requirements affect all buildings regardless of the reason for the improvement or the cause of the 
damage. There are three special situations you should be aware of: exempt costs, historic 
buildings and corrections of code violations.  

EXEMPT COSTS 

Certain costs related to making improvements or repairing damaged buildings do not have to 
be counted toward the cost of the improvement or repairs. These include:  

• Plans and specifications.  

• Surveying costs.  

• Permit fees.   

• Demolition or emergency repairs made for health or safety reasons or to prevent 
further damage to the building.  

• Improvements or repairs to items outside the building, such as the driveway, fencing, 
landscaping and detached structures.  

HISTORIC STRUCTURES 

Historic structures are exempted from the substantial improvement requirements subject to 
the criteria listed below.  The exemption can be granted administratively if the current NFIP 
definitions of substantial improvement and historic structure are included in your ordinance, or 
they can be granted through a variance procedure.    

In either case, they are usually granted subject to conditions.     

If the improvements to a historic structure meet the following three criteria and are approved 
by the community, the building will not have to be elevated or floodproofed. It can also retain its 
pre-FIRM flood insurance rating status.  

1. The building must be a bona fide “historic structure.” Figure 7-13 has the definition 
that must be followed.   



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-26 
 
 

2. The project must maintain the historic status of the structure.  If the proposed 
improvements to the structure will result in it being removed from or ineligible for the National 
Register or federally-certified state or local inventory, then the proposal cannot be granted an 
exemption from the substantial improvement rule.    

The best way to make such determinations is to seek written review and approval of 
proposed plans by the local historic preservation board, if it is federally-certified, or by the state 
historic preservation office.  If the plans are approved, you can grant the exemption.  If not, no 
exemption can be permitted.  

3. Take all possible flood damage reduction measures.  Even though the exemption to the 
substantial improvement rule means the building does not have to be elevated to or above BFE, 
or be renovated with flood-resistant materials that are not historically sensitive, many things can 
and should be done to reduce the flood damage potential. Examples include:  

• Locating mechanical and electrical equipment above the BFE or flood-proofing it.  

• Elevating the lowest floor of an addition to or above the BFE with the change in floor 
elevation disguised externally.  

CORRECTIONS OF CODE VIOLATIONS 

The NFIP definition of substantial improvement includes another exemption:  

44 CFR 59.1 Definitions: "Substantial improvement" means …. The term does not, however, 
include … Any project for improvement of a structure to correct existing violations of state or local 
health, sanitary, or safety code specifications which have been identified by the local code 
enforcement official and which are the minimum necessary to assure safe living conditions  

Note the key words in this exemption:  correct existing violations, identified by the local 
official, and minimum necessary to assure safe conditions.  This language was included in order 
to avoid penalizing property owners who had no choice but to make improvements to their 
buildings or face condemnation or revocation of a business license.    

This exemption was intended for involuntary improvements or violations that existed before 
the improvement permit was applied for or before the damage occurred—for example, a 
restaurant owner who must  upgrade the wiring in his  kitchen in order to meet current local and 
state health and safety codes.  

You can only exempt the items specifically required by code. For example, if a single stair 
tread was defective and had to be replaced, do not exempt the cost of rebuilding the entire 
stairway. Similarly, count only replacement in like kind and what is minimally necessary. If the 



Substantial Improvement/Damage 8-27 
 
 

owner chooses to upgrade the quality of a code-required item, the extra cost is not exempt from 
the formula—it’s added to the true cost of the improvement or repairs.  

Unfortunately, many property owners and builders pressure local building official to exclude 
“code violation corrections” from their voluntary improvement proposals.  There are “code 
violations” in all structures built before the current code was enacted. In many cases, those 
elements must be brought up to code as part of an improvement project.    

This is very different from a code violation citation that forces a property owner to correct 
those violations and make improvements that were otherwise not planned. The building official 
must know about and document the violations before or at the time the permit is issued.  

Example  

A small business in a 40-year old building was damaged by a fire. The building’s pre-fire 
market value was $100,000. The insurance adjuster and the permit office concluded that the total 
cost to repair would be $45,000.   

However, the community’s building code states that whenever an applicant applies for a 
permit to modify or improve a building, the building must be brought up to code. This building 
would need the following additional work:  

• Replace unsafe electrical wiring.  

• Install missing fire exit signs, smoke detectors and emergency lighting.  

• Widen the front door and install a ramp to make the business accessible to 
handicapped and mobility-impaired people.  

The total cost of these code requirements would be $8,000. However, since these were 
required by the code before the fire occurred, they would not have to be counted toward the cost 
to repair. Based on the basic formula:  

 
 $45,000  = 0.45 or 45%  The building is not declared 
$100,000           substantially damaged  
 

In this example, the building can be repaired without elevating or floodproofing. However, 
the permit office should strongly recommend incorporating flood protection measures and flood 
resistant materials in the repair project (as in the example in Figure 8-2). 

  



 

 
City Of Lake Worth 

Department for Community Sustainability 

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division 

1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687  
  

 
MEMORANDUM DATE:   September 7, 2016 
 
AGENDA DATE:  September 14, 2016 
 
TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
RE:   1111 North Lakeside Drive 
 
FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
 Department for Community Sustainability 
 
TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100193: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for window 
and door replacement for the single-family structure located at 1111 N Lakeside Drive; PCN# 
38434421153580140.  The subject property was constructed in 1951 and is a contributing resource within 
the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District. 
 

OWNER/APPLICANT:   Ron Dixon 

                                         1111 North Lakeside Drive 

                           Lake Worth, FL 33460 

 

  

BACKGROUND:  

The single-family structure at 1111 North Lakeside Drive was designed by architect Agnes Ballard in 1951 in a Ranch 
style.  The property has public frontage on North Lakeside Drive to the east.  The building was constructed in a 
Ranch style with many elements of Mid-Century Masonry Vernacular architecture, and still retains many of its 
character defining features.  These character defining features include the decorative front porch and columns, the 
original silver aluminum awning windows, the decorative brickwork and trim, clamshell shutters, a recessed panel 
garage door, brick planter beds, and concrete masonry construction with a smooth stucco finish. 

 

The original architectural plans for the building are available in the City’s property files.  Based on the information 
in the property file, some exterior alterations have occurred over time, including roof replacement from flat white 
concrete tile to dimensional asphalt shingle, enclosure of the carport, and two small additions to the rear.  Although 
the original architectural drawings show the proposed windows as steel casements, the initial property appraiser’s 
card from January 1952 lists the window type as aluminum awning.  Overall, the building retains a high degree of 
historic integrity of location, setting, materials, and design, and is an excellent example of the Ranch style. 

 

REQUEST:  

The Applicant is proposing exterior modifications to the building as follows: 

1) Replace all of the existing original silver awning windows with white aluminum casement, single-hung, and 
horizontal roller windows, per the plans and photos provided. 

2) Replace the existing front door with a single full-light French door. 

3) Replace the existing recessed short panel garage door with a recessed short panel garage door. 

4) Remove the entire west wall of the rear Florida room, and install an OXXO sliding glass door. 
 



HRPB No. 16-00100193 
1111 N Lakeside Dr 

COA Application – Window Replacement 
Page 2 

 

2 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY: 

It is the analysis of Staff that the project, as proposed, is not fully consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals 
and objectives concerning historic preservation and housing due to the fact that the Applicant is proposing a 
change that will have an adverse effect on the historic integrity of the property.  Specifically, the request is in 
conflict with these objectives: 

 

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where appropriate restrict 
development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2) 

 
Objective 3.2.5:   To encourage the identification of historically significant housing, and to promote its 
preservation and rehabilitation as referenced by the Surveys of Historic Properties conducted for the City 
of Lake Worth. 
 
Policy 3.2.5.1:  Properties of special value for historic, architectural, cultural or aesthetic reasons will be 
restored and preserved through the enforcement of the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance to the 
extent feasible. 
 
ANALYSIS:   
Zoning 
The proposed alterations are not in conflict with the development requirements in the City’s Zoning Code.   

 

Historic Preservation 

Staff has reviewed the documentation and materials provided in this application and outlined the applicable 
guidelines and standards found in the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance, detailed in Attachment 1 – Decision 
Criteria. 

 
The National Park Service and Secretary of the Interior’s Standards have very specific criteria regarding replacement 
of historic materials.  Specifically, Standards 2, 5, and 6 apply in this situation: 
 
Standard 2 - The historic character of a property will be retained and preserved. The removal of distinctive 
materials or alteration of features, spaces, and spatial relationships that characterize a property will be avoided. 
 
Standard 5 - Distinctive materials, features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship 
that characterize a property will be preserved. 
 
Standard 6 - Deteriorated historic features will be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity of 
deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature will match the old in design, color, 
texture, and, where possible, materials. Replacement of missing features will be substantiated by documentary 
and physical evidence. 

 
It is the analysis of Staff that the project as proposed is not compatible with the review criteria set forth in the City’s 
Land Development Regulations, Historic Preservation Ordinance, and Section 23.5-4.   
 
According to the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards, distinctive materials that characterize a property shall be 
preserved.  The original silver aluminum awning windows are an important character defining feature on this 
structure, and appear to be in good condition.  The Applicant has not provided any information regarding the 
feasibility of repairing the existing windows. 



HRPB No. 16-00100193 
1111 N Lakeside Dr 

COA Application – Window Replacement 
Page 3 

 

3 

According to the Standards and the Code, the windows should be repaired if at all possible, and if repair is not 
possible, replacement windows should match the design, color, texture, and materials of the existing windows.  
Staff has recommended impact silver aluminum casement windows with exterior raised applied triangular muntins 
to replicate the appearance of the original windows.  Clear anodized, or silver mill finish windows would most closely 
replicate the existing color and appearance of the silver windows.   
 
The Applicant’s request utilizes casement windows with exterior raised applied muntins on the entire front 
elevation, which is compatible with the Code and Staff recommendation.  The requested front door is compatible 
with the design style of the structure.  The proposed garage door is compatible with the Code and Staff 
recommendation.  The Applicant has requested single-hung windows on the side and rear elevations.  Because 
these are secondary elevations, the existing windows are two-pane awning windows, and the Applicant is proposing 
the casement style windows on the front elevation, Staff is in support of the proposal.  For openings 10 and 14, 
Staff recommends (2) 2/2 single-hung windows, in order to replicate the existing configuration.  Where 3-pane 
awning windows exist on the side elevations, Staff recommends replacement with 2/2 single-hung or 3-light 
casement windows. 
 
Public Comment 
At the time of publication of this report, Staff has not received any public comment regarding this project.  
 
CONSEQUENT ACTION:   
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain to 
request additional information; or deny the application. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends that the Board discuss the feasibility of repairing and maintaining the existing windows.  If 
hurricane impact protection is requested, the Applicant could explore alternate means of protection including 
removable shutter panels or fabric screens.  If the windows are repairable, then the proposal for replacement does 
not meet the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation, does not meet the criteria set forth in the City 
of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations §23.5-4(k), and will have an adverse effect on the integrity and 
character of the property. 
 
If the Board decides that repair is not a feasible option, and the Board determines that replacement windows and 
doors are appropriate for the structure, Staff recommends the following conditions: 
 

1) Replacement windows on the east (front) elevation shall be aluminum casement and fixed windows as 
proposed, match the original window opening sizes, and have a divided light pattern that replicates the 
original aluminum awning windows.   

2) Replacement windows on the north, south, and west elevations (sides and rear) may be replaced with either 
casement or single-hung windows.  Where 2-light awning windows exist, a 1/1 single-hung window may be 
used.  Where 3-light awning windows exist, they shall be replaced with 2/2 (4 light) single-hung windows. 

3) For openings 10 and 14, the replacement windows shall be (2) 2/2 single-hung windows, in order to 
replicate the existing configuration.   

4) The divided light pattern shall be created by using exterior raised applied triangular muntins to replicate 
the pane configuration of the awning windows.  No flat or internal muntins shall be allowed.  The proper 
divided light pattern and muntin profile shall be reviewed by Staff at permitting. 

5) The aluminum window replacements shall have a clear anodized or silver mill finish in order to most closely 
replicate the original aluminum windows. 



HRPB No. 16-00100193 
1111 N Lakeside Dr 

COA Application – Window Replacement 
Page 4 

 

4 

6) The Applicant shall utilize light gray screens rather than dark vinyl screens in order to minimize the impact 
of the panes of glass sitting in different visual planes. 

7) No reflective or mirrored glass shall be used. 
8) The west elevation of the rear Florida room may be replaced with an OXXO sliding glass door as proposed. 
9) The garage door shall be replaced with a recessed short panel door, as shown in the submittal material. 
10) All original clamshell shutters shall be maintained on the structure. 
11) All work shall be subject to staff review during permitting and inspection during construction. 

 
POTENTIAL MOTIONS:   
I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 16-00100193: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for window and 
door replacement for the subject building located at 1111 North Lakeside Drive, with the conditions as 
recommended by Staff, based upon the preponderance of competent substantial evidence, and pursuant to the 
City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4. 
 
I MOVE TO DENY HRPB 16-00100193: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for window and door 
replacement for the subject building located at 1111 North Lakeside Drive because the Applicant has not 
established by a preponderance of the competent substantial evidence that the application is in compliance with 
the City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4, the Secretary of the interiors Standards for 
the Rehabilitation of Historic Properties, and the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Decision Criteria 
2. Justification Statement 
3. Photographs  
4. Floor plan and survey 
5. Proposed Materials 

 
LOCATION MAP 

 

  



 
MEMORANDUM 

 
DATE: September 7, 2016 
 
TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Preservation Planning Coordinator 
 Department of Community Sustainability 
 
SUBJECT:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100193: Consideration of a Certificate of 

Appropriateness (COA) for window and door replacement for the single-family 
structure located at 1111 N Lakeside Drive; PCN# 38434421153580140.  The 
subject property was constructed in 1951 and is a contributing resource within the 
Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District. 

 
HRPB Meeting Date: September 14, 2016 
  
 
Per Section 23.5-4k (1) of the historic preservation ordinance, the Board shall use the 
following criteria in making a determination: 
 
A.   What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such work 
is to be done?   

Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the work proposed would have a partial adverse effect on 
the historic appearance of the building, and is not fully compatible with the design or style. 

 
B.   What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or other 
property in the historic district?   
Response: The proposed work will have no direct physical effect on any surrounding properties within 
the surrounding Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District, however it will have an indirect visual effect 
on the district. 
 
C.   To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural style, 
design, arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be affected?    
Response: The Applicant is proposing work that is not compatible with the architectural design and 
detailing of the building by removing the historic aluminum awning windows and replacing the 
majority of them with white aluminum windows (horizontal roller, single-hung, and casement), and 
the remainder of them with white aluminum sliding doors. 
 
D.   Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable 
beneficial use of his property?  
Response: No, the denial of this COA as submitted does not prevent the Applicant from potentially 
proposing other alterations to the structure, nor would it make the building uninhabitable. 
 
E.   Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a reasonable 
time?  
Response: Yes. 
 



F.   Do the plans satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria contained in the United States 
Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect or as they may be revised from 
time to time? The current version of the Secretary's Guidelines provides as follows: 
 
(1)   A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal 
change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.   

 Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed. 
 
(2)   This historic character of the property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic 
materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided.   
Response: The Applicant is proposing to remove multiple windows that are character-defining 
features of this property. 

 
(3)   Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use. Changes that 
create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural 
elements from other buildings, shall not be undertaken.  
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 
(4) Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their 
own right shall be retained and preserved.    
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 
(5)   Distinctive features, finishes and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 
characterize a historic property shall be preserved.   
Response: The original windows are an example of craftsmanship that characterizes not only this 
structure, but also the time period and architectural style in general. 

 
(6)   Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. In 
the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being replaced in 
composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities.  
Response: The proposed window replacement does not match the existing in style, composition, 
design, or color.   
 
Repair or replacement of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of 
features, substantiated by historical, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs 
or because the different architectural elements from other buildings or structures happen to be 
available for relocation.  
Response: Not applicable to this project. 

 
(7)   Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials, 
shall not be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the 
gentlest means possible.  
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 
(8)   Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If such 
resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken.  
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 



(9)   New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction shall not destroy historic 
materials that characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the old 
and shall be compatible with the massing, size, scale and architectural features to protect the historic 
integrity of the property and its environment.   
Response: The proposed alterations remove historic windows that characterize the property. 
 
(10)   New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such manner 
that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic building and its 
environment would be unimpaired.   
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 
G.   What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure which 
served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least possible adverse 
effect on those elements or features?   
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the historic character of the property would be adversely 
affected by the proposed project as submitted by the Applicant, as outlined above.  The requested 
exterior alterations do not represent the least possible adverse effect on the property.  There are 
alternate options, including repair of the existing windows, and replacement in a clear anodized finish. 
 
Section 23.5-4k (2). Additional guidelines for alterations. 
 
In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for alterations, the HRPB shall 
also consider the following additional guidelines:  
 
A. Is every reasonable effort being made to provide a compatible use for a property that requires 
minimal alteration of the building, structure or site and its environment, or to use the property for its 
originally intended purpose?  
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed.  
 
B. Are the distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure or site and its 
environment being destroyed? The removal or alteration of any historic material or distinctive 
architectural features shall be avoided whenever possible.  
Response: The windows can be considered a distinctive architectural feature and should not be 
removed unless the level of deterioration is such that the windows cannot be repaired.  In that case, 
the replacement windows should replicate the original windows as closely as possible. 
 
C. When a certificate of appropriateness is requested to replace windows or doors, the HRPB shall 
permit the property owner's original design when the HRPB's alternative design would result in an 
increase in cost of thirty (30) percent above the owner's original cost. The owner shall be required to 
demonstrate to the HRPB that:  
(1) The work to be performed will conform to the original window openings of the structure; and 
Response: The applicant meets this criterion for the majority of windows, but is in conflict with this 
criterion at those locations where the applicant is proposing to replace existing awning windows with 
new sliding doors. 
 
(2) That the replacement windows or doors with less expensive materials will achieve a savings in 
excess of thirty (30) percent over historically compatible materials otherwise required by this code.  
Response: Staff must defer to the applicant. 



Criteria for Granting Certificates of Appropriateness 
 
A) The effect of the proposed window and door replacement is very minor to windows on the front and 
sides of the home. The most obvious change is the windows frames will be white instead of aluminum in 
color. Horizontal muttons are added to casement windows to retain the original style of the awning 
windows that are original to the home. Single hung windows are used in openings that only had a two 
panel awning style window which are located on the sides and back of the house.  A new garage door is 
also being installed using the same recessed panel style original to the home. 
 
B) There is not relationship with the work being completed to any other structure, landmark or property 
in the historical district. 
 
C) The windows frames are proposed to be white instead of aluminum in color. 
 
D) The denial of the certificate would deprive the owner the ability to properly protect his home, family 
and possessions. Also the owner would be deprived of the ability to make his home more energy 
efficient, secure from theft, lower insurance costs, and protection from natural disasters.  
 
E) There are no issues with the ability to carry out the proposed plans in a timely manner. 
 
F) Interior Standards for Rehabilitation 

1) The replacement of the windows will cause a minimal change to the properties’ 
characteristics 

 2) Historical Character of the property will be maintained. 
 3) No changes to the architectural elements shall be undertaken. 
 4) Any changes that have occurred overtime shall also be preserved. 
 5) Features and finishes will be preserved. 
 6) There are no deteriorated features that require repair. 

7) There are no need for physical treatments such as sandblasting to install the windows and 
doors. 
8) There are no archeological resources know on the property and if so would not be disturbed 
during the installation of the windows or doors. 
9) There are no additions to the properties floor plan.  
10) The new components of the windows and doors could in the future be removed and the 
integrity of the building would not be compromised. 
 

G) There are no effects on the elements of the structure which serve as the basis of the designation. 
 



Matthew
Text Box
Mark 19 - Will be 2 casement windows will muttons to imitate a awning style window

Matthew
Text Box
Mark 3 - Will be 2 casement windows will muttons to imitate a awning style window

Matthew
Arrow

Matthew
Arrow

Matthew
Text Box
Mark 2 - will be two casement windows with muttons to imitate awning windows. The center window will be a fixed window just like existing

Matthew
Arrow

Matthew
Text Box
Mark 1 - The front door will be a full view Glass door.



Matthew
Text Box
Mark 20 - Garage Door will be a New recessed panel door similiar to existing.



Matthew
Text Box
Mark 18 - Will become a Single Hung window 

Matthew
Text Box
Mark 17 will become a single hung window



Matthew
Text Box
Mark 14 will become a Horizontal Roller 1/3 1/3 1/3

Matthew
Text Box
Mark 15 will become a Single Hung Window

Matthew
Text Box
Mark 16 will be a single hung window

Matthew
Arrow



Matthew
Text Box
Mark 11,12,13 - Will be removed to create a large opening for a wall to wall floor to beam sliding glass door OXXO.*Engineering to be provided once design has been approved by HRPB



 

Matthew
Rectangle

Matthew
Typewriter
FIXED PANEL

Matthew
Arrow

Matthew
Arrow

Matthew
Typewriter
Conversion toSliding Door

Matthew
Rectangle

Matthew
Typewriter
1/4

Matthew
Typewriter
FIXED PANEL

Matthew
Typewriter
ACTIVE PANEL

Matthew
Typewriter
ACTIVE PANEL

Matthew
Typewriter

Matthew
Typewriter

Matthew
Typewriter
83

Matthew
Typewriter
181 1/4

Matthew
Typewriter
1/4

Matthew
Typewriter
1/4

Matthew
Typewriter
1/4

Matthew
Line

Matthew
Typewriter
MARK 11,12,13



Matthew
Text Box
Mark 9 - New Single hung Window

Matthew
Text Box
Mark 10 - New 1/3 1/3 1/3 Horizontal roller same as mark 14 on opposite side of Florida room

Matthew
Text Box
Mark 11, 12, 13 - Removed to install OXXO Sliding Glass door floor to beam and wall to wall. 



Matthew
Text Box
Mark 8 - New Single hung Window



Matthew
Text Box
Mark 6 - will remain a Single Hung Window

Matthew
Text Box
Mark 7 - will remain a single hung window



Matthew
Text Box
Mark 4 - New Casement window with horizontal muttons

Matthew
Text Box
Mark 5 - New Casement Window with horizontal muttons



LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE - SURVEYING

CAULFIELD & WHEELER, INC.
CIVIL ENGINEERING 

PHONE (561)-392-1991 / FAX (561)-750-1452

7900 GLADES ROAD - SUITE 100
BOCA RATON, FLORIDA 33434  

“ ”

Feet

0 20 40

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN OUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENCE #1111 N. LAKESIDE DRIVE LAKE WORTH, FL 33460

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE  DRIVE AND WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
COVERED ENTRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
POOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALUMINUM ROOF 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD  FENCE ENDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
POOL EQUIPMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRRIGATION PUMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
H2O SPICKET

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 14 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 13 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 15 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 16 

AutoCAD SHX Text
N. LAKESIDE DRIVE (SIGN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(Q STREET PLAT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
F-CURB (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
F-CURB (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(26' ASPHALY)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FND. IR/ NO. ID.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FND I.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD POWER POLES 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD POWER POLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FND I.P. NO ID.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FND IR/CAP UNREADABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' ALLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHAIN LINK FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD  FENCE ENDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHAIN LINK FENCE END .87(N.), 3.98(E)

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD  FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD  FENCE ENDS 1.24(S.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHAIN LINK FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHAIN LINK FENCE 4.35(E),0.94(S.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD  FENCE ENDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER METER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLOCK 358

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLOCK 358

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD ZONE  'B'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD ZONE  'A7'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD ZONE  'B'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD ZONE  'A7'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N. 11TH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
(40' RIGHT-OF-WAY)

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
(40' RIGHT-OF-WAY)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(21ST AVENUE) (PLAT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLOCK 358

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLOCK 358

AutoCAD SHX Text
95.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
(SIGN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
50.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD FENCE 3.01(N.),0.50(E)

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD FENCE 4.51(E.),0.53(S.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLD.BK.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF     SHEETS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHT.NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIGI

AutoCAD SHX Text
5-21-16

AutoCAD SHX Text
7510 - DIXON RESIDENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAX

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
7510

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATION MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
(NOT TO SCALE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWNSITE OF LUCERNE LOT 14 AND A PORTION OF  LOT 15 BLOCK 358

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTES 1.	REPRODUCTIONS OF THIS SKETCH ARE NOT VALID UNLESS SEALED WITH AN REPRODUCTIONS OF THIS SKETCH ARE NOT VALID UNLESS SEALED WITH AN EMBOSSED SURVEYOR'S SEAL. 2.	SURVEY MAP OR THE COPIES THEREOF ARE NOT VALID WITHOUT THE SIGNATURE SURVEY MAP OR THE COPIES THEREOF ARE NOT VALID WITHOUT THE SIGNATURE AND THE ORIGINAL RAISED SEAL OF A FLORIDA LICENSED PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR. 3.	LANDS SHOWN HEREON ARE NOT ABSTRACTED FOR RIGHTS-OF-WAY, EASEMENTS, LANDS SHOWN HEREON ARE NOT ABSTRACTED FOR RIGHTS-OF-WAY, EASEMENTS, OWNERSHIP, OR OTHER INSTRUMENTS OF RECORD. 4.	BEARINGS SHOWN HEREON ARE RELATIVE TO ASSUMED DATA. BEARINGS SHOWN HEREON ARE RELATIVE TO ASSUMED DATA. 5.	THE “DESCRIPTION” SHOWN HEREON IS IN ACCORD WITH THE DESCRIPTION PROVIDED THE “DESCRIPTION” SHOWN HEREON IS IN ACCORD WITH THE DESCRIPTION PROVIDED DESCRIPTION” SHOWN HEREON IS IN ACCORD WITH THE DESCRIPTION PROVIDED  SHOWN HEREON IS IN ACCORD WITH THE DESCRIPTION PROVIDED BY THE CLIENT. 6.	UNDERGROUND FOUNDATIONS WERE NOT LOCATED. UNDERGROUND FOUNDATIONS WERE NOT LOCATED. 7.	ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO SURVEY MAPS BY OTHER THAN THE SIGNING PARTY OR ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO SURVEY MAPS BY OTHER THAN THE SIGNING PARTY OR PARTIES IS PROHIBITED WITHOUT WRITTEN CONSENT OF THE SIGNING PARTY OR PARTIES. 8.	FLOOD ZONE: "B"AND "A7"(EL 7) COMMUNITY PANEL NO. 120213 0001 C; DATE:  FLOOD ZONE: "B"AND "A7"(EL 7) COMMUNITY PANEL NO. 120213 0001 C; DATE:  SEPTEMBER 30, 1982. 9.	THE PURPOSE OF THIS SURVEY IS TO DELINEATE HORIZONTAL AND VERTICAL THE PURPOSE OF THIS SURVEY IS TO DELINEATE HORIZONTAL AND VERTICAL LOCATIONS OF NEWLY CONSTRUCTED IMPROVEMENTS ONLY AND DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A BOUNDARY SURVEY AS SUCH. 10.	ADDRESS: 1111 N. LAKESIDE DRIVE, LAKE WORTH, FLORIDA 33460-2309 ADDRESS: 1111 N. LAKESIDE DRIVE, LAKE WORTH, FLORIDA 33460-2309 DESCRIPTION LOT 14, AND THE NORTH 25 FEET OF LOT 15, BLOCK 358, TOWNSITE OF LUCERNE, ACCORDING TO THE PALM BEACH FARMS COMPANY PLAT NO.2, RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 29 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF PALM EACH COUNTY, FLORIDA.(THE TOWN OF LUCERNE IS NOW KNOWN AS LAKE WORTH). SAID LANDS SITUATED IN THE CITY OF LAKE WORTH, PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA CONTAING 10,154 SQUARE FEET OR .2330 ACRES MORE OR LESS. SUBJECT TO EASEMENTS, RESTRICTIONS,RESERVATIONS, COVENANTS, AND RIGHTS-OF-WAY OF RECORD' CERTIFICATE: : I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE ATTACHED BOUNDARY SURVEY OF THE HEREON DESCRIBED PROPERTY IS TRUE AND CORRECT TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE AND BELIEF AS SURVEYED UNDER MY DIRECTION ON APRIL 11, 2016.  I FURTHER CERTIFY THAT THIS BOUNDARY SURVEY MEETS THE MINIMUM STANDARDS OF PRACTICE SET FORTH IN CHAPTER 5J-17 ADOPTED BY THE FLORIDA BOARD OF PROFESSIONAL SURVEYORS AND MAPPERS, PURSUANT TO FLORIDA STATUTES 472.027. _______________________ JEFFREY R. WAGNER, PLS REG. LAND SURVEYOR #5302 STATE OF FLORIDA - LB #3591 

AutoCAD SHX Text
- SET 5/8" IR/CAP LB 3591

AutoCAD SHX Text
Δ   - DELTA (CENTRAL ANGLE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
W.M. - WATER METER

AutoCAD SHX Text
U.E. - UTILITY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
TWP. - TOWNSHIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SQ. FT. - SQUARE FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEC - SECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.B.C.R. - PALM BEACH COUNTY RECORD

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.O.B. - POINT OF BEGINNING

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.R.M.-PERMANENT REFERENCE MONUMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.O.C.- POINT OF COMMENCEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
O.R.B. - OFFICIAL RECORD BOOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
R - RADIUS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. - PROPOSED

AutoCAD SHX Text
PGS - PAGE(S)

AutoCAD SHX Text
RGE. - RANGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W - RIGHT-OF-WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.B. - PLAT BOOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
O/S - BUILDING OFFSET

AutoCAD SHX Text
I.R./CAP - IRON ROD & CAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.P.L.-FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
- SANITARY MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV. - INVERT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEV. - ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. - EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESMT. - EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
FND. - FOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIN. - FINISHED

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLR. - FLOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEC. - ELECTRIC 

AutoCAD SHX Text
D.E. - DRAINAGE EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALUM. - ALUMINUM

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.O. - CLEANOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. - CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COV. COVERED

AutoCAD SHX Text
L - ARC LENGTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
A/C - AIR CONDITIONER

AutoCAD SHX Text
W.E. - WATER EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
S.E. - SANITARY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
L.A.E. - LIMITED ACCESS EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
B.E. - BUFFER EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
- CENTER LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
- DRAINAGE MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
- WOOD POWER POLE (UNLESS NOTED)

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYP. - TYPICAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
- EXISTING ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
- TRAFFIC SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
- LIGHT POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
- FIRE HYDRANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLF - CHAIN LINK FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%ULEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
- ELECTRICAL WIRES OVERHEAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
- ANCHOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
- WATER METER

AutoCAD SHX Text
- RPZ

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRR. - IRRIGATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
EQUIP. - EQUIPMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
- CATCH BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
- GROUND LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
- WATER VALVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
- ELECTRIC HAND HOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ICV

AutoCAD SHX Text
- IRRIGATION CONTROL VALVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
I.P. - IRON PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO I.D. - NO IDENTIFICATION



Owner Name: DIXON RONALD P

Parcel Control Number: 38-43-44-21-15-358-0140

Location Address: 1111 N LAKESIDE DR

Sketch for 38-43-44-21-15-358-0140

Building Sketch http://www.co.palm-beach.fl.us/papa/Asps/PropertyDetail/BuildingSketc...

1 of 1 8/2/2016 7:34 AM

Matthew
Typewriter
Mk 1

Matthew
Typewriter
Mk 2

Matthew
Typewriter
Mk 3

Matthew
Typewriter
Mk 4

Matthew
Typewriter
Mk 5

Matthew
Typewriter
Mk 6

Matthew
Typewriter
Mk 7

Matthew
Typewriter
Mk 8

Matthew
Typewriter
Mk 9

Matthew
Typewriter
Mk 10

Matthew
Typewriter
Mk 11,12,13

Matthew
Typewriter
Mk 14

Matthew
Typewriter
Mk 15

Matthew
Typewriter
Mk 16

Matthew
Typewriter
Mk 17

Matthew
Typewriter
Mk 18

Matthew
Typewriter
Mk 19

Matthew
Typewriter
Mk 20







 Lot:-  Block:-

Width Height (+) psf (-) psf (+) psf (-) psf Yes No Yes No

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

*** Highlight on NOA/PA the applicable detail, section, attachement and glass type.

Shutter 

Requirement
Size

Product Approval Review Form

Address:-

Contractor:-

Opening 

Location 

(Room Name)

# NOA Number

Opening Required 

Pressure Rating

NOA Design 

Pressuure rating

Egress 

Requirement

Rev. 5/7/2009

Matthew
Typewriter
1

Matthew
Typewriter
Front Door

Matthew
Typewriter
38 1/2

Matthew
Typewriter
82

Matthew
Typewriter
2

Matthew
Typewriter
Living Room

Matthew
Typewriter
2

Matthew
Typewriter
Living Room

Matthew
Typewriter
Living Room

Matthew
Typewriter
3

Matthew
Typewriter
Bedroom 1

Matthew
Typewriter
3

Matthew
Typewriter
Bedroom 1 

Matthew
Typewriter
4

Matthew
Typewriter
2

Matthew
Typewriter
Bedroom 1

Matthew
Typewriter
5

Matthew
Typewriter
Master Bath

Matthew
Typewriter
6, 7

Matthew
Typewriter
Garage

Matthew
Typewriter
8

Matthew
Typewriter
Storage

Matthew
Typewriter
9

Matthew
Typewriter
Kitchen

Matthew
Typewriter
10,14

Matthew
Typewriter
Florida Room

Matthew
Typewriter
1111 N. Lakeside Dr, Lake Worth, FL 33460

Matthew
Typewriter
Titan II Construction Corporation

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
N/A

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
Yes

Matthew
Typewriter
Yes

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
26

Matthew
Typewriter
62 7/8

Matthew
Typewriter
52

Matthew
Typewriter
62 7/8

Matthew
Typewriter
1 x 4

Matthew
Typewriter
62 7/8

Matthew
Typewriter
Mullion

Matthew
Typewriter
37

Matthew
Typewriter
50 3/8

Matthew
Typewriter
1 x 4 Mullion

Matthew
Typewriter
50 3/8

Matthew
Typewriter
37 

Matthew
Typewriter
50 3/8

Matthew
Typewriter
19

Matthew
Typewriter
38 1/4

Matthew
Typewriter
36 3/4

Matthew
Typewriter
50 1/4

Matthew
Typewriter
37 

Matthew
Typewriter
38 3/8

Matthew
Typewriter
36 3/4

Matthew
Typewriter
38 1/4

Matthew
Typewriter
85

Matthew
Typewriter
53

Matthew
Typewriter
15  -  0603.13

Matthew
Typewriter
15  -  0406.10

Matthew
Typewriter
15  -  0406.11

Matthew
Typewriter
15  -  0406.10

Matthew
Typewriter
15  -  0406.10

Matthew
Typewriter
15  -  0406.10

Matthew
Typewriter
15  -  0406.12

Matthew
Typewriter
15  -  0406.12

Matthew
Typewriter
15  -  0406.12

Matthew
Typewriter
16  -  0218.03

Matthew
Typewriter
16  -  0218.03

Matthew
Typewriter
36.1

Matthew
Typewriter
39.3

Matthew
Typewriter
37.8

Matthew
Typewriter
41.0

Matthew
Typewriter
36.1

Matthew
Typewriter
39.3

Matthew
Typewriter
36.1

Matthew
Typewriter
39.3

Matthew
Typewriter
37.8

Matthew
Typewriter
41.0

Matthew
Typewriter
37.8

Matthew
Typewriter
41.0

Matthew
Typewriter
37.8

Matthew
Typewriter
41.0

Matthew
Typewriter
37.8

Matthew
Typewriter
41.0

Matthew
Typewriter
37.8

Matthew
Typewriter
41.0

Matthew
Typewriter
37.8

Matthew
Typewriter
41.0

Matthew
Typewriter
37.8

Matthew
Typewriter
41.0

Matthew
Typewriter
15  -  0728.05

Matthew
Typewriter
34.7

Matthew
Typewriter
44.5

Matthew
Typewriter
170

Matthew
Typewriter
170

Matthew
Typewriter
75.6

Matthew
Typewriter
75.6

Matthew
Typewriter
70.0

Matthew
Typewriter
75.0

Matthew
Typewriter
70.0

Matthew
Typewriter
75.0

Matthew
Typewriter
70.0

Matthew
Typewriter
75.0

Matthew
Typewriter
70.0

Matthew
Typewriter
75.0

Matthew
Typewriter
70

Matthew
Typewriter
75.0

Matthew
Typewriter
70

Matthew
Typewriter
75

Matthew
Typewriter
70

Matthew
Typewriter
70

Matthew
Typewriter
75.0

Matthew
Typewriter
90.0

Matthew
Typewriter
75.0

Matthew
Typewriter
90.0

Matthew
Typewriter
75.0

Matthew
Typewriter
90.0



 Lot:-  Block:-

Width Height (+) psf (-) psf (+) psf (-) psf Yes No Yes No

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

*** Highlight on NOA/PA the applicable detail, section, attachement and glass type.

Shutter 

Requirement
Size

Product Approval Review Form

Address:-

Contractor:-

Opening 

Location 

(Room Name)

# NOA Number

Opening Required 

Pressure Rating

NOA Design 

Pressuure rating

Egress 

Requirement

Rev. 5/7/2009

Matthew
Typewriter
1111 N. Lakeside Dr, Lake Worth, FL 33460

Matthew
Typewriter
Titan II Construction Corporation

Matthew
Typewriter
111213

Matthew
Typewriter
Florida Room

Matthew
Typewriter
181 1/4

Matthew
Typewriter

Matthew
Typewriter
83

Matthew
Typewriter
15

Matthew
Typewriter
Guest Bath

Matthew
Typewriter
36 3/4

Matthew
Typewriter
38 1/4

Matthew
Typewriter
16

Matthew
Typewriter
Bedroom 2

Matthew
Typewriter
36 3/4

Matthew
Typewriter
50 1/8

Matthew
Typewriter
17

Matthew
Typewriter
Bedroom 2

Matthew
Typewriter
52 7/8

Matthew
Typewriter
38 1/8

Matthew
Typewriter
18

Matthew
Typewriter
Bedroom 3

Matthew
Typewriter
53

Matthew
Typewriter
38 1/8

Matthew
Typewriter
19

Matthew
Typewriter
Bedroom 3

Matthew
Typewriter
36 7/8

Matthew
Typewriter
50 3/8

Matthew
Typewriter
19

Matthew
Typewriter
Bedroom 3

Matthew
Typewriter
36 7/8

Matthew
Typewriter
50 3/8

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
Yes

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
Yes

Matthew
Typewriter
15  -  0612.05

Matthew
Typewriter
15  -  0406.12

Matthew
Typewriter
15  -  0406.12

Matthew
Typewriter
15  -  0406.12

Matthew
Typewriter
15  -  0406.12

Matthew
Typewriter
19

Matthew
Typewriter
Bedroom 3

Matthew
Typewriter
1 x 4mullion

Matthew
Typewriter
50 3/8

Matthew
Typewriter
20

Matthew
Typewriter
Garage

Matthew
Typewriter
8'

Matthew
Typewriter
7'

Matthew
Typewriter
15  -  0406.10

Matthew
Typewriter
15  -  0406.10

Matthew
Typewriter
Yes

Matthew
Typewriter
N/A

Matthew
Typewriter
No

Matthew
Typewriter
16  -  0218.03

Matthew
Typewriter
15  -  0505.02

Matthew
Typewriter
57

Matthew
Typewriter
67

Matthew
Typewriter
33.8

Matthew
Typewriter
42.7

Matthew
Typewriter
37.8

Matthew
Typewriter
41.0

Matthew
Typewriter
37.8

Matthew
Typewriter
41.0

Matthew
Typewriter
37.8

Matthew
Typewriter
41.0

Matthew
Typewriter
37.8

Matthew
Typewriter
41.0

Matthew
Typewriter
37.8

Matthew
Typewriter
41.0

Matthew
Typewriter
37.8

Matthew
Typewriter
41.0

Matthew
Typewriter
37.8

Matthew
Typewriter
41.0

Matthew
Typewriter
33.8

Matthew
Typewriter
42.7

Matthew
Typewriter
75.6

Matthew
Typewriter
75.6

Matthew
Typewriter
70.0

Matthew
Typewriter
75.0

Matthew
Typewriter
70.0

Matthew
Typewriter
75.0

Matthew
Typewriter
70

Matthew
Typewriter
80

Matthew
Typewriter
75.0

Matthew
Typewriter
90.0

Matthew
Typewriter
75.0

Matthew
Typewriter
90.0

Matthew
Typewriter
75.0

Matthew
Typewriter
90.0

Matthew
Typewriter
75.0

Matthew
Typewriter
90.0





P A N E L  D E S I G N S

Amarr® Oak Summit® 
Classic Steel Carriage House Garage Doors

Long Bead Board design with Moonlite DecraTrim in True White with Blue Ridge handles and hinges

www.amarr.com

BB • BEAD BOARD LPBB • LONG BEAD BOARD RE • RECESSED RS • RAISED

Self-expression shouldn’t cost a fortune. With the Amarr  

Oak Summit collection, it won’t. These durable steel doors 

offer an attractive carriage house look. Choose  from a  

variety of door colors, decorative hardware, and  window 

accents. Customize your home with our  most affordable  

carriage house door.

Bead Board design with Mission DecraGlass in Golden Oak

Long Bead Board with
Stockton DecraTrim (LPBB20)

Recessed with
Arched Thames DecraTrim (RE31)

Raised with 
Cascade DecraTrim (RS23)

Bead Board with
Prairie DecraTrim (BB21)

Recessed with 
Trellis DecraGlass (RE76)



PANEL DESIGNS

 Bead Board

 Long Panel Bead Board

 Recessed

 Raised

INSULATION1

R-VALUE2

DOOR THICKNESS

STEEL THICKNESS

WINDOW GLASS OPTIONS

 3/32" Single Strength

 Insulated Glass

 Obscure

WIND LOAD3 AVAILABLE

PAINT FINISH WARRANTY4

WORKMANSHIP/HARDWARE WARRANTY4

AMARR
OAK SUMMIT

OS3000

•

•

•

•

Polystyrene

6.48

1-3/8" (3.4cm)

27/27 ga

•

•

•

•

Lifetime

3 Years

AMARR
OAK SUMMIT

OS2000

•

•

•

•

Polystyrene

6.64

2" (5.1 cm)

25 ga

•

•

•

25 Years

2 Years

AMARR  
OAK SUMMIT

OS1000

•

•

•

•

2" (5.1 cm)

25 ga

•

•

•

15 Years

1 Year

2 Calculated door section
R-value is in accordance
with DASMA TDS-163.

3 It is your responsibility to
make sure your garage door
meets local building codes.

4 For complete warranty details,
visit amarr.com or contact your
local Amarr dealer.

Specifications

Construction DecraTrim Window Inserts

OS1000
Single-Layer: Steel

• Heavy-duty Exterior Steel
• Durable, Reliable, Low Maintenance

Get value and durability with the Amarr Oak Summit 
OS1000 single-layer steel door. These heavy-duty steel 
doors are durable, reliable, and low maintenance.

STEEL

• Heavy-duty Exterior Steel
• Durable, Reliable, Low Maintenance
• Environmentally Safe Polystyrene Thermal
 Insulation with Vinyl Backing
• Energy Efficient
• Quiet Operation

OS2000
Double-Layer: Steel + Insulation

The Amarr Oak Summit OS2000 double-layer door  
provides durable, low-maintenance features, plus a 
layer of vinyl-coated insulation for increased thermal 
properties and quieter operation.

OBSCURE (O) STOCKTON (20)

CATHEDRAL (22) CASCADE (23)

WATERFORD (25) WAGON WHEEL (26)

ARCHED THAMES (31)THAMES (30)

FULL SUNRAY (28)

CLEAR (C)

PRAIRIE (21)

MOONLITE (24)

SUNRAY (27)

• Heavy-duty Exterior and Interior Steel
• Durable, Reliable, Low Maintenance
• Environmentally Safe Polystyrene  
 Thermal Insulation
• Superior Energy Efficiency
• Extra Quiet Operation

OS3000
Triple-Layer: Steel + Insulation + Steel

For the toughest, most energy-efficient steel door, the 
Amarr Oak Summit OS3000 triple-layer door includes 
the ultimate in thermal properties, plus a layer of 
steel for a finished interior look and added durability.  

VICTORIAN (54)

AMERICANA (57) HEARTLAND (70) MISSION (71)

JARDIN (75) TRELLIS (76)

RIVIERA (55)*

PRAIRIE (72)†

CHALET (56)

* Clear glass with printed frost pattern.
† Obscure glass with v-groove.

DecraGlass™ Windows Tempered obscure glass with baked-on ceramic designs.

Amarr steel doors are pre-painted; for custom colors, exterior latex paint must be used.
Visit amarr.com for instructions on painting. Actual paint colors may vary from samples shown.

Colors

‡Color only available in Amarr Oak Summit OS3000. 
**Price upcharge applies.   

DARK
BROWN

TERRATONETRUE
WHITE

WICKER
TAN

SANDTONEALMOND HUNTER
GREEN‡

GRAY‡ WALNUT** MAHOGANY**GOLDEN
 OAK**

Amarr® Oak Summit®

YOUR LOCAL AMARR DEALER:

Entrematic
165 Carriage Court
Winston-Salem, NC 27105
800.503.DOOR
www.amarr.com

1 Insulation on Amarr brand  
 doors has passed self-ignition,  
 flamespread and smoke  
 developed index fire testing.

Steel Exterior

Bottom
Weather Seal

Steel 
Exterior

Bottom
Weather Seal

Vinyl-Coated
Polystyrene
Insulation

Steel 
Exterior

Polystyrene
Insulation

Bottom
Weather SealSteel 

Interior

BLUE RIDGE ALPINE

VERSAILLES

Decorative Hardware 

CANTERBURY

Aluminum hinges with clavos not recommended for arched openings.

CASTLE ROCK

ALUMINUM

STAMPED STEEL

MAGNETIC ABS VINYL

MAPLE CREEK

Sectional door products from Entrematic may be the 
subject of one or more U.S. and/or foreign, issued and/or 
pending, design and/or utility patents.

Entrematic and Amarr as words and logos are registered  
trademarks owned by Entrematic Group AB or companies  
within the Entrematic Group.

Technical data subject to change without notice.

©Entrematic Group AB 2016. All rights reserved.
Printed in USA  Form #6040416/75M/GVS























































 

 
City Of Lake Worth 

Department for Community Sustainability 

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division 

1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687  
  

 
MEMORANDUM DATE:   September 7, 2016 
 
AGENDA DATE:  September 14, 2016 
 
TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
RE:   421 North K Street 
 
FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
 Department for Community Sustainability 
 
TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100198: Consideration of a Retroactive Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) 
for exterior alterations to the single-family structure located at 421 N K Street; PCN#38434421151140210.  
The subject property was constructed c.1925 and is a contributing resource within the Northeast Lucerne Local 
Historic District. 
 
OWNER/APPLICANT: Gerard Thornton 
   421 North K Street    

Lake Worth, FL 33460 
 

BACKGROUND:  

The single-family structure at 421 North K Street was constructed c. 1925 in a shotgun Frame Vernacular style.  The 
property has public frontage on North K Street to the east.  Character defining features of the building include the 
wood frame and wood siding, wood windows, trim and sills, a decorative front and side porch, and shotgun layout. 

 

The structure has undergone several incompatible alterations, including window removal, trim removal, infill of 
the side porch, door removal, and removal of the wood siding and installation of fiber cement siding on the front, 
east elevation.  Overall, the building retains a moderate degree of historic integrity of location, setting, materials, 
and design. 

 

REQUEST:  

The Applicant’s justification statement and scope of work is included as Attachment 2.  Based on this information, 
the Applicant is requesting a retroactive COA for the following exterior alterations: 

1) Removal of the wood lap siding, and installation of Hardie-plank type fiber cement siding. 
2) Removal of all original 3/1 and 1/1 wood double-hung windows, installation of aluminum single-hung 

windows in several openings, and removal or reconfiguration of several openings. 
3) Removal of the wood 15-light French doors and installation of new 15-light French doors 
4) Enclosure of the side porch to create a shed. 

 
The Applicant will also be requesting a retroactive building permit, as all work was done without a COA or valid 
building permit.  This property does have an active Code Enforcement case and was heard before the Special 
Magistrate on June 30, 2016.  If the case is not complied within 90 days, the property will begin accruing fines. 
 



HRPB No. 16-00100198 
421 North K Street 

COA Application – Exterior Alterations 
Page 2 

 

2 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY: 

It is the analysis of Staff that the project, as proposed, is not consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals and 
objectives concerning historic preservation and housing due to the fact that the Applicant is proposing a change 
that will have an adverse effect on the historic integrity of the property.  Specifically, the request is in conflict with 
these objectives: 

 

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where appropriate restrict 
development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2) 

 
Objective 3.2.5:   To encourage the identification of historically significant housing, and to promote its 
preservation and rehabilitation as referenced by the Surveys of Historic Properties conducted for the City 
of Lake Worth. 
 
Policy 3.2.5.1:  Properties of special value for historic, architectural, cultural or aesthetic reasons will be 
restored and preserved through the enforcement of the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance to the 
extent feasible. 
 
ANALYSIS:   
Zoning 
The proposed alterations are not in conflict with the development requirements in the City’s Zoning Code.   

 

Historic Preservation 

Staff has reviewed the documentation and materials provided in this application and outlined the applicable 
guidelines and standards found in the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance, detailed in Attachment 1 – Decision 
Criteria. 

 
The National Park Service and Secretary of the Interior’s Standards have very specific criteria regarding replacement 
of historic materials.  Specifically Standards 2, 5, and 6 apply in this situation: 
 
Standard 2 - The historic character of a property will be retained and preserved. The removal of distinctive 
materials or alteration of features, spaces, and spatial relationships that characterize a property will be avoided. 
 
Standard 5 - Distinctive materials, features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship 
that characterize a property will be preserved. 
 
Standard 6 - Deteriorated historic features will be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity of 
deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature will match the old in design, color, 
texture, and, where possible, materials. Replacement of missing features will be substantiated by documentary 
and physical evidence. 
 
According to the Standards and the Code, when repair or replacement of wood lap siding is necessary, the new 
siding should match the old in design, profile, and materials.  Removal of the wood lap siding and installation of thin 
Hardie-plank fiber cement siding is not in keeping with the Standards, as the wood siding is a distinctive design 
feature of this Frame Vernacular structure. 
 
Similarly, according to the Standards and the Code, when repair or replacement of wood double-hung windows is 
necessary the Applicant should first attempt to repair the existing wood windows.  If repair is not feasible, the 



HRPB No. 16-00100198 
421 North K Street 

COA Application – Exterior Alterations 
Page 3 

 

3 

Standards would recommend replacement with a product that most closely replicates the design, color, and 
materials of the original windows.  The windows and doors should be replaced in the existing openings.  Openings 
should not be closed-in, removed, or altered.  All decorative window and door trim and sills should be replaced with 
compatible trim in design and material. 
 
The side porch should remain as an open side porch, and not be enclosed as a shed.  All decking on the rear of the 
structure should be in compliance with the zoning code requirements.  
 
Public Comment 
At the time of publication of this report, Staff has not received any public comment regarding this project.  
 
CONSEQUENT ACTION:   
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain to 
request additional information; or deny the application. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends that the Board deny the request for exterior alterations as requested by the Applicant.  The 
proposal for exterior alterations does not meet the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation, does not 
meet the criteria set forth in the City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations §23.5-4(k), and will have an 
adverse effect on the integrity and character of the property.  The original character of the property is readily visible 
in the historic survey photograph included as Attachment 3.  The Applicant should utilize the historic photograph in 
order to properly restore the structure. 
 
If the Board chooses to approve the application for exterior alterations, Staff recommends the following conditions 
of approval: 

1) The front façade of the structure shall be returned to its historic appearance, as is visible in the historic 
photograph included as Attachment 3. 

2) Replacement windows shall be wood, wood clad, or aluminum double-hung windows, be installed in the 
original opening sizes and locations, and have a 3/1 or 1/1 divided light pattern, subject to staff review and 
approval at permitting. 

3) The divided light pattern shall be created by using exterior raised applied triangular muntins to replicate 
the pane configuration of the original wood windows.  No flat or internal muntins shall be allowed.  The 
proper divided light pattern and muntin profile shall be reviewed by Staff at permitting. 

4) The Applicant shall utilize light gray screens rather than dark vinyl screens in order to minimize the impact 
of the panes of glass sitting in different visual planes. 

5) No reflective or mirrored glass shall be used. 
6) The wood siding shall remain in place if possible.  If the existing wood siding is too deteriorated, it should 

be replaced with wood lap siding that replicates the size, shape, and profile of the existing historic siding. 
7) The Hardie-plank siding on the front elevation shall be removed and wood siding shall be re-installed to 

match the existing wood siding on the structure. 
8) The doors may be replaced with wood, wood clad, or aluminum 15-light French doors, with exterior raised 

applied triangular muntins. 
9) The side porch shall be re-opened as a porch, and shall not be enclosed as a shed.   
10) All work shall be subject to staff review during permitting and inspection during construction. 

 
 
 
 



HRPB No. 16-00100198 
421 North K Street 

COA Application – Exterior Alterations 
Page 4 

 

4 

POTENTIAL MOTIONS:   
I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 16-00100198: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for an exterior 
alterations for the subject building located at 421 North K Street, subject to the staff recommended conditions of 
approval, and based upon the preponderance of competent substantial evidence, and pursuant to the City of Lake 
Worth Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4. 
 
I MOVE TO DENY HRPB 16-00100198: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for an exterior 
alterations for the subject building located at 421 North K Street because the Applicant has not established by a 
preponderance of the competent substantial evidence that the application is in compliance with the City of Lake 
Worth Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4, the Secretary of the interiors Standards for the Rehabilitation 
of Historic Properties, and the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 
 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Decision Criteria 
2. Justification Statement 
3. Historic Survey Information and Photographs 
4. Proposed Architectural Drawings 
5. Proposed Materials 

 
 

LOCATION MAP 
 

 

 
 



 
MEMORANDUM 

 
DATE: September 7, 2016 
 
TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Preservation Planning Coordinator 
 Department of Community Sustainability 
 
SUBJECT:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100198: Consideration of a Retroactive Certificate of 

Appropriateness (COA) for exterior alterations to the single-family structure 
located at 421 N K Street; PCN#38434421151140210.  The subject property 
was constructed c.1925 and is a contributing resource within the Northeast 
Lucerne Local Historic District. 

 
HRPB Meeting Date: September 14, 2016 
  
 
Per Section 23.5-4k (1) of the historic preservation ordinance, the Board shall use the 
following criteria in making a determination: 
 
A.   What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such work 
is to be done?   

Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the proposed retroactive exterior alterations will have an 
adverse effect on the historic appearance of the building, and is not compatible with the design or 
style. 

 
B.   What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or other 
property in the historic district?   
Response: The proposed work will have no direct physical effect on any surrounding properties within 
the surrounding Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District; however, it will have an indirect visual effect 
on the district. 
 
C.   To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural style, 
design, arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be affected?    
Response: The Applicant is proposing work that is not compatible with the architectural design and 
detailing of the building by removing the historic wood siding, wood windows, wood doors, porches, 
and trim. 
 
D.   Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable 
beneficial use of his property?  
Response: No, the denial of this COA as submitted does not prevent the Applicant from potentially 
proposing other alterations to the structure, nor would it make the building uninhabitable. 
 
E.   Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a reasonable 
time?  
Response: Yes. 
 



F.   Do the plans satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria contained in the United States 
Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect or as they may be revised from 
time to time? The current version of the Secretary's Guidelines provides as follows: 
 
(1)   A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal 
change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.   

 Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed. 
 
(2)   This historic character of the property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic 
materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided.   
Response: The Applicant is proposing to remove historic wood siding, wood windows, wood doors, 
porches, and trim. 

 
(3)   Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use. Changes that 
create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural 
elements from other buildings, shall not be undertaken.  
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 
(4) Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their 
own right shall be retained and preserved.    
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 
(5)   Distinctive features, finishes and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 
characterize a historic property shall be preserved.   
Response: The existing wood siding, wood windows, wood doors, porches, and trim are examples of 
craftsmanship that characterize not only this structure, but also the time period and architectural 
style in general. 

 
(6)   Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. In 
the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being replaced in 
composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities.  
Response: The proposed alterations do not match the existing structure in style, material, or texture. 
 
Repair or replacement of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of 
features, substantiated by historical, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs 
or because the different architectural elements from other buildings or structures happen to be 
available for relocation.  
Response: Not applicable to this project. 

 
(7)   Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials, 
shall not be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the 
gentlest means possible.  
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 
(8)   Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If such 
resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken.  
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 



(9)   New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction shall not destroy historic 
materials that characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the old 
and shall be compatible with the massing, size, scale and architectural features to protect the historic 
integrity of the property and its environment.   
Response: The proposed alterations remove wood siding, wood windows, wood doors, porches, and 
trim that characterize the property. 
 
(10)   New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such manner 
that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic building and its 
environment would be unimpaired.   
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 
G.   What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure which 
served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least possible adverse 
effect on those elements or features?   
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the historic character of the property would be adversely 
affected by the proposed project as submitted by the Applicant, as outlined above.  The requested 
exterior alterations do not represent the least possible adverse effect on the property.  There are 
alternate options, including restoring the property based on the historical photograph. 
 
Section 23.5-4k (2). Additional guidelines for alterations. 
 
In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for alterations, the HRPB shall 
also consider the following additional guidelines:  
 
A. Is every reasonable effort being made to provide a compatible use for a property that requires 
minimal alteration of the building, structure or site and its environment, or to use the property for its 
originally intended purpose?  
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed.  
 
B. Are the distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure or site and its 
environment being destroyed? The removal or alteration of any historic material or distinctive 
architectural features shall be avoided whenever possible.  
Response: The wood siding wood siding, wood doors, porches, and trim can be considered distinctive 
architectural features and should not be removed unless the level of deterioration is such that it 
cannot be repaired.  In that case, it should be replaced and should replicate the original materials as 
closely as possible. 
 
C. When a certificate of appropriateness is requested to replace windows or doors, the HRPB shall 
permit the property owner's original design when the HRPB's alternative design would result in an 
increase in cost of thirty (30) percent above the owner's original cost. The owner shall be required to 
demonstrate to the HRPB that:  
(1) The work to be performed will conform to the original window openings of the structure; and 
Response: The applicant does not meets this criterion. 
 
(2) That the replacement windows or doors with less expensive materials will achieve a savings in 
excess of thirty (30) percent over historically compatible materials otherwise required by this code.  
Response: Staff must defer to the applicant. 























6/30/2016 N K St - Google Maps

https://www.google.com/maps/@26.6210079,-80.0551829,3a,35y,279.76h,84.96t/data=!3m7!1e1!3m5!1saFOW8fxxl4r9Y4hWtO9CuQ!2e0!5s20110401T000000!7i13312!8i6656!6m1!1e1 1/2

Image capture: Apr 2011 © 2016 Google

Street View - Apr 2011

Lake Worth, Florida

N K St



6/30/2016 N K St - Google Maps

https://www.google.com/maps/@26.6210975,-80.0551798,3a,39.3y,253.57h,86.5t/data=!3m7!1e1!3m5!1syydkdCr-rlkiw-fb4dvoSQ!2e0!5s20110401T000000!7i13312!8i6656!6m1!1e1 1/2

Image capture: Apr 2011 © 2016 Google

Street View - Apr 2011

Lake Worth, Florida

N K St



6/30/2016 N K St - Google Maps

https://www.google.com/maps/@26.6210908,-80.0551801,3a,39.6y,261.18h,87.05t/data=!3m7!1e1!3m5!1sCDeUGw91Vh4JNsXai3ri-w!2e0!5s20140501T000000!7i13312!8i6656!6m1!1e1 1/2

Image capture: May 2014 © 2016 Google

Street View - May 2014

Lake Worth, Florida

N K St



6/30/2016 N K St - Google Maps

https://www.google.com/maps/place/421+n+k+st+lake+worth+fl/@26.6211034,-80.0551796,3a,60y,265.38h,84t/data=!3m6!1e1!3m4!1stpiqJqqffn9BWQCjlSyVGg!2e0!7i13312!8i6656!4m2!3m1!1s0x0:0x970bb95db57... 1/1

Image capture: Jan 2015 © 2016 Google

Street View - Jan 2015

Lake Worth, Florida

N K St



























































































 

 
City Of Lake Worth 

Department for Community Sustainability 

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division 

1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687  
  

 
MEMORANDUM DATE:   September 7, 2016 
 
AGENDA DATE:  September 14, 2016 
 
TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
RE:   303 South J Street 
 
FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
 Department for Community Sustainability 
 
TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100199: Consideration of a Retroactive Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) 
for exterior alterations to the single-family structure located at 303 South J Street; 
PCN#38434421151170170.  The subject property was constructed c.1925 and is a contributing resource 
within the Southeast Lucerne Local Historic District. 
 
OWNER/APPLICANT: Larry Feldman 
   303 South J Street    

Lake Worth, FL 33460 
 

BACKGROUND:  

The single-family structure at 303 South J Street was constructed c. 1925 in a shotgun Frame Vernacular style.  The 
property has public frontage on two streets; South J Street to the east and 3rd Avenue South to the north.  Character 
defining features of the building include the wood frame and wood siding, wood trim, sash windows, and shotgun 
construction. 

 

The structure has undergone several incompatible alterations, including window replacement, trim removal, and 
removal of the wood siding and installation of stucco.  Overall, the building retains a moderate degree of historic 
integrity of location, setting, materials, and design. 

 

REQUEST:  

The Applicant is requesting a retroactive COA to remove the wood lap siding and install a textured stucco finish on 
the existing 1-story structure.  The wood siding was removed and a stucco scratch coat was installed earlier this 
year.  The Applicant is also requesting a retroactive COA to install aluminum 1/1 single-hung windows on the 
structure.  Based on photo documentation, the windows appear to have been replaced prior to 2007; however, 
the property file does not have a permit record. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY: 

It is the analysis of Staff that the project, as proposed, is not consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals and 
objectives concerning historic preservation and housing due to the fact that the Applicant is proposing a change 
that will have an adverse effect on the historic integrity of the property.  Specifically, the request is in conflict with 
these objectives: 

 



HRPB No. 16-00100199 
303 South J Street 

COA Application – Exterior Alterations 
Page 2 

 

2 

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where appropriate restrict 
development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2) 

 
Objective 3.2.5:   To encourage the identification of historically significant housing, and to promote its 
preservation and rehabilitation as referenced by the Surveys of Historic Properties conducted for the City 
of Lake Worth. 
 
Policy 3.2.5.1:  Properties of special value for historic, architectural, cultural or aesthetic reasons will be 
restored and preserved through the enforcement of the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance to the 
extent feasible. 
 
ANALYSIS:   
Zoning 
The proposed alterations are not in conflict with the development requirements in the City’s Zoning Code.   

 

Historic Preservation 

Staff has reviewed the documentation and materials provided in this application and outlined the applicable 
guidelines and standards found in the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance, detailed in Attachment 1 – Decision 
Criteria. 

 
The National Park Service and Secretary of the Interior’s Standards have very specific criteria regarding replacement 
of historic materials.  Specifically Standards 2, 5, and 6 apply in this situation: 
 
Standard 2 - The historic character of a property will be retained and preserved. The removal of distinctive 
materials or alteration of features, spaces, and spatial relationships that characterize a property will be avoided. 
 
Standard 5 - Distinctive materials, features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship 
that characterize a property will be preserved. 
 
Standard 6 - Deteriorated historic features will be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity of 
deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature will match the old in design, color, 
texture, and, where possible, materials. Replacement of missing features will be substantiated by documentary 
and physical evidence. 
 
According to the Standards and the Code, when repair or replacement of wood lap siding is necessary, the new 
siding should match the old in design, profile, and materials.  Removal of the wood lap siding and installation of 
stucco is not in keeping with the Standards, as the wood siding is a distinctive design feature of this shotgun Frame 
Vernacular structure. 
 
Due to poor documentation regarding the window replacement, Staff is unable to determine the original window 
design and configuration.  Based on the size of the openings, and the design of the structure, it is likely that wood 
double-hung windows were the original material.  The installation of aluminum single-hung windows is compatible 
with the structure.  All wood trim should remain in place around the windows. 
 
Public Comment 
At the time of publication of this report, Staff has not received any public comment regarding this project.  
 



HRPB No. 16-00100199 
303 South J Street 

COA Application – Exterior Alterations 
Page 3 

 

3 

CONSEQUENT ACTION:   
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain to 
request additional information; or deny the application. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends that the Board deny the request to replace the wood lap siding with textured stucco.  The wood 
lap siding is the appropriate material for this Frame Vernacular structure, and Staff would not have approved the 
request had it been submitted in advance of the work being completed.  Staff recommends that the owner install 
new wood lap siding, to replicate the siding that was removed. 
 
Staff recommends that the Board approve the request for 1/1 aluminum single-hung windows. 
 
Staff recommends the following conditions of approval: 

1) The stucco scratch coat shall be removed and wood lap siding shall be installed on the structure.  The 
Applicant shall submit a sample of the proposed wood siding, subject to Staff review and approval. 

2) The existing windows may remain.  The wood trim that was removed shall be re-installed, subject to Staff 
review and approval. 

 
POTENTIAL MOTIONS:   
I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 16-00100199: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for an exterior 
alterations for the subject building located at 303 South J Street, subject to the staff recommended conditions of 
approval, and based upon the preponderance of competent substantial evidence, and pursuant to the City of Lake 
Worth Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4. 
 
I MOVE TO DENY HRPB 16-00100199: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for an exterior 
alterations for the subject building located at 303 South J Street because the Applicant has not established by a 
preponderance of the competent substantial evidence that the application is in compliance with the City of Lake 
Worth Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4, the Secretary of the interiors Standards for the Rehabilitation 
of Historic Properties, and the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 
 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Decision Criteria 
2. Photographs  
3. Proposed Architectural Drawings 
4. Proposed Materials 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



HRPB No. 16-00100199 
303 South J Street 

COA Application – Exterior Alterations 
Page 4 

 

4 

 
LOCATION MAP 

 
 

 

 



 
MEMORANDUM 

 
DATE: September 7, 2016 
 
TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Preservation Planning Coordinator 
 Department of Community Sustainability 
 
SUBJECT:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100199: Consideration of a Retroactive Certificate of 

Appropriateness (COA) for exterior alterations to the single-family structure 
located at 303 South J Street; PCN#38434421151170170.  The subject 
property was constructed c.1925 and is a contributing resource within the 
Southeast Lucerne Local Historic District. 

 
HRPB Meeting Date: September 14, 2016 
  
 
Per Section 23.5-4k (1) of the historic preservation ordinance, the Board shall use the 
following criteria in making a determination: 
 
A.   What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such work 
is to be done?   

Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the work proposed to the siding would have an adverse effect 
on the historic appearance of the building, and is not compatible with the design or style. It is also 
the opinion of Staff that the work proposed to the windows would not have an adverse effect on the 
historic appearance of the building, and is compatible with the design and style. 

 
B.   What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or other 
property in the historic district?   
Response: The proposed work will have no direct physical effect on any surrounding properties within 
the surrounding Southeast Lucerne Local Historic District; however, it will have an indirect visual effect 
on the district. 
 
C.   To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural style, 
design, arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be affected?    
Response: The Applicant is proposing work that is not compatible with the architectural design and 
detailing of the building by removing the historic wood siding and replacing it with stucco. The 
Applicant is also proposing work that is compatible with the architectural design and detailing of the 
building by removing the existing wood single-hung windows and replacing them with aluminum 
single-hung windows. 
 
D.   Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable 
beneficial use of his property?  
Response: No, the denial of this COA as submitted does not prevent the Applicant from potentially 
proposing other alterations to the structure, nor would it make the building uninhabitable. 
 



E.   Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a reasonable 
time?  
Response: Yes. 
 
F.   Do the plans satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria contained in the United States 
Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect or as they may be revised from 
time to time? The current version of the Secretary's Guidelines provides as follows: 
 
(1)   A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal 
change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.   

 Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed. 
 
(2)   This historic character of the property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic 
materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided.   
Response: The Applicant is proposing to remove wood siding that is a character-defining feature of 
this property. 

 
(3)   Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use. Changes that 
create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural 
elements from other buildings, shall not be undertaken.  
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 
(4) Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their 
own right shall be retained and preserved.    
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 
(5)   Distinctive features, finishes and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 
characterize a historic property shall be preserved.   
Response: The existing wood siding is an example of craftsmanship that characterizes not only this 
structure, but also the time period and architectural style in general. 

 
(6)   Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. In 
the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being replaced in 
composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities.  
Response: The proposed stucco does not match the existing wood siding in style, material, or texture. 
 
Repair or replacement of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of 
features, substantiated by historical, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs 
or because the different architectural elements from other buildings or structures happen to be 
available for relocation.  
Response: Not applicable to this project. 

 
(7)   Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials, 
shall not be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the 
gentlest means possible.  
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 
(8)   Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If such 
resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken.  



Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 
(9)   New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction shall not destroy historic 
materials that characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the old 
and shall be compatible with the massing, size, scale and architectural features to protect the historic 
integrity of the property and its environment.   
Response: The proposed alterations remove wood siding that characterizes the property. 
 
(10)   New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such manner 
that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic building and its 
environment would be unimpaired.   
Response: Not applicable to this project. 
 
G.   What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure which 
served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least possible adverse 
effect on those elements or features?   
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the historic character of the property would be adversely 
affected by the proposed project as submitted by the Applicant, as outlined above.  The requested 
exterior alterations do not represent the least possible adverse effect on the property.  There are 
alternate options, including replacement of the incompatible stucco with wood siding to match the 
original. 
 
Section 23.5-4k (2). Additional guidelines for alterations. 
 
In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for alterations, the HRPB shall 
also consider the following additional guidelines:  
 
A. Is every reasonable effort being made to provide a compatible use for a property that requires 
minimal alteration of the building, structure or site and its environment, or to use the property for its 
originally intended purpose?  
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed.  
 
B. Are the distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure or site and its 
environment being destroyed? The removal or alteration of any historic material or distinctive 
architectural features shall be avoided whenever possible.  
Response: The wood siding can be considered a distinctive architectural feature and should not be 
removed unless the level of deterioration is such that it cannot be repaired.  In that case, it should be 
replaced and should replicate the original wood siding as closely as possible. 
 
C. When a certificate of appropriateness is requested to replace windows or doors, the HRPB shall 
permit the property owner's original design when the HRPB's alternative design would result in an 
increase in cost of thirty (30) percent above the owner's original cost. The owner shall be required to 
demonstrate to the HRPB that:  
(1) The work to be performed will conform to the original window openings of the structure; and 
Response: The applicant meets this criterion. 
 
(2) That the replacement windows or doors with less expensive materials will achieve a savings in 
excess of thirty (30) percent over historically compatible materials otherwise required by this code.  
Response: Staff must defer to the applicant. 








































	Agenda
	Minutes
	Proof of Publication
	230 N O ST
	812 S Lakeside DR
	301 S Federal HWY
	314 Columbia DR
	1002 S Lakeside DR
	1111 N Lakeside DR
	421 N K ST
	303 S J ST

	Name: Daniel F. Ryan IV
	Project: Bermuda Cay
	Project Address: 301 S. Federal Highway
	Acres: 0.15
	sq ft: 6750
	FLU North: Mixed Use East
	Z North: MU-E
	Use N: Commercial Office
	FLU South: Mixed Use East
	Z South: MU-FH
	Use S: Commercial Office
	FLU East: Mixed Use East
	Z east: MU-FH
	Use E: Single Family Residential
	FLU West: SFR
	Z West: SFR
	Use W: Multi-Family Residential
	RF SB: 10
	RR SB: 13.5
	RS SB: 5
	RSS SB: 5
	RP SB: 10.00
	PS SB: 8.1
	Side streetProposed: 5
	Text1:   0.15
	Text2: 3
	Text3: 20
	Text4: 6,500
	Text5: n/a
	Text6: n/a
	Text7: 3
	Text8: 
	Text9: 3 town home units
	Text10: 30'
	Text11: 2'-4'
	Text12: 6,281 sf
	Text13: n/a
	Text14: 3,375 sf. (50%)
	Text15: 
	Text16: 
	Text17: 
	Text18: 
	Text19: 
	Text20: 
	Text21: 
	Text22: 
	Text23: 
	Number of trees: 
	Text24: 3
	Text25: 17
	Text26: 49
	Text27: 107
	Text28: -
	Text29: 244
	Text30: -
	Text31: 2,458 sf - 36%
	Text32: -
	Text33: 2,458 sf - 36%
	Text34: -
	Text35: 131 linear feet - 37%
	Text36: -
	Text37: 556 sf - 8%
	Text38: -
	Text39: 2,458 - 36%
	Text40: -
	Text41: 2,458 sf - 36%
	Text42: 3,375 sf.
	Text43: 4,292 sf.
	Text44: 2,458 sf.
	Text45: n/a
	Text46: 52%
	Text47: 55%
	Text48: 45%
	Text49: n/a
	Text51: 4' along streets
	Text52: metal
	Text53: n/a
	Text54: n/a
	Text55: existing
	Text56: existing
	Text57: 4'
	Text58: semi-permeable pavers
	Text59: C (FIRM 12020130002C 9/30/82)


